



Heat and health in the WHO European Region:

updated evidence for effective prevention

ABSTRACT

The WHO Regional Office for Europe published guidance on heat-health action planning in 2008, and intends to update this to include the latest evidence. An in-depth review was initiated, based on recent epidemiological and environmental research and lessons learned from implementation in practice. This publication collates and summarizes the most relevant evidence published since 2008, focusing primarily on Member States in the WHO European Region. Findings are organized around the elements the original guidance document identified as "core" to a comprehensive heat-health action plan (HHAP), and these are complemented in each chapter with the results of a WHO survey of heat-health action planning in 2019, where relevant to the topic covered. Despite the existing gaps in knowledge, the evidence presented clearly points to a need to expand the number, coverage and reach of HHAPs in the Region. The updated guidance will be beneficial to support enhanced HHAP implementation.

KEYWORDS

CITY PLANNING CLIMATE CHANGE EUROPE EXTREME HEAT HEAT-HEALTH PLANNING PUBLIC HEALTH RISK MANAGEMENT

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office website (http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest).

ISBN 978 92 890 5540 6

© World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: Heat and health in the WHO European Region: updated evidence for effective prevention. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2021".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization. (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/)

Suggested citation. Heat and health in the WHO European Region: updated evidence for effective prevention. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Photographs on pages ii, x, 4, 38 and 152: © WHO/Oliver Schmoll Photographs on cover and back pages and pages 72, 96 and 138: © WHO/Dennis Schmiege

Designed by: Imre Sebestyén/Unit Graphics





Heat and health in the WHO European Region:

updated evidence for effective prevention



Contents

Acknowledgements	v
Abbreviations	vi
Executive summary	vii
Introduction: heat-health action planning guidance 10 years on Background and purpose. Structure. References.	1 2
 Chapter 1. Setting the scene: impacts of heat on health in the WHO European Region Summary. Key messages. 1.1 Changes in high temperatures and projections for the Region 1.2 How heat affects health and projections for the Region 1.3 Conclusions. References. 	5 5 10 16
 Chapter 2. Agreement on a lead body: governance of public health responses to heat. Summary	23 23 24 26 30 33 33
Chapter 3. Accurate and timely alert systems: heat-health warning systems Summary Key messages 3.1 Introduction: the nature of heat-health warning systems 3.2 Status of heat-health warning systems 3.3 Innovations and future perspectives 3.4 Conclusion References	
 Chapter 4. Heat-related health information plans: communicating heat risk Summary	55 55 56 57 63 67

Chapter 5. Reductions in indoor heat exposure: types of intervention and evidence of ef

effectiveness	73
Summary	
Key messages	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Indoor temperatures and health5.3 Passive cooling at the building scale	
5.5 Passive cooling at the building scale	
5.5 Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 6. Care for vulnerable population groups: updated evidence on risk factors and	
vulnerability	
Summary	-
Key messages	
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Heat vulnerability, vulnerable groups and risk factors	
6.3 Identification, surveillance and mapping of vulnerable subgroups	
6.4 Prevention measures and guidance.	
6.5 Specific advice for at-risk subgroups 6.6 Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 7. Preparedness: planning for heat-health risks in health and social care settings	
Summary.	
Key messages	
7.1 Introduction	
7.2 Preparedness and management of heat events in health and social care systems	
7.3 Climate resilience and sustainability of health systems	
7.4 Conclusions	
References	132
Chapter 8. Long-term urban planning: reducing heat risks	139
Summary	
Key messages	
8.1 Introduction: urban planning in the WHO guidance on HHAPs	
8.2 Urban determinants of heat exposure and risk.8.3 Interventions to reduce urban overheating.	
8.4 Conclusions.	
References	
Chapter 9. Real-time information: surveillance, monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs	153
Summary	
Key messages	
9.1 Introduction	154
9.2 Current status of HHAP surveillance.	
9.3 Health data sources for surveillance and innovations.	
9.4 Use of surveillance data and monitoring in HHAPs	
9.5 Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 10. Conclusions	
Overall conclusion: the need to expand the number, coverage and reach of HHAPs	
Individual conclusions for the elements in the report Communicating heat risk to specific audiences	
Evidence and research gaps	
References	

Acknowledgements

The WHO Regional Office for Europe wishes to express appreciation to all those whose efforts made the production of this publication possible. The quality of this product is a result of the invaluable contributions of the many international experts who supported its conceptual development, provided technical content and undertook a process of peer review.

The development of this publication was guided and overseen by the following editors: Gerardo Sanchez Martinez (UNEP DTU Partnership), Francesca de'Donato (Regional Health Authority, Lazio Region, Italy) and Vladimir Kendrovski (European Centre for Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe).

The following authors contributed to the development of the publication: Nina Bjerglund Andersen (freelance consultant, Denmark), Melanie Böckmann (Bielefeld University School of Public Health, Germany), Kathryn Bowen (Australian National University), Julio Díaz (Carlos III National Institute of Health, Spain), Andreas Flouris (University of Thessaly, Greece), Shakoor Hajat (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom), Jovanka Karadzinska-Bislimovska (Institute for Occupational Health, North Macedonia), Klea Katsouyanni (National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece), Iphigenia Keramitsoglou (National Observatory of Athens, Greece), Sari Kovats (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom), Karine Laaidi (Santé Publique France), Cristina Linares (Carlos III National Institute of Health, Spain), Jordan Minov (Institute for Occupational Health, North Macedonia), Hans-Guido Mücke (German Environment Agency, Germany), Lars Nybo (University of Copenhagen, Denmark), Emer O'Connell (Public Health England, United Kingdom), Joy Shumake-Guillemot (WHO/WMO Joint Climate and Health Office, Switzerland), Rebecca Stranberg (Health Canada), Ross Thomson (Public Health England, United Kingdom) and Ana Maria Vicedo-Cabrera (Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, Switzerland).

The following reviewers provided feedback, guidance and input to the development of the publication: Peter Berry (Health Canada), Matthias Braubach (European Centre for Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe), Carlo Buontempo (Copernicus Climate Change Service, United Kingdom), Owen Landeg (Public Health England, United Kingdom), Karin Lundgren-Kownacki (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Sweden), Glenn McGregor (Durham University, United Kingdom), Paola Michelozzi (Regional Health Authority, Lazio Region, Italy), Mathilde Pascal (Santé Publique France) and Oliver Schmoll (European Centre for Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe).

The WHO Regional Office for Europe is grateful for the funding received from the German Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, which supported the development of this publication, and for in-kind support provided by the UNEP DTU Partnership.

Abbreviations

AC	air-conditioning
C3S	Copernicus Climate Change Service
CI	confidence interval
	carbon dioxide
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
ECMWF	European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts
ER	emergency room
EU	European Union
EURO-CORDEX	European branch of the World Climate Research Programme's Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment
GHHIN	Global Heat Health Information Network
GP	general practitioner
ННАР	heat-health action plan
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
MMT	minimum mortality temperature
NGO	nongovernmental organization
NHS	National Health Service [United Kingdom]
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PM _{2.5}	particulate matter smaller than about 2.5 μm in diameter
PM ₁₀	particulate matter smaller than about 10 μm in diameter
PPE	personal protective equipment
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
UHI	urban heat island
WMO	World Meteorological Organization

Executive summary

The climate is warming quickly and dangerously in the WHO European Region, which is experiencing accelerated rates of temperature increase and an unprecedented frequency and intensity of heat-waves. Moreover, these warming trends are projected to continue unabated in the near future and midterm in most climate change scenarios. While some countries in the Region have experienced a slight decrease in heat-related health impacts over time, the majority have seen no change or experienced increases. The evolution of heat risks and impacts on health is underpinned by the changing climate, socioeconomic factors, access to health care, urbanization and ageing, among other factors. This highlights the need for stronger public health responses capable of adapting to ongoing and projected changes.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe's 2008 guidance on heat-health action planning and its associated materials provide a frame of reference for Member States in their efforts to respond to heat-waves and to prevent and minimize their health impacts. More than a decade since the publication of the guidance, the continuous steady rise in both mean temperatures and extreme heat events underscores its importance and the urgency of its implementation throughout the Region. Maintaining operational relevance requires that the recommendations remain supported by the latest scientific evidence. Planned and existing heat-health action plans (HHAPs) should actively integrate the notion of a changing climate and changing population risk factors.

Keeping up with the scientific evidence in this field is a challenge, however. The last decade has seen a prolific number of studies on heat-related health impacts and public health prevention measures in the WHO European Region. In addition to what has been published in peer-reviewed scientific and technical journals and publications, a plethora of government and international organization reports shed light on topics related to implementation, monitoring and evaluation, and stakeholder involvement, among others. Further inputs are routinely collected by the WHO Regional Office for Europe through the Working Group on Health and Climate Change as part of the Environmental Health Task Force. To complement all these sources, in 2019 WHO disseminated and compiled responses to the most comprehensive survey to date on heat– health action planning in the Region.

Together, all this information constitutes a solid basis from which to undertake updating of the 2008 guidance. This publication collates and summarizes the most relevant evidence published since 2008, focusing primarily on the 53 Member States served by the WHO Regional Office for Europe. Findings are organized around the eight elements that the original guidance document identified as "core" to a comprehensive HHAP, and each chapter is complemented with the results of WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning, where relevant to the topic covered. The main contents of each chapter are outlined below.

Chapter 1 sets the scene and outlines the heat and health impacts, both observed and projected, focusing on countries in the WHO European Region. Projections clearly indicate that without adequate efforts for adaptation to climate change, heat-related exposures and the associated health impacts will increase substantially. Chapter 2 summarizes evidence on the governance of public health responses to heat. The need to define and implement appropriate and agreedupon public health responses and policies has become increasingly pressing, though the available evidence on what constitutes good practice in the governance of such responses is limited. The key issues to address are becoming increasingly clear, however, including adequate funding and human resources and formal involvement of subnational and non-state actors.

Chapter 3 reports on heat-health warning systems and how HHAPs should be underpinned by them for timely and effective responses. The scientific literature suggests that considerable effort has been invested in improving warning model performance and lead times, targeted dissemination and their understanding among public health stakeholders. Evaluation of warning systems needs to be carried out regularly to ensure constant improvement and understanding.

Chapter 4 summarizes the evidence on how heatrelated health information plans communicate heat risks and recommendations. It outlines existing approaches to make heat—health messages effective, and considers how HHAPs can better target warnings, recommendations and information to their various stakeholders and audiences. Countries have generally shifted their HHAP communications towards web-based and mobile technology platforms, and it is important that such transitions are carried out ensuring social justice, without excluding the most vulnerable or those with fewer resources.

Chapter 5 reports on types of intervention and evidence on effectiveness in the reduction of hazardous indoor heat exposure. A wide variety of passive cooling (related to housing and cooling) and active cooling (such as air-conditioning, personal cooling devices) interventions and technologies can be applied. Understanding of the thermal comfort needs of those most vulnerable to heat is still limited, however, and data on the real-time association between outdoor and indoor temperatures in residential settings are lacking. More research is needed on risks of overheating and adaptive solutions in hospitals, residential care homes and other settings.

Chapter 6 outlines the updated evidence on risk factors and vulnerability. That evidence is evolving and becoming more specific in terms of health outcomes, biological mechanisms, causality and the vulnerability of different groups. To date, however, most national HHAPs mention vulnerable groups but do not contain actions addressed to them. More effort should be put into raising awareness and promoting active response measures and training of health and social care professionals. It is important to acknowledge that vulnerable subgroups and their needs change over time and require ongoing monitoring and study.

Chapter 7 reports on the preparedness of the health and social care system for heat. To date, evidence on planning and response measures in place within health care settings and their effectiveness is sparse. A key challenge that remains is the impact of heat-waves in health and social care facilities, despite significant heat-wave events occurring throughout the WHO European Region in recent years. Greater effort needs to be put into sharing best practice planning and response measures in the health sector.

Chapter 8 describes how long-term urban planning can reduce heat risks. Green and blue (water) spaces, urban landscape materials and colours, and urban structure modifications are key areas for the long-term mitigation of health risks from heat and of greenhouse gas emissions. Despite their health protection potential, urban planning interventions remain the least implemented HHAP core element. Tools for intersectoral action are lacking to allow public health agencies to influence urban management decisions in order to protect health from heat. Chapter 9 explores the use of monitoring and evaluation processes as crucial components of HHAPs. Health surveillance is important to monitor health impacts and evaluate response measures during and after heat-wave events, but it is still a marginal element in HHAPs and needs to be promoted. Evaluation entails multidisciplinary and collaborative action between various stakeholders to address the different aspects and components of the HHAP. Formal and constant monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs are essential to understand their effectiveness and potential areas of improvement.

Chapter 10 provides a summary of the key messages from the report, with specific and overarching conclusions, as well as evidence and research gaps.

The process of information collection, drafting and editing of this report has also revealed that significant gaps in knowledge and evidence continue to hinder heat-health action planning throughout the WHO European Region. While there has been a notable increase of scientific publications on heat and health in the last decade, most studies still covered mainly European Union Member countries, with studies in other areas of the Region few and far between. In addition, more evidence is needed to interpret the observed trends in heat and health in response to HHAPs accurately, and specifically the causal pathways between interventions and measured effects. Best practice evidence and sharing of experiences is vital both locally and at the regional level, yet the published evidence of planning and response measures in the health sector is still limited in the peer-reviewed scientific literature and needs to be promoted. Moreover, the lack of generalized and systematic efforts to monitor and evaluate HHAP processes and outcomes constitutes a challenge to empirically determining the effectiveness of different prevention measures and response and the relative effects of changes in population vulnerability and adaptation, among other factors.

What constitutes good governance of public health prevention of heat also remains an open guestion, although literature and data from Member States point at significant improvement potential for additional engagement by subnational and non-state stakeholders, which could improve the reach and operationalization of plans. While the last decade of evidence on the links between the built environment, heat exposure and health has provided new insights, important questions remain. A crucial one concerns the thermal comfort needs of vulnerable individuals, as well as the real-life (compared with modelling) effect of housing and built environment interventions in reducing hazardous exposure to heat at the individual level. Lastly, there is a need for more applied research into the regulatory, financial, procedural, knowledge and other barriers that may prevent effective action on heat and health.

Despite the existing gaps in knowledge, the evidence presented in this publication clearly points at the need to expand the number, coverage and reach of HHAPs in the WHO European Region. These policies are urgently needed in European countries facing an increasing risk of high temperatures and heatwaves, to prevent expected increases of climate change-related impacts. Moreover, the initial design, development or revisions to HHAPs, as well as their implementation and core elements, should actively integrate the notion of a changing climate and societies. To support such enhanced HHAP implementation, updating the 2008 WHO heat– health action planning guidance is necessary and fully justified.



Introduction: heat–health action planning guidance 10 years on

Background and purpose

Since its publication, the WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat—health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008) and the associated supporting materials (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011) have constituted a useful framework for national and subnational governments responsible for planning or implementing heat health prevention programmes.

In 2018, a decade after the publication of the original guidance, the Regional Office initiated an indepth review of evidence on recent epidemiological and environmental research and lessons learned from implementation of heat—health action planning in practice. This report presents the review's findings in the form of an overview of relevant recent evidence with clear implications for the prevention of health effects caused by heat-waves. It is primarily intended for practitioners, to support their own processes of revision of national heat—health action plan (HHAP) elements or procedures. It also constitutes a basis from which to organize an update of the 2008 WHO guidance.

The report is based on the findings of a number of literature reviews, focusing on:

- the effectiveness of HHAPs;
- heat in the context of climate change and other global trends;
- heat-health governance;
- risk perception;
- work productivity and heat;

- acclimatization and adaptation to heat;
- urban management interventions.

In addition to systematic reviews to take stock of the wealth of scientific literature, this report also includes "grey literature" in the form of technical reports and studies from government and international organizations, on account of their operational and practical implications for prevention at the national and regional levels. Together, these constitute a much broader foundation from which to look at heat–health action planning than was available when the 2008 WHO guidance was published.

In undertaking the evidence review, three main criteria guided the report's development:

- geographical scope: focusing primarily on the 53 Member States served by the WHO Regional Office for Europe, but including studies from elsewhere if needed;
- novelty: highlighting mainly (but not exclusively) evidence produced since the publication of the 2008 WHO guidance;
- quality: while not based on a formal grading of evidence, focusing on a curated selection of reviews that prioritized peer-reviewed literature – and within it reviews and/or metaanalysis – where available (although some of the most operationally relevant observations in heat-health prevention are frequently published in government or research reports, and these are included where needed).

In addition to a review of the published literature, this report features the results of a survey of heathealth action planning undertaken by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in 2019. This survey was disseminated via members of the Working Group on Health in Climate Change, established under the European Environment and Health Process, and other relevant subnational networks, such as the WHO European Healthy Cities Network and Regions for Health Network. It covered areas related to implementation of HHAPs, organized around the core elements outlined in the 2008 WHO guidance, as well as implementation and operational questions typically not covered in HHAP official description documents. The choice of survey mode was web-based, and the target respondents were government officials or public administrators acting as lead administrators of HHAPs, national or subnational focal points or experts familiar with heat-health action planning in the country. The 35 participating countries were Albania, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Israel, Italy, Kazakhstan, Lithuania, Malta, Montenegro, the Netherlands, North Macedonia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Russian Federation, Serbia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkmenistan, Ukraine and the United Kingdom.

While the literature reviews revealed a broad array of new findings, methods and models, they also found large geographical and income-related imbalances in research and evidence. A great increase in research and publications on the impacts of heat on health from the early 2000s, was reported both globally – in particular, in Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries – and within Europe (Campbell et al., 2018). Most studies, however, almost exclusively covered European Union (EU) countries, with few considering other areas in the WHO European Region. On the other hand, other types of technical literature – not necessarily published in peer-reviewed journals – and the results of the survey provided insights into both the health impacts of heat and their prevention in non-EU countries.

This report also considers the evidence of the last decade and new insights related to the links between climate change, heat exposure and health. Large compilations and efforts such as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) fifth assessment report (Pachauri & Meyer, 2014), the Lancet Commission on Health and Climate Change (Watts et al., 2015) and the Lancet Countdown on health and climate change (Watts et al., 2018) have covered actual and potential links between climate change adaptation and health extensively, including heat-health risks.

Much has happened in the last decade concerning the integration of climate considerations into public health practice and of public health into climate policy-making. In 2017 the WHO Regional Office for Europe and the European Commission also undertook literature reviews and a country survey to analyse developments in health policies to address adaptation to climate change in EU countries and to compile a selection of good practice case studies, including on heat-health management (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018).

Structure

The contents of this report are organized around the eight elements that the WHO Regional Office for Europe's 2008 guidance identified as "core" to a comprehensive HHAP. Because both the evidence base and practices have evolved significantly in the last decade, the scope of each of these elements is generally broader than the original set covered in the 2008 guidance. The descriptions of the elements (covered in Chapters 2–9) have thus been modified to reflect this expanded scope:

- Chapter 2. Agreement on a lead body: governance of public health responses to heat;
- Chapter 3. Accurate and timely alert systems: heat-health warning systems;
- Chapter 4. Heat-related health information plans: communicating heat risk;
- Chapter 5. Reductions in indoor heat exposure: types of intervention and evidence of effectiveness;
- Chapter 6. Care for vulnerable population groups: updated evidence on risk factors and vulnerability;
- Chapter 7. Preparedness: planning for heat– health risks in health and social care settings;
- Chapter 8. Long-term urban planning: reducing heat risks;

References¹

- Campbell S, Remenyi TA, White CJ, Johnston FH (2018). Heatwave and health impact research: a global review. Health Place. 53:210–18. doi:10.1016/j. healthplace.2018.08.017.
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- Pachauri RK, Meyer LA, editors (2014). Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change:1–32 (http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/).
- Watts N, Adger WN, Agnolucci P, Blackstock J, Byass P, Cai W et al. (2015). Health and climate change: policy responses to protect public health. Lancet. 386(10006):1861–914. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60854-6.

• Chapter 9. Real-time information: surveillance, monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs.

In addition to the chapters covering the HHAP core elements, Chapter 1 presents the most relevant recent trends in climate variables, heat exposure and associated risks or impacts. Chapter 10 includes a set of operationally relevant conclusions, as well as a summary of the knowledge gaps and most pressing research needs identified.

The results of WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning have been included where relevant to the topic covered.

- Watts N, Amann M, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Bouley T, Boykoff M et al. (2018). The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: from 25 years of inaction to a global transformation for public health. Lancet. 391(10120):581–630. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32464-9.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018). Public health and climate change adaptation policies in the European Union. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/environment-and-health/Climate-change/ publications/2018/public-health-and-climate-changeadaptation-policies-in-the-european-union-2018).

All URLs accessed 27 August 2020.



Chapter 1. Setting the scene: impacts of heat on health in the WHO European Region

Summary

In several countries, despite increasing episodes of extreme temperatures, heat-related health impacts seem to be decreasing. This highlights the effectiveness of current prevention measures. Nevertheless, projections for the Region clearly indicate that without adequate efforts for heat-health adaptation to climate change, heat-related exposures and the associated health impacts could increase substantially. Such projections, combined with long-term trends of ageing and urbanization, strongly warrant adoption of a long-term perspective to manage the health effects of temperature in the context of a changing climate.

Key messages

- Countries in the WHO European Region are experiencing accelerated rates of warming and an unprecedented frequency and intensity of heat-waves.
- These trends are projected to continue unabated in the near future and midterm under current rates of global warming.
- Some countries in the Region have experienced a reduction in heat-related health impacts over time, whereas others have not experienced change or are experiencing increases.
- Within the Region, populations in places with generally higher temperatures tend to be less vulnerable to heat than those with more temperate climates, thanks to adaptive strategies and acclimatization.
- Secular trends (long-term non-periodic variation) in climate change, urbanization and ageing strongly justify adopting longer-term perspectives in public health responses against dangerous heat.

1.1 Changes in high temperatures and projections for the Region

1.1.1 Observed trends in temperatures

The WHO European Region is warming, fast and dangerously. The year of inception of this report

(2019) was the warmest calendar year on record in the northern part of Region, as well as the second warmest year globally ever recorded. It was not an outlier, however: according to the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF), 11 of the 12 warmest years in the Region have all occurred since 2000 (ECMWF, 2020). Both annual and seasonal average temperatures show a clear warming trend over the last four decades. Warming trends in the Region are consistently measured and statistically significant (Gil-Alana & Sauci, 2019); they are routinely evaluated by comparing recent measurements with climate data dating back to preindustrial times (Fig. 1).

Beyond average temperatures, heat-waves are also growing in frequency, in relative and absolute intensity and in duration, with a significant increasing trend in the Region since 1950 (Donat et al., 2013). The number of hot days has increased by 10 days per decade since 1960 in most of southeastern Europe and Scandinavia (Russo, Sillmann & Fischer, 2015). A comprehensive study of 59 weather stations in the eastern part of Europe, the Caucasus, the Russian Federation and central Asia, using data from 1951 to 2010, found a clear increasing trend in the frequency of extremely hot summers (with an average temperature equal to or greater than the long-term average plus two standard deviations). While one extremely hot summer occurred during the first 30 years, five occurred during the last 10 years of the study

period (Twardosz & Kossowska-Cezak, 2013). An increasing trend in heat-wave frequency and intensity has been observed in Poland, although the increase is statistically significant at only about 60% of analysed stations (Wibig, 2017).

A recent study examining 100 years of data (1917-2016) found significant increasing trends in the frequency, intensity and duration of heat-waves in most of central Asia (which in this study refers to Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan), and especially during the last 50 years in western central Asia (Yu et al., 2020). In Georgia, a statistical analysis demonstrated significant increases in the number, intensity and duration of low- and high-intensity heat-waves (Keggenhoff, Elizbarashvili & King, 2015). Data also indicate that the frequency and duration of heat-waves increased in the western part of Turkey between 1965 and 2006 (Unal, Tan & Mentes, 2013). Other parts of the WHO European Region, including most countries in the Mediterranean basin, have also experienced an increase in the frequency and intensity of heat-waves, as has Israel (Green et al., 2013), where record high temperatures were registered as recently as May 2019 (WMO, 2019).



Fig. 1. Global air temperature and estimated change since the pre-industrial period

The lines depict datasets from different institutions: ERA5, ECMWF Copernicus Climate Change Service; GISTEMP v4, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, United States; HadCRUT4, Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom; NOAAGlobalTemp v5, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, United States; JRA-55, Japan Meteorological Agency.

Source: ECMWF (2020).

Most worryingly, analyses show that events that would be expected to occur twice a century in the early 2000s – such as the massive 2003 European heat-waves – are now expected to occur twice a decade (Christidis, Jones & Stott, 2015). The number of days with high heat stress levels is increasing in both the northern and southern parts of the WHO European Region. In 2019, for example, large parts of the west and north of Europe experienced strong or very strong heat stress, including areas that on average have not often experienced it in the past (ECMWF, 2020).

The World Meteorological Organization (WMO) Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2019 reported than in June 2019 a heat-wave affecting south-western and central Europe resulted in a number of deaths in Spain and France (WMO, 2020). A more significant heat-wave occurred in late July 2019, affecting much of the central and western part of the Region. In the Netherlands, this event was associated with approximately 3000 deaths - nearly 400 more than the average while in England, United Kingdom, 572 excess deaths were observed above the baseline for all-cause mortality in people aged over 65 years. In metropolitan France, between the beginning of June and mid-September 2019, over 20 000 emergency room (ER) visits and 5700 home visits by doctors were recorded for heat-related illnesses. Across both the summer heat-waves, a total of 1462 excess deaths were observed in the affected regions.

Another clear and extreme example was the June 2020 heat-wave in Siberia, including a recordbreaking 38 °C in Verkhoyansk. Experts of the World Weather Attribution initiative concluded that this extremely hot period was made at least 600 times more likely as a result of human-induced climate change; in other words, it would be almost impossible without climate change (Ciavarella et al., 2020). The evidence supporting these trends is solid and continues to be strengthened by successive studies. Furthermore, with a relatively dense monitoring network, European temperature measurement data and the evidence base for trend analyses are highly reliable. Meteorological offices throughout the WHO European Region have strong capacities, datasets, remote sensing and modelling capabilities. Important intraregional collaboration networks are also in place, with tangible climate services that are of use for public health (see example in Box 1). Thus, health authorities and practitioners, can use these data with relative confidence for planning and operational purposes.

1.1.2 Projections of temperatures

In parallel to this accelerated rise in average temperatures and heat-wave occurrences, global concentrations of carbon dioxide continued to rise in 2019 by around 0.6% globally (ECMWF, 2020a). This rate of increase of anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases means that a long-lasting reduction in European temperatures is unlikely within this century. Model predictions reveal an increase in the probability of occurrence of extreme and very extreme heat-waves in the coming years in particular, by the end of this century. Under the most severe IPCC AR5 scenario, events of the same severity as that in the Russian Federation in the summer of 2010 will become the norm, and are projected to occur as often as every two years for regions such as southern Europe, North America, South America, Africa and Indonesia (Russo et al., 2014). Warming is projected to be more intense in western, northern, central and southern parts of the Region on average than the rest of the planet, according to the European branch of the World Climate Research Programme's Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment (EURO-CORDEX). Various models project a realistic warming of EU countries by 2.5-5.5 °C for the last third of the 21st century, compared to 1971-2000 (Amengual et al., 2014; Jacob et al., 2014).

Box 1. Copernicus Climate Change Service and Climate Data Store

The Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) provides access to quality-controlled data about the past, the present and the future of global climate. These include historical observations, global hourly data about all main meteorological parameters extending from 1979 to near-real time (five-day latency), seasonal predictions for the next six months, and global and regional climate projections. Given the impact climate variability and change is having on societies, and the complexity of the processing procedures associated with analysis of climate data, C3S makes high-quality, up-to-date datasets available in an unrestricted manner to all users. The service also provides a free cloud environment in which to process the data and transform it into usable and useful information.

The following example represents a way in which C3S data can be used to inform stakeholders and policy-makers. Fig. 2 shows the trend in change in degrees per year of the surface air temperature for the summer months (June, July and August) during 1979–2019. The values were calculated using a linear trend on the ECMWF re-analysis data for the surface temperature. The figure shows European surface air temperature anomalies relative to the 1981–2010 average, from January 1979 to August 2019. The first graph shows the mean anomalies for every month and the second graph shows the running 12-month averages.

The plot and the code to generate this plot are freely available online on the C3S Climate Data Store platform for anyone to consult or reproduce. The user can also analyse past temperature anomalies for specific months and year through the C3S monthly climate bulletin explorer application.





Greater temperature increases are expected in the north of the Region in winter (potentially decreasing cold-related mortality), and in the south-east and the Balkans in the summer (EEA, 2017). The increase in warming magnitude is expected to be most dramatic in the central southern part of the Region, while the increase in duration of hot conditions is expected to be most pronounced in the Mediterranean (Guerreiro et al., 2018). Nevertheless, extreme heat events may also occur in northern areas that are currently not strongly affected by heat-waves (Nikulin et al., 2011).

In central Asia, assuming a 4 °C increase in global temperatures by the end of the century, around 80% of the land area could be affected by events hotter than three standard deviations beyond the long-term temperature average, and about 50% of the land area could be affected by events hotter than five standard deviations by 2071–2099 (Reyer et al., 2017). In general, solid high extremes temperature projections under climate change are comparatively scarce in the published literature for most areas of the Region beyond EU countries. This scarcity poses a clear challenge for evidence-based heat–health action and health adaptation in these areas.

Both average increases in temperature and projected increases in frequency, intensity and duration of heat-waves are of concern for public health. Globally, under an increasingly probably high warming scenario,¹ every second summer will be as warm or warmer than the hottest summer ever experienced by the population during 1920–2014 (Lehner, Deser & Sanderson, 2018). The increase in probability of extreme heat-waves in large urban areas in the Region is a particular concern, on account of population concentration, urban landscape and demographic factors (explored later in this report). A recent study (Smid et al., 2019) estimated heatwave² probability increases for 31 European capitals (the capitals of the 28 EU countries before 2020, plus Moscow, Russian Federation; Oslo, Norway; and Zurich, Switzerland), and found that all the European metropolitan areas investigated will be more vulnerable to extreme heat in the coming decades (Fig. 3). The number of days with high heat stress

Fig. 3. Probability of magnitudes of heat-wave occurrence in 31 European capitals in prospective scenarios



Source: Smid et al. (2019).

HW: heat-wave was defined in this study as a climatic event equal to or longer than three consecutive days, with a maximum temperature above the daily threshold for the reference period, 1981–2010.

¹ Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5; for a description, see Matthews (2018).

² Defined through the Heat Wave Magnitude Index daily (Russo et al., 2014).

levels is increasing in both northern and southern parts of the Region. The potential for hazardous exposure to extreme heat has been worsening in recent decades, and will continue to do so across the Region.

1.2 How heat affects health and projections for the Region

Heat extremes have serious impacts on public health in Europe. The effects of heat mostly occur on the same day and in the following three days. The observed increase in frequency and intensity of heat-waves - for which there is no globally agreed definition, but for the purposes of this report meaning periods of hot weather lasting for several days - has had significant effects on human health across Europe, particularly among elderly people and in cities due to the urban heat island effect. Age, pre-existing medical conditions and social deprivation are key factors that make people experience more adverse health outcomes related to heat and extreme temperatures. The effects of exposure can be directly related to heat (heat stress and dehydration or heatstroke) or indirectly related - such as a worsening of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, kidney diseases or electrolyte disorders (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018).

1.2.1 Observed heat-related mortality impacts and trends

The Global Heat Health Information Network (GHHIN) was initiated in 2016 and launched publicly in 2018 as a joint initiative of the WMO, WHO and United States National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration to respond to coordination and technical advisory needs identified by the global meteorological and public health communities (GHHIN, 2020). The Network largely serves as a community of practice and a knowledge broker for both individuals and institutions across a broad range of disciplines focused on addressing the human health risks posed by extreme heat.

Several studies indicate that heat-related health impacts are generally decreasing over time in

many parts – but not all – of the WHO European Region, although this reduction is not homogeneous or generalized. Similar reductions (with similar caveats) have been observed in other parts of the world, including Australia, Japan and the United States of America. Studies of trends in human vulnerability to extreme heat in several countries in the WHO European Region are presented in Table 1, mainly adapted from the review by Sheridan & Allen (2018). The majority of the studies considered mortality health outcomes, probably due to the availability of health data and a lack of information on indirect impacts or health service delivery.

Within the WHO European Region, clear decreases in some measure of vulnerability to heat or health impacts of heat have been observed in France (Fouillet et al., 2008; Pascal et al., 2018), Ireland (Pascal et al., 2013; Paterson & Godsmark, 2020), Italy (Schifano et al., 2012; de'Donato et al., 2018) and Spain (Achebak, Devolder & Ballester, 2018; Díaz et al., 2018). On the other hand, no consistent evidence of a significant decrease has been found for the United Kingdom (Gasparrini et al., 2015), and although no significant excess mortality was observed there in a recent severe heat-wave in 2013 (Green et al., 2016), the overall evidence suggest that heat-related mortality may be increasing (Arbuthnott & Hajat, 2017). In Czechia, a recent analysis points to a comparative increase (Urban, Davidkovova & Kyselý, 2014). Relatively comparable heat-waves in Finland in 2014 and 2018 resulted in 330 and 380 deaths, respectively (THL, 2019). A study carried out in Slovenia found greater heatrelated mortality among vulnerable groups in 2015 than in 2013 (Perčič et al., 2018).

Country	Studies and main conclusions
Austria	 (Vienna) Matzarakis, Muthers & Koch (2011): a decrease in sensitivity to heat stress was observed from 1970 to 2007, particularly for moderate heat stress. (Vienna) Muthers, Matzarakis & Koch (2010a): changes in heat vulnerability were observed from 1970 to 2007. (Vienna) Muthers, Matzarakis & Koch (2010b): sensitivity to heat stress decreased from 1970 to 2007.
Czechia	 2007. Urban et al. (2017): the summer of 2015 was as pronounced as the summer of 1994 in terms of heat-related mortality. Kyselý & Plavcová (2012): declining trends in mortality impacts were observed from 1986 to 2009. Kyselý and Kríz (2008): the mortality response in 2003 was less than in previous events in the 1990s.
Finland	Ruuhela et al. (2017): sensitivity to heat stress decreased from 1972 to 2014. (Helsinki) de'Donato et al. (2015): an increased risk was seen in Helsinki from 1996 to 2010.
France	 (Central France) Todd & Valleron (2015): the ratio of mortality attributed to high temperatures declined significantly from 1968 to 2009. Pascal, Le Tertre & Saoudi (2012): mortality was lower in the 2006 heat event than the 2003 heat event. Fouillet et al. (2008): decreased excess mortality was observed in the 2006 heat-wave compared to the 1975–2003 baseline heat–mortality relationship.
Germany	Gabriel & Endlicher (2011): heat-related mortality was much higher in the 1994 heat event than the 2006 event. Mücke & Litvinovitch (2020): the maximum number of heat-related deaths was 7600 in 2003, followed by 6200 in 2006 and 6100 in 2015.
Greece	(Athens) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010.
Hungary	(Budapest) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010.
Ireland	Pascal et al. (2013): heat-wave-related mortality declined from 1981 to 2006.
Italy	 (Rome) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010. Morabito et al. (2012): a decrease in the impact of excessive heat effect on mortality in Italy was seen after prevention was implemented (in 2004). Schifano et al. (2012): a significant decrease in heat-related mortality in those aged 65 years and older was observed in 2006–2010 following implementation of a national prevention plan.
Kazakhstan	Grjibovski et al. (2013): higher temperatures were associated with higher mortality from cerebrovascular diseases during the warm seasons (April–September) of 2000–2001 and 2006–2010.
Latvia	Pfeifer et al. (2020): short-term associations were seen between heat-waves and both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in Riga.
Netherlands	Ekamper et al. (2009): reduced effects of heat from 1930 in the Netherlands can be attributed to changes in nutrition, clothing and education. Folkerts et al. (2020): the susceptibility of humans to heat decreased over time in the Netherlands.
North Macedonia	Martinez et al. (2016): during 2007–2011, 4.5% of deaths during the warm seasons were attributable to mean temperatures exceeding the estimated threshold.

Table 1. Studies of trends in heat-related health vulnerability in countries in the Region

Country	Studies and main conclusions
Republic of Moldova	Corobov et al. (2013): the relationships identified between ambient temperatures and human mortality may not be stationary in time, being only relevant to the time period studied (2000–2008).
Spain	 Linares et al. (2015): a significant decrease in heat-related mortality was observed in some locations, while others did not show any change. (Barcelona, Valencia) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010. Gasparrini et al. (2015): mortality risk associated with high temperatures was lower in 2006 than 1993. (Central Spain) Mirón et al. (2015): heat-related respiratory mortality did not decrease as circulatory cases declined from 1975–2008. (Galicia) De Castro et al. (2011): mortality associated with the 1990 heat-wave was higher than during the 2003 event, despite the latter being more extreme.
Sweden	 Åström et al. (2016): the effect of temperature on mortality decreased over time in 1800–1950. (Stockholm) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010. (Stockholm) Åström et al. (2013a): the relative risk of heat-related mortality remained stable from 1980–2009. (Stockholm) Åström et al. (2013b): while heat events have increased in the last two decades, their impact on mortality overall declined during 1901–2009.
Switzerland	Ragettli et al. (2017): a reduction in the effect of high temperatures on mortality was found after 2003, although it is not statistically significant.
United Kingdom	 (England) Green et al. (2016): despite the sustained 2013 heat-wave, mortality was lower than expected. (London) de'Donato et al. (2015): a reduction in heat risk was seen from 1996 to 2010. (England and Wales) Christidis, Donaldson & Stott (2010): a small, positive trend in heat-related mortality was observed after 1976; this was due to more events, despite a weaker response. (London) Carson et al. (2006): despite an ageing population, there was a significant reduction in temperature-related deaths over the 20th century.

Table 1 contd

Source: adapted from Sheridan & Allen (2018).

In the absence of countrywide trends, city-specific studies can provide a useful reference. A multicity study of nine European cities showed a reduction in mortality due to heat in Mediterranean cities but not in cities in the north of the WHO European Region. The authors attribute this difference to implementation of prevention plans, a higher level of adaptation of the local population and greater awareness of the population about exposure to heat (de'Donato et al., 2015).

Some indication of decreases in heat-related health impacts or vulnerability have been observed in Vienna, Austria (Muthers, Matzarakis & Koch, 2010a; 2010b) and Athens, Greece (de'Donato et al., 2015; Scortichini et al., 2018). While de'Donato et al. (2015) found decreases over time of heat-related mortality in Budapest, Hungary, and Stockholm, Sweden, Scortichini et al. (2018) found no significant trend of heat-related mortality in either, with the exception of the peak heat-related mortality of 2007 in Budapest. Similarly, while de'Donato et al. (2015) found an increase in heat-related mortality in Helsinki, Finland, Scortichini et al. (2018) found no trend – except a peak in 2010.

A recent study found no trends within the (significantly increased) overall excess mortality between 2013 and 2017 in Istanbul, Turkey (Can et al., 2019). Similarly, no significant trend of heatrelated mortality has been observed in recent decades in Lisbon, Portugal (Alcoforado et al., 2015). Evidence suggests that heat-related mortality may have decreased in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, since 2003 (Heudorf & Schade, 2014; Steul, Schade & Heudorf, 2018).

Even within the observed decreases in health impacts, internal variability can be observed. In some cases, decreases were observed for both cardiovascular and respiratory mortality (Bobb et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2016); in others only for cardiovascular mortality (Muthers, Matzarakis & Koch, 2010b; Mirón et al., 2015). Morbidity trends are even less consistent, with some studies finding decreases in heat-related cardiovascular morbidity (Fechter-Leggett, Vaidyanathan & Choudhary, 2016) and others finding increases in hospitalizations and ambulance calls for heat-related illnesses (Nitschke et al., 2011). Most studies have not found systematic gender differences in the reduction in heat-related mortality (Sheridan & Allen, 2018), and there is little evidence of differences in reductions across age groups (Coates et al., 2014; de'Donato et al., 2015). Generally, evaluations of heat-related mortality in the Region are more frequent and less uncertain, whereas morbidity assessments tend to focus on a very limited set of outcomes, which makes studies difficult to compare.

Similarly, the geographical distribution of heatrelated mortality follows complex patterns. In general, the scientific literature on heat and health consistently finds that the relationship between heat and mortality differs by latitude (as a proxy for prevailing climate), so that southern locales show smaller effects of heat but substantial effects of cold, while northern ones show the reverse. Moreover, the temperature beyond which heatrelated mortality can be observed (known as the minimum mortality temperature (MMT)) tends to be higher in warmer places (Kinney, 2018). Within the WHO European Region, several studies have also confirmed that meridional locations tend to have higher temperature thresholds for both heatrelated mortality and morbidity (Follos et al., 2020). In other words, all else being equal, places with high temperatures are less vulnerable to heat than those with more temperate climates.

France documented the health impacts of highmagnitude events for two heat-waves in 2019: 1462 excess deaths (+9.2%) were observed during the periods when the alert thresholds were exceeded for the regions. While the over-75 years age group was the most affected, the 15–44 and 65–74 years age groups were also affected. The excess mortality in the latter group was approximately 50% higher than the average of the affected regions (Santé Publique France, 2019).

A modelling study estimating MMTs for 599 European cities larger than 100 000 inhabitants (Krummenauer et al., 2019) revealed that southern cities had much higher MMTs than northern cities (from 27.8 °C to 16 °C). Other studies, however, suggest that such a gradient does not fully capture the variability in the relationship between heat and health impacts in the Region. A study of the relationship between heat stress indicators and mortality in 17 European countries (Di Napoli, Pappenberger & Cloke, 2018) found different clusters of countries but significant variability within those clusters in terms of the specific relationship between heat stress and mortality. Noting that caveat, at a macro/regional level, it can generally be assumed that populations exhibit health responses mainly at temperatures that are extreme within their local context. Thus, in colder climates health impacts may be expected at temperatures that would be considered moderate in southern areas.

1.2.3 Projections in heat-related health impacts

Before considering projections of heat impacts, it is worth noting that a proportion of the observed heat extremes is confidently attributed to climate change (ECMWF, 2020a). Moreover, some of the heat-related burden of illness in the WHO European Region is also already attributable to climate change (Vicedo-Cabrera et al., 2019). The warming the Region has already experienced is countering prevention efforts, strengthening the argument for climate action from a public health perspective. Moreover, wherever a reduction of heat impacts on health is observed, the warming climate is moving countries further from the goal of minimizing the heat-related burden of illness throughout the Region.

In addition to climate change, several variables and long-term trends affect the relationship between temperatures and health in the Region - the main factors being population ageing and urbanization. Population ageing strongly affects the relationship between heat and population health. Given the epidemiological profile of high temperatures as a health threat (in which elderly and chronically ill people are at higher risk), ageing and population structures are a key dynamic factor to account for in HHAPs. The WHO European Region is ageing: the median age of the population in EU countries increased by 4.2 years between 2002 and 2017, and the proportion of people aged 65 years and over increased by 2.4% in the last decade (Eurostat, 2018). While the non-EU eastern European and central Asian Member States have younger populations overall, these are also ageing faster due to migration and rapid fertility declines (Bussolo, Koettl & Sinnott, 2015).

Urbanization increases heat exposures and their impacts, as this report explores in Chapters 5 and 8. Reduced vegetation, heat-conserving urban materials, urban geometry and abundant heat sources all contribute to the urban heat island effect (UHI, 2014). Other factors, like household insulation, access to air-conditioning and individual vulnerability may also increase heat-related risks for some urban populations (Wolf, McGregor & Analitis, 2009; Wolf & McGregor 2013). Moreover, higher population density, all else being equal, increases the population at risk in urban areas. Albeit at a slowing pace, the overwhelmingly urban WHO European Region is still becoming more urbanized (UNDESA, 2014). This has practical consequences for heat-health prevention, as the urban landscape aggravation of heat-related health impacts further highlights the importance of a broad perspective in

heat-health action planning. Limiting the urban heat island effect through city adaptation plans can not only protect local populations but also significantly enhance international mitigation efforts – for instance, through a reduction of energy use for cooling (Estrada, Botzen & Tol, 2017).

The scientific consensus is that without strong levels of adaptation, climate change is bound to increase the heat-related burden of disease (mortality and morbidity). A large number of scientific studies published in the last decade give projections of heat-related health impacts in the WHO European Region, in EU countries, and at the national, subnational and local levels. Within the Region, those increases would be sharpest in central and southern Europe (Gasparrini et al., 2017). Estimates under an optimistic scenario (RCP 4.5) assess additional annual heat-related premature mortality of over 85 000 deaths in the 27 countries in the EU from 2020, plus Switzerland and Norway, in 2046-2055 compared with 1991-2000 (Orru et al., 2019). In an assessment including 38 countries in the WHO European Region, Kendrovski et al. (2017) projected an overall excess of 46 690 and 117 333 premature deaths per year under the RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios respectively for the period 2071-2099, in addition to the 16 303 additional deaths estimated under the historical scenario. Mediterranean countries and those in the eastern part of the Region would be the most affected by heat, but a non-negligible impact would still be registered in northern continental countries.

In addition to regional estimates, many projections of heat-related health impacts have been made under various climate scenarios at the national and subnational levels (Ciscar et al., 2014; Hajat et al., 2014; Petkova, Gasparrini & Kinney, 2014; Roldán et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2014; Forzieri et al., 2017). Several of these projections of the possible impact of heat on future mortality consider a fixed, unchanging threshold temperature based on retrospective observations. Under this hypothesis, and as a consequence of the increase in temperatures associated with climate change (Smith et al., 2014; IPCC, 2018), important increases in mortality attributable to heat have been suggested. This assumption, however, needs to be analysed carefully in terms of its operational implications. Wherever they have been analysed across a long enough time frame, temperature thresholds of heat-related mortality have shown change over time. Population ageing (widely observed throughout the WHO European Region) would have an influence on such a threshold, lowering it by increasing the pool of vulnerable individuals (mainly people over 65 years of age) (Montero et al., 2012; Carmona et al., 2016).

The impact of heat on health in European cities is expected to worsen under likely climate change scenarios (Kendrovski et al., 2017). In fact, climate change-driven increases in daily maximum temperatures may already have increased the number of heat-related deaths substantially (Christidis, Stott & Brown, 2011). How far the resulting health impacts might be minimized due to acclimatization is unclear (Baccini et al., 2011; Honda et al., 2013; Martinez et al., 2018). Also unclear is whether milder winter temperatures in a climate that is more variable overall might lead to a decrease in cold-related deaths. Studies suggest that cold-related mortality has either remained constant or increased (Gasparrini et al., 2015; Díaz et al., 2015; Linares et al., 2016). The IPCC (Smith et al., 2014) concludes that by the middle of the 21st century heat-related deaths will outweigh health gains due to fewer cold periods in temperate areas like the WHO European Region, and later studies have confirmed those findings (Díaz, López-Bueno et al., 2019).

On the other hand, although valid as a counterfactual scenario for policy advocacy, a complete absence of adaptive processes is unlikely. Variable levels of autonomous and planned adaptation are to be expected, even in the absence of large and concerted efforts. From the "institutional" side, these would include further empowerment of the population to adopt protective behaviours against heat (Bobb et al., 2014); implementation of prevention plans (Schifano et al., 2012; Van Loenhout & Guha-Sapir, 2016); improvements in health services (Ha & Kim, 2013); and improvements in socioeconomic circumstances and housing (Carmichael et al., 2020; Samuelson et al., 2020). In addition, a certain degree of "autonomous" adaptation may be expected from individuals and families, not least in the form of improved shading, insulation and/or an increase in the number of air-conditioning units (Díaz et al., 2018; Watts et al., 2018). In addition to active adaptation, there is a certain degree of physiological acclimatization to heat, although this is assumed to be quite limited until reaching "peak heat stress" (Sherwood & Huber, 2010). As a result of these factors, the threshold temperature used to define a heat-wave will vary over time in most locations (Díaz, Sáez et al., 2019).

Despite these caveats, current and forthcoming trends and projections of climate change, ageing and urbanization strongly warrant and advocate adopting a long-term perspective in managing the health effects of temperature in the context of a changing climate. Yet against this background, most HHAPs operated by national and subnational authorities follow a largely reactive, static approach. The existing evidence highlights that long-term measures show the lowest levels of implementation within HHAPs, as do surveillance and plan evaluation (Bittner et al., 2014). As the responses to a survey of heat-health action planning undertaken by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in 2019 show (the results are highlighted throughout the chapters of this report), most current HHAPs in the Region do not explicitly address the question of whether and how their core elements should evolve in a changing climate, shifting demographics and increasingly urban populations. HHAPs can benefit from the rapidly expanding knowledge and practice of overall climate change adaptation, and become prime examples of effective health adaptation. This report is designed to help HHAP administrators and practitioners in their efforts to create an anticipatory and adaptive approach to the prevention of heat impacts on health.

1.3 Conclusions

A decade has passed since the publication of the WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008). Since then, the evidence has become increasingly clear on the accelerating trends in frequency and in relative and absolute intensity of heat-waves throughout the Region. In some countries, despite increasing episodes of extreme temperatures, heat-related health impacts seem to be decreasing. In others, however, the evidence is mixed; in some, heat vulnerability seems to be increasing. All cases

References³

Achebak H, Devolder D, Ballester J (2018). Heat-related mortality trends under recent climate warming in Spain: a 36-year observational study. PLoS Med. 15(7):e1002617. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002617.

Alcoforado MJ, Marques D, García RAC, Canário P, Nunes M de F, Nogueira H et al. (2015). Weather and climate versus mortality in Lisbon (Portugal) since the 19th century. Applied Geog. 57:133–41. doi:10.1016/j. apgeog.2014.12.017.

- Amengual A, Homar V, Romero R, Brooks HE, Ramis C, Gordaliza M et al. (2014). Projections of heat waves with high impact on human health in Europe. Glob Planet Change. 119:71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloplacha.2014.05.006.
- Arbuthnott KG, Hajat S (2017). The health effects of hotter summers and heat waves in the population of the United Kingdom: a review of the evidence. Environ Health. 16(S1):119. doi:10.1186/s12940-017-0322-5.
- Åström DO, Forsberg B, Edvinsson S, Rocklöv J (2013a). Acute fatal effects of short-lasting extreme temperatures in Stockholm, Sweden: evidence across a century of change. Epidemiology. 24(6):820–9. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000434530.62353.0b.
- Åström DO, Forsberg B, Ebi KL, Rocklöv J (2013b). Attributing mortality from extreme temperatures to climate change in Stockholm, Sweden. Nat Clim Change. 3:1050–4. doi:10.1038/nclimate2022.

- Åström DO, Edvinsson S, Hondula D, Rocklöv J, Schumann B (2016). On the association between weather variability and total and cause-specific mortality before and during industrialization in Sweden. Demogra Res. 35:991. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2016.35.33.
- Baccini M, Kosatsky T, Analitis A, Anderson HR, D'Ovidio M, Menne B et al. (2011). Impact of heat on mortality in 15 European cities: attributable deaths under different weather scenarios. J Epidemiol Community Health. 65(1):64–70. doi:10.1136/jech.2008.085639.
- Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.
- Bobb JF, Peng RD, Bell ML, Dominici F (2014). Heat-related mortality and adaptation to heat in the United States. Environ Health Perspect. 122(8):811–6. doi:10.1289/ ehp.1307392.
- Bussolo M, Koettl J, Sinnott E (2015). Golden aging: prospects for healthy, active, and prosperous aging in Europe and central Asia. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ handle/10986/22018).
- Can G, Şahin Ü, Sayılı U, Dubé M, Kara B, Acar HC et al. (2019). Excess mortality in Istanbul during extreme heat waves between 2013 and 2017. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(22):4348. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16224348.

highlight the need to strengthen prevention efforts further. Projections for the Region under a changing climate indicate that heat-related exposures and impacts could increase substantially through the combined effects of climate change, urbanization and ageing. Moreover, an enormous new corpus of scientific evidence has been published, covering almost every aspect of the public health responses to heat. All these factors suggest the need for and pertinence of a re-evaluation of the guidance to ensure its continued operational relevance.

³ All URLs accessed 27–28 August 2020.

Carmichael L, Prestwood E, Marsh R, Ige J, Williams B, Pilkington P et al. (2020). Healthy buildings for a healthy city: is the public health evidence base informing current building policies? Sci Total Environ. 719:137146. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137146.

Carmona R, Díaz J, Mirón IJ, Ortíz C, León I, Linares C (2016). Geographical variation in relative risks associated with cold waves in Spain: the need for a cold wave prevention plan. Environ Int. 88:103–111. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.027.

Carson C, Hajat S, Armstrong B, Wilkinson P (2006). Declining vulnerability to temperature-related mortality in London over the 20th century. Am J Epidemiol. 164(1):77–84. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj147.

Christidis N, Donaldson GC, Stott PA (2010). Causes for the recent changes in cold- and heat-related mortality in England and Wales. Clim Change. 102:539–53. doi:10.1007/s10584-009-9774-0.

Christidis N, Jones GS, Stott PA (2015). Dramatically increasing chance of extremely hot summers since the 2003 European heatwave. Nature Climate Change. 5(1):46–50. doi:10.1038/nclimate2468.

Christidis N, Stott PA, Brown SJ (2011). The role of human activity in the recent warming of extremely warm daytime temperatures. J Climate. 24(7):1922–30. doi:10.1175/2011JCLI4150.1.

Ciavarella A, Cotterill D, Stott P, Kew S, Philip S, van Oldenborgh GJ et al. (2020). Prolonged Siberian heat of 2020. Oxford: World Weather Attribution (https:// www.worldweatherattribution.org/siberian-heatwaveof-2020-almost-impossible-without-climate-change).

Ciscar J, Feyen L, Lavalle C, Soria A, Raes F (2014). Climate impacts in Europe: the JRC PESETA II Project. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union (http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/ handle/JRC87011).

Coates L, Haynes K, O'Brien J, McAneney J, de Oliveira FD (2014). Exploring 167 years of vulnerability: an examination of extreme heat events in Australia 1844–2010. Environ Sci Policy. 42:33–44. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2014.05.003.

Corobov R, Sheridan S, Ebi K, Opopol N (2013). Warm season temperature-mortality relationships in Chisinau (Moldova). Int J Atmos Sci. 2013:346024. doi:10.1155/2013/346024.

de'Donato F, Leone M, Scortichini M, De Sario M, Katsouyanni K, Lanki T et al. (2015). Changes in the effect of heat on mortality in the last 20 years in nine European cities. Results from the PHASE project. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(12):15567–83. doi:10.3390/ijerph121215006.

de'Donato F, Scortichini M, De Sario M, de Martino A, Michelozzi P (2018). Temporal variation in the effect of heat and the role of the Italian heat prevention plan. Public Health. 161:154–62. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2018.03.030.

De Castro M, Gomez-Gesteira M, Ramos AM, Alvarez I, De Castro P (2011). Effects of heat waves on human mortality, Galicia, Spain. Clim Res. 48:333–41. doi:10.3354/cr00988.

Di Napoli C, Pappenberger F, Cloke HL (2018). Assessing heat-related health risk in Europe via the Universal Thermal Climate Index (UTCI). Int J Biometeorol. 62(7):1155–65. doi:10.1007/s00484-018-1518-2.

Díaz J, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Luna MY, Linares C (2015). Comparison of the effects of extreme temperatures on daily mortality in Madrid (Spain), by age group: the need for a cold wave prevention plan. Environ Res. 143:186–91. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2015.10.018.

Díaz J, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Luna MY, Linares C (2018). Time trend in the impact of heat waves on daily mortality in Spain for a period of over thirty years (1983–2013). Environ Int. 116:10–17. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2018.04.001.

Díaz J, López-Bueno JA, Sáez M, Mirón IJ, Luna MY, Martinez GS et al. (2019). Will there be coldrelated mortality in Spain over the 2021–2050 and 2051–2100 time horizons despite the increase in temperatures as a consequence of climate change? Environ Res. 176:108557. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2019.108557.

Díaz J, Sáez M, Carmona R, Mirón IJ, Barceló MAA, Luna MY, Linares C (2019). Mortality attributable to high temperatures over the 2021–2050 and 2051–2100 time horizons in Spain: adaptation and economic estimate. Environ Res. 172:475–85. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2019.02.041.

Donat MG, Alexander LV, Yang H, Durre I, Vose R, Caesar J (2013). Global land-based datasets for monitoring climatic extremes. Bull Amer Meteor Soc. 94(7):997– 1006. doi:10.1175/BAMS-D-12-00109.1.

ECMWF (2020a). Copernicus: 2019 was the second warmest year and the last five years were the warmest on record. Reading: European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (https://climate.copernicus. eu/copernicus-2019-was-second-warmest-year-andlast-five-years-were-warmest-record). ECMWF (2020b). C3S monthly climate bulletin explorer. In: Climate Data Store [website]. Reading: European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (https:// cds.climate.copernicus.eu/cdsapp#!/software/appc3s-monthly-climate-bulletin-explorer?tab=app).

EEA (2017). Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2016: an indicator-based report. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (https://www.eea. europa.eu/publications/climate-change-impacts-andvulnerability-2016).

Ekamper P, Van Poppel F, Van Duin C, Garssen J (2009). 150 years of temperature-related excess mortality in the Netherlands. Demogra Res. 21:385–426. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2009.21.14.

Estrada F, Botzen WJW, Tol RSJ (2017). A global economic assessment of city policies to reduce climate change impacts. Nature Clim Change. 7(6):403–6. doi:10.1038/nclimate3301.

Eurostat (2018). Statistics explained: population and ageing. In: Eurostat [website]. Luxembourg: Eurostat (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/ index.php/Population_structure_and_ageing).

Fechter-Leggett ED, Vaidyanathan A, Choudhary E (2016). Heat stress illness emergency department visits in national environmental public health tracking states, 2005–2010. J Community Health. 41(1):57–69. doi:10.1007/s10900-015-0064-7.

Follos F, Linares C, Vellon J, López-Bueno J, Luna M, Martinez G et al. (2020). The evolution of minimum mortality temperatures as an indicator of heat adaptation: the cases of Madrid and Seville (Spain). Sci Total Environ. 747:141259. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.141259.

Folkerts MA, Bröde P, Botzen WJW, Martinius ML, Gerrett N, Harmsen CN et al. (2020). Long term adaptation to heat stress: shifts in the minimum mortality temperature in the Netherlands. Front Physiol. 18(11):225. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.00225.

Forzieri G, Cescatti A, Silva FBE, Feyen L (2017). Increasing risk over time of weather-related hazards to the European population: a data-driven prognostic study. Lancet Planet Health. 1(5):e200–8. doi:10.1016/ S2542-5196(17)30082-7.

Fouillet A, Rey G, Wagner V, Laaidi K, Empereur-Bissonnet P, Le Tertre A et al. (2008). Has the impact of heat waves on mortality changed in France since the European heat wave of summer 2003? A study of the 2006 heat wave. Int J Epidemiol. 37(2):309–17. doi:10.1093/ije/dym253. Gabriel KM, Endlicher WR (2011). Urban and rural mortality rates during heat waves in Berlin and Brandenburg, Germany. Environ Pollut. 159:2044–50. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.016.

Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Hashizume M, Kinney PL, Petkova EP, Lavigne E et al. (2015). Temporal variation in heatmortality associations: a multicountry study. Environ Health Perspect. 123(11):1200–7. doi:10.1289/ ehp.1409070.

Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM Huber, V, Tong S et al. (2017). Projections of temperaturerelated excess mortality under climate change scenarios. Lancet Planet Health. 1(9):e360–7. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30156-0.

GHHIN (2020). Global Heat Health Information Network [website]. Geneva: Global Heat Health Information Network (http://www.ghhin.org).

Gil-Alana LA, Sauci L (2019). Temperatures across Europe: evidence of time trends. Climatic Change. 157(3– 4):355–64. doi:10.1007/s10584-019-02568-6.

Green HK, Andrews N, Armstrong B, Bickler G, Pebody R (2016). Mortality during the 2013 heatwave in England – how did it compare to previous heatwaves? A retrospective observational study. Environ Res. 147:343–9. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2016.02.028.

Green MS, Pri-or NG, Capeluto G, Epstein Y, Paz S (2013). Climate change and health in Israel: adaptation policies for extreme weather events. Isr J Health Policy Res. 2(1):23. doi:10.1186/2045-4015-2-23.

Grjibovski AM, Nurgaliyeva N, Adilbekova B, Kozhakhmetova G, Sharbakov A, Seysembekov T et al. (2013). Associations between high summer temperatures and cerebrovascular mortality in Astana, Kazakhstan: a time-series analysis. Eur J Public Health. 23(Suppl 1):ckt124.053. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ ckt124.053.

Guerreiro SB, Dawson RJ, Kilsby C, Lewis E, Ford A (2018). Future heat-waves, droughts and floods in 571 European cities. Environ Res Lett. 13(3):034009. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/aaaad3.

Ha J, Kim H (2013). Changes in the association between summer temperature and mortality in Seoul, South Korea. Int J Biometeorol. 57(4):535–44. doi:10.1007/ s00484-012-0580-4.

Hajat S, Vardoulakis S, Heaviside C, Eggen B (2014). Climate change effects on human health: projections of temperature-related mortality for the UK during the 2020s, 2050s and 2080s. J Epidemiol Community Health. 68(7):641–8. doi:10.1136/jech-2013-202449.

- Heudorf U, Schade M (2014). Heat waves and mortality in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 2003–2013: what effect do heat–health action plans and the heat warning system have? Z Gerontol Geriatr. 47(6):475–82. doi:10.1007/s00391-014-0673-2.
- Honda Y, Kondo M, McGregor G, Kim H, Guo Y, Hijioka Y et al. (2013). Heat-related mortality risk model for climate change impact projection. Environ Health Prev Med. 19:1–8. doi:10.1007/s12199-013-0354-6.
- IPCC (2018). IPCC, 2018: summary for policymakers. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO, Roberts D, Skea J, Shukla PR et al. Global warming of 1.5 °C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/ chapter/spm/).
- Jacob D, Petersen J, Eggert B, Alias A, Christensen O, Bouwer LM et al. (2014). EURO-CORDEX: new highresolution climate change projections for European impact research. Reg Environ Change. 14:563–78. doi:10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2.
- Keggenhoff I, Elizbarashvili M, King L (2015). Heat wave events over Georgia since 1961: climatology, changes and severity. Climate. 3(2):308–28. doi:10.3390/ cli3020308.
- Kendrovski V, Baccini M, Martinez G, Wolf T, Paunovic E, Menne B (2017). Quantifying projected heat mortality impacts under 21st-century warming conditions for selected European countries. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(7):729. doi:10.3390/ijerph14070729.
- Kinney PL (2018). Temporal trends in heat-related mortality: implications for future projections. Atmosphere. 9(10):409. doi:10.3390/atmos9100409.
- Krummenauer L, Prahl BF, Costa L, Holsten A, Walther C, Kropp JP (2019). Global drivers of minimum mortality temperatures in cities. Sci Total Environ. 695:133560. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.366.
- Kyselý J, Kríz B (2008). Decreased impacts of the 2003 heat waves on mortality in the Czech Republic: an improved response? Int J Biometeorol. 52(8):733–45. doi:10.1007/s00484-008-0166-3.

- Kyselý J, Plavcová E (2012). Declining impacts of hot spells on mortality in the Czech Republic, 1986–2009: adaptation to climate change? Clim Change. 113:437– 53. doi:10.1007/s10584-011-0358-4.
- Lehner F, Deser C, Sanderson BM (2018). Future risk of record-breaking summer temperatures and its mitigation. Clim Change. 146(3):363–75. doi:10.1007/ s10584-016-1616-2.
- Linares C, Sánchez R, Mirón IJ, Díaz J (2015). Has there been a decrease in mortality due to heat waves in Spain? Findings from a multicity case study. J Integr Environ Sci. 12(2):153–6. doi:10.1080/194381 5X.2015.1062032.
- Linares C, Mirón IJ, Sánchez R, Carmona R, Díaz J (2016). Time trend in natural-cause, circulatory-cause and respiratory-cause mortality associated with cold waves in Spain, 1975–2008. Stoch Env Res Risk A. 30:1565–74. doi:10.1007/s00477-015-1169-3.
- Martinez GS, Baccini M, De Ridder K, Hooyberghs H, Lefebvre W, Kendrovski V et al. (2016). Projected heat-related mortality under climate change in the metropolitan area of Skopje. BMC Public Health. 16:407. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3077-y.
- Martinez G, Hooyberghs H, Bekker-Nielsen Dunbar M, Linares C, Kendrovski V, Aerts R et al. (2017). Heat and health in Antwerp under climate change: Projected impacts and implications for prevention. Environ Int. 111:135–43. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2017.11.012.
- Matthews, JBR, editor. IPCC, 2018: Annex I: glossary. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO, Roberts D, Skea J, Shukla PR et al. Global warming of 1.5 °C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/ chapter/glossary/).
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- Matzarakis A, Muthers S, Koch E (2011). Human biometeorological evaluation of heat-related mortality in Vienna. Theor Appl Climatol. 105:1–10. doi:10.1007/s00704-010-0372-x.
- Mirón IJ, Linares C, Montero JC, Criado-Álvarez JJ, Díaz J (2015). Changes in cause-specific mortality

during heat waves in central Spain, 1975–2008. Int J Biometeorol. 59(9):1213–22.

- Montero JC, Mirón IJ, Criado-Álvarez JJ, Linares C, Díaz J (2012). Influence of local factors in the relationship between mortality and heat waves: Castile-La Mancha (1975–2003). Sci Total Environ. 414:73–80. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.10.009.
- Morabito M, Profili F, Crisci A, Francesconi P, Gensini GF, Orlandini S (2012). Heat-related mortality in the Florentine area (Italy) before and after the exceptional 2003 heat wave in Europe: an improved public health response? Int J Biometeorol. 56(5):801–10. doi:10.1007/s00484-011-0481-y.
- Mücke HG, Litvinovitch JM (2020). Heat extremes, public health impacts, and adaptation policy in Germany. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(21):7862. doi:10.3390/ ijerph17217862.
- Muthers S, Matzarakis A, Koch E (2010a). Summer climate and mortality in Vienna – a human– biometeorological approach of heat-related mortality during the heat waves in 2003. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 122(17–18):525–31. doi:10.1007/s00508-010-1424-z.
- Muthers S, Matzarakis A, Koch E (2010b). Climate change and mortality in Vienna – a human–biometeorological analysis based on regional climate modeling. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(7):2965–77. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7072965.
- Ng CFS, Boeckmann M, Ueda K, Zeeb H, Nitta H, Watanabe C et al. (2016). Heat-related mortality: effect modification and adaptation in Japan from 1972 to 2010. Glob Environ Change. 39:234–43. doi:10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2016.05.006.
- Nikulin G, Kjellström E, Hansson U, Strandberg G, Ullerstig A (2011). Evaluation and future projections of temperature, precipitation and wind extremes over Europe in an ensemble of regional climate simulations. Tellus A. 63(1):41–55. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0870.2010.00466.x.
- Nitschke M, Tucker GR, Hansen AL, Williams S, Zhang Y, Bi P (2011). Impact of two recent extreme heat episodes on morbidity and mortality in Adelaide, South Australia: a case-series analysis. Environ Health. 10:42. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-10-42.
- Orru H, Åström C, Andersson C, Tamm T, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2019). Ozone and heat-related mortality in Europe in 2050 significantly affected by changes in climate, population and greenhouse gas emission. Environ Res Lett. 14(7):074013. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ab1cd9.

- Pascal M, Le Tertre A, Saoudi A (2012). Quantification of the heat wave effect on mortality in nine French cities during summer 2006. PLoS Curr. 4:RRN1307. doi:10.1371/currents.RRN1307.
- Pascal M, Sweeney J, Cullen E, Schwartz J, Goodman P (2013). Heatwave and mortality in Ireland, planning for the future. Irish Geography. 46(3): 203–11. doi:10.108 0/00750778.2014.898125.
- Pascal M, Wagner V, Corso M, Laaidi K, Ung A, Beaudeau P. (2018). Heat and cold-related mortality in 18 French cities. Environ Int. 121:189–98. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2018.08.049.
- Paterson SK, Godsmark CN (2020). Heat–health vulnerability in temperate climates: lessons and response options from Ireland. Global Health. 16(1):29. doi:10.1186/s12992-020-00554-7.
- Perčič S, Kukec A, Cegnar T, Hojs A (2018). Number of heat wave deaths by diagnosis, sex, age groups, and area, in Slovenia, 2015 vs. 2003. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(1):173. doi:10.3390/ijerph15010173.
- Petkova EP, Gasparrini A, Kinney PL (2014). Heat and mortality in New York City since the beginning of the 20th century. Epidemiology. 25(4):554–60. doi:10.1097/EDE.000000000000123.
- Reyer CPO, Otto IM, Adams S, Albrecht T, Baarsch F, Cartsburg M et al. (2017). Climate change impacts in central Asia and their implications for development. Reg Environ Change. 17(6):1639–50. doi:10.1007/ s10113-015-0893-z.
- Pfeifer K, Åström DO, Martinsone Ž, Kaļužnaja D, Oudin A (2020). Evaluating mortality response associated with two different Nordic heat warning systems in Riga, Latvia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(21):7719. doi:10.3390/ijerph17217719.
- Ragettli MS, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Schindler C, Röösli M (2017). Exploring the association between heat and mortality in Switzerland between 1995 and 2013. Environ Res. 158:703–9. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2017.07.021.
- Roldán E, Gómez M, Pino MR, Díaz J (2015). The impact of extremely high temperatures on mortality and mortality cost. Int J Environ Health Res. 25(3):277–87. doi:10.1080/09603123.2014.938028.
- Ruuhela R, Jylhä K, Lanki T, Tiittanen P, Matzarakis A (2017). Biometeorological assessment of mortality related to extreme temperatures in Helsinki region, Finland, 1972–2014. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(8):944. doi:10.3390/ijerph14080944.

- Russo S, Dosio A, Graversen RG, Sillmann J, Carrao H, Dunbar MB et al. (2014). Magnitude of extreme heat waves in present climate and their projection in a warming world. J Geophys Res Atmospheres. 119:12500–12. doi:10.1002/2014JD022098.
- Russo S, Sillmann J, Fischer EM (2015). Top ten European heatwaves since 1950 and their occurrence in the coming decades. Environ Res Lett. 10(12):124003. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124003.
- Samuelson H, Baniassadi A, Lin A, Izaga González P, Brawley T, Narula T (2020). Housing as a critical determinant of heat vulnerability and health. Sci Total Environ. 720:137296. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.137296.
- Santé Publique France (2019). Canicule et Santé. Bulletin de santé publique. Été 2019, https://www. santepubliquefrance.fr/determinants-de-sante/climat/ fortes-chaleurs-canicule/documents/bulletin-national/ bulletin-de-sante-publique-canicule.-bilan-ete-2019
- Schifano P, Leone M, De Sario M, de'Donato F, Bargagli AM, D'Ippoliti D et al. (2012). Changes in the effects of heat on mortality among the elderly from 1998– 2010: results from a multicenter time series study in Italy. Environ Health. 11(1):58. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-58.
- Scortichini M, de'Donato F, De Sario M, Leone M, Åström C, Ballester F et al. (2018). The inter-annual variability of heat-related mortality in nine European cities (1990–2010). Environ Health. 17(1):66. doi:10.1186/ S12940-018-0411-0.
- Sheridan SC, Allen MJ (2018). Temporal trends in human vulnerability to excessive heat. Environ Res Lett. 13(4):43001. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/aab214.
- Sherwood SC, Huber M (2010). An adaptability limit to climate change due to heat stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107(21):9552–55. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0913352107.
- Smid M, Russo S, Costa AC, Granell C, Pebesma E (2019). Ranking European capitals by exposure to heat waves and cold waves. Urban Climate. 27:388–402. doi:10.1016/J.UCLIM.2018.12.010.
- Smith KR, Woodward A, Campbell-Lendrum D, Chadee DD, Honda Y, Liu Q et al. (2014). Human health: impacts, adaptation, and co-benefits. In: Field CB, Barros VR, Dokken DJ, Mach KJ, Mastrandrea MD, Bilir TE et al., editors. Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: global and sectoral aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth

Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 709–54 (http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg2/).

- Steul K, Schade M, Heudorf U (2018). Mortality during heatwaves 2003–2015 in Frankfurt-Main – the 2003 heatwave and its implications. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 221(1):81–6. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.10.005.
- THL (2019). Last summer's heat wave increased the mortality of older people – prepare for hot weather in time. In: Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare [website]. Helsinki: Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (https://thl.fi/en/web/thlfi-en/-/last-summers-heat-wave-increased-the-mortality-of-older-peopleprepare-for-hot-weather-in-time).
- Todd N, Valleron A J (2015). Space–time covariation of mortality with temperature: a systematic study of deaths in France, 1968–2009. Environ Health Perspect. 123(7):659. doi:10.1289/ehp.1307771.
- Twardosz R, Kossowska-Cezak U (2013). Exceptionally hot summers in central and eastern Europe (1951– 2010). Theor Appl Climatol. 112(3–4):617–28. doi:10.1007/s00704-012-0757-0.
- UHI (2014). Urban Heat Island project [website]. https:// www.buildup.eu/en/free-tags/uhi-urban-heat-island
- Unal YS, Tan E, Mentes SS (2013). Summer heat waves over western Turkey between 1965 and 2006. Theor Appl Climatol. 112(1–2):339–50. doi:10.1007/s00704-012-0704-0.
- UNDESA (2014). World Urbanization Prospects: the 2014 revision, highlights. New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs (https:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/publications/2014revision-world-urbanization-prospects.html).
- Urban A, Davidkovova H, Kyselý J (2014). Heat- and cold-stress effects on cardiovascular mortality and morbidity among urban and rural populations in the Czech Republic. Int J Biometeorol. 58(6):1057–68.
- Urban A, Hanzlíková H, Kyselý J, Plavcová E (2017). Impacts of the 2015 heat waves on mortality in the Czech Republic: a comparison with previous heat waves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(12):1562. doi:10.3390/ijerph14121562.
- Van Loenhout JAF, Guha-Sapir D (2016). How resilient is the general population to heatwaves? A knowledge survey from the ENHANCE project in Brussels and Amsterdam. BMC Res Notes. 9(1):1–5. doi:10.1186/ s13104-016-2305-y.

Vicedo-Cabrera A, Sera F, Tobías A, Åström C, Guo Y, Honda, Y et al. (2019). Heat-related mortality impacts attributed to climate change. Environ Epidemiol. 3:414. doi:10.1097/01.ee9.0000610636.25240.e8.

- Watts N, Amann M, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Bouley T, Boykoff M et al. (2018). The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: from 25 years of inaction to a global transformation for public health. Lancet. 391(10120):581–630. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32464-9.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018). Public health and climate change adaptation policies in the European Union. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/environment-and-health/Climate-change/ publications/2018/public-health-and-climate-changeadaptation-policies-in-the-european-union-2018).
- Wibig J (2017). Heat waves in Poland in the period 1951–2015: trends, patterns and driving factors. Meteorology Hydrology and Water Management. 6(1):1–10. doi:10.26491/mhwm/78420.
- WMO (2019). Heat wave with extreme temperatures in Israel May 2019 – Israel Meteorological Service.
 In: World Meteorological Organization [website].
 Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (https:// public.wmo.int/en/media/news-from-members/heat-

wave-extreme-temperatures-israel-may-2019-israelmeteorological-service).

- WMO (2020). WMO Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2019. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (https://public.wmo.int/en/resources/ library/wmo-statement-state-of-global-climate-2019).
- Wolf T, McGregor G, Analitis A (2009). Assessing vulnerability to heat stress in urban areas: the example of greater London. Epidemiology. 20(6):S24. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000362249.11577.19.
- Wolf T, McGregor G (2013). The development of a heat wave vulnerability index for London, United Kingdom. Weather Clim Extremes. 1:59–68. doi:10.1016/j. wace.2013.07.004.
- Wu J, Zhou Y, Gao Y, Fu JS, Johnson BA, Huang C et al. (2014). Estimation and uncertainty analysis of impacts of future heat waves on mortality in the eastern United States. Environ Health Perspect. 122(1):10–16. doi:10.1289/ehp.1306670.
- Yu S, Yan Z, Freychet N, Li Z (2020). Trends in summer heatwaves in central Asia from 1917 to 2016: association with large scale atmospheric circulation patterns. Int J Climatol. 40(1):115–27. doi:10.1002/ joc.6197.

Chapter 2. Agreement on a lead body: governance of public health responses to heat

Summary

The question of how best to organize and govern public health responses to heat events gained particular relevance in the WHO European Region in the aftermath of the 2003 summer heat-waves. The need to define and implement appropriate and agreed-upon public health responses to heat has since become increasingly pressing, with the latest occurrence of extreme and deadly heat-waves in the summer of 2019. Yet little evidence is available on what constitutes good practice in the governance of such responses.

A recent survey undertaken by the WHO Regional Office for Europe shows an increasing role for national and federal authorities in developing and issuing guidance for subnational actors, although the roles and responsibilities of such actors are only infrequently specified. Moreover, HHAPs are usually not formally linked to crucial related policies, such as disaster risk reduction or national environmental planning. Multilevel governance of heat—health action could capitalize on the comparative strengths of local and non-state actors, thereby contributing to better integration of HHAPs with closely related policy areas.

Key messages

- The published scientific literature and operational evidence do not provide sufficient information to identify the most effective governance design for HHAPs.
- Despite the generally high rate of benefits per costs invested, HHAPs in Europe are not adequately resourced in terms of funding or human resources.
- Most HHAPs specify roles and responsibilities at the national level, but lose specificity at the subnational, local and non-state actor level.
- HHAPs are well integrated with national climate change policies, but less so with national

health, disaster/emergency response and environmental policies.

- Further involvement of local government and non-state actors can increase the reach and effectiveness of HHAPs; such involvement could be promoted through well tested strategies from other policy areas.
- The integration of HHAPs with other early warning systems, health adaptation and climate-resilient health systems strengthening could result in synergies and efficiency gains.

2.1 Good governance of public health responses to heat

2.1.1 Governance in the WHO Regional Office for Europe's 2008 guidance

The question of how to best organize and govern public health responses to heat gained particular relevance in the WHO European Region in the aftermath of the 2003 summer heat-waves. Their high death toll (Robine et al. (2007) estimated it at 70 000 excess deaths) showed the general inadequacy of preparedness and plans, even in the few countries where formal heat preparedness and response plans existed. Soon thereafter, national and subnational health authorities throughout the Region started planning and implementing prevention activities to protect populations from the adverse effects of high temperatures. The scope of these activities varied widely, both geographically and in terms of target populations and health outcomes.

Based on these initial experiences, the WHO Regional Office for Europe identified the core elements that such prevention activities should ideally encompass, and proposed to incorporate them into comprehensive HHAPs (Matthies et al., 2008). This framework was subsequently adopted as a blueprint for prevention by various countries and subnational authorities. Implicit within the 2008 WHO guidance on core elements and flows of information is a governance framework, understood as a way to organize actors and resources to make decisions and take action.

Wherever governance is addressed explicitly in the 2008 WHO guidance (for instance, when describing the roles and responsibilities of the "lead body") it is done generically and not prescriptively. The key governance elements in the guidance can be categorized along these lines:

- using existing systems and arrangements for emergency preparedness and response;
- working intersectorally, with coordination arrangements such as working groups;
- defining roles and responsibilities formally and in advance;
- identifying a lead agency normally a health authority;
- applying multilevel governance involving national, regional and local authorities;
- ensuring bidirectional information flows as close to real time as possible;
- securing stakeholder engagement as crucial to well functioning protection;
- ensuring every actor has enough information and resources to take action;
- designing action to cover the short, medium and long term;
- re-evaluating HHAP governance based on monitoring and evaluation principles.

In practice, these principles are translated by countries into answers to key questions with operational relevance. For instance: What roles and responsibilities are typically best addressed by national authorities or by subnational ones? What are the most operationally efficient institutional arrangements for heat-health action planning? Does every actor have the necessary information and resources to play their roles, and how can this be established?

While answers to such questions are highly contextdependent, the accumulation of experience in the Region and beyond can provide some insights. The peer-reviewed literature contains valuable information for public health planners seeking to design or review their efforts to reduce the health impacts of heat. The operational experience of various HHAPs throughout the Region can provide valuable inputs for peer learning and the eventual
development of agreed-upon good practices. This chapter provides a succinct overview of the most operationally relevant evidence from literature and from a survey of heat-health action planning undertaken by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in 2019.

2.1.2 Governance in the scientific and technical literature

Most HHAPs and health-relevant adaptation strategies in the WHO European Region are designed for the national level (Boeckmann & Zeeb, 2014; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018a). They are typically managed at the national level and implemented by national and regional agencies, following distributions of competences across health systems. A number of studies have analysed the organization of HHAPs (Matthies & Menne, 2009; Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Bittner et al., 2014; Austin et al., 2016), finding some basic patterns.

- Whether the HHAP is managed at the national or local/regional level largely mirrors the overall decentralization of competences in the country.
- The development of an adaptation plan or HHAP is typically led by either the ministry of health or the ministry of the environment, whereas subnational response coordination is most often led by departments of health.
- Warnings are based on information provided by weather services, while actions can be triggered by individual agencies or via coordinated action.
- National and/or subnational health services are usually informed about heat events and often disseminate this information and take action.

Collaboration between sectors is one common good practice outlined in the existing literature (Austin et al., 2016; Bittner et al., 2014). Taking into account the scarcity of evidence on good governance practices for HHAPs, experiences from outside the Region can provide useful information. Akompab et al. (2013) analysed stakeholder involvement processes for HHAP

development and implementation in Adelaide, Australia. They found that interagency discussions, meetings and workshops, as well as invitations to key stakeholders to offer feedback on the HHAP draft, ensured a transparent approach. Leadership support was perceived as essential. The public was mainly informed rather than actively involved in the process; the stakeholders were all government agencies. The interagency cooperation in Adelaide might have benefited from its state's involvement in the Health in All Policies approach, which facilitates intersectoral responses to health challenges (Kickbusch, Williams & Lawless, 2014). In a study from India (Knowlton et al., 2014), the entire development of the HHAP and its implementation were conducted as part of an international-local consortium. Community organizations were involved with workshops and public consultations.

In Japan (Martinez, Imai & Masumo, 2011) and selected examples from the United States (White-Newsome et al., 2014), volunteering played an important role in ensuring the safety of vulnerable groups. The extent to which volunteers received support from the authorities in designing their approaches and their roles in the development of HHAP were, however, unspecified in these studies. In European peer-reviewed studies, examples of stakeholder involvement are also unspecific. While different government organizations were always involved to some degree, the public or communities were perceived as recipients of advice and warnings and as vulnerable groups, rather than as active stakeholders (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Hansen et al., 2014). Interagency cooperation, however, was stressed as an important component of an HHAP (Austin et al., 2016).

Overall, the evidence base is limited in the peerreviewed scientific literature, as few articles explicitly examine the organization of HHAPs and no conclusions can be drawn from these studies about whether a specific approach is better. More operational research into the governance of HHAPs would be useful to illustrate the advantages and disadvantages of different organizational arrangements and governance modes. Some areas of improvement are, however, suggested in the published literature, including:

- provision of adequate financial and human resources (Boeckmann, 2016; Van Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016);
- multilevel governance arrangements favouring local involvement in implementation (Van

Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016), including better stakeholder engagement and more effective outreach to vulnerable groups (Sampson et al., 2013; Hansen et al., 2014);

 better integration of HHAPs with other relevant regulations and heat-health governance elements (Mees, Driessen & Runhaar, 2015; Wistow, Curtis & Bone, 2016).

2.2 Survey responses: status of HHAP governance

The governance of HHAPs can be examined further by comparing national and regional approaches and published examples of current practice. One such comparison was undertaken in a survey conducted by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in 2019, which looked into governance and institutional arrangements for HHAPs. This survey of HHAP administrators, national and local focal points and experts is the most comprehensive effort to date by WHO to assess the status of public health preparedness for high temperatures in the Region.

The survey featured several sets of questions to mine information on HHAPs established at each national, subnational or local level. The definition used for the existence of an HHAP was that (i) the document title stated that it specifically addressed heat-wave response; and (ii) it was approved as a formal document. Of a total of 35 countries participating in the survey:

- 16 indicated the existence of a national HHAP (Austria, Belgium, Croatia, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Malta, the Netherlands, North Macedonia, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom);
- 10 indicated, explicitly, that they did not have a national HHAP in place (Denmark, Cyprus, Estonia, Finland, Israel, Montenegro, Norway, Poland, Serbia and Turkmenistan);
- 6 indicated the existence of subnational HHAPs (Belarus, Belgium, Czechia, Italy, Spain and Switzerland);

• 10 indicated the existence of local HHAPs (Albania, Belgium, Bulgaria, Germany, Greece, Kazakhstan, Lithuania, the Netherlands, the Russian Federation and Ukraine).

This report presents an analysis of the 16 responses from countries with national HHAPs in terms of implementation of the elements recommended by the framework of the 2008 WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008).

While management practices at one location or setting may not be applicable elsewhere due to the range of different health systems and their organization across the Region, the findings of the survey provide valuable insights. Longer-term evaluations of a number of governance approaches are needed to show whether the examples in place are indeed best practices.

2.2.1 Economic and human resources

Several HHAPs in the Region are not adequately resourced. Among the 16 countries that reported the existence of a national HHAP, only 37% of the survey respondents thought that their HHAPs were supported by the necessary financial and human resources, whereas 56% said those resources were insufficient. Areas where respondents felt that most resources were needed included training for staff in hospitals, nursing homes and care centres for homeless people; helping vulnerable people at home; adapting schools to heat; locating the most isolated people; and conducting research on epidemiology and prevention.

Most national HHAPs (almost 90%) were funded through internal allocation of resources from the lead agency's own budget; only 10% received earmarked funding from parent organizations or external budgets (such as those for climate change adaptation) for operation of the HHAP. The idea that more resources were needed to reduce risk in domestic and care settings was a recurrent one, as was (in cases where resources were deemed insufficient) that idea the lack of resources could even threaten the continuity of the HHAPs themselves.

Yet investing in public health is demonstrably good business. Interventions that address the environmental and social determinants of health, build resilience and promote healthy behaviours are shown to be particularly cost-effective (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2015). HHAPs are a good example of this, yielding high economic benefits compared to their costs. In a recent assessment, cost-benefit ratios for existing heat-wave warning systems in Europe were estimated at 11 times the amount invested for London, United Kingdom, 308 times for Prague, Czechia, and 913 times for Madrid, Spain; those ratios increased extensively in the near future under all climate scenarios (Hunt et al., 2017). Indeed, human health costs from climate change and specifically those from increased heat constitute a large proportion of the calculated economic impacts from climate change in Europe (Ciscar et al., 2014).

2.2.2 Actors, roles and responsibilities

Asked about the status of implementation of the core elements of their national HHAPs, almost 100% of the survey respondents assessed their designation of a "lead agency" as fully or partly implemented. Those who assessed implementation as partial were mostly countries that have devolved HHAP implementation to subnational authorities (provinces, Länders, cities, municipalities or cantons in Austria, Belgium, Germany, Malta, Slovenia, Sweden and Switzerland), and thus do not have designated lead response agencies at the national or federal level. Most also listed multiple subnational activities or systems for heat-health prevention at the subnational level, with which they coordinated.

Most HHAPs specify roles and responsibilities for national and federal authorities (exceptions are made for fully decentralized systems). Meteorological agencies are generally in charge of issuing heat warnings and informing the agency leading the health response (usually a national public health agency or ministry of health; sometimes a subnational health agency). Almost 70% of national HHAPs also specify roles and responsibilities for subnational authorities, but the level of such specification decreases as implementation gets closer to the target populations, with 56% for local or city authorities and 38% for other stakeholders (including nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) such as the Red Cross/Red Crescent) - see Fig. 4.

The low degree of specification of roles and responsibilities of non-state actors does not mean that they do not participate in planning and response. Among the 16 countries that reported the existence of a national HHAP, half involve NGOs such as the Red Cross/Red Crescent in their response, whereas the involvement of businesses or the private sector is infrequent (in about 20% of the plans). Other types of institution involved in communicating the advice include associations of pharmacists, the media, academia and public transport authorities. Beyond the coordination that may happen ad hoc or regularly with NGOs and volunteer-based organizations during the response phase, a more formalized engagement of non-state actors has been observed to boost the reach of public health responses to heat (Martinez, Imai & Masumo, 2011). This engagement may take diverse forms, ranging from participation of local NGOs or volunteer-based organizations for outreach to vulnerable groups, to the allowance or facilitation of use of facilities as cooling centres (such as shopping malls).



Fig. 4. Specification of roles and responsibilities in national HHAPs

The specification of roles and responsibilities refers in this report to legally binding duties and tasks of institutions and actors within an HHAP. In some cases, national plans provide detailed guidance or examples of possible roles and responsibilities that other levels of administration could play. Although these are not legally binding, the guidance itself can contribute to enabling action in a relatively standardized way. Even in cases where roles and responsibilities are not formally allocated, the plan frequently contains clear recommendations or guidance for regional authorities, municipalities or both (as in the German HHAP (BMU, 2017)). Beyond these institutions, the backbone of HHAP implementation relies on direct stakeholders and actors on the ground, for whom specific advice and instructions are provided. The responses to the survey specified the following categories as providers of advice: health care practitioners (including doctors, nurses and pharmacists – in over 80% of the HHAPs), nursing homes (in 75%), health care administrators (such as hospital managers – in about 70%), social workers (in 44%) and schools (in under 20%). Box 2 describes the multilevel coordination within the national HHAP of Italy.

Box 2. Coordination of national, regional and local heat-health action in Italy

The Italian HHAP focuses on urban areas and is structured around the core components of the 2008 WHO guidance. The Ministry of Health (2019) provides a national guidance document, which is the basis for definition of heat prevention plans at the local level. This is updated regularly to include new aspects and evidence, and to reflect lessons from implementation so far. Some core elements are coordinated at the national level, such as the heat warning system and dissemination of warning information via email, the Ministry of Health website and social media accounts (Twitter, Facebook) and the mobile application "Caldo e Salute [Heat and Health]" (Ministry of Health, 2018); the near real-time surveillance system (mortality and ER visits) for monitoring health impacts during heat-waves and changes over time; provision of training and educational materials for health care professionals; evaluation of the HHAP; and the national helpline. Finally, every year a survey is carried out to collect information on prevention measures put in place regionally and in each city to promote sharing of experiences between local authorities and to help dissemination of information, as well as to evaluate the components of the HHAPs.

According to the guidance, prevention measures have to be modulated according to warning levels and targeted to vulnerable population subgroups. Italian health services are managed at the regional level, so heat prevention actions and specific response measures are defined locally by each region, municipality and local health authority, based on the Ministry of Health's national guidance document (Fig. 5). Specifically, regional and local plans identify vulnerable subgroups to whom active surveillance should be addressed by health or social services; define emergency response protocols; and manage local helplines and the dissemination of warnings and heat advice. A key element of local prevention plans is the active surveillance of high-risk subjects by general practitioners (GPs), health services and social services during heat-waves. Hospitals and nursing homes define their own emergency protocols, including measures such as postponing non-urgent surgery and discharging patients during high-risk periods (ensuring continuity of care from the hospital unit to home); staff rotation restrictions; mobilization of at-risk patients to airconditioned rooms/wards; and increasing bed availability during the summer.

Fig. 5. Heat-health prevention at the national, regional and local levels



2.3 Links of HHAPs with broader policies

2.3.1 Links to other national/federal policies

In terms of links with other policies, WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning shows that national HHAPs are most often related to national climate change policies (81%) - either as a formal element (56%) or mentioned in these (25%). They are less frequently related to national health policies (63%), and are often not a formal element of these (38% are a formal element; 25% are mentioned in them). HHAPs are rarely a formal element in national disaster/emergency management policies (25%), although they are frequently mentioned (44%), despite the fact that heat is the deadliest weather extreme in the Region. HHAPs are infrequently a formal element of national environmental policies (19%), or mentioned in them (25%), and they are not formally part of countries' nationally determined contribution priorities, although they are occasionally mentioned in them (25%) (Fig. 6).

That HHAPs would often be part of national/ federal climate change policies seems reasonable. Geared towards the minimization of health impacts of current and future climate variability, HHAPs constitute a prime example of health adaptation. Moreover, once the relationship between temperature and population morbidity and mortality has been ascertained locally, the effect of future climate change on those outcomes in the absence of adaptation can be modelled with certainty. This provides a clear monitoring and evaluation framework in a policy area (climate change adaptation) fraught with uncertainties and dynamic discourses over metrics.

The low levels of formal inclusion of HHAPs in national/federal health policies are also not surprising, although this lack of ownership by health systems is not restricted to HHAPs. Rather, this is a common occurrence in most environmental health early warning systems and/or prevention plans – in part related to low institutional attention to and spending on health prevention (which stands at around 3% of total health expenditure in OECD economies) (Gmeinder, Morgan & Mueller, 2017). This adds to the well known barriers to intersectoral action for health, for both the health and environmental sectors (Ndumbe-Eyoh & Moffatt, 2013; Rantala, Bortz & Armada, 2014).





2.3.2 Links to local governments and nonstate actors

Although consensus is lacking on whether decentralization by itself contributes to better health system performance, there is increasing evidence that involvement of local governments in public health interventions is important for their effectiveness (Tomm-Bonde et al., 2013). Local authorities are well positioned to make HHAPs and other public health interventions more effective through a number of factors (Department of Health, 2011):

- direct accountability of results to local communities;
- ability to tailor services to local needs;
- ability to act on social determinants of health and health inequalities.

These strengths are particularly useful for prevention strategies requiring stakeholder engagement and effective outreach to target groups. The involvement of local governments in HHAPs, as well as more generally in health adaptation, however, may be hindered by a lack of awareness of and political commitment to the need to address climate change drivers and impacts, inadequate governance structures, a scarcity of data or a lack of specialist knowledge (EU, 2013).

From a pragmatic perspective, many actions at the local scale are directed or constrained by higher levels. Since most policies (national or otherwise) tend ultimately to be implemented locally, the local authority has a crucial role as implementer or facilitator. In countries such as Italy, the Netherlands and various Scandinavian countries, local governments hold general competence to undertake any actions in the perceived interest of their citizens, within the limits of the law. In contrast, local governments in several other countries only have the right to fulfil their statutory aims (Keskitalo, 2010).

The competences of local governments in Europe over either health or climate change adaptation (the

two policy areas most closely related to HHAPs) are wide ranging, from almost complete to virtually non-existent. Climate change adaptation has so far largely been regulated through planning systems, thus giving pre-eminence to the level with the planning power (Newman & Thornley, 2002). Local authorities with ample planning powers therefore have ample competence over local adaptation, although they may lack many other enabling factors (such as funding or specialist personnel) (Lorenz et al., 2017). Similarly, while local authorities in some European countries may hold almost all competences in health systems - from health care provision to financing - others may only hold them over basic public health activities, following the inherent complexities of health systems governance (Pyone, Smith & van den Broek, 2017). Most local governments with enough capacity have some degree of competence over public health activities, however. It is on this minimum common denominator that the debate over health adaptation should take place.

In the case of HHAPs, local governments hold both agency and often competence to address elements in most core elements of prevention. On account of resources and economies of scale, a municipality may not be well suited to be a lead agency in an HHAP, or to lead efforts in epidemiological surveillance and evaluation. Otherwise, its participation would add value in all elements: being an active part of the health information plan, providing and coordinating resources for reductions in heat exposure, ensuring care for vulnerable groups, coordinating with the local health and social care systems, and integrating heat and climate into long-term urban planning efforts.

In their answers to WHO's 2019 survey of heat– health action planning, among the 16 countries that reported the existence of a national HHAP, over 80% of respondents listed examples of ongoing heat–health activities at the subnational level, describing a vast ecosystem of heterogeneous subnational activities towards the prevention of health effects from heat in WHO European Region. Obtaining an accurate list and taxonomy of such activities was beyond the scope of the survey, but the responses suggested that guidance issued by national authorities is an important enabler of subnational action on heat and health. On the other hand, the subnational authorities implementing their own plans were often in principal regions or cities (in other words, those more populated and wealthier); several capital cities had their own versions of an HHAP (including Athens and Moscow).

Various evaluations confirm that local stakeholders welcome and put to use guidance and resources from higher levels of governance (Van Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016; PHE, 2020; Pascal, Laaidi & Beaudeau, 2019). Targeted efforts that could strengthen the implementation of heatwave plans at a local government level include clearer directions from national and regional administrations; consistency in approaches; crosssectoral and cross-agency collaboration; and the fostering of support from state government (Tomm-Bonde et al., 2013). If local implementation of heatwave plans is strengthened, this will also improve the adaptive capacity of communities, meaning that they will be better able to respond to heat-waves and therefore reduce their health risks (Mimura et al., 2014). In addition, the benefits of strengthening community resilience to respond to the health impacts of heat-waves can improve responses to other extreme events (Berry & Richardson, 2016).

The involvement of local governments can be facilitated through provision of information and support to the local employees involved, and via integration of HHAP efforts into existing structures. Through such involvement, HHAPs could tap into the potential of local volunteering structures, community capacity and in-depth knowledge of local needs. Inviting these stakeholders to the table early on in the design of an HHAP and before implementation could highlight gaps or barriers to effective communication or outreach strategies. It is important to note that a number of these stakeholders have been successfully engaged in some settings – for instance, in Japan (Martinez, Imai & Masumo, 2011; Boeckmann and Rohn, 2014; Boeckmann, 2016) – proving the value of these efforts.

The schematic flow of information or resources in an HHAP originally proposed by the 2008 WHO guidance suggested a relatively passive role of local governments, as recipients or channels of information only (Matthies et al., 2008). By contrast, the comparative strengths of local governments could make them multiplicators, boosting the effectiveness of efforts. Municipalities could play an important role in mapping and organizing local stakeholders; this could make a great difference in the effectiveness and reach of heat-wave risk management strategies. The stakeholders include not only government bodies (such as health departments and police) but also health care providers, retirement home managers, landlords, business administrators, NGOs and others. As noted by Lass et al. (2011), these heterogeneous networks cannot be organized in a top-down manner; instead, cooperative forms of coordinated action are required. Building on that coordination, during the heat-wave response phase, involvement of municipalities could increase the effectiveness of short-term measures to reduce heat exposure, including advice on behaviour, access to cool spaces and allocation of mobile cooling technology.

In the medium and long term, local governments would be in a privileged position to enable or support:

- necessary retrofitting of building envelopes and insulation;
- efficient active cooling;
- shading and passive cooling technologies;
- supporting green and blue infrastructure projects;
- ultimately, adaptation of building regulations, urban planning and land use.

Non-state actors can also contribute to better governance of HHAPs by broadening the scope and reach of the system. Furthermore, environmental justice, climate justice and public health all aspire to principles of inclusion and community action (Wilson et al., 2010; Breen & O'Connor, 2014; McDonald et al., 2015; Mendez, 2015); these necessitate further involvement of relevant stakeholders. A number of studies suggest that vulnerable populations do not feel spoken to during heat warnings (Abrahamson et al., 2009; Wolf et al., 2010; Alberini, Gans & Alhassan, 2011), or that culturally appropriate suggestions for adaptation are needed (Banwell et al., 2012; Hansen et al., 2014). Stakeholders who might be further involved also include other vulnerable people, such as homeless populations and those with unstable housing situations, migrants (particularly those currently travelling or in unstable housing) and people with limited mobility who are not routinely included in HHAPs.

An extensive body of literature exists on strategies for increasing participation from communities through participatory research approaches and "urban lab" real world experiments in urban climate change mitigation and adaptation activities (Bulkeley & Castán Broto, 2013; Castán Broto & Bulkeley, 2013). These could be used to support stakeholder involvement in HHAP activities more efficiently.

2.4 Strengthening synergies of HHAPs with other policy areas

WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning revealed a certain degree of integration of HHAPs in broader policy, with stronger links to climate change adaptation and weaker links to other areas, including health, emergency management and the environment. There is, however, a clear need for stronger links between HHAPs and other existing plans and policies.

The most obvious way forward towards such integration is insisting on the pathway to intersectoral action for health. Interdisciplinary approaches are essential for identifying and implementing appropriate management strategies and collaborations across different fields. In a recent comprehensive summary, the WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018b) identified various elements to consider when promoting intersectoral action for health. Crucially, it requires triggers: both highlevel political support from the ministers and ministries responsible and the introduction of data and evidence, particularly on cost-effectiveness and the economic benefits of the intended interventions. Successful cases typically take the form of longer-term initiatives with permanent coordinating structures rather than short-term projects. Facilitating factors include a clear mandate to reach out beyond the health sector, sufficient resources, supporting data and evidence, sufficient capacity, and civil society and media engagement. By contrast, a lack of political will or commitment, lack of resources, lack of coordination mechanisms and entrenched siloed thinking are direct challenges to intersectoral action for health. The following sections set out some specific examples of links of particular importance for good heat–health governance.

2.4.1 Integration with other early warning systems

There is a clear case for integration of HHAPs with other early warning systems for health – particularly those with a climatic component. The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 (United Nations, 2015) highlights the need to increase availability of and access to multihazard early warning systems. Restricting the scope of analysis to early warning systems for climate-sensitive exposures (such as heat, air pollution, aeroallergens and vectors, to name but a few) shows that these plans are usually activated individually. Although they demonstrate good results from the point of view of minimizing health impacts, as in the case of high temperature plans, they commonly fail to address the synergies across various climate-related or climate-aggravated exposures. Since a number of those exposures tend to occur concurrently, failure to integrate them into prevention efforts could affect the effectiveness and reach of such action. Thus, an integrative approach is needed for the multiple effects that climate change has on population health (Linares et al., 2020).

2.4.2 HHAPs as adaptation to climate change

In line with the climate resilience of health systems, HHAPs are a prime example of health-protecting adaptation to climate change. Governance mechanisms for integrating climate action into health policy and planning seem well established – at least in the EU countries in the WHO European Region, most of which are considering implementing adaptation actions to address climate change-related health impacts. In a 2017 survey (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018a)¹, all 20 respondent countries had a multisectoral body in place to deal with climate change and the health

2.5 Conclusions

Preparing and responding to heat extremes is an area of urgent priority for health policy and practice, given the current and projected increases in heat events – in both frequency and intensity. While it is a positive step that good governance elements and principles are outlined in international and national guidance, their translation into practice is highly context-dependent, with no generally agreed-upon best practice. WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning revealed important patterns regarding HHAP governance at the national/federal level: sector; 65% had a designated climate change and health focal point within the health ministry with their activities specified in a programme of action, and 13 countries had developed national policies (strategies or plans) on health and climate change (Austria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Spain and Sweden). Climate-related early warning systems, and among them HHAPs, constituted a large proportion of those policy efforts. This highlights an opportunity for HHAP administrators to communicate their importance clearly within their countries' and Europe's climate change adaptation efforts.

Heat-health governance can also be strengthened through further integration with other policy areas related to climate change adaptation. Occupational health is an important one; this is touched on in Chapter 6 of this report, and spans instruments from research to industry-specific standards and enforcement of regulatory compliance. Also important are the links between policy, governance and investment in infrastructure, housing and energy, and their modification effect on heat and health; these are addressed in Chapters 5 and 8.

- most HHAPs lack adequate economic and human resources for implementation;
- most HHAPs specify roles and responsibilities at the national level, but are less specific when addressing the subnational and local levels, including non-state actors;
- HHAPs are relatively well integrated with national climate change policies, but less so with national health, disaster/emergency or environmental policies.

Strategies for further involvement of local governments and non-state actors in HHAPs can be

¹ This survey is different from the one whose results are featured in this chapter, and was undertaken earlier; it was conducted in collaboration with the European Commission, specifically to investigate health within climate change adaptation strategies in the EU.

borrowed from other disciplines, which might result in better reach and effectiveness. The integration of HHAPs with other climate-sensitive early warning systems, health adaptation and climate-resilient

References²

- Abrahamson V, Wolf J, Lorenzoni I, Fenn B, Kovats S, Wilkinson P et al. (2009). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: interview-based study of older people in London and Norwich, UK. J Public Health (Oxf). 31(1):119–26. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdn102.
- Akompab DA, Bi P, Williams S, Saniotis A, Walker IA, Augoustinos M (2013). Engaging stakeholders in an adaptation process: governance and institutional arrangements in heat–health policy development in Adelaide, Australia. Mitig Adapt Strateg Glob Chang. 18(7):1001–18. doi:10.1007/s11027-012-9404-4.
- Alberini A, Gans W, Alhassan M (2011). Individual and public-program adaptation: coping with heat waves in five cities in Canada. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4679–701. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124679.
- Austin S E, Biesbroek R, Berrang-Ford L, Ford JD, Parker S, Fleury MD (2016). Public health adaptation to climate change in OECD countries. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(9). doi:10.3390/ijerph13090889.
- Banwell C, Dixon J, Bambrick H, Edwards F, Kjellström T (2012). Socio-cultural reflections on heat in Australia with implications for health and climate change adaptation. Glob Health Action. 5. doi:10.3402/gha. v5i0.19277.
- Berry P, Richardson GRA (2016). Approaches for building community resilience to extreme heat.
 In: Steinberg SL, Sprigg WA. Extreme weather, health, and communities. Basel: Springer: 351–88. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-30626-1_15.
- Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.
- BMU (2017). Recommendations for action: heat action plans to protect human health. Berlin: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (https://www.bmu.de/en/topics/ climate-energy/climate/adaptation-to-climate-change/ recommendations-for-heat-action-plans/).

health systems strengthening, as well as other areas of governance, could result in synergies and efficiency gains.

- Boeckmann M (2016). Exploring the health context: a qualitative study of local heat and climate change adaptation in Japan. Geoforum. 73:1–5. doi:10.1016/J.GEOFORUM.2016.04.006.
- Boeckmann M, Rohn I (2014). Is planned adaptation to heat reducing heat-related mortality and illness? A systematic review. BMC Public Health. 14(1):1112. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1112.
- Boeckmann M, Zeeb H (2014). Using a social justice and health framework to assess European climate change adaptation strategies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(12):12389–411. doi:10.3390/ijerph111212389.
- Breen LJ, O'Connor M (2014). From consultation to participation in public health research: reflections on a community-based research partnership. BMC Res Notes. 7(1):936. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-7-936.
- Bulkeley H, Castán Broto V (2013). Government by experiment? Global cities and the governing of climate change. Trans Inst Br Geogr. 38(3):361–75. doi:10.1111/j.1475-5661.2012.00535.x.
- Castán Broto V, Bulkeley H (2013). A survey of urban climate change experiments in 100 cities. Glob Environ Change. 23(1):92–102. doi:10.1016/J. GLOENVCHA.2012.07.005.
- Ciscar J, Feyen L, Lavalle C, Soria A, Raes F (2014). Climate impacts in Europe: the JRC PESETA II Project. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union (http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/ handle/JRC87011).
- Department of Health (2011). Public health in local government: local government leading for public health. London: Department of Health and Social Care (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/publichealth-in-local-government).
- EU (2013). Climate change adaptation: empowerment of local and regional authorities, with a focus on their involvement in monitoring and policy design. Brussels: European Union (https://climate-

² All URLs accessed 31 August–1 September 2020.

adapt.eea.europa.eu/metadata/publications/ climate-change-adaptation-empowerment-oflocal-and-regional-authorities-with-a-focus-ontheir-involvement-in-monitoring-and-policy-design/ cor_2013_empowermentoflocalandregionalauthorities. pdf).

- Gmeinder M, Morgan D, Mueller M (2017). How much do OECD countries spend on prevention? Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. doi:10.1787/f19e803c-en.
- Hansen A, Nitschke M, Saniotis A, Benson J, Tan Y, Smyth, V et al. (2014). Extreme heat and cultural and linguistic minorities in Australia: perceptions of stakeholders. BMC Public Health. 14(1):550. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-550.
- Hunt A, Ferguson J, Baccini M, Watkiss P, Kendrovski V (2017). Climate and weather service provision: economic appraisal of adaptation to health impacts. Clim Serv. 7:78–86. doi:10.1016/j.cliser.2016.10.004.
- Keskitalo ECH, editor (2010). Developing adaptation policy and practice in Europe: multi-level governance of climate change. Dordrecht: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-90-481-9325-7.
- Kickbusch I, Williams C, Lawless A (2014). Making the most of open windows: establishing Health in All Policies in South Australia. Int J Health Serv. 44(1):185–94. doi:10.2190/HS.44.1.k.
- Knowlton K, Kulkarni S, Azhar G, Mavalankar D, Jaiswal A, Connolly M et al. (2014). Development and implementation of South Asia's first heat– health action plan in Ahmedabad (Gujarat, India). Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(4):3473–92. doi:10.3390/ijerph110403473.
- Lass W, Haas A, Hinkel J, Jaeger C (2011). Avoiding the avoidable: towards a European heat waves risk governance. Int J Disaster Risk Sci. 2, 1–14. doi:10.1007/s13753-011-0001-z.
- Linares C, Martinez GS, Kendrovski V, Díaz J (2020). A new integrative perspective on early warning systems for health in the context of climate change. Environ Res. 187:109623. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109623.
- Lorenz S, Dessai S, Forster PM, Paavola J (2017). Adaptation planning and the use of climate change projections in local government in England and Germany. Reg Environ Change. 17(2):425–35. doi:10.1007/s10113-016-1030-3.
- Lowe D, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce

human health consequences of heatwaves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4623–48. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124623.

- Martinez G, Imai C, Masumo K (2011). Local heat stroke prevention plans in Japan: characteristics and elements for public health adaptation to climate change. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4563– 81. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124563.
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- Matthies F, Menne B (2009). Prevention and management of health hazards related to heatwaves. Int J Circumpolar Health. 68(1):8–12. doi:10.3402/ijch. v68i1.18293.
- McDonald YJ, Grineski SE, Collins TW, Kim YA (2015). A scalable climate health justice assessment model. Soc Sci Med. 133:242–52. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.10.032.
- Mees HLP, Driessen PPJ, Runhaar HAC (2015). "Cool" governance of a "hot" climate issue: public and private responsibilities for the protection of vulnerable citizens against extreme heat. Reg Environ Change. 15(6):1065–79. doi:10.1007/s10113-014-0681-1.
- Mendez MA (2015). Assessing local climate action plans for public health co-benefits in environmental justice communities. Local Environ. 20(6):637–63. doi:10.108 0/13549839.2015.1038227.
- Mimura N, Pulwarty RS, Duc DM, Elshinnawy I, Redsteer MH, Huang HQ et al. (2014). Adaptation planning and implementation. In: Field CB, Barros VR, Dokken DJ, Mach KJ, Mastrandrea MD, Bilir TE et al., editors. Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: global and sectoral aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 869–98 (http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg2/).
- Ministry of Health (2018). App Caldo e Salute [Heat and Health app]. In: Ondate di calore [Heat waves] [website]. Rome: Ministry of Health (http://www. salute.gov.it/portale/caldo/dettaglioContenutiCaldo. jsp?lingua=italiano&id=4965&area= emergenzaCaldo&menu=app).
- Ministry of Health (2019). Piano nazionale di prevenzione degli effetti del caldo sulla salute [Guidelines for the prevention of the effects of heat on health].

Rome: Ministry of Health (http://www.salute.gov.it/ imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2921_allegato.pdf).

Ndumbe-Eyoh S, Moffatt H (2013). Intersectoral action for health equity: a rapid systematic review. BMC Public Health. 13(1):1056. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1056.

Newman P, Thornley A (2002). Urban planning in Europe: international competition, national systems and planning projects. London: Routledge.

Pascal M, Laaidi K, Beaudeau P (2019). Intérêt des espaces verts et ombragés dans la prévention des impacts sanitaires de la chaleur et de la pollution de l'air en zones urbaines [Relevance of green, shaded environments in the prevention of adverse effects on health from heat and air pollution in urban areas]. Santé Publique. S1(HS):197–205. doi:10.3917/ spub.190.0197.

PHE (2020). Heatwave plan for England: protecting health and reducing harm from severe heat and heatwaves. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).

Pyone T, Smith H, van den Broek N (2017). Frameworks to assess health systems governance: a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 32(5):710–22. doi:10.1093/ heapol/czx007.

Rantala R, Bortz M, Armada F (2014). Intersectoral action: local governments promoting health. Health Promot Int. 29(suppl 1):i92–102. doi:10.1093/heapro/dau047.

Robine J, Cheung S, Le Roy S, Van Oyen H, Herrmann F (2007). Report on excess mortality in Europe during summer 2003. Brussels: European Commission (http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_projects/2005/ action1/docs/action1_2005_a2_15_en.pdf).

Sampson NR, Gronlund CJ, Buxton MA, Catalano L, White-Newsome JL, Conlon KC et al. (2013). Staying cool in a changing climate: reaching vulnerable populations during heat events. Glob Environ Change. 23(2):475– 84. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.011.

Tomm-Bonde L, Schreiber RS, Allan DE, MacDonald M, Pauly B, Hancock T (2013). Fading vision: knowledge translation in the implementation of a public health policy intervention. Implement Sci. 8(1):59. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-8-59.

United Nations (2015). Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030. New York: United Nations (https://www.undrr.org/publication/sendai-frameworkdisaster-risk-reduction-2015-2030). Van Loenhout JAF, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Guha-Sapir D (2016). Stakeholders' perception on national heatwave plans and their local implementation in Belgium and the Netherlands. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(11):1120. doi:10.3390/ijerph13111120.

White-Newsome JL, McCormick S, Sampson N, Buxton MA, O'Neill MS, Gronlund CJ et al. (2014). Strategies to reduce the harmful effects of extreme heat events: a four-city study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(2):1960–88. doi:10.3390/ijerph110201960.

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2015). The case for investing in public health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/ health-topics/Health-systems/public-health-services/ publications/2015/the-case-for-investing-in-publichealth).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018a). Public health and climate change adaptation policies in the European Union. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/environment-and-health/Climate-change/ publications/2018/public-health-and-climate-changeadaptation-policies-in-the-european-union-2018).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018b). Multisectoral and intersectoral action for improved health and wellbeing for all: mapping of the WHO European Region. Governance for a sustainable future: improving health and well-being for all. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/ health-topics/health-policy/health-2020-the-europeanpolicy-for-health-and-well-being/publications/2018/ multisectoral-and-intersectoral-action-for-improvedhealth-and-well-being-for-all-mapping-of-the-whoeuropean-region-governance-for-a-sustainable-futureimproving-health-and-well-being-for-all-2018).

Wilson SM, Richard R, Joseph L, Williams E (2010). Climate change, environmental justice, and vulnerability: an exploratory spatial analysis. Environ Justice. 3(1):13–19. doi:10.1089/env.2009.0035.

Wistow J, Curtis S, Bone A (2016). Implementing extreme weather event advice and guidance in English public health systems. J Public Health(Oxf). 39(3):498–505. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdw094.

Wolf J, Adger WN, Lorenzoni I, Abrahamson V, Raine R (2010). Social capital, individual responses to heat waves and climate change adaptation: an empirical study of two UK cities. Global Environ Chang. 20(1):44–52. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.09.004.



Chapter 3.Accurate and timely alert systems: heat–health warning systems

Summary

Heat-health alert or warning systems are a key component of HHAPs, as they inform local populations and stakeholders about the health risks associated with heat. They thereby raise awareness and ensure timely activation of prevention measures and emergency protocols. Several European countries have a fully operational heat-health warning system in place as part of their HHAPs, and have been able to extend the lead times of their forecasts.

The majority of heat-health warning systems are developed and managed by national meteorological services and information is passed to the HHAP lead body to take action. Effort has also been invested in improving warning dissemination and understanding among stakeholders to improve timely response. A formal evaluation of the warning system should be carried out on a regular basis to improve uptake and efficiency of warning systems and of the HHAP as a whole. The evaluation should include both process and outcome indicators: forecast performance and warning thresholds, dissemination, awareness among stakeholders and modulation of actions based on warning levels.

Key messages

- Heat-health warning systems are a key component of HHAPs.
- Heat-health warnings need to be based on the temperature-health association (defining the temperature threshold for issuing warnings in a way that accounts for changing vulnerability patterns in health outcomes).
- Response measures and actions need to be varied according to the warning level.
- Understanding of warnings by different stakeholders and vulnerable groups is crucial, and dissemination of warning bulletins needs to be targeted.
- Evaluation of warning systems needs to be carried out regularly.

3.1 Introduction: the nature of heat-health warning systems

The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on HHAPs published in 2008 stressed the key role of heat-health warning systems in serving as information tools to identify and predict weather conditions that may adversely affect health in a specific geographical setting (Matthies et al., 2008). This chapter gives a brief overview of the nature of heat-health warning systems; presents the results of a recent survey carried out by WHO on heat-health warning system implementation in countries; and gives insight into innovative aspects, research gaps and future perspectives. Key aspects of warning system development for HHAPs are discussed in detail in the WMO/WHO (2015) joint publication Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development.

3.1.1 Elements of heat-health warning systems

Heat-health warning systems in the context of HHAPs should take into account the effects of temperature and other weather parameters on a specific population, using evidence from the epidemiological literature related to the location of interest and defining response-specific thresholds. When this is not possible, meteorological definitions of a heat-wave can be used - for example, percentiles (90th, 95th, 99th) of the temperature indicator variable or bioclimatic indices that are assumed to be the threshold above which heat becomes a risk factor for health. Forecast data can then be used to predict risk-related weather conditions and alert decision-makers, who can implement a range of preventive actions, as defined in each HHAP, with the aim of reducing the health impact of hot weather and heat-waves.

Key aspects of a heat-health warning system, as noted in both WHO and WMO/WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008; WMO & WHO, 2015), are:

- accurate forecasts of temperature and weather parameters;
- identification of risk conditions for health (scientifically sound threshold levels);
- graded levels of alert/warning;
- a definition of an information network for dissemination of alerts;
- timely communication of warnings and public health recommendations, produced jointly by the agencies involved (weather and public health services), in a user-friendly manner.

Heat-health warning systems have been developed using various exposure indices of heat stress. These range from single meteorological variables – usually temperature parameters (such as mean, minimum and maximum) – to bioclimatic indices of different complexity, which combine a number of parameters such as temperature, humidity, wind speed and solar radiation to represent the perceived temperature or human-heat budget models (models based on adult physiological characteristics) (WMO & WHO, 2015). A combination of indices and approaches have been developed across Europe to set thresholds (Matthies et al., 2008; Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Bittner et al., 2014; WMO & WHO, 2015; Casanueva et al., 2019).

Several studies have compared indices and their performance (Hajat et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2012; Burgstall et al., 2019), but the choice of the index ultimately depends on the purpose of the warning and the public health measures put in place in the local context. The key aspect in the context of an HHAP is to ensure that warning systems accurately identify days with a high health risk and are used to drive specific prevention measures and emergency actions (Matthies et al., 2008; WMO & WHO, 2015). A multisectoral approach is essential in the warning system design phase, as weather forecasters and modellers need to know:

- what the health sector and emergency services need in terms of lead time of a forecast;
- when the forecast run has to come out in order for them to activate response measures;
- what each warning level should include (such as intensity of heat, persistency and seasonality).

Exchange of information and know-how on the different components by all sectors are also vital.

As noted in the 2008 WHO guidance, warning levels should be set to take into account local health risks, warning system characteristics (lead times, persistency) and the interventions triggered when warnings are issued (Matthies et al., 2008). Warning levels are currently set very differently across Europe (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Casanueva et al., 2019). They are denoted either with a colour scale (green, yellow, orange, red) as for other national alert systems – as for extreme weather, flooding, forest fires and natural hazards – or numerically (0, 1, 2, 3, 4).

How levels of warning can modulate actions by different stakeholder groups is illustrated in Table 2, which sets out an example from the *Heatwave plan for England*, published each year by Public Health England on behalf of the National Health Service (NHS) and Department of Health and Social Care, and the Local Government Association (PHE, 2020). It shows activities modulated by level of risk for specific stakeholder groups at different levels; these are intended to guide the development of local preparedness and response measures, tailored around local organizational frameworks. This approach can also be extended to include indications and responses for vulnerable groups by different stakeholders.

Stakeholder group	LEVEL 0 Long-term planning (All year)	LEVEL 1 Heat-wave and summer preparedness programme (1 June-15 September)	LEVEL 2 Heat-wave is forecast: alert and readiness (60% risk of heat-wave in the next 2–3 days)	LEVEL 3 Heat-wave action (Temperature thresholds reached in one or more regions)	LEVEL 4 Major incident: emergency response (Declared by central government in the event of severe or prolonged heat-wave affecting sectors other than health)
National level: NHS England, Public Health England, Department of Health and Social Care, Met Office, other government departments	Cooperate with partner agencies to prepare for and mitigate the impact of heat- waves. Improve resilience of vulnerable communities and individuals. Ensure local programmes that include housing, environmental and infrastructure improvements are set up. Engage with communities and the voluntary sector. Update and revise Public Health Outcomes Framework indicators.	Work with other agencies to coordinate heat-wave plans. Raise awareness and maximize dissemination. Ensure care homes and hospitals engage in preparing for heat-waves. Engage with communities and the voluntary sector. Ensure institutions are aware of heat-wave guidance. Ensure organizers of mass events consider heat risks.	Met Office: send a Level 2 alert to a list of organizations and Category 1 responders. Central government departments: disseminate information through their networks and front-line communication systems. The Department of Health and Social Care: disseminate alert information to other government departments and briefs ministers. NHS England: take action to prepare for a heat-wave. Public Health England: disseminate advice to the public and health care professionals. Public Health England: monitor syndromic and mortality surveillance.	Met Office: send a Level 3 alert, as with Level 2. Central government departments: disseminate information, as with Level 2. Met Office: continue to monitor and forecast temperatures in each area, giving details on duration, intensity and geographical extent. NHS England: muster mutual aid when requested by local services. Public Health England: monitor syndromic and mortality surveillance and produce a weekly report for inclusion within a daily heat-wave output.	Central government: implement national emergency response arrangements. Responses involve: • national government departments • executive agencies • public sector bodies, including the health sector • the voluntary sector. Public Health England: monitor syndromic and mortality surveillance and produce a weekly report for inclusion within a daily heat-wave output
Professional staff	Develop systems to identify and improve resilience of high- risk individuals. Request an housing health and safety rating system assessment from environmental health experts for clients at particular risk. Encourage walking and cycling in urban areas.	Identify high-risk individuals and raise awareness of heat- related risks and prevention among carers. Include heat-health risk in care records and consider changes in care plans.	Check that high-risk individuals have visitor/phone call arrangements in place. Reconfirm key public health messages to clients. Check clients' room temperature if visiting.	Visit/phone high-risk individuals. Reconfirm key public health messages to clients. Advise carers to contact a GP if they have concerns about clients' health.	Continue actions as per Level 3 unless advised differently.

Stakeholder group	LEVEL 0 Long-term planning	LEVEL 1 Heat-wave and summer preparedness programme	LEVEL 2 Heat-wave is forecast: alert and readiness	LEVEL 3 Heat-wave action	LEVEL 4 Major incident: emergency response
Care homes and hospitals	Establish long-term preparedness plans. Initiate environmental improvements. Prepare business continuity plans. Raise awareness among partners and staff on health impacts.	Ensure continuity plans are in place. Identify/create cooling rooms. Install thermometers where vulnerable individuals spend more time.	Undertake indoor temperature measurement for all areas where patients reside. Ensure cool areas are below 26 °C. Review and prioritize vulnerable individuals. Ensure sufficient cold water and ice are available. Consider weighing clients regularly to identify dehydration. Reschedule physiotherapy to cooler hours of the day. Ensure sufficient staffing. Communicate alerts to staff and make sure that they are aware of heat-wave plans. Implement business continuity plans.	Activate plans to maintain business continuity – including a possible surge in demand. Measure indoor temperatures for all areas where patients reside. Ensure staff are trained on heat response. Monitor vulnerable individuals closely. Reduce internal temperatures. Ensure discharge planning takes home temperatures and support into account.	Continue actions as per Level 3 unless advised differently.
Community groups	Develop a community emergency plan to support vulnerable neighbours. Carry out impact assessments on community venues. Support subjects at risk.	Trigger the development of a community emergency plan. Help raise awareness about health risks.	Check up on at-risk individuals. Consult weather forecasts and warnings and act accordingly. Keep stocked up with food and medications. Monitor ambient room temperatures.	Activate community emergency plans. Check on those you know are at risk.	Continue actions as per Level 3 unless advised differently.
Individuals	Improve shading and cooling. Install insulation to reduce indoor heat. Identify cool areas inside the house.	Acquire information on health risks. Look out for vulnerable relatives and neighbours.	Check weather forecasts and warnings. Check ambient room temperatures where disabled or vulnerable individuals reside. Look out for vulnerable relatives and neighbours.	Follow key public health messages. Check on those you know are at risk.	Continue actions as per Level 3 unless advised differently.

Table 2 contd

Source: adapted from PHE (2020).

3.1.2 Forecast models and lead times

In terms of weather forecast models, a recent review of heat-health warning systems in Europe provided an update on models used, lead time, temporal and spatial resolution of models and lead bodies in charge (Casanueva et al., 2019). The WMO/WHO (2015) publication *Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development* provides details of forecast models and methodologies developed around the world to define heat-health warning systems.

The spatial resolution of models goes from under 2 km to 16 km, depending on whether they are regional/national downscaled or local models or European scale models. Models are heterogeneous across Europe and mostly reflect national meteorological service availability and the best compromise between forecast predictive power, spatial coverage needed and timeliness of forecast run for HHAP purposes. In several countries a combination of forecast models is used: regional models that have a finer spatial resolution to capture geographical differences in a more accurate manner for forecasting the short term (1-7 days) and ensemble models, such as ECMWF, for longer lead times or as a complementary tool. A crucial aspect is that the accuracy of meteorological forecasts should be part of the design of a heat-health warning system (WMO & WHO, 2015), as well as the scope of the forecast and its use for public health warning and response measures. It is worth noting there is a trade-off between lead time and model accuracy: as a rule of thumb, as lead times are extended, forecast accuracy is reduced - especially as it moves from short time frames into medium-range forecasts (two weeks to a month).

The lead time is crucial for the health sector to be prepared to cope when a heat-wave is coming and to ensure that prevention and emergency measures are in place and operational if and when populations are affected. Different measures require different timings for preparation and becoming operational: heat-health warning systems and HHAPs should consider this when defining warning levels. Furthermore, considering the short lag between exposure to extreme heat and worsening of health conditions and even fatality, the process of warning notifications should be timely (Díaz, Linares & Tobías, 2006; Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011). Lead times for notifying of extreme heat risks, as previously reported in other reviews or surveys (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Bittner et al., 2014), are between two and eight days.

Moreover, in the last 10-15 years great efforts and advances have been made in weather and climate modelling and forecasting the subseasonalto-seasonal time range, which corresponds to forecasts beyond two weeks but less than a season (typically 3-4 months) (Brunet et al., 2010; Vitart, 2014). In essence, the main advantage here is that the gap between short-term and medium- to longterm forecasting has been filled, thus providing skilful forecasts of extreme weather risks that can inform decisions in different sectors - including health. Forecast information at different timescales with different lead times is relevant for different decision-makers and for planning of prevention and response measures in the context of HHAPs. An example is the "Ready-Set-Go" concept, using forecasts from the weather to the seasonal scale, proposed by the Red Cross/Red Crescent Climate Centre and the International Research Institute for Climate and Society for application in heat prevention (Vitart & Brown, 2019):

- Ready: seasonal and subseasonal forecasts are used to update contingency plans, train volunteers and enable early warning systems;
- Set: submonthly forecasts are used to alert volunteers and warn communities;
- Go: weather forecasts are used to activate volunteers, distribute instructions to communities and evacuate.

3.2 Status of heat-health warning systems

A first comprehensive review of heat-health warning systems across Europe (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011) found that 12 countries had a warning system in place (Belgium, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Netherlands, North Macedonia, Portugal, Romania, Spain and Switzerland, and the United Kingdom). The review provides information on exposure variables considered, threshold levels and forecast lead times, as well as geographical coverage (national, regional) and lead bodies. A survey carried out a few years later (Bittner et al., 2014) showed a slight increase to 16 in the number of countries with an operational heat-health warning system as part of their HHAP (Austria, Belgium, Croatia, England (United Kingdom), France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Luxembourg, Monaco, North Macedonia, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and Switzerland). A more recent study also identified 16 heat-health warning systems through a review of the literature, a web search and a questionnaire (Casanueva et al., 2019).

WHO's 2019 survey of heat–health action planning also comprised a series of questions on warning systems (Table 3).

The survey results show that heat—health warnings systems are the core element of HHAPs most widely considered to be "fully implemented", with 16 countries responding that a warning system is in place – fully or partly implemented.

Heat-health warning systems are typically operational between May and September, while a review of the system and updates (such as modelling and dissemination network), if carried out, is done in the remaining months. The majority of the alert systems are developed and managed by national meteorological services, which are also in charge of issuing the heat warning and informing the agency leading the health response (75% national public health agency or ministry of health, 19% regional health agency, 6% national environmental agency). Collaborative processes for setting up warning systems and defining thresholds

Question	Summary of answers by responding countries with national HHAPs
Which agency issues meteorological heat warnings?	13: meteorological agencies4: others
How many days in advance are heat warnings sent to the agency in charge of the health response?	Between one and five days in advance
Which agency leads the health response to heat?	 12: national public health agency or ministry of health 3: regional health agency 1: environment agency
How many alert levels are there and when are they are triggered?	 Starting from baseline (0 – no alert) level, an additional 2–5 levels, with different criteria for activation including simple measurement of maximum daily temperature or meteorological indices
How many days in advance is the heat alert issued to the public?	• Between one and five days in advance
How many days in advance is the heat alert issued to key stakeholders (hospitals, nursing homes, etc.)?	Same as to the general public

Table 3. Questions on heat-health warning systems in the WHO survey

and warning levels should be promoted between meteorological and health services and other key institutions involved in the HHAP, to better tailor warnings around its scope and use. Warnings are disseminated through information networks comprising the general public and operational stakeholders (health authorities, social services, hospitals, nursing homes, municipalities, emergency services, GPs, vulnerable groups and so on). Dissemination of warnings is another crucial aspect for the effectiveness of HHAPs. The WMO/ WHO 2015 guidance illustrates the various factors to consider when communicating heat-health warnings with a focus on warning contents, the use of appropriate language for each audience and the effective dissemination of warnings to all users. Details on communication can be found in Chapter 4.

3.3 Innovations and future perspectives

3.3.1 Increasing lead times, seasonal forecasts and future climate impacts

The issue of extending lead times of weather forecasts and the use of subseasonal or seasonal climate models is of great importance for public health response planning and management before the summer season. Use of monthly and seasonal probabilistic forecasts may assist public health administrators in decision-making in the preparatory phase and during the summer season. To improve preparedness and response, institutions involved in HHAPs can use monthly and seasonal probabilistic forecasts, requesting information (maps and data) on temperature trends and the likelihood of above- or below-average temperatures (minimum, mean, maximum, heat-wave days) or other variables (pressure and precipitation). These can give an indication of how the season will compare to the average climate, giving health services and all actors involved in HHAPs the opportunity to undertake better planning and resource allocation in advance (WMO & WHO, 2015; Lowe et al., 2016).

The trade-off is that the longer the lead time, the lower the skill (measure of the accuracy and/or degree of association between predicted value and observed value) of forecasts; this makes probabilistic forecasting less reliable for public health services. With seasonal modelling skill constantly improving (especially in latitudes where heat-waves are an issue for health such as the Mediterranean (Vitart, 2014)) and better interdisciplinary communication, collaboration and knowledge bases, however, the utility of these forecasts is not only understood but also appreciated by stakeholders and responders. The availability of seasonal forecast products to all users has been greatly improved recently through the C3S Climate Data Store platform (see Box 1 in Chapter 1) – an example of the multimodel system that combines different model forecasts into one, giving more reliable and accurate forecasts.

Seasonal time series availability and improved seasonal climate-prediction products offer the opportunity to develop heat-health warnings at longer monthly and seasonal timescales (WMO & WHO, 2015). A few recent studies have looked at the possibility of using these forecasts to develop seasonal health warning models using mortality data. For example, Lowe et al. (2016) used apparent temperature forecasts at different lead times (from one day to three months) to produce subseasonal (1-18 days) and seasonal (1-3 months)probabilistic mortality forecasts at a regional level for Europe. For some areas of Europe, excess mortality was detected with some certainty even at monthly scales. As expected, however, as lead times became longer, the skill of the mortality forecast decreased considerably.

Lastly, the C3S European health service (ECMWF, 2020) has defined a series of exposure indicators related to health impacts. Among the indicators

available on the Copernicus platform are future projections of the number of heat-wave days, based on both standardized and HHAP specific heat-wave definitions, with different climate change scenarios. This is a useful tool for public health and environmental stakeholders involved in planning adaptation policies to anticipate future risks associated with heat-waves.

3.3.2 Information tools to improve dissemination

Since the set-up of HHAPs and heat—health warning systems, great effort has been focused on improving dissemination of information and the utility of the advice provided. Communicating risks and giving behavioural advice is considered a key element of the effectiveness of an HHAP, as noted in the 2008 WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008). Recent years have seen a shift from traditional communication tools such as television, radio and newspaper-based information to web and social media (Facebook, Twitter) sites, and alternative means of communication such as heat warningdedicated mobile applications, infographics and videos (discussed in more detail in Chapter 4). These tools extend the dissemination of warnings and improve population awareness of health-related risks and prevention measures to adopt. They also assist with timely delivery of information to the general public and to stakeholders who have to activate response and emergency measures. Box 3 gives an example of a mobile application that provides personalized heat-health risks, recommendations and information on cooling spaces within a city.

Box 3. Extreme Temperature Alerts for Europe (EXTREMA): an emergency notification system for extreme temperatures

The EXTREMA project, funded by the European Commission, has created an innovative mobile application for the public and an administration web service dashboard for local municipalities. It aims to increase citizen awareness and reduce their exposure to heat risk, as well as supporting local authorities with implementation of HHAPs. The mobile application aims to inform individuals of their heat–health risk (no/ low/increased/high risk), taking into account the user's profile characteristics (age, presence of chronic disease associated with a greater risk during heat-waves, use of medication), in real time.

The mobile application uses satellite thermal images and numerical weather predictions, alongside a set of predefined thresholds from published epidemiological evidence, to estimate heat—health risks at each location. It also provides health recommendations and information on cooling centres or spaces managed by each city authority (such as community centres, parks or hospitals if necessary), as well as routing directions. It supports multiple profiles, allowing users to check on family members (children and elderly people) at multiple locations.

Through the web dashboard city authorities can manage information on cooling centres, such as updating opening hours, adding new centres or providing other relevant information (entrance fee, contacts, capacity). The dashboard also provides current and previous day alerts (based on severe weather information from the Network of European Meteorological Services) and real-time maps of the extreme temperature hazard in the city, with a spatial resolution of 1 × 1 km, updated every five minutes. It thus helps city authorities to manage their response actions better during extreme heat events. EXTREMA is currently operational in Athens, Greece; Mallorca, Spain; Milan, Italy; Paris, France; and Rotterdam, Netherlands.

Source: National Observatory of Athens (2020).

3.3.4 Warning messages and systems customized for vulnerable subgroups

In recent years, with the identification of diverse vulnerable groups, customized warning messages with advice on what to do during a heat-wave have been issued with alerts during heat-waves to ensure a customized response (Price et al., 2018; PHE, 2020). Automated phone warning systems have recently been introduced as an alternative way of communicating warnings to vulnerable subgroups and improving coverage. A recent study conducted in Montreal, Canada, issued warnings via automated telephone calls and gave heat protection messages (Mehiriz et al., 2018). The study also carried out an evaluation of the system - results suggest an improvement in individual adaptation to heat and a reduction in the use of health services by subjects included in the study. Use of tools like this can improve dissemination to vulnerable subgroups, while reducing costs.

Such systems should be promoted within HHAPs to ensure a better response, especially among the most vulnerable subgroups. Furthermore, ad hoc heat—health warning systems for vulnerable subgroups are being developed. For example, Morabito et al. (2019) developed a heat—health warning system for outdoor workers, taking into account personalized local heat stress risk, based on workers' characteristics and the outdoor working work environment. The warning system provides weekly and monthly forecasts.

3.3.5 Integration with other environmental exposures

Several extreme weather and environmental exposures that have a negative impact on health occur concurrently, and often affect the same set of vulnerable subgroups. They are dealt with separately, however, often duplicating actions that could be combined. For instance, in some cases separate warning systems are managed by the same or other environmental agencies; different prevention plans are in place; time is spent identifying vulnerable groups, which may be the same – such as elderly people with preexisting cardiorespiratory diseases; and surveillance and evaluation are done independently. Better cooperation and intersectoral collaboration are needed in devising multi-exposure systems. The core components of such systems should follow HHAPs with alert systems, prevention and response measures, surveillance of health effects and evaluation (Linares et al., 2020).

In recent years, the epidemiological evidence on the synergistic effects of temperatures and air pollution has become more consolidated (Chen et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017; Analitis et al., 2018; Scortichini et al., 2018a), showing an increase in health effects when both temperatures and levels of ozone or particulate matter smaller than about 10 μ m in diameter (PM₁₀) are high. Weather conditions such as stable atmospheric circulation regimes in summer are associated with high temperatures and the build-up of air pollutants. Several countries (Belgium, Hungary, Italy, North Macedonia, Portugal, Switzerland and the United Kingdom) account for air quality in HHAPs either by formally including air pollution alerts or by providing advice related to both heat and air pollution, as briefly described in the Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg (2011) survey and reviews.

3.3.6 Evaluations and updates of heathealth warning systems within HHAPs

To date, information on formal evaluations of European heat-health warning system and HHAP effectiveness is limited (Toloo et al., 2013; Martinez et al., 2019). As noted in the 2008 WHO guidance, evaluation of the plan as a whole, as well as its components, is important to support decision-makers in selecting the most appropriate measures and improving heat plan effectiveness (Matthies et al., 2008). Heat-health warning systems should also be evaluated in both process and outcome indicators (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011; WMO & WHO, 2015). It is important that the evaluation process is formally defined and that results are written up and disseminated to core participants in the warning system and HHAP. Evaluations will help build confidence in the system and improve the knowledge base among the different stakeholders.

Key aspects to consider when evaluating the effectiveness of a warning system, as described in the WMO/WHO 2015 guidance, are simplicity, acceptability, timeliness, sensitivity and specificity (Table 4). In terms of process evaluation of warning systems, all the operational phases should be evaluated to assess whether implementation has been achieved successfully and what can be improved. This should include warning dissemination and reaching all relevant institutions (coverage and timing), the quality of information provided (levels of warnings, bulletins) and understanding the system and how it is considered useful to the relevant stakeholders.

How actions are modulated based on warning levels and the specific actions required at each level of warning by stakeholders is another crucial aspect that affects the effectiveness of HHAPs. Questionnaires and face-to-face seminars have been carried out to assess perception of risk, level of awareness and understanding of warning systems, alongside potential changes in response modes during heat-waves by health and social services (Matthies et al., 2008; Abrahamson et al., 2009; Matthies & Menne, 2009; Toloo et al., 2013; Wolf et al., 2014; Takahashi et al., 2015; Price et al., 2018; Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019). To date, response to and knowledge of risk and response measures and adaptation among the general public and stakeholders is heterogeneous. A recent systematic review underlines the need for further research in different contexts to assess the effectiveness of the different components of HHAPs and their formal uptake, to improve response (Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019).

Outcome evaluation, on the other hand, entails the assessment of measurable impacts. This should be done routinely to monitor and improve model performance and keep track of potential changes in population response. Model performance in terms of meteorological forecasts and warning levels (sensitivity, specificity, hit and miss rates) should be carried out on a regular basis. It should also consider the health outcome data (mortality, morbidity) on which the warning system model is based, to assess whether health impacts (excess deaths, increases in ER visits, calls to emergency and health services) change when warnings are correct or when forecast are wrong and a warning might be missed.

Criterion	Description/factors to consider
Simplicity of the warning system and its operation	 Operational system (data required to issue a warning and institutions involved) Management (time spent issuing warnings and maintaining the system)
Acceptability by stakeholders	 Collaboration between agencies Participation of institutions and stakeholders Completeness of response
Timeliness of issuing warnings	Adequacy of timeliness of warnings for different response measures
Sensitivity of warnings	 Ability of a warning forecast system to identify warning days (how often a forecast was correct in issuing a warning compared to observed meteorological and/or health data)
Specificity of warnings	• Ability of a warning forecast to identify non-warning days, thereby keeping false-positives to a minimum

Table 4. Criteria fo	r evaluating a	heat-health	warning system
Table 4. Uniteria ru	n evalualillu a	neal-nealli	wanning system

Source: adapted from WMO & WHO (2015).

Several studies have examined changes in health effects relative to risk estimates or quantified the change in excess mortality and morbidity during extreme events over time (Bassil & Cole, 2010; Benmarhnia et al., 2016; de'Donato et al., 2018; Weinberger et al., 2018; Martínez-Solanas & Basagaña, 2019). These mostly focus on mortality as health outcome because mortality data are more robust and are collected routinely in a timely manner, and the evidence on health effect estimates is more consistent in the literature. A quasi-experimental approach has recently been adopted to assess changes in heat-related mortality in response to the introduction of heat plans in Montreal, Canada, and the Republic of Korea (Benmarhnia et al., 2016; Heo et al., 2019).

Outcome evaluation has generally been carried out more in terms of the HHAP as a whole and not just the warning itself; this is discussed in more detail in Chapter 9. This exercise is also useful when considering potential modifications to warning system thresholds or response measures associated with warning level actions over time. A study conducted in Italy showed a greater reduction in heat-related deaths for extreme temperatures when Level 2 and Level 3 warnings are issued, compared to Level 1 pre-alert days (de'Donato et al., 2018). The authors suggest that public health prevention and response measures during pre-alert conditions are less stringent and may be adopted with less attention; they therefore need to be revised and improved. Research from Adelaide, Australia, considered changes in both morbidity (ambulance calls and ER visits) and mortality effects in two summers: before and after the introduction of a warning system and prevention plan (Nitschke et al., 2016). The study showed a reduction in morbidity outcomes, while mortality remained unvaried.

Intermediate benefits such as behavioural changes at the individual or community levels are also important. These provide useful insight into the effectiveness of measures and warnings in changing population perception of risk, knowledge and measures adopted. Community questionnaires have been carried out on the perception of heatwaves, warning systems and prevention measures (Sheridan, 2007; White-Newsome et al., 2011; Nitschke et al., 2013; 2017; Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019). A recent review of heat-health prevention measures and adaptation among elderly people reported that further action was needed to translate knowledge/warnings into heat-adaptive behaviours (Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019). Although knowledge of the heat warnings was widespread, changes in behaviour or knowledge of what to do were less common (Sheridan, 2007; White-Newsome et al., 2011). Perception of risk among vulnerable subgroups and stakeholders is reported in detail in Chapter 4.

Finally, economic evaluations using cost-benefit analyses are also an important aspect of evaluating a warning system. Studies have estimated that heat-health warning systems are highly costeffective, with the benefits in terms of lives saved outweighing the running costs (Ebi et al., 2004; Chiabai, Spadaro & Neumann, 2018). The costs and benefits of a warning system provide policymakers with an economic perspective of the HHAP; this enables them to plan funding and resources formally for it in a systematic way, thus ensuring its continuity and improvement over time by the core bodies involved.

Another issue that not been formally addressed in HHAPs to date is updating warning systems in relation to organizational changes, new forecast models and warning thresholds - in response to climate change (rising temperatures) and changes in population response (adaptation and vulnerability) (Hess & Ebi, 2016). When and how often this should be done is far from simple. Responses to WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning show that while around 60% of respondents stated that they update the national HHAP every year or every 2-5 years, it is not clear what the update entails, or whether a formal process is in place. A limited number of countries stated that they had updated or were in the process of updating thresholds since the initial set-up of the warning system.

Several studies have shown a change in the temperature-mortality association (Guo et al., 2014; de'Donato et al., 2015; Scortichini et al., 2018b) in recent years, in response to the introduction of HHAPs or changing temperatures. These are suggestive of a shift in the curve and potential variation (rise/decline) of the threshold. On the other hand, if the curve has shifted, showing some acclimatization or adaptation – potentially also thanks to HHAPs and measures in place - if thresholds are changed (increased) and prevention is no longer carried out at lower temperatures, the mortality impact might rise again. Fluctuations in the temperature-mortality association over time and factors affecting these dynamics should be considered when updating and revisiting warnings.

Future estimates of the impact on mortality in the light of climate change have given an idea of the potential added health impact (Martinez et al., 2016; Kendrovski et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2018; Vicedo-Cabrera et al., 2018). Furthermore, the ageing of the European population and rising levels of noncommunicable diseases and comorbidities are likely to increase the pool of vulnerable individuals, thus also influencing temperature–mortality response and threshold levels (Wolf et al., 2014; Martinez et al., 2019). The iterative management approach suggested by Hess & Ebi (2016) could be a useful system when planning the monitoring and evaluation of warnings, taking into account the dynamics.

3.4 Conclusion

Heat-health warning systems are a key component of HHAPs, as they inform local populations and stakeholders about the health risks associated with heat. They thereby raise awareness and ensure timely activation of prevention measures and emergency protocols. Threshold levels should be based on health risks and not only on meteorological conditions. The 2019 WHO survey showed a progressive increase in the number of European countries with a fully operational heat–health warning system as part of their HHAPs.

Efforts have been made to enhance alert systems (with better forecasts and longer lead times) and to improve dissemination and communication. Formal evaluations of warning systems, including both process and outcome indicators, should be carried out on a regular basis to improve the effectiveness of warnings.

References¹

- Abrahamson V, Wolf J, Lorenzoni I, Fenn B, Kovats S, Wilkinson P et al. (2009). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: interview-based study of older people in London and Norwich, UK. J Public Health (Oxf). 31(1):119–26. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdn102.
- Analitis A, de'Donato F, Scortichini M, Lanki T, Basagaña X, Ballester F et al. (2018). Synergistic effects of ambient temperature and air pollution on health in Europe: results from the PHASE project. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(9):1856. doi:10.3390/ ijerph15091856.

Bassil KL, Cole DC (2010). Effectiveness of public health interventions in reducing morbidity and mortality during heat episodes: a structured review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(3):991–1001. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7030991.

Benmarhnia T, Bailey Z, Kaiser D, Auger N, King N, Kaufman JS (2016). A difference-in-differences approach to assess the effect of a heat action plan on heat-related mortality, and differences in effectiveness according to sex, age, and socioeconomic status (Montreal, Quebec). Environ Health Perspect. 124(11):1694–9. doi:10.1289/EHP203.

¹ All URLs accessed 7–8 September 2020.

Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.

Brunet G, Shapiro M Hoskins, B, Moncrieff M Dole, R, Kiladis GN et al. (2010). Collaboration of the weather and climate communities to advance subseasonal-toseasonal prediction. B Am Meteorol Soc. 91(10):1397– 1406. doi:10.1175/2010BAMS3013.1.

Burgstall A, Casanueva A, Kotlarski S, Schwierz C (2019). Heat warnings in Switzerland: reassessing the choice of the current heat stress index. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(15):2684. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152684.

Casanueva A, Burgstall A, Kotlarski S, Messeri A, Morabito M, Flouris AD et al. (2019). Overview of existing heat-health warning systems in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(15):2657. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152657.

Chen F, Fan Z, Qiao Z, Cui Y, Zhang M, Zhao X, Li X (2017). Does temperature modify the effect of PM₁₀ on mortality? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Environ Pollut. 224:326–35. doi:10.1016/J. ENVPOL.2017.02.012.

Chiabai A, Spadaro JV, Neumann MB (2018). Valuing deaths or years of life lost? Economic benefits of avoided mortality from early heat warning systems. Mitig Adapt Strateg Glob Chang. 23(7):1159–76. doi:10.1007/s11027-017-9778-4.

de'Donato F, Leone M, Scortichini M, De Sario M, Katsouyanni K, Lanki T et al. (2015). Changes in the effect of heat on mortality in the last 20 years in nine European cities. Results from the PHASE project. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(12):15567–83. doi:10.3390/ijerph121215006.

de'Donato F, Scortichini M, De Sario M, de Martino A, Michelozzi P (2018). Temporal variation in the effect of heat and the role of the Italian heat prevention plan. Public Health. 161:154–62. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2018.03.030.

Díaz J, Linares C, Tobías A. (2006). Impact of extreme temperatures on daily mortality in Madrid (Spain) among the 45–64 age-group. Int J Biometeorol. 50(6):342–8. doi:10.1007/s00484-006-0033-z.

Ebi KL, Teisberg TJ, Kalkstein LS, Robinson L, Weiher RF (2004). Heat watch/warning systems save lives: estimated costs and benefits for Philadelphia 1995–98. Bull Am Meteorol Soc. 85(8):1067–73. doi:10.1175/BAMS-85-8-1067. ECMWF (2020). European health service. In: Climate Change Service [website]. Reading: European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (https://climate. copernicus.eu/european-health-service).

Guo Y, Gasparrini A, Li S, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, de Sousa Zanotti Stagliorio Coelho M et al. (2018). Quantifying excess deaths related to heatwaves under climate change scenarios: a multicountry time series modelling study. PLoS Med. 15(7):1–17. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002629.

Guo Y, Gasparrini A, Armstrong B, Li S, Tawatsupa B, Tobías A et al. (2014). Global variation in the effects of ambient temperature on mortality: a systematic evaluation. Epidemiology. 25(6):781–9. doi:10.1097/ EDE.000000000000165.

Hajat S, Sheridan SC, Allen MJ, Pascal M, Laaidi K, Yagouti A et al. (2010). Heat–health warning systems: a comparison of the predictive capacity of different approaches to identifying dangerously hot days, Am J Public Health. 100(6):1137–44. doi:10.2105/ AJPH.2009.169748.

Heo S, Nori-Sarma A, Lee K, Benmarhnia T, Dominici F, Bell ML (2019). The use of a quasi-experimental study on the mortality effect of a heat wave warning system in Korea. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(12):2245. doi:10.3390/ijerph16122245.

Hess JJ, Ebi KL (2016). Iterative management of heat early warning systems in a changing climate. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1382(1):21–30. doi:10.1111/nyas.13258.

Kendrovski V, Baccini M, Martinez G, Wolf T, Paunovic E, Menne B (2017). Quantifying projected heat mortality impacts under 21st-century warming conditions for selected European countries. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(7):729. doi:10.3390/ijerph14070729.

Li J, Woodward A, Hou XY, Zhu T, Zhang J, Brown H et al. (2017). Modification of the effects of air pollutants on mortality by temperature: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Total Environ. 575:1556–70. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.070.

Linares C, Martinez GS, Kendrovski V, Díaz J (2020). A new integrative perspective on early warning systems for health in the context of climate change. Environ Res. 187:109623. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109623.

Lowe D, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce human health consequences of heatwaves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4623–48. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124623. Lowe R, García-Díez M, Ballester J, Creswick J, Robine JM, Herrmann FR et al. (2016). Evaluation of an early-warning system for heat wave-related mortality in Europe: implications for sub-seasonal to seasonal forecasting and climate services. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(2):206. doi:10.3390/ijerph13020206.

Martínez-Solanas È, Basagaña X (2019). Temporal changes in temperature-related mortality in Spain and effect of the implementation of a heat health prevention plan. Environ Res. 169:102–13. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.006.

Martinez GS, Baccini M, De Ridder K, Hooyberghs H, Lefebvre W, Kendrovski V et al. (2016). Projected heat-related mortality under climate change in the metropolitan area of Skopje. BMC Public Health. 16(1):407. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3077-y.

Martinez GS, Linares C, Ayuso A, Kendrovski V, Boeckmann M, Díaz J (2019). Heat-health action plans in Europe: challenges ahead and how to tackle them. Environ Res. 176:108548. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2019.108548.

Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).

Matthies F, Menne B (2009). Prevention and management of health hazards related to heatwaves. Int J Circumpolar Health. 68(1):8–12. doi:10.3402/ijch. v68i1.18293.

Mehiriz K, Gosselin P, Tardif I, Lemieux MA (2018). The effect of an automated phone warning and health advisory system on adaptation to high heat episodes and health services use in vulnerable groupsevidence from a randomized controlled study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(8):1581. doi:10.3390/ ijerph15081581.

Morabito M, Messeri A, Noti P, Casanueva A, Crisci A, Kotlarski S et al. (2019). An occupational heat-health warning system for Europe: The HEAT-SHIELD platform. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(16):2890. doi:10.3390/ijerph16162890.

National Observatory of Athens (2020). EXTREMA [website]. Athens: National Observatory of Athens (http://extrema.space/).

Nitschke M, Hansen A, Bi P, Pisaniello D, Newbury J, Kitson A et al. (2013). Risk factors, health effects and behaviour in older people during extreme heat: a survey in South Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 10(12):6721–33. doi:10.3390/ijerph10126721. Nitschke M, Krackowizer A, Hansen AL, Bi P, Tucker GR (2017). Heat health messages: a randomized controlled trial of a preventative messages tool in the older population of south Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(9):992. doi:10.3390/ijerph14090992.

Nitschke M, Tucker G, Hansen A, Williams S, Zhang Y, Bi P (2016). Evaluation of a heat warning system in Adelaide, South Australia, using case-series analysis. BMJ Open. 6(7):e012125. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2016-012125.

Price K, Benmarhnia T, Gaudet J, Kaiser D, Sadoine ML, Perron S et al. (2018). The Montreal heat response plan: evaluation of its implementation towards healthcare professionals and vulnerable populations. Can J Public Health. 109(1):108–16. doi:10.17269/ s41997-018-0020-2.

PHE (2020). Heatwave plan for England: protecting health and reducing harm from severe heat and heatwaves. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).

Scortichini M, De Sario M, de'Donato F, Davoli M, Michelozzi P, Stafoggia M (2018a). Short-term effects of heat on mortality and effect modification by air pollution in 25 Italian cities. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(8):1771. doi:10.3390/ijerph15081771.

Scortichini M, de'Donato F, De Sario M, Leone M, Åström C, Ballester F et al. (2018b). The inter-annual variability of heat-related mortality in nine European cities (1990–2010). Environ Health. 17(1):66. doi:10.1186/ S12940-018-0411-0.

Sheridan SC (2007). A survey of public perception and response to heat warnings across four North American cities: an evaluation of municipal effectiveness, Int J Biometeorol. 52(1):3–15. doi:10.1007/s00484-006-0052-9.

Takahashi N, Nakao R, Ueda K, Ono M, Kondo M, Honda Y et al. (2015). Community trial on heat-related illness prevention behaviors and knowledge for the elderly. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(3):3188–214. doi:10.3390/ijerph120303188.

Toloo G, FitzGerald G, Aitken P, Verrall K, Tong S (2013). Evaluating the effectiveness of heat warning systems: systematic review of epidemiological evidence. Int J Public Health. 58(5):667–81. doi:10.1007/s00038-013-0465-2.

Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Guo Y, Sera F, Huber V, Schleussner CF, Mitchell D et al. (2018). Temperature-related mortality impacts under and beyond Paris Agreement climate change scenarios. Clim Change. 150(3-4):391-402. doi:10.1007/s10584-018-2274-3.

- Vitart F (2014). Evolution of ECMWF sub-seasonal forecast skill scores. Q J R Meteorol Soc. 140(683):1889–99. doi:10.1002/qj.2256.
- Vitart F, Brown A (2019). S2S forecasting: towards seamless prediction. WMO Bulletin. 68(1) (https:// public.wmo.int/en/resources/bulletin/s2s-forecastingtowards-seamless-prediction).
- Vu A, Rutherford S, Phung D (2019). Heat health prevention measures and adaptation in older populations – a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(22):4370. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16224370.
- Weinberger KR, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Wellenius GA (2018). Effectiveness of national weather service heat alerts in preventing mortality in 20 US cities. Environ Int. 116:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.028.
- White-Newsome JL, Sánchez BN, Parker EA, Dvonch JT, Zhang Z, O'Neill MS (2011). Assessing heatadaptive behaviors among older, urban-dwelling adults. Maturitas. 70(1):85–91. doi:10.1016/j. maturitas.2011.06.015.

- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).
- WMO, WHO (2015). Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (https://www.who. int/globalchange/publications/heatwaves-healthguidance/en/).
- Wolf T, Martinez GS, Cheong HK, Williams E, Menne B (2014). Protecting health from climate change in the WHO European Region. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(6):6265–80. doi:10.3390/ijerph110606265.
- Zhang K, Rood RB, Michailidis G, Oswald EM, Schwartz JD, Zanobetti A et al. (2012). Comparing exposure metrics for classifying "dangerous heat" in heat wave and health warning systems. Environ Int. 46:23–9. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2012.05.001.

Chapter 4. Heat-related health information plans: communicating heat risk

Summary

The communication of adequate information and advice to stakeholders and the public, and their perception and uptake, are crucial to the effectiveness of an HHAP. This flow of communication, along with complementary bottom-up feedback, needs to be organized in a heat-related information plan.

The scientific evidence from the last decade suggests that the basic content of public health messages within HHAPs does not need to change substantially. Communication channels have changed radically in recent years, however, with a fast transition to web-based and mobile platforms. Most countries in the WHO European Region with an operational HHAP have embraced such channels for their communications. While that transition facilitates dissemination of and access to information among the general public, it also raises concerns about inequalities in access to information, since various groups who may be vulnerable to heat – such as elderly people and those with low socioeconomic status – may be comparatively excluded from such means of communication.

In addition, recent research has linked the frequently observed failure of messages to prompt protective action with a low risk perception of heat among the general public and vulnerable groups. To make heat-health messages more effective, better understanding is needed of risk perceptions and biases at the local level. On that basis, language and formats can be tweaked and HHAPs can better target their warnings and information to their various audiences.

Key messages

- Appropriate communication on heat and health risk to stakeholders and the public is crucial for prevention, as is their ability to respond.
- Messages and warnings work best when tailored to their intended audiences, ideally based on evidence of their actual vulnerability, risk perceptions and health behaviours.
- Heat risk communications and advice work best when grounded on factual evidence of the risk

perception and attitudes to health protection of the local population.

- Health authorities can further sharpen the tailoring of their messaging by combining various sources of information about health vulnerability to heat.
- The scientific evidence behind commonly given heat-health advice needs to be evaluated.

- Countries have generally shifted their HHAP communications towards web-based and mobile technology platforms, and it is important that such transitions do not exclude vulnerable groups less familiar with such information technologies.
- The health risks of heat are systematically underestimated by the general public, vulnerable individuals and possibly health practitioners.

4.1 Introduction: heat risk communications

Effective communication of adequate information and advice to stakeholders and the public to enhance their ability to respond and protect themselves from the health effects of heat is arguably the most crucial element of prevention. Thus, adequate prevention is supported by the ability of HHAP administrators, implementers and policy-makers to deliver useful, timely, accessible, consistent and trustworthy information to their target audiences, and especially to high-risk populations.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on HHAPs published in 2008 paid strong attention to communication, and the main principles enumerated there still stand (Matthies et al., 2008). In essence, these are that:

- communications and associated messaging need to be planned in advance;
- communication is a dialogue, whereby the ability of communicators to change behaviours is based on an understanding of the beliefs and concerns of the audience;
- trust is crucial to effective risk communication with the public, and needs to be built from the start through transparency and timeliness;
- all key stakeholders need to be able to communicate consistently.

Based on a two-way communication model, from the top down and from the bottom up, the

2008 WHO guidance recommends a heat-related information plan as a core element of an HHAP (Matthies et al., 2008). The plan should specify what is communicated, to whom, how and when.

Bottom-up communication content typically includes event reporting, counts or censuses of vulnerable groups, availability of resources such as cooling centres and transportation of vulnerable people, surveillance data, implementation problems and specific needs for assistance. This should be communicated in a context of coordination with the main implementers of the plans, key stakeholders and the media. Bottom-up information flow is covered further in Chapters 7 and 9.

Top-down (from HHAP managers) communication content typically includes the health risks of hot weather, roles and responsibilities for the actors of the plan, behavioural advice for groups at risk, and guidance for professionals and institutions. The plan creators should consider, among other things:

- the channels, timing and language of communication – these may vary between target audiences;
- the information relevant to each audience;
- the risk perception of target audiences.

The following sections summarize operationally relevant considerations for each of these areas.

4.2 Channels, timing and content of heat risk communications

4.2.1 Channels for heat risk communications

Against a theoretically optimal outreach to all at-risk populations and relevant audiences, the communication options for HHAP managers are largely dictated by the availability of resources. This limitation, however, is changing as technology advances and becomes more affordable in countries at various stages of economic development.

For instance, a review by Koppe et al. (2004) highlighted that most existing heat-health warning systems in Europe at the time relied on issuing a passive warning through the mass media to the general public and/or a direct one to local public health agencies. This situation has changed significantly in the past 15 years. Now, many HHAPs use different channels for communication of heat warnings and relevant information, including the internet, mobile applications and social media. Most European heat-health warning systems provide plenty of information through their websites, mobile apps and social media (such as Twitter), although mass media such as television and radio still play a major role (Casanueva et al., 2019). Brochures, flyers and newsletters are still sent to hospitals, nursing facilities and GPs as common practice.

The results of WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning from 16 HHAPs found that 75% had a fully implemented heat-related health information plan and 25% a partly implemented one. Moreover, when the respondents were asked to highlight what worked well in their respective systems, they mentioned communication and dissemination of warnings as one of the most effective aspects of the HHAP. Most HHAPs delivered advice to vulnerable groups on how to protect themselves from heat via institutional websites (over 90%), followed by public service advisories on radio or television (over 80%) and social media (almost 70%; mostly Facebook and Twitter) (Fig. 7).

HHAPs use a variety of approaches and systems for information dissemination. Box 4 summarizes one approach used in Italy.



Fig. 7. Channels through which advice is delivered to vulnerable groups

Box 4. Warning dissemination in the Italian HHAP

The Italian HHAP provides information on timeliness and targeted dissemination of warnings at the local level to allow all services to act in good time. It aims to raise awareness of heat risks and provide advice to the public, health care professionals, emergency services and local authorities. Various communication channels have been introduced to improve dissemination and ensure that the information needed to modulate prevention actions is accessible.

At the national level, warning bulletins for each city are available on the Ministry of Health website, via the mobile application "Caldo e Salute [Heat and Health]" (Ministry of Health, 2018) – which is freely available for mobile devices – and, during heat-waves, via the Ministry of Health Twitter account. The application also includes information on local prevention measures, referring to existing resources such as brochures and factsheets, local heat response plans, contact numbers and helplines and the national guidance document. A reference centre (civil protection, municipality, local health authority or other) is identified for each city, which is in charge of local dissemination of city-specific bulletins through the information network and via email. At the beginning of each summer a workshop is organized by the Ministry of Health to inform local stakeholders, giving updated information on the plan and new findings on prevention measures and vulnerable subgroups.

Information on health risks and prevention measures is also issued to the general public and at-risk subgroups through mass media communication campaigns, local authority websites and flyers. This happens at the beginning of the summer, but further specific advice may be disseminated during heat-waves. Additional elements of communication within the Italian HHAP include information delivered through telemonitoring by volunteers or social workers to elderly patients with social frailties, and capacity-building and awareness-raising for social and health workers, delivered via seminars/workshops, distribution of specific guidelines and meetings.

4.2.2 Timing of heat risk communications

Some heat-related information may not be delivered in relation to a specific heat risk episode, but rather in advance of the warm season, periodically during the season or in specific settings. Other communications may be packaged within warnings of impending heat events, whereby various audiences are made aware of potential or actual harm and what to do to protect themselves or others (Casanueva et al., 2019).

In terms of timing of the flow of information within the system and outside it, WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning showed that the agency issuing the alert (generally the meteorological service) informed the agency leading the health response (generally a national public health agency) with an average lead time of four days. The heat risk communication itself was given to the public and to key stakeholders (hospitals, nursing homes) typically 1–3 days in advance.

4.2.3 Heat risk communication language and content

Warning messages delivered to the public are critically important in getting people to take appropriate action to protect themselves from heat. The WMO/WHO (2015) publication *Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development* recommended taking the following into account when composing a risk communication:

- clear definition of the components of the message;
- simplicity of the message;
- personalization of the message and description of the actions required;
- prioritization of the order of importance of the information;
- use of plain language and illustrations for those who may have difficulty reading;
- inclusion of a statement of recommended action;
- ensuring that shortening of the message by broadcasters does not distort its meaning.

That such messages include recommended actions is especially important, since most healthprotective behaviour has to come from individuals and families. A message that effectively describes a danger but offers no suggestions for protection tends to be denied or reinterpreted by recipients in ways that may increase the likelihood of harm or injury. Even taking all these factors into account, it is advisable to test messages on focus groups. The Red Cross/Red Crescent further suggested that a warning should address questions regarding timing, location, scale, impact probability and response (Singh et al., 2019).

The WMO/WHO 2015 guidance explored extensively the various factors to consider in communicating heat-health warnings. These include, among others, the decision to issue a warning, how to structure warning contents, the language adequate for each audience, criteria and thresholds for issuing warnings, how to disseminate them effectively, and coordination with users. No substantial body of recent relevant evidence exists for the WHO European Region that would justify re-exploring these factors in this publication.

Casanueva et al. (2019) noted that all information and warnings are issued in the local language of each responding country. Three countries (Hungary, Sweden and Switzerland) provide notifications in both the local language and English, and the HHAP in France also produces flyers and radio spots in English. Nevertheless, there is no indication that multilingual messaging is frequent, and this may be an important limitation – especially for countries that receive large inflows of tourists in summer (such as those in southern Europe). To this may be added the pockets of at-risk population groups who do not speak - or are not fully fluent in – the language of the country or region they live in. In various studies where it was assessed, knowledge of risks and responses was lower for foreigners, whether tourists (Cuesta et al., 2017) or migrant workers (Messeri et al., 2019). The lack of availability of HHAP information in languages other than the local one contrasts with other areas, in which public health has a long and fruitful history of risk communication through translated materials, visual displays and other means.

Hajat, O'Connor & Kosatsky (2010) evaluated the scientific evidence for commonly offered heat protection advice, and made recommendations about the optimum clinical and public health practice. The study concluded that the following actions are supported by scientific evidence:

- increasing fluid intake during periods of hot weather;
- ensuring that susceptible people stay in a cool or air-conditioned environment during periods of hot weather;
- wearing loose-fitting clothes and taking frequent showers or baths;
- reducing normal activity levels during hot weather, alongside improving awareness of the inherent risks of activity during hot weather, and the symptoms of heat exhaustion and heatstroke;
- physicians making pre-seasonal recommendations to patients taking drugs that may impede heat loss about how to monitor themselves.

Patients aged 65 years and over with chronic circulatory and respiratory conditions are at greater risk from heat than others. The evidence points to increased cardiovascular complications and heart failure following a 1 °C increase in temperature (Bunker et al., 2016).

Advice not well supported by scientific evidence included: avoiding the use of electric fans; avoiding consumption of any type or amount of alcohol without distinction;¹ and avoiding consumption of even small amounts of caffeinated drinks because of possible diuretic effects. The level of evidence required for advice, the content of the advice itself and how it fits within local guidelines and regulations, however, are determined by the relevant authorities (Hajat, O'Connor & Kosatsky, 2010).

Examples of heat-wave and COVID-19 communication in the WHO European Region are shown in Box 5.

4.2.4 Audiences for heat risk communications

Audience-tailored advice is generally better received than general advice in all risk communications. Based on the responses to WHO's 2019 survey of heat—health action planning, most national/ federal public health agencies provide information tailored to specific vulnerable groups, including but not limited to elderly people, those exercising outdoors, carers (of children and adults) and workers. Evidence supports the notion that intensive preventive information targeted towards vulnerable populations improves protective behaviours (Nitschke et al., 2017).

The specific audiences listed in the 2008 WHO guidance and the 2011 associated supporting materials (Matthies et al., 2008; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011) are still relevant, as are the types of message and recommendation tailored to them (Table 5).

Another audience that should be considered and is not covered in WHO HHAP guidance is school managers and school-related communities – in particular on account of extreme heat episodes that may occur during the school season (such as in June or September). If sensible precautions are taken, children are unlikely to be adversely affected by hot conditions; however, teachers, assistants, school nurses and all child carers should look out for signs of heat stress, heat exhaustion and heatstroke (PHE, 2015).

A recent review (Casanueva et al., 2019) of heat– health warning systems (the weather-based alert component of HHAPs) analysed 16 systems and did not find significantly different types of information from those featured in Table 5. Within these categories, a plethora of advice is provided both generally and specifically to vulnerable groups. A comprehensive review of such advice is beyond the scope of this report, and partial inventories have been published elsewhere (Casanueva et al., 2019; Lowe, Ebi, & Forsberg, 2011).

Segmentation of audiences for targeted advice needs to be refined further than simply grouping for age or other factors shared by many: this approach may miss households who struggle with multiple and interlaced social vulnerabilities, including poor-quality housing, living in "hot spot" suburbs (urban heat islands caused by lack of vegetation), low socioeconomic status and health problems (Hanson-Easey et al., 2019). Segmentation of audiences for tailored messaging needs to be sharpened to afford those who are most vulnerable with much-needed support and information. To achieve this, additional sources such as census data on socioeconomic status and housing, and other information available to health authorities within the existing privacy regulatory environment should be used.

In addition to information for the public and vulnerable groups, HHAPs usually also deliver targeted advice, guidance and instructions to stakeholders in the plan, including doctors, nurses, pharmacists, nursing homes managers, health care

¹ Note: there is no safe level for drinking alcohol. For more information, refer to WHO guidelines and other materials (WHO, 2020).
Box 5. Heat-waves and COVID-19 communication in the WHO European Region

In addition to the COVID-19 pandemic, the year 2020 has seen some of the highest temperatures on record, both within the WHO European Region and globally (ECMWF, 2020). Even in the context of a pandemic, adequate media coverage of other public health risks – including high temperatures – is necessary to ensure the effectiveness of prevention. Warnings should integrate concomitant risk factors and information on response measures and adaptation amid the epidemic and heat (Martinez et al., 2020; Golechha & Panigrahy, 2020).

The WHO Regional Office for Europe has adjusted its regularly issued summertime advice to minimize the adverse health effects of hot weather, integrating it with advice on protection from COVID-19. It includes recommendations to spend 2–3 hours of the day in a cool place while respecting physical distance, and to protect oneself and others by washing hands regularly, wearing masks where necessary, coughing into a folded elbow and avoiding touching the face. The advice is summarized in a fact sheet (Fig. 8), available in 10 languages (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020), which was promoted by a broad communication and outreach campaign (GHHIN, 2020a). Medical and public health professionals were asked to be prepared to protect the public effectively from both COVID-19 and the health consequences of heat exposure (GHHIN, 2020b). Simultaneously, various countries in the WHO European Region reviewed their HHAPs in the light of the restrictions in place from the pandemic and its responses (Santé Publique France, 2020; PHE, 2020). Operational implications for the impacts of COVID-19 and related heat–health responses are explored further in Box 11 in Chapter 7.

Fig. 8. Health advice for hot weather during the COVID-19 outbreak



Source: WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020).

Audience	Type of information
General public	 How to keep the home cool How to keep out of the heat How to keep the body cool and hydrated How to help others What to do if you have a health problem What to do when others feel unwell How to protect your health from vegetation fires during heat-waves
Vulnerable groups ^a	 Practical tips for specific groups First aid treatment Important contact details for social and medical services
GPs and other medical professionals	 Risk factors for heat illness and mortality Health conditions that greatly increase the risk of health effects from heat Mild and moderate heat illnesses and their management Management of life-threatening heatstroke Adverse effects of medication during hot weather Considerations regarding drinking advice during hot weather and heat-waves Proactive preparation for heat-related illness and risks Education, counselling and information for patients
Retirement and care home managers	 General public precautions Reducing indoor temperatures and cooling Monitoring and reducing residents' heat-related risks Standards for occupational safety during heat-waves
Health authorities	 Protecting health from vegetation fires during heat-waves Standards for occupational safety during heat-waves Interventions in the built environment to protect health from heat Communicating heat risks and prevention
Employers	Standards for occupational safety during heat-waves
City planners	Interventions in the built environment to protect health from heat

^a For more information on vulnerable groups see Chapter 6. Sources: Matthies et al. (2008); WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011); WMO & WHO (2015).

administrators, hospital managers, social services and schools. In some cases, instructions and guidance for these key stakeholders are compiled in a practical information package. The HHAP of the Netherlands (RIVM, 2015), for instance, maintains a "heat toolkit", with information and communication tools including frequently asked questions and answers, brochures and sample letters, among others. The plan comes into effect when a period of sustained heat is expected, meaning that it is

necessary to take preventive health measures for vulnerable groups.

Several tools and packages are available on how to communicate about extreme heat. Alongside the relevant WHO materials cited above, the Health Canada (2011) toolkit and the Red Cross/ Red Crescent materials (Singh et al., 2019) are of particular note.

4.3 Heat risk awareness, perception and adaptive capacity

The relevant accounts of evidence since the publication of the 2008 WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008) have demonstrated clear indications of a disconnect between the actual hazard posed by heat-waves and high temperatures (measured by objective indicators such as attributable mortality) and the perceived risk thereof. Moreover, this disconnect is observed (although the evidence is still patchy) across the board, including among the general public, vulnerable individuals and health practitioners.

4.3.1 Awareness of risks and responses to heat among the general public

Most studies and reviews have concluded that public awareness of the risks of heat to health is relatively high in places that are periodically affected by hot spells. Bassil & Cole (2010) reviewed 14 studies from Canada, the United States and four European countries and found that awareness of the risks, as well as of recent heat warnings, was "nearly universal" in the general public. This awareness varied across a number of factors including age and ethnicity, however, and it was not clear that the results applied to vulnerable groups.

Knowledge among the general public about the risks and adequate responses to heat, as well as risk perception, seems to vary widely and to be to some extent location-dependent, even if risks are comparable. For example, Van Loenhout & Guha-Sapir (2016) found more knowledge about risks and protection in Brussels, Belgium, than in Amsterdam, Netherlands, and Cuesta et al. (2017) similarly found more knowledge and risk perception in Lisbon, Portugal, than in Madrid, Spain. The four locations have HHAPs in place and public knowledge about them was far from widespread (57% was the highest proportion of respondents familiar with the plan). The Cuesta et al. study showed that practical concepts used in approaches to extreme heat – such as knowledge of risk groups and protective measures – were widely recognized, whereas less than a third of respondents had knowledge about the existence of a national heat plan.

Awareness and knowledge of the risks of heat, however, do not equate to self-perception of being at risk or ensure that protective action will be taken. In fact, most studies show that while heat awareness and knowledge may be high among the general public, the perception of risks from heat is generally low. This is not only a phenomenon limited to the WHO European Region. A large survey in the United States (Howe et al., 2019) found risk perceptions that were widely disconnected from actual risks. For example, populations in warm climates tended to have higher heat risk perception, although populations in cooler climates might in fact be at higher risk because of lack of acclimatization and poorly adapted housing and infrastructure.

One significant predictor of heat risk perception seems to be age, though the direction of the association varies. While in Australia Akompab et al. (2013) found that older people had a higher risk perception of heat, Howe et al. (2019) found that older populations (thus at higher vulnerability) had lower risk perceptions than younger populations. This finding of lower risk perception by older populations has been observed in several settings, including France (Box 6), Germany (Beckmann & Hiete, 2020) and the United Kingdom (Abrahamson et al., 2009).

4.3.2 Understanding the risk signature of heat among vulnerable groups

The way people reason practically about specific risks is sometimes referred to as a "risk signature". This has often been found to be unconnected to the magnitude of the hazard: subjective perceptions of risk are often relatively unrelated to

Box 6. Assessment of risk perception of heat, knowledge, practices and means of action in France

Since 2004 France has had a national heat-wave plan to protect the population, with a focus on the most vulnerable people. The plan is led by the Ministry of Health, and advice is widely distributed each summer among the population and local actors. At the local level, many stakeholders (such as department prefects, regional health agencies, cities, NGOs and health and social workers) are in charge of action in the field (Laaidi et al., 2019).

The efficiency of the HHAP relies on implementation of preventive measures by the population and stakeholders, and this depends on their risk perception, knowledge, practices and means of action. The national authorities therefore assessed such factors in two studies –among the population and among local stakeholders. In 2016, phone interviews were conducted among a sample of 2504 people aged over 18 years, with a focus on 935 people aged over 65 years. These revealed:

- low understanding of some of the health effects of heat, and their severity;
- a lack of knowledge about vulnerable groups beyond elderly people and infants;
- a very low self-perception of risk, even for elderly people only 4% of people aged over 65 years thought that they were at high risk during a heat-wave;
- good knowledge of prevention attitudes and good follow-up of recommendations (Fig. 9).

Fig. 9. Proportions of the French population declaring that they adopt preventive measures during heat-waves



Among local stakeholders, a qualitative study was conducted in six French cities (Laon, Lyon, Nantes, Nice, Paris and Strasbourg), including small-group interviews among nurses, carers and workers in the homes of vulnerable people. Individual face-to-face interviews were also carried out with institutional (mayors, prefects, regional health agencies, local centres for social action and information) and other

Box 6 contd

stakeholders (emergency physicians, social associations for vulnerable people, child care centres, schools, day care centres). For most interviewees, the heat-wave plan provided a regulatory framework that helped to formalize practices, set up partnerships to act efficiently in emergency conditions and mobilize actors each summer.

Local stakeholders tended to downplay the risks, not least because of the reduced availability of staff and hospital/shelter beds in summer. They also felt that it was difficult to tailor general prevention to specific needs (for example, people with certain diseases cannot drink a lot) or to convince vulnerable groups to change behaviours. Local stakeholders provided practical recommendations, including better targeting of specific populations at risk; simplification of materials for actors in the field; reinforcement of human resources in hospitals, homeless shelters and nursing homes during warm seasons; and reinforcing collaborations between actors at the local level (Laaidi et al., 2018).

their actual probabilities (Song & Schwarz, 2009). Most often, risk perceptions are determined by a complex combination of media accounts, everyday experience and overall risk aversion patterns, along with several other variables such as sex, age and ethnicity.

Risk psychologists and communicators know that the two factors that most often influence perception of a risk are familiarity and dread (Slovic, 2010). Familiarity refers (in lay terms) to how frequently one is exposed to a certain concept, not to actual knowledge of it. It is related to whether a risk is observable, its effect is immediate, and one knows when one is exposed. Dread refers to subjective characteristics of a risk, such as being seen as "uncontrollable, catastrophic, hard to prevent, fatal, inequitable, threatening to future generations, not easily reduced, increasing, involuntary, and threatening to the person evaluating the risk" (Steul-Fischer & Heideker, 2015). Much as with alcoholic drinks, heat is a familiar and low-dread risk; both are systematically underestimated. Moreover, the evidence shows that positive feelings about hot summers may undermine the willingness of vulnerable populations to protect themselves against heat, and even that the language used in warnings may in fact evoke positive feelings towards hazardous heat (Bruine de Bruin et al., 2016; Lefevre et al., 2015). Risk communications

cannot motivate action without an understanding of the emotions elicited by a risk, and risk-related emotions are rarely affected by statistics (Slovic & Ball, 2011). Adequate heat risk communications should tackle the familiarity, low-dread factor and misleading positive feelings about extreme heat proactively.

In relation to the risk signature of heat, comprehensive studies of the risk perception of climate change show that the general public in several (mostly high-income) countries does not associate climate change with health risks (Akerlof et al., 2010; Berger, Lindemann & Böl, 2019). Moreover, there is clearly a significant distance between the perception of the global severity of climate change and the perception of the personal threat derived from it (Sun & Han, 2018). Unlike with heat, however, populations vulnerable to climate change do perceive themselves at a higher risk from it (Akerlof et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015). Thus, the notion of linking climate change and heat risk communications could be considered on a case-bycase basis.

Effective risk communications about heat should be based on a factual understanding of the knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of high-risk groups and their carers, as well as their understanding of the risks associated with heat-waves, the responses needed, and their experience of actual heat-wave measures (WMO & WHO, 2015). This understanding can only be acquired through qualitative research, including questionnaires, focus groups, face-to-face or remote interviews and other validated quantifiable methods. Moreover, heat-health recommendations may require customization beyond mere translation in order to amplify their reach and effectiveness; such a need was observed in the Russian Federation (Smirnova et al., 2015) and is probably present in several other countries in the WHO European Region.

Several studies have shown relatively low perception of risk from heat by those most vulnerable to it (Abrahamson et al., 2009; Bittner & Stößel, 2012; Akompab et al., 2013; Van Loenhout & Guha-Sapir, 2016; Cuesta et al., 2017; Howe et al., 2019). This pattern is not universal; some vulnerable groups such as people with chronic heart and lung disease risk illness – have been found to have greater risk perception and to act accordingly (Kosatsky et al., 2009). The low self-perception of risk among various vulnerable groups, including elderly people and those in poor health, observed in Europe and elsewhere is, however, of particular concern. It highlights the possibility that while plans and alert systems may raise awareness, they may not be able to prompt self-protective actions.

The notion that vulnerable groups may not consider themselves at risk matters a great deal for public health action to prevent heat-related health impacts. The theories of health promotion and behaviour suggest that those most likely to adopt such measures are also those who feel most threatened. Moreover, awareness does not necessarily equate with perceived threat, as the study in Box 6 shows. In addition, further barriers to effective protection from this low risk perception exist for vulnerable groups. Most notably, the cost of engaging in protective measures against heat - such as the energy costs of air-conditioning - is among the obstacles that prevent the population from taking action (Van Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016).

Researchers have analysed the factors influencing risk perception of heat and the adoption of protective behaviours systematically and found them to be highly context-specific. For instance, in Portugal a survey revealed better practices to protect against heat among those who had obtained information on time (Carvalho et al., 2014). The results observed in France (Bassil & Cole, 2010) showed an association during heat alerts between higher level of change in practice and awareness and practices among the public. In Lisbon, Portugal, and Madrid, Spain, locals were significantly more knowledgeable about certain extreme heat-related risk groups than foreigners, despite having lower educational levels. This could be explained by their being more exposed to local media and better targeted by local campaign messages (Cuesta et al., 2017). Having strong networks (relatives, friends and neighbours) does not necessarily contribute to more accurate risk perception and better selfprotection (Abrahamson et al., 2009; Wolf et al., 2010). Other factors, such as higher education or greater income, may be more associated with efficient health-protective behaviours (Akompab et al., 2013).

Understanding the psychology of people's reactions to and beliefs about weather is important in efforts to make heat risk communications more effective. A study in the United Kingdom (Lefevre et al., 2015) found that positive associations with warm weather made heat warnings less effective. A study of large urban settings in the United States found while that vulnerable populations often recognized heat's potential health threats, they relied on experiences of having lived in or visited warmer climates as a heat-protective factor. The institutions responsible need to identify policies that promote safety during heat-waves and hot weather, and that welcome vulnerable individuals to cool places, including ones that may not be official cooling centres (such as libraries and parks) (Sampson et al., 2013).

Recent research reinforces the importance of social processes in enhancing or limiting resilience measures towards climate change adaptation.

The need for social responses requires policy interventions with more effective communication to ensure behavioural change and better resilience to climate risks (Howarth et al., 2019). These processes influence the uptake of protective behaviours, some of which can be targeted by education and outreach. For instance, social norm campaigns to increase the acceptability of free use of cool spaces such as banks or supermarkets without purchasing anything were found useful in Japan (Martinez et al., 2011; Boeckmann, 2016).

Feelings of self-efficacy among those addressed by heat-health behaviour change advice may also need to be strengthened. Heat education campaigns could profit from strong theoretical frameworks grounded in behaviour change theory (Lorencatto et al., 2013; Michie et al., 2011; 2013), as used in other behaviour change interventions such as smoking cessation or increasing physical activity (Jepson et al., 2010).

Heat-health behavioural guidance should also be grounded on an accurate understanding of motivations behind risky behaviours (Ban et al., 2019) and possibly risk denial as a coping strategy (Bittner & Stößel, 2012). Ideally, understanding of specific risk signatures should be derived from the processes of monitoring and evaluating HHAPs (WMO & WHO, 2015), ensuring that the perspectives of vulnerable groups are adequately integrated into the system (Mayrhuber et al., 2018).

4.3.3 Risk perception among health practitioners

There are indications that the risk perception of heat among health care providers themselves may be significantly lower than it should be, given the objective risks faced by their patients (Abrahamson & Raine, 2009; Herrmann & Sauerborn, 2018). A lack of awareness of heat warnings among health professionals, including nurses in care homes, has been reported (Bittner & Stößel, 2012). Research has also found gaps in knowledge (Ibrahim et al., 2012; Valois et al., 2016) and a lack of awareness of existing heat—health plans among hospital front-line staff (Boyson, Taylor & Page, 2014).

While the evidence is limited, an unrealistically low risk perception, lack of awareness or gaps in knowledge about heat risks or plans by practitioners could severely hinder the implementation and effectiveness of HHAPs. The reasons are clear: for some of those most vulnerable to heat (such as older, socially isolated patients), visits to the GP may be a rare instance of social interaction. Moreover, GPs are arguably the most trusted source of health advice and a key element of HHAP advice dissemination. Effective dissemination of heatrelated health advice is simply unfeasible without the full assistance of health care professionals. This highlights the need for engagement of medical associations and other relevant bodies in disseminating the relevant information and offering capacity-building opportunities, as well as provision of adequate resources for such involvement.

4.4 Conclusions

A well developed heat-related information plan remains a central piece of any effective HHAP. The main target audiences, types of message and principles of risk communication outlined in earlier WHO guidance remain relevant (Matthies et al., 2008; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011; WMO/WHO, 2015). The scientific evidence base of commonly used specific information in advice and warnings should, however, be evaluated systematically. Evidence from the last decade shows generally good awareness but a low risk perception of heat by the general public, vulnerable groups and possibly health care providers. Psychological mechanisms and the familiarity and low-dread factor of heat may hinder the effectiveness of heat risk communications. The survey results confirmed generalized use of web-based and mobile-based technologies for information dissemination, which were not widespread at the time of the 2008 WHO guidance. It is therefore crucial to gain better research-based understanding of the knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of high-risk groups and their carers when designing information and communication campaigns. Such improved understanding, adapted and customized to local settings and audiences, should inform heat-related health information plans.

References²

- Abrahamson V, Raine R (2009). Health and social care responses to the Department of Health heatwave plan. J Public Health (Oxf). 31(4):478–89. doi:10.1093/ pubmed/fdp059.
- Abrahamson V, Wolf J, Lorenzoni I, Fenn B, Kovats S, Wilkinson P et al. (2009). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: interview-based study of older people in London and Norwich, UK. J Public Health (Oxf). 31(1):119–26. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdn102.
- Akerlof K, Debono R, Berry P, Leiserowitz A, Roser-Renouf C, Clarke KL et al. (2010). Public perceptions of climate change as a human health risk: surveys of the United States, Canada and Malta. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(6):2559–606. doi:10.3390/ijerph7062559.
- Akerlof KL, Delamater PL, Boules CR, Upperman CR, Mitchell CS (2015). Vulnerable populations perceive their health as at risk from climate change. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(12):15419–33. doi:10.3390/ijerph121214994.
- Akompab D, Bi P, Williams S, Grant J, Walker I, Augoustinos M et al. (2013). Heat waves and climate change: applying the health belief model to identify predictors of risk perception and adaptive behaviours in Adelaide, Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 10(6):2164–84. doi:10.3390/ijerph10062164.
- Ban J, Wang R, Liu X, Li T, Jiang C, Shi W et al. (2019). Health-risk perception and its mediating effect on protective behavioral adaptation to heat waves. Environ Res. 172:27–33. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2019.01.006.
- Bassil KL, Cole DC (2010). Effectiveness of public health interventions in reducing morbidity and mortality during heat episodes: a structured review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(3):991–1001. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7030991.

- Beckmann SK, Hiete M (2020). Predictors associated with health-related heat risk perception of urban citizens in Germany. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(3):874. doi:10.3390/ijerph17030874.
- Berger N, Lindemann AK, Böl GF (2019). [Public perception of climate change and implications for risk communication]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. 62(5):612–19. doi:10.1007/s00103-019-02930-0.
- Bittner MI, Stößel U (2012). Zur gesundheitlichen risikowahrnehmung von hitzewellen: Ergebnisse einer qualitativen interviewstudie mit älteren menschen und ihren pflegepersonen in Freiburg [Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: results of an qualitative interview study with older people and their carers in Freiburg, Germany]. GMS Psychosoc Med. 9:Doc05. doi:10.3205/psm000083.
- Boeckmann M (2016). Exploring the health context: a qualitative study of local heat and climate change adaptation in Japan. Geoforum. 73:1–5. doi:10.1016/J.GEOFORUM.2016.04.006.
- Boyson C, Taylor S, Page L (2014). The national heatwave plan – a brief evaluation of issues for frontline health staff. PLoS Curr. 6. doi:10.1371/currents.dis. aa63b5ff4cdaf47f1dc6bf44921afe93.
- Bruine de Bruin W, Lefevre CE, Taylor AL, Dessai S, Fischhoff B, Kovats S (2016). Promoting protection against a threat that evokes positive affect: the case of heat waves in the United Kingdom. J Exp Psychol Appl. 22(3):261–71. doi:10.1037/xap0000083.
- Bunker A, Wildenhain J, Vandenbergh A, Henschke N, Rocklöv J, Hajat S et al. (2016). Effects of air temperature on climate-sensitive mortality and morbidity outcomes in the elderly; a systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological evidence. EBioMedicine. 6: 258–68. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2016.02.034.

All URLs accessed 9–10 September 2020.

- Carvalho A, Schmidt L, Santos FD, Delicado A (2014). Climate change research and policy in Portugal. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Change. 5(2):199–217. doi:10.1002/wcc.258.
- Casanueva A, Burgstall A, Kotlarski S, Messeri A, Morabito M, Flouris AD et al. (2019). Overview of existing heat-health warning systems in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(15):2657. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152657.
- Cuesta JG, Van Loenhout JAF, Colaço MD, Guha-Sapir D (2017). General population knowledge about extreme heat: A cross-sectional survey in Lisbon and Madrid. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(2):122. doi:10.3390/ijerph14020122.
- ECMWF (2020). Surface air temperature for June 2020. Reading: European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (https://climate.copernicus.eu/surface-airtemperature-june-2020).
- GHHIN (2020a). WHO Euro webinar: preparing for hot weather during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: Global Heat Health Information Network (https://ghhin.org/ events/who-euro-webinar-preparing-for-hot-weatherduring-the-covid-19-outbreak/).
- GHHIN (2020b). Technical brief: protecting health from hot weather during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Global Heat Health Information Network (https:// ghhin.org/resources/technical-brief-protecting-healthfrom-hot-weather-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-2/).
- Golechha M, Panigrahy RK (2020). COVID-19 and heatwaves: a double whammy for Indian cities. Lancet Planet Health. 4(8):e315-6. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30170-4.
- Hajat S, O'Connor M, Kosatsky T (2010). Health effects of hot weather: from awareness of risk factors to effective health protection. Lancet. 375(9717):856–63. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61711-6.
- Hanson-Easey DS, Hansen DA, Williams DS, Bi PP (2019). Communicating about heatwaves: risk perception, message fatigue, and threat normalization. Adelaide: University of Adelaide (https://adelaide.figshare. com/articles/Communicating_about_heatwaves_ Risk_perception_message_fatigue_and_threat_ normalization/7618403).
- Health Canada (2011). Communicating the health risks of extreme heat events: toolkit for public health and emergency management officials. Ottawa: Health Canada (https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/environmental-workplace-health/ reports-publications/climate-change-health/

communicating-health-risks-extreme-heat-eventstoolkit-public-health-emergency-managementofficials-health-canada-2011.html).

- Herrmann A, Sauerborn R (2018). General practitioners' perceptions of heat health impacts on the elderly in the face of climate change-a qualitative study in Baden-Württemberg, Germany. Int J Environ Res Public Health.15(5):843. doi:10.3390/ijerph15050843.
- Howarth C, Kantenbacher J, Guida K, Roberts T, Rohse M (2019). Improving resilience to hot weather in the UK: the role of communication, behaviour and social insights in policy interventions. Environ Sci Policy. 94:258–61. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2019.01.008
- Howe PD, Marlon JR, Wang X, Leiserowitz A (2019). Public perceptions of the health risks of extreme heat across US states, counties, and neighborhoods. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 116(14):6743–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1813145116.
- Ibrahim JE, McInnes JA, Andrianopoulos N, Evans S (2012). Minimising harm from heatwaves: a survey of awareness, knowledge, and practices of health professionals and care providers in Victoria, Australia. Int J Public Health. 57(2):297–304. doi:10.1007/ s00038-011-0243-y.
- Jepson RG, Harris FM, Platt S, Tannahill C, Marmot M, Mezoff J et al. (2010). The effectiveness of interventions to change six health behaviours: a review of reviews. BMC Public Health. 10(1):538. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-10-538.
- Koppe C, Kovats S, Jendritzky G, Menne B (2004). Heat waves: risks and responses. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who. int/en/publications/abstracts/heat-waves-risks-andresponses).
- Kosatsky T, Dufresne J, Richard L, Renouf A Giannetti, N, Bourbeau J et al. (2009). Heat awareness and response among Montreal residents with chronic cardiac and pulmonary disease. Can J Public Health. 100(3):237–40. doi:10.1007/BF03405548.
- Laaidi K, Pascal M, Léon C, Beaudeau P (2018). Réduire les impacts de la chaleur dans un contexte de changement climatique [Reducing the impacts of hot weather in a context of climate change]. Soins. 63(823):28–30. doi:10.1016/j.soin.2018.01.005.
- Laaidi K, Perrey C, Léon C, Mazzoni M, Beaudeau P (2019). Connaissances et comportements des Français face à la canicule [Knowledge and behaviour of the French in the face of heat-waves]. La Santé en Action. 448:47–8 (https://www.santepubliquefrance.fr/determinants-

de-sante/climat/fortes-chaleurs-canicule/documents/ article/connaissances-et-comportements-desfrancais-face-a-la-canicule).

- Lee TM, Markowitz EM, Howe PD, Ko CY, Leiserowitz AA (2015). Predictors of public climate change awareness and risk perception around the world. Nat Clim Chang. 5(11):1014–20. doi:10.1038/nclimate2728.
- Lefevre CE, Bruine de Bruin W, Taylor AL, Dessai S, Kovats S, Fischhoff B (2015). Heat protection behaviors and positive affect about heat during the 2013 heat wave in the United Kingdom. Soc Sci Med. 128:282–9. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.01.029.
- Lorencatto F, West R, Seymour N, Michie S (2013). Developing a method for specifying the components of behavior change interventions in practice: the example of smoking cessation. J Consult Clin Psychol. 81(3):528–44. doi:10.1037/a0032106.
- Lowe D, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce human health consequences of heatwaves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4623–48. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124623.
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- Martinez G, Imai C, Masumo K (2011). Local heat stroke prevention plans in Japan: characteristics and elements for public health adaptation to climate change. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4563– 81. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124563.
- Martinez GS, Linares C, de'Donato F, Diaz J (2020). Protect the vulnerable from extreme heat during the COVID-19 pandemic. Environ Res. 187:109684. doi:10.1016/J. ENVRES.2020.109684.
- Mayrhuber EAS, Dückers MLA, Wallner P, Arnberger A, Allex B, Wiesböck L et al. (2018). Vulnerability to heatwaves and implications for public health interventions – a scoping review. Environ Res. 166:42–54. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.021.
- Messeri A, Morabito M, Bonafede M, Bugani M, Levi M, Baldasseroni A et al. (2019). Heat stress perception among native and migrant workers in Italian industries – case studies from the construction and agricultural sectors. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(7):1090. doi:10.3390/ijerph16071090.
- Michie S, Hyder N, Walia A, West R (2011). Development of a taxonomy of behaviour change techniques

used in individual behavioural support for smoking cessation. Addict Behav. 36(4):315–19. doi:10.1016/j. addbeh.2010.11.016.

- Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W et al. (2013). The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med. 46(1):81–95. doi:10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6.
- Ministry of Health (2018). App Caldo e Salute [Heat and Health app]. In: Ondate di calore [Heat waves] [website]. Rome: Ministry of Health (http://www. salute.gov.it/portale/caldo/dettaglioContenutiCaldo. jsp?lingua=italiano&id=4965&area =emergenzaCaldo&menu=app).
- Nitschke M, Krackowizer A, Hansen AL, Bi P, Tucker GR (2017). Heat health messages: a randomized controlled trial of a preventative messages tool in the older population of south Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(9):992. doi:10.3390/ijerph14090992.
- PHE (2015). Looking after children and those in early years settings during heatwaves: guidance for teachers and professionals. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).
- PHE (2020). Heatwave plan for England [website]. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).
- RIVM (2015). Nationaal Hitteplan : versie 2015 [National heat plan: version 2015]. Bilthoven: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (https://www. rivm.nl/publicaties/nationaal-hitteplan-versie-2015).
- Sampson NR, Gronlund CJ, Buxton MA, Catalano L, White-Newsome JL, Conlon KC et al. (2013). Staying cool in a changing climate: reaching vulnerable populations during heat events. Glob Environ Change. 23(2):475– 84. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.011.
- Santé Publique France (2020). Canicule et Covid-19: état des connaissances sur les mesures de prevention [Heatwave and Covid-19: the state of knowledge on preventive measures]. Saint-Maurice: Santé Publique France (https://www.santepubliquefrance. fr/les-actualites/2020/canicule-et-covid-19-etat-desconnaissances-sur-les-mesures-de-prevention).
- Singh R, Arrighi J, Jjemba E, Strachan K, Spires M, Kadihasanoglu A (2019). Heatwave guide for cities. Geneva: Red Cross/Red Crescent Climate Centre (https://media.ifrc.org/ifrc/wp-content/uploads/

sites/5/2020/11/2019_RCCC-Heatwave-Guide-for-Cities_ONLINE-copy.pdf).

Slovic P (2010). The psychology of risk. Saúde Soc. 19(4):731-7. doi:10.1590/S0104-12902010000400002.

Slovic P, Ball DJ (2011). The feeling of risk: new perspectives on risk perception. Energy Environ. 22(6):835–6. doi:10.1260/0958-305X.22.6.835.

Smirnova MDS, Svirida ONS, Vicenya MVV, Mikhailov GVM, Ageev FTA (2015). [The effectiveness of Russian public health recommendations for Sanogennykh behavior in the heatwave]. Kardiologiia. 55(5):66–71. doi:10.18565/cardio.2015.5.66-71.

Song H, Schwarz N (2009). If it's difficult to pronounce, it must be risky. Psychol Sci. 20(2):135–8. doi:10.1111/ j.1467-9280.2009.02267.x.

Steul-Fischer M, Heideker S (2015). The effect of familiarity and dread on health risk perception. In: Wen EW, Zhang M. AP – Asia-Pacific advances in consumer research, volume 11. Duluth, MN: Association for Consumer Research: 32–7 (https://www.acrwebsite. org/volumes/1018828/volumes/ap11/AP-11).

Sun Y, Han Z (2018). Climate change risk perception in Taiwan: correlation with individual and societal factors. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(1):91. doi:10.3390/ijerph15010091.

Valois P, Blouin P, Ouellet C, Renaud JS, Bélanger D, Gosselin P (2016). The health impacts of climate change: a continuing medical education needs assessment framework. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 36(3):218–25. doi:10.1097/CEH.00000000000084.

Van Loenhout JAF, Guha-Sapir D (2016). How resilient is the general population to heatwaves? A knowledge survey from the ENHANCE project in Brussels and Amsterdam. BMC Res Notes. 9(1):1–5. doi:10.1186/ s13104-016-2305-y.

Van Loenhout JAF, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Guha-Sapir D (2016). Stakeholders' perception on national heatwave plans and their local implementation in Belgium and the Netherlands. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(11):1120. doi:10.3390/ijerph13111120.

WHO (2020). Q&A – How can I drink alcohol safely? In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.euro.who.int/en/ health-topics/disease-prevention/alcohol-use/dataand-statistics/q-and-a-how-can-i-drink-alcohol-safely).

 WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences.
 Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).

 WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020). Health advice for hot weather during the COVID-19 outbreak.
 Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2020/healthadvice-for-hot-weather-during-the-covid-19-outbreakproduced-by-whoeurope).

WMO, WHO (2015). Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (https://www.who. int/globalchange/publications/heatwaves-healthguidance/en/).

Wolf J, Adger WN, Lorenzoni I, Abrahamson V, Raine R (2010). Social capital, individual responses to heat waves and climate change adaptation: an empirical study of two UK cities. Global Environ Chang. 20(1):44–52. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.09.004.



Chapter 5. Reductions in indoor heat exposure: types of intervention and evidence of effectiveness

Summary

Most Europeans spend most of their time indoors, where exposure to overheating tends to occur. A substantial proportion of the housing stock throughout the WHO European Region may be susceptible to overheating. Understanding of the thermal comfort needs of those most vulnerable to heat is still poor, and data on the real-time correlation between outdoor and indoor temperatures in residential settings are lacking. This is of concern for vulnerable population subgroups, for whom combinations of housing characteristics, occupancy profiles, behaviours, lack of access to cooling options and other factors severely increase their risk of heat-related health impacts.

Several technical solutions exist for passive cooling, in both new constructions and retrofitting, but these are often not feasible or affordable for vulnerable groups. For many within those groups, access to adequate cooling can be considered a potentially life-saving medical necessity; yet access to the protection afforded by air-conditioning – the most prevalent cooling technology – remains unequal and hindered by summertime energy poverty. Balancing its many society-level drawbacks against its protective benefits requires a nuanced policy approach towards air-conditioning.

Key messages

- A significant share of hazardous exposure to heat happens indoors.
- Much is still unknown about the relationships between outdoor and indoor temperatures, and between indoor temperatures and the thermal comfort of vulnerable individuals.
- Indoor exposure to overheating occurs through a combination of building and dwelling characteristics, occupancy profiles and behavioural factors.
- While some of the characteristics of a building that can lead to overheating cannot be modified (such as location) or are cumbersome (like building envelope changes), others may only require minimal retrofitting, and could even be installed by dwellers.
- Passive cooling interventions can afford health protection from heat while minimizing energy consumption.
- A wide range of active cooling technologies are available, but air-conditioning is becoming

the de facto technology for protection from overheating.

 Air-conditioning has a number of drawbacks, including equity of access and environmental and social impacts, and may be a clear example of maladaptation to climate change.

5.1 Introduction

Reduction of indoor heat exposure ought to be a central factor to consider in any effective HHAPs in the WHO European Region. By some estimates, the population of the EU spends 90% of their time indoors on average (Sarigiannis, 2013). Moreover, time spent at home in Europe increases with age, with people aged over 65 years spending around 20 hours a day at home on average – fully six more hours per day than people in their twenties (Eurostat, 2020a). Thus, the individuals most vulnerable to heat spend more time at home, including the hottest hours of the day (Taylor et al., 2016). Unsurprisingly, heat-related mortality tends to happen disproportionately at home (Joe et al., 2016).

Against this background, however, most HHAPs (and their related heat—health warning systems as discussed in Chapter 3) are organized around outdoor temperatures. Whenever indoor heat indices are taken into account, these are typically developed for healthy working populations, and are thus barely applicable to most groups vulnerable to heat.

At the time of publication of the WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008), data on how housing quality and characteristics modify the relationship between outdoor and indoor temperatures were limited. Even less evidence was available on the links between indoor heat and health. The guidance thus listed a summary of tentative recommendations for the short, medium and long terms. These were not based on a formal While other options become available, the protective benefits for vulnerable groups of air-conditioning systems need to be ensured, while increasingly sustainable technologies are promoted.

assessment of the evidence, and could be grouped into four main categories:

- 1. behavioural advice;
- access to cooling technologies, services or spaces;
- modifications of housing characteristics and buildings, with an emphasis on passive cooling;
- 4. urban landscape management.

Categories 1 and 4 are considered elsewhere in this report: behavioural advice for protection from heat is covered in Chapters 4 and 6, and urban landscape management is explored comprehensively in Chapter 8.

Lacking sound evidence in the European context for categories 2 and 3, the 2008 WHO guidance explored passive cooling as a key element to exploit within possible modifications of housing to protect health from heat. A decade on, this chapter explores three main areas of relevance for the reduction of indoor heat exposure in the light of the latest evidence. First, it examines the relationship between outdoor and indoor temperatures and health, including the acceptability and suitability of different ranges of indoor temperatures for various population groups. Second, it considers the possibilities of housing and dwelling modification for passive cooling. Finally, it investigates the effect that the accessibility and affordability of different cooling services and technologies may have on protecting the public and vulnerable groups from hazardous heat.

5.2 Indoor temperatures and health

Leaving aside occupational exposures (see Chapter 6 for more information), the evidence on associations between temperatures experienced at home and health impacts is scarce. So scarce, in fact, that the recommendation of the WHO housing and health guidelines (WHO, 2018) regarding maximum indoor temperatures is a conditional one. While the guidelines recommend developing and implementing strategies to protect populations from excess indoor temperatures, they do so based on the proven association of outdoor temperatures with morbidity and mortality; and on the correlation between outdoor and indoor temperatures.

Because of the scarcity of research directly linking indoor temperatures and health impacts, the guidelines assessed the certainty of the evidence that reducing high indoor temperatures would reduce morbidity and mortality as "low to very low". Although the evidence base is still not comprehensive, a variety of studies and large projects have allowed a corpus of knowledge to be built, with implications for health protection from heat.

5.2.1 The correlation between outdoor and indoor temperatures, and the risks of indoor overheating

While there is a general correlation between outdoor temperatures and indoor temperatures in buildings, this includes very wide variability, greatly influenced by the shape and materials of the building; its orientation, ventilation and shading; and the orientation of the apartments and apartment locations within the building, among others (Mavrogianni et al., 2010; White-Newsome et al., 2012; ZCH, 2015). Some evidence suggests that the relationship between indoor and outdoor temperature is linear at both moderate and high levels of heat (Smargiassi et al., 2008), and that this is especially true in naturally ventilated buildings (Kenny et al., 2019). On the other hand, a study of occupied urban houses in the United Kingdom during a heat-wave demonstrated that indoor temperatures can vary considerably across homes, as well as across rooms within homes, resulting in different peak temperatures and levels of discomfort (Wright, Young & Natarajan, 2005).

Temperatures also tend to increase with elevation (floor number) and proximity to the centre of the urban area (usually a proxy for less green space) (Lundgren-Kownacki et al., 2019). In the United Kingdom a recent study of the housing stock found bungalows and top-floor apartments to be most vulnerable to overheating, along with more modern airtight terraced dwellings (Taylor et al., 2016). It also found that - even without taking into account the urban heat island effect¹ - overheating vulnerability is likely to be higher in urban locations owing to the predominance of apartments and terraced buildings relative to rural areas. Dayto-day variations in outdoor temperatures also play an important role in the evolution of indoor temperatures (Smargiassi et al., 2008). Given the delay (sometimes called inertia) associated with heat storage inside a home, indoor temperature reflects the outdoor temperature during the preceding 24-72 hours much more than the actual (real-time) outdoor temperature (Wright, Young & Natarajan, 2005; Smargiassi et al., 2008).

The risks from indoor overheating result from an interaction between the susceptibility of a dwelling's occupants to heat, their behaviour (including occupancy patterns), the building's location and its characteristics (Bundle et al., 2018). In addition, the combination of time spent indoors and the proportion of time when dwellings experience

¹ An urban heat island happens when a city experiences temperatures that are significantly warmer than nearby rural areas. The phenomenon is explored in more detail in Chapter 8.

overheating are critical factors. A representative study in the United Kingdom found that, among homes that experienced overheating, 39% experienced it 1–4 days per week and 22% every day (BRE, 2013). This suggests fairly constant exposure to overheating during normal summer periods, rather than only during heat-waves. While behavioural factors and advice are covered elsewhere in this report, it is important to keep them in mind when discussing physical and built environment factors. Modifications of the broader urban environment for passive cooling are covered in Chapter 8.

Overheating has been observed even in recently built or refurbished homes in temperate climates (Dengel & Swainson, 2012; Tillson, Oreszczyn & Palmer, 2013; Ji et al., 2014; Morgan et al., 2017). For instance, meta-analytic data in the United Kingdom indicated that 57% of bedrooms and 75% of living rooms in low-energy modern houses are classified as overheated (McGill et al., 2017). Estimates in the United Kingdom suggested that more than 20% of households are affected by overheating (ZCH, 2015), highlighting that these dwellings are vulnerable during times of high heat. A review by Kolokotsa & Santamouris (2015) reported on various studies in the United Kingdom with similar findings, as well as on the results of the Large Analysis and Review of European Housing and Health Status study undertaken by WHO. In this 3373-house sample study in France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, Portugal, Slovakia and Switzerland, 9% of people reported that their house had a permanent heat-related problem during the summer period, while 13% declared that overheating may happen sometimes. A study of eight buildings in Berlin, Germany, during summer 2013 and 2014 found that indoor heat stress was experienced on 35% of all days (Walikewitz et al., 2018). Kownacki et al. (2019) concluded after a comprehensive review that the characteristics of most buildings in Scandinavia make them likely to experience a strong correlation between outdoor and indoor temperatures. Although mostly drawn from studies in the United States, evidence suggests a higher likelihood of dangerous

exposure to heat in areas of lower income and low quality housing (Uejio et al., 2011; 2016; Roberts & Lay, 2013).

The temperature inside buildings rises particularly during heat-waves, when the outdoor temperature remains high for several days and the temperature during the night does not drop enough for buildings to cool down (Morgan et al., 2017). For instance, Sakka et al. (2012) investigated indoor thermal conditions in 50 low-income non-air-conditioned houses in Athens, Greece, during the extremely hot summer of 2007. They found that for almost 85% of the hot period, indoor temperature exceeded 30 °C, and that periods of about 216 continuous hours above 30 °C and six days above 33 °C were recorded in many buildings. Similarly, a study monitoring indoor temperature in homes around London during a heat-wave reported that 33% of bedrooms reached uncomfortable night-time temperatures of 26 °C or greater (Mavrogianni et al., 2010). These high indoor temperatures can continue for several days after the end of a heat-wave (Vant-Hull et al., 2018).

Longer and/or more intense heat events lead to greater increases in indoor temperatures, as well as prolonged duration of peak indoor temperature, and heat-waves occurring towards the end of the summer lead to exaggerated impacts in indoor temperature owing to the natural and progressive build-up of heat in the building over the period (Sakka et al., 2012). This is particularly true in homes lacking air-conditioning (AC), where indoor temperature can be much higher than outdoors (White-Newsome et al., 2012), leading to adverse health outcomes (Vant-Hull et al., 2018). For instance, a study assessing homes of people aged over 65 years in the United States showed that the maximum indoor temperature was 34.8 °C, reaching 35 °C in individual rooms, during a period when the peak outdoor temperature (measured at a nearby airport weather station) was 34.3 °C (White-Newsome et al., 2012).

Despite the acknowledged importance of indoor thermal data for prevention of the health impacts

of heat, availability of such information is low globally - even more so when referring to real-time data (ZCH, 2015; Van Loenhout et al., 2016). Existing HHAPs throughout Europe therefore use outdoor environmental parameters to define heat-related health risks (Casanueva et al., 2019). Despite its limitations, the existing knowledge can be applied to heat-health action planning. For example, the German Meteorological Service extended the existing heat-health warning system with a thermal building simulation model to consider heat load indoors (Matzarakis, 2017). The model considers behavioural factors, building factors and weather to predict indoor overheating. While it is limited to the worst-case scenario for indoor conditions and estimated by air temperature only, it constitutes a useful example of practical considerations of indoor temperatures in an HHAP.

5.2.2 Indoor thermal comfort

An environment that is comfortable for one person may be too hot or cold for someone else. A number of factors can affect an individual's thermal comfort, including environmental conditions (such as air temperature, humidity, radiant temperature and air velocity) and personal factors (including health status, age, sex, level of acclimatization, hydration status and level of fatigue). For instance, people who live in hot and humid regions are more likely to tolerate these conditions than people who do not (Baccini et al., 2008). Compared to their younger counterparts, older adults are less sensitive to thermal stimuli and have a tendency to feel cooler during exposure to heat. As the body ages, changes in its thermoregulatory and cardiovascular function undermine its ability to dissipate heat when in a hot environment (Kenny et al., 2016). These differences are detectable in adults as young as 40 years old (Larose et al., 2013), and substantial differences become apparent in most individuals after their mid-50s (Flouris et al., 2017). Also, people's perception of and sensitivity to high temperature change with age (Flouris, 2011; Flouris & Schlader, 2015). Hence, older people may deem an environment to be thermally comfortable when, in fact, it may risk their

health (Kenny et al., 2015; Flouris et al., 2017; Vellei et al., 2017). The thermal comfort needs of other vulnerable groups, such as children, chronically ill people, those taking certain medications and pregnant women (with elevated core body temperature) are also understudied and poorly understood. Their additional risks and vulnerabilities are explored further in Chapter 6.

The challenge for controlling indoor conditions, particularly during heat-waves, is also linked with the thermoregulatory function of vulnerable populations. Recent evidence from both Europe (Vellei et al., 2017) and the United States (White-Newsome et al., 2012) suggests that overheating occurs frequently in households with vulnerable occupants, even when protective measures (such as AC) are available. It also indicates that availability of an AC system does not appear to affect indoor temperature of homes with vulnerable occupants one suggested explanation is inability to afford energy expenses. At the same time, vulnerable occupants in overheated households report feeling cooler than their non-vulnerable counterparts (Vellei et al., 2017). The reluctance of elderly people to use cooling measures such as AC may be caused by an age-related reduction in the ability to sense rising body heat (thermal sensation) (Flouris, 2011; Flouris & Schlader, 2015), which places them at high risk of heat-related injury or death as they are less likely to initiate behavioural actions for heat mitigation. This is particularly important because even small elevations above normal summer outdoor temperatures can raise indoor temperatures to levels that can adversely affect elderly people living in temperate climates.

Van Loenhout et al. (2016) found that living room and bedroom temperatures were associated with substantial increases in reported heat annoyance, thirst, sleep disturbance and excessive sweating in a sample of elderly residents in the Netherlands. These self-perceived symptoms increased further with rises in indoor temperature (33% increase in heat annoyance and 24% increase in sleep disturbance) than with similar rises in outdoor temperatures (13% and 11%, respectively), empirically backing the intuitive notion that indoor temperatures are important for reducing heatrelated health impacts. Similar studies found a highly complex relationship between outdoor temperatures, indoor temperatures and heat perceptions – again heavily mediated by dwelling characteristics and behavioural adaptations, among other factors (Franck et al., 2013).

With these considerations in mind, Table 6 presents recommendations from various relevant

organizations for indoor environmental conditions in homes. While the upper threshold for indoor temperature is typically set at or near 25 °C (95% confidence interval (CI): 24.5-26.3 °C), the lower threshold for indoor temperature was raised from 15 °C in the 1960s to 18 °C in the 1980s, and to ≥19 °C in the last 15 years, with an all-years average of 20 °C (95% CI: 17.7-22.1 °C). The limited recommendations for relative humidity suggest a lower average threshold of 35% (95% CI: 25.2-44.8%) and an upper average threshold of 62% (95% CI: 58.4-64.9%).

Organization	Publication	Recommendation	Note	
WHO	The physiological basis for health standards for dwellings (Gomorosov, 1968)	15-25 °C	Based on energy expenditure being at the minimum and thermal sensitivity being at the maximum within this range	
	The effects of the indoor housing climate on the health of the elderly (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 1984); Health impact of low indoor temperatures (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 1987); Indoor environment: health aspects of air quality, thermal environment, light and noise (WHO, 1990)	18–24 °C	Based on minimal risk to the health of sedentary people (such as elderly people) in houses at this range	
European Commission	Energy performance of buildings: ventilation for buildings (CEN, 2019).	22–27 °C	Bedroom temperature during the summer	
International Standardization Organization	ISO 7730:2005 – Ergonomics of the thermal environment (ISO, 2005)	19−24.5 °C 40−60%	Based on typical levels of body activity and occupant clothing of 0.5 clo (clothing insulation units) in the summer and 1.0 clo in the winter	
Passive House Institute	The passive house planning package (Passive House Institute, 2012)	≤25 °C	Home considered overheated if the recommendation is exceeded for >10% of the year	
	<i>Guide A: environmental design</i> (CIBSE, 2015)	23-25 °C	Operative summer temperature for living spaces	
Chartered Institution of Building Services		>25 °C	Exposure for less than 5% of the occupied time	
Engineers		>28 °C	Exposure for less than 1% of the occupied time	

Table 6. Recommendations for indoor temperature and relative humidity

Table 6 contd

Organization	Publication	Recommendation	Note
	<i>Heating and ventilation of health sector buildings</i> (Department of Health, 2007)	23–25 °C	Operative summer temperature for living spaces
United Kingdom Department of Health		>25 °C	Exposure for less than 5% of the occupied time
		>28 °C	Exposure for less than 50 hours of occupied time
American Society of Heating,	Standard 55-2017: thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy (ANSI/ASHRAE, 2017)	19.5-27.8 °C	Home indoor temperature
Refrigeration and Air-conditioning Engineers	Standard 62.1-2016: ventilation for acceptable indoor air quality (ANSI/ ASHRAE, 2016)	≤65%	Home indoor relative humidity
United States Environmental Protection Agency	A brief guide to mold, moisture, and your home (EPA, 2016)	30-60%	Home indoor relative humidity

5.3 Passive cooling at the building scale

Certain characteristics of a building or the dwellings therein can lead to overheating. Some of those (such as location) cannot be modified, or face significant barriers to modification. For example, significant modifications to a building envelope or insulation may be technically complex, expensive or simply unfeasible under building regulations. Others, like shading or shutters, can be achieved through minimal retrofitting, and could even be installed by dwellers.

The literature on engineering and architectural solutions for housing modifications against overheating accrued since the publication of the 2008 WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008) is extensive. Within it, the corpus of evidence on passive cooling solutions is also enormous, covering every technical aspect from construction to environmental sustainability and economic feasibility. A taxonomy of types of passive cooling interventions in buildings is provided by Chetan et al. (2020).

Analysing the physical effects of all passive cooling interventions on indoor temperatures is beyond the scope of this report, and comprehensive reviews are available in the engineering, architecture and urban management literature. This chapter therefore provides a succinct summary of operationally relevant evidence on selected strategies to modify such characteristics and their potential effects in reducing indoor heat exposure. Where available, evidence on health-protective effects is provided.

5.3.1 External shading and shutters

Shading can be a highly effective option for decreasing internal heat exposure, and it is often possible for occupants at the room level to install it. Shading can be implemented externally through overhangs or shutters, and internally through blinds or curtains. Use of shutters, blinds and curtains is effective in reducing overheating, and external shutters are more effective than internal ones, especially for south-facing living rooms (Porritt et al., 2012).

Hamdy et al. (2017) modelled the impact of climate change on the overheating risk in dwellings in the Netherlands, and concluded that correctly operated solar shading devices can significantly reduce overheating in all scenarios. A study in the United Kingdom (Taylor et al., 2018) estimated that external shutters may reduce heat-related mortality by 30-60%, depending on weather conditions, while shutters in conjunction with energy-efficient retrofitting may reduce risk by up to 52%. This protective effect against heat-related mortality during periods of high summer temperatures may, however, be limited under extreme temperatures. Moreover, the technology has the potential downside of decreasing the quality of natural day lighting. The authors suggest installing shutters in dwellings inhabited by the most heat-vulnerable populations (for example, in nursing homes) as a realistic option, and note that building regulations changes for energy efficiency should require retrofitting to be combined with shading or passive cooling strategies to reduce overheating risk. Technology and materials science are increasing the heat-protective potential of shutters. For example, phase change materials (see section 5.3.2) are already being tested in window shutters to reduce the solar heat gain (Alawadhi, 2012; Silva et al., 2015).

5.3.2 Insulation and reduction of internal heat load

Unlike shading, insulation cannot be assumed to protect against heat in most situations. In fact, while increased insulation can reduce overheating in well designed buildings, it can increase it in poorly designed ones (Pyrgou et al., 2017; Fosas et al., 2018). Porritt et al. (2012) modelled the effect of passive cooling interventions for typical United Kingdom dwellings in different orientations and occupancy profiles, using weather data from the 2003 heat-wave. The results showed that interventions on exposed wall surfaces, such as coating with solar reflective paint and external wall insulation, were very effective, as was controlling ventilation to prevent excess warm outside air entering the dwelling during the hottest parts of the day. Internal wall insulation was less effective, however, even producing an increase in overheating for some scenarios, although it could function and even reduce energy costs when adequately combined with other interventions. Moreover, evidence is increasing that passive houses (a voluntary standard of super-high energy-efficient housing) and other super-insulated dwellings are already at risk of overheating in northern latitudes in Europe. The recently reviewed relevant literature (Morgan et al., 2017) showed such instances of overheating in Denmark, Estonia, Sweden and the United Kingdom (both south and north, in Scotland).

A promising set of technologies for the reduction of heat load are based on the application of phase change materials to buildings. These can change their status (for example, from solid to liquid), absorbing or releasing heat in the process. Incorporated into walls, floors and ceilings they can be used to improve thermal comfort indoors while reducing energy consumption, and specifically for cooling purposes (da Cunha & de Aguiar, 2020).

Another intervention is reducing the heat contribution of appliances and heat sources within buildings, which is substantial within the WHO European Region (Elsland, Peksen & Wietschel, 2014). This is a greater problem in workplaces and offices, where the presence and use of appliances (particularly lighting) and information technology equipment is typically heavier. Moreover, since these non-domestic buildings tend to be air-conditioned, their cooling loads have a highly significant effect on the energy use of urban areas, even causing blackouts during heat-waves (Jenkins, 2009).

5.3.3 Green roofs and walls

Very few studies have looked at the health risk reduction potential associated with heat reduction from green roofs or facades. A complete review of various technologies (Buchin et al., 2016) assessed the indoor heat reduction potential of non-irrigated green roofs and facades as low. Irrigation makes a great difference in the heat mitigation performance of the green roofs by increasing evapotranspiration. Non-irrigated green roofs provide less overall protection than cool roofs combined with insulation (Coutts et al., 2013), and they require much more maintenance.

As with other technologies, however, performance can vary widely with different designs and quality of buildings (Macintyre & Heaviside, 2019). Kolokotsa, Santamouris & Zerefos (2013) examined various configurations of green and cool roofs under the prevalent climatic conditions in London and Crete, and found that both could contribute considerably to improvement of the urban environment while simultaneously decreasing energy demand. In addition, green roofs may have other health benefits related to the mitigation of air pollution (Rowe, 2011), noise reduction (Van Renterghem & Botteldooren, 2009) and well-being/psychological benefits (Lee et al., 2015; Nurmi et al., 2016; Cinderby & Bagwell, 2018). Conversely, the choice of plants strongly determines their long-term viability, as well as potential health disbenefits such as increased allergenic pollen exposure.

5.3.4 Overall potential of housing modifications against overheating

The literature shows that generalizations about housing modifications to prevent overheating are challenging. There is no one-size-fits-all solution, though some patterns are clear from the last 12 years of published evidence. In general, preventing heat gains is much more efficient than dissipating heat into the environment. In most cases, rather than single interventions, the optimum can be achieved through combinations of interventions for specific settings; these must be designed to take into account not only the dwelling construction details but also the type of occupants and their corresponding occupancy profiles. From the perspective of HHAPs, it is more realistic to promote passive cooling options that can be undertaken by room occupants at no or low cost, such as shading.

Adequate ventilation, also an important passive cooling strategy, is explored in section 5.3.5.

Traditional (often called "vernacular") architectural solutions for cooling may hold potential for health protection, although the need for more research is clear. In a case study of the potential of vernacular architecture for passive cooling in Évora, Portugal, researchers found differences of up to 16 °C between indoor temperatures and peak outdoor temperatures, illustrating the potential of such approaches (in this case, high thermal inertia, use of light colours and courtyards) to decrease the energy consumption required by active cooling (Fernandes et al., 2015). A recent case study of traditionally built dwellings in downtown Seville, Spain, found that they could not guarantee thermal comfort conditions without mechanical cooling, however, although the study also found that adequate shading and ventilation could greatly reduce the need for AC in the dwellings (Caro & Sendra, 2020).

The progressive accumulation of evidence and knowledge in this area is setting the basis for a much deeper discussion among researchers and practitioners about the roles of building insulation, building envelopes, building design, ventilation possibilities and shading in general, given the key role these factors play in thermal comfort and heat stress (Loughnan, Carroll & Tapper, 2015; Hatvani-Kovacs et al., 2018, Park et al., 2020). Factors like the degree of home maintenance and housing material quality have been shown to play a crucial role in modulating the effects of heat-waves (López-Bueno, Díaz & Linares, 2019), and should also be part of the discussion.

A range of regulatory and other barriers (for instance, lack of specialized technical knowledge and/or standard operating procedures for inspection against overheating risks) may constrain effective action on preventing building overheating as a public health risk, however (Environmental Audit Committee, 2018). A recent study noted that building policies and regulations have largely focused on sustainability or energy efficiency of buildings without sufficient consideration of health impacts, leading to unintended health consequences and a lack of resilience of the housing stock resilient to future climate change (Carmichael et al., 2020). While much knowledge has been gained about this area in the last decade, empirical evidence of the role these factors play in thermal comfort and heat stress for vulnerable groups is still scarce.

5.3.5 Natural ventilation

Natural ventilation refers to supplying air to and removing air from homes without using mechanical systems. It is a very effective passive cooling strategy – especially for the warmer climates of southern Europe – that can reduce buildings' cooling requirements and improve the thermal comfort of occupants (Schulze & Eicker, 2013). As the flow of external air to an indoor space is driven by environmental pressure differences, natural ventilation in buildings can be achieved by wind-driven and/or buoyancy-driven ventilation. Wind-driven natural ventilation is achieved by forming openings on the perimeter, which permit airflow (caused by differences in pressure created by wind) to pass through the building. Buoyancydriven natural ventilation is achieved by temperature differences between the interior and exterior of the building, causing directional buoyancy force.

Despite its vast potential for improving thermal comfort and reducing heat-related mortality without the disadvantages of mechanically-driven cooling technologies, natural ventilation can be complex and challenging. A recent study in Germany simulated various natural ventilation strategies and showed that opening the windows when the outside temperature is lower than the inside temperature is the ideal natural ventilation solution and can achieve a comfortable indoor climate (Rosenfelder et al., 2016). The same study reported, however, that natural ventilation strategies should be selected based on practicality and occupant characteristics and lifestyle, and noted that in Germany they can sometimes lead to days with cold stress even in summer months.

The total daily duration of natural ventilation is important for keeping the internal home temperature at a comfortable level. Further, natural ventilation is inappropriate for short-term cooling (such as when a building is occupied only for a few hours in the middle of the day) because the building mass must be cooled when the outside air temperature is still relatively low (Rosenfelder et al., 2016). Another challenge of natural ventilation relates to the complex and turbulent flows inside and around buildings, which can diminish effective ventilation rates, particularly in urban areas (Omrani et al., 2017). Finally, natural ventilation is influenced by a number of other parameters, including facade design (such as window size/ shape/location and window opening type/angle), occupant characteristics and the indoor and outdoor environment (for example, indoor air quality, placement of furniture, outside air quality and noise) (Roetzel et al., 2010). With the caveats of the particularities of the locale, buildings and other factors, the best timing for natural ventilation is generally found to be in the morning and during the night (Schulze & Eicker, 2013). For purposes of thermal comfort,² daytime ventilation is suitable only when indoor comfort can be experienced at outdoor air temperature. Night-time ventilation is especially suitable for situations when daytime ventilation is not possible (as when outside temperatures are too hot) and it works best when night-time temperatures are substantially lower than daytime temperatures (Guedes, 2013).

² Natural ventilation is also important for indoor air quality.

5.4 Access to cooling technologies, services and spaces

While the conversation about cooling has traditionally tended to focus on the use of built-in or portable AC devices, the technical literature is increasingly considering cooling as a service that can be obtained through various means, including on- and offsite services, and different categories of products.

5.4.1 Electric fans and personal cooling systems

Using electric fans against the heat has been widespread practice at both the individual and institutional levels for a long time, but whether it does more good or harm overall is still uncertain. Generally, fans have been found to fit best in hot and dry environments if the air temperature is not much above 40 °C (Jay et al., 2015). A Cochrane review (Gupta et al., 2012) concluded that the current evidence does not resolve uncertainties about the health effects of electric fans during heat-waves. People making decisions about electric fans should therefore consider the current state of the evidence base and local policy or guidelines when deciding whether or not to use or supply them.

Another technological set of possibilities is "personal cooling systems" – a wide range of devices and systems that are receiving increasing attention in research, with recognition of their ability to improve some degree of thermal comfort in a cost-effective way. These may include shade structures, water-based cooling, smart textiles, ventilated clothing, personal ventilation, personal humidifiers, fans, AC and cooling clothes using air or liquids (Lundgren-Kownacki et al., 2019). Several studies have evaluated the most effective body segments for localized cooling to promote thermal comfort and sleep (Wang et al., 2017; Lan et al., 2018).

Evaporative cooling has a positive cooling effect, especially in dry conditions, although its

effectiveness is highly dependent on the outdoor climate and it can cause problems related to mould. In general, it has been considered a moderately effective strategy for heat exposure reduction, with the advantage that it does not require any special installation (Buchin et al., 2016). Most studies evaluating personal cooling systems, however, have so far focused on laboratory experiments or workplace settings, or even emergency response situations. These are not representative of the bulk of population groups vulnerable to heat, which generally have a different and not well studied sensitivity to heat and thermal comfort. To illustrate how poorly understood the differences are, a comprehensive systematic literature review focusing on the differences in temperature of thermal comfort between younger adults and older people (Baquero Larriva & Higueras García, 2019) found a wide range of estimates, from 0.2 °C to 4 °C. This highlights the heterogeneity of studies and the need for further research before considering a selection of cooling options for elderly people. There is therefore a need for further research on the health-protective potential of these devices for use at home and/or by vulnerable groups.

5.4.2 The role of AC: health-protective effects

Despite its drawbacks (see section 5.4.3), AC remains a crucial technology for protecting vulnerable groups from high temperatures, as well as for refrigerating essential medicines and other health-protecting technologies (such as technologybased health information systems). Centralized or decentralized, in institutions, cooling centres and homes, AC may de facto be providing a significant proportion of the protection from overheating in the built environment across Europe. Buchin et al. (2016) rate AC as the most effective strategy for indoor hazard reduction potential, and several studies have found that for buildings without AC – the norm in most of central and northern Europe – there is a strong correlation between the outdoor and indoor temperature (Lundgren-Kownacki et al., 2019).

Although no robust estimates have been made of how much AC has reduced heat-related mortality, it can reasonably be assumed to have played a role in the overall decreasing trend of heat-related mortality in recent years in Europe. Several EU countries made AC mandatory in various types of institution, including nursing homes, in the aftermath of the 2003 heat-waves (Klenk, Becker & Rapp, 2010). The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change (Watts et al., 2018) estimated that global AC use in 2016 may have reduced heat-wave-related mortality by 23% compared to a complete absence of AC. There are several caveats to that estimate, however, including the current validity and representativeness of the evidence used for calculation of the relative risk (Bouchama et al., 2007). Even accounting for such caveats, insufficient discussion is taking place on access to and use of AC to afford significant protection from heat-related health effects. How that AC is accessed and used is an important related conversation, framed within its drawbacks and possible solutions.

One way to provide access to AC during episodes of extreme heat is to provide cooling rooms or centres (publicly accessible air-conditioned spaces). Although the use of air-conditioned public facilities as cooling centres is assumed to be relatively widespread in Europe, no significant body of scientific evidence on the matter exists. Moreover, most of the published literature focuses on urban settings in the United States.

There are serious concerns about the accessibility of such spaces for vulnerable populations. Transportation is typically considered to be a barrier for those trying to go to cooler places (Sampson et al., 2013; White-Newsome et al., 2014). Relatively compact urban settings in Europe probably mean that distances to the nearest cooling centre may be less of an issue than in the United States – the average distance in New York State was over 3 km (Nayak et al., 2019). Nevertheless, even average walking distance (typically under 1 km) can be simply unfeasible without aid or transportation for those with impaired mobility, for whom maximum walking distances without a rest are often recommended not to exceed around 100 m (O'Flaherty, 2018). Additional concerns include the availability of staff or volunteers to run these spaces; the extent to which such spaces are welcoming of homeless people or people with a mental illness; and the threat that concentrating people in a single place raises the chance of severe risks if electricity or transport networks fail (Bolitho & Miller, 2017).

Cooling centres are typically part of locally deployed heat-health strategies, along with extended opening hours for swimming pools, parks and homeless shelters; ensuring water to public fountains; and misting machines, among others. Data on the scale of deployment of such cooling spots are difficult to compile nationally or supranationally, but specific local level examples abound. During the heat-waves of summer 2019, Paris city authorities identified 922 cool islands, including 218 accessible at night, which could be found in real time through a mobile phone application called EXTREMA (Ville de Paris, 2019). The use of shopping malls as either officially sanctioned or de facto public cooling centres is not well documented in the scientific literature in Europe, though examples exist in the United States and Japan. Some evidence exists that the deployment of cooling centres reduced heat-related mortality in the United States (Eisenman et al., 2016), but more research is needed on whether and how these cooling efforts provide actual risk reduction.

5.4.3. The drawbacks of AC from a public health perspective

This section details a number of drawbacks to AC, including the risks of inequitable access and energy poverty, societal and individual dependency leading to loss of resilience, increased energy consumption and blackouts, waste heat, local air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions.

Ensuring access to AC in an equitable and effective way for those who may need it most is one of the main pitfalls of this technology, at least from a public health standpoint. Those most vulnerable to heat tend to concentrate within the urban core, in housing that is on average more conducive to overheating. At the same time, they are often less able to afford the costs of AC (purchase, installation, maintenance and running costs). This results in deep income-related inequalities in being able to afford the protective effect of AC against heat (Ito, Lane & Olson, 2018). The running costs of AC may become unaffordable even for households who may have been able to afford the equipment and installation, representing an additional type of fuel poverty to that of unaffordability of heating. There is some indication that those at high risk from heat who have AC at home do not use it systematically during hot spells (Lane et al., 2014).

Summertime energy poverty is an overlooked and poorly understood phenomenon, including in Europe. No region-wide information is currently collected on whether dwellings are equipped with AC facilities or whether they are comfortably cool during summer, although it used to be collected. In data from 2012, people in all EU countries reported difficulties in maintaining comfortable levels of cooling during summer, with wide variation from a low of 3.3% of the population in the United Kingdom to a high of 49.5% of the population in Bulgaria (Thomson et al., 2019). The definition of energy-poor and/or vulnerable households is essential for policy targeting and should be tailored to the local context, in terms of income, climate, housing quality and the structure of energy costs. Country-specific data for the EU are set out in Table 7.

People on low incomes had less comfortably cool homes in 26 of the 28 EU countries across 2007 and 2012, and a substantially lower proportion of homes with AC in 27 countries. As electricity prices (excluding taxes and adjusted for inflation) continue to rise in the EU (Eurostat, 2020b), summertime energy poverty may be further aggravated.

Inequalities may even occur within households (with elderly or chronically ill people overexposed) or in a gender-biased manner, with women in some cases spending more time at home and/or engaged in activities that increase heat exposure, such as cooking (Lundgren-Kownacki et al., 2018). Despite the falling relative prices of AC (as with any other developed technology), there are no solid grounds to believe that affordability of use may improve for vulnerable populations. Further, the poorer segments of society may be less likely to work in airconditioned places, thus not attaining the workplace protection from heat that others may get.

Another drawback of increasing use of AC for protection from heat is the loss of ability to manage high temperatures without it, at both the individual and societal levels. There is some indication (more evidence is needed) that spending a majority of time in air-conditioned environments may impair people's natural heat acclimatization, and that reacclimatization may depend on the time unexposed, to some extent (Ashley, Ferron & Bernard, 2015). Moreover, such AC dependency may also become psychological (Santamouris, 2012), leading to systematic over-cooling (Brager, Zhang & Arens, 2015).

At the societal level, building cities dependent on AC for their cooling may leave residents unprotected during grid overloads and blackouts, which are in turn more likely with increasing cooling energy demands. Without regulatory provision, there may be little incentive for promoters to build in a less AC-dependent manner. Traditional urban forms and building designs for dealing with heat – as well as traditional knowledge about dealing with hot conditions – may be lost, thereby reducing resilience to unforeseen eventualities (such as blackouts) during heat-waves.

Extreme weather – including heat-waves – increases unpredictability for power generation

Table 7. Proportions of popula	ation for AC a	nd comfortably o	ool indicator	5

Country or	Whole	Income-poor	Dwelling not comfortably cool during summer			
region	population with AC (2007)	population with AC (2007)	Whole population (2007)	Income-poor population (2007)	Whole population (2012)	Income-poor population (2012)
EU average	10.8	8.2	25.8	31.3	19.2	26.3
Austria	1.5	0.8	18.1	25.7	15.0	22.3
Belgium	3.1	1.0	14.3	21.9	12.7	21.0
Bulgaria	8.4	1.1	_	_	49.5	70.7
Croatia	-	_	_	-	24.2	32.0
Cyprus	77.1	52.5	40.9	47.3	29.6	34.4
Czechia	0.9	0.1	39.1	44.4	21.8	27.6
Denmark	5.7	4.0	17.7	22.4	11.6	11.9
Estonia	1.9	0.6	23.3	22.8	23.3	26.3
Finland	19.2	9.9	20.3	20.3	25.2	27.8
France	5.2	4.2	29.0	30.6	18.9	24.8
Germany	1.8	0.7	22.7	30.0	13.6	21.4
Greece	52.8	33.3	29.4	37.3	34.0	48.9
Hungary	4.5	1.5	28.5	27.6	25.8	32.8
Ireland	0.4	0.2	7.8	9.9	4.0	4.4
Italy	25.1	15.1	33.4	43.8	26.3	37.9
Latvia	1.8	1.4	39.4	46.0	29.9	31.7
Lithuania	2.1	0.7	33.1	22.8	24.6	21.4
Luxembourg	5.2	0.9	17.9	30.9	10.2	14.1
Malta	55.7	42.2	16.0	20.1	35.4	40.1
Netherlands	6.4	3.2	18.2	24.5	17.7	22.9
Poland	0.9	0.5	41.2	47.1	25.3	28.2
Portugal	7.2	2.6	42.4	51.2	35.7	41.4
Romania	5.3	0.6	_	_	22.6	21.5
Slovakia	1.0	1.8	37.5	39.1	21.0	23.4
Slovenia	12.0	5.9	21.0	25.1	17.3	21.4
Spain	38.2	32.7	25.9	31.2	25.6	33.1
Sweden	15.2	14.3	11.1	12.5	7.6	9.9
United Kingdom	1.9	1.8	10.8	11.4	3.3	4.3

Source: Eurostat (2012).

and consumption, affecting operations, price volatility and ultimately energy security, including for vulnerable groups (Añel et al., 2017). On hot days in locations where AC is highly prevalent, cooling can use more than half of peak electricity demand (Waite et al., 2017). Thus, increased electricity demand from AC can lead to blackouts, in turn increasing the risk of overheating, in a vicious circle. Moreover, electricity companies may respond by upgrading infrastructure, creating a risk of rising energy costs, thus making it increasingly unaffordable for vulnerable groups.

Beside the risk of blackouts and the associated lack of cooling services and increased heat exposure, increased energy use during heat-waves is known to increase tropospheric ozone, furthering health impacts (Añel, 2016). The predicted effect of climate change on energy consumption is mixed, however. Increased demand of energy for cooling will be somewhat compensated in the WHO European Region by decreased demand for heating. Eskeland & Mideksa (2010) predicted that in countries like Cyprus, Greece, Italy, Malta, Spain and Turkey the net effect of increased cooling will outweigh decreased heating consumption, whereas in most of the EU the opposite is projected.

A further drawback is that most AC devices produce waste heat while cooling indoor air. This is typically expelled to areas surrounding the building, and can significantly affect the microclimate in those areas, as well as more widely in urban settings. The effects of AC waste heat are particularly evident during night-time, when they exacerbate the nocturnal urban heat island effect and increase cooling demands (Salamanca et al., 2014). For a city like Paris, for instance, increases range from 0.5 °C currently to potentially 2 °C under a doubling of AC use in the city (de Munck et al., 2013). AC heat waste is also estimated to be contributing to London's urban heat island (lamarino, Beevers & Grimmond, 2012; Bohnenstengel et al., 2014). Under some scenarios, and driven by current trends in energy demand, anthropogenic heat flux could

increase by 10–12% in Europe (Lindberg et al., 2013).

The relationship of AC with air pollution and its health effects is complex, with two main causal pathways in opposite directions. On one hand, there is evidence that the use of AC could lower the short-term effects of PM smaller than about 2.5 µm in diameter (PM_{2.5}) by reducing the penetration of outdoor pollutants into homes, compared with homes using open windows for cooling (Bell et al., 2009). On the other hand, AC use in combination with reduced ventilation and/or inadequate maintenance can increase indoor air pollution (Lundgren-Kownacki et al., 2019). In 2016 AC accounted for 10% of global electricity consumption and 18.5% of electricity used in buildings. The number of premature deaths due to PM₂₅ exposure attributable to AC was 1088 in the EU and 749 in the USA (Watts et al., 2019).

AC also produces a significant amount of greenhouse gas emissions, contributing to global warming in two ways. Many AC devices use hydrofluorocarbons, a type of chemical which, when leaked to the atmosphere, traps several times more heat than CO_2 . In a "business as usual" scenario, these emissions may amount to 1–2 gigatons of CO_2 equivalent per year by 2050, resulting in a large climate warming potential (Velders et al., 2015; Purohit & Höglund-Isaksson, 2017).

Moreover, AC often runs on electricity generated by burning fossil fuels, which releases both local air pollutants (such as $PM_{2.5}$ and nitrogen dioxide) and carbon dioxide (CO_2) into the atmosphere. CO_2 emissions from AC use tripled from 1990 to 2016, and the International Energy Agency calculates that the share of cooling in total CO_2 emissions of the power sector worldwide could double from 8% in 2016 to 15% in 2050, even accounting for more efficient AC devices (IEA, 2018). AC devices sold in the EU, for example, are on average more efficient than those sold in the United States or China (the main consumers of AC worldwide). Despite its global warming potential, AC sales and use are increasing rapidly. At current growth rates, 1 billion AC units could be installed globally in the next decade (IEA, 2018). The use of energy for space cooling more than tripled between 1990 and 2016, and is growing faster than for any other end use in buildings. The rising responsibility of AC in global warming represents yet another vicious circle in this technology: as temperatures rise, more AC use will further exacerbate warming rates.

Being a protective mechanism against heat exposures aggravated by climate change, AC can be categorized as an adaptation strategy. It is generally a kind of autonomous (not institutionally planned or directed) kind of adaptation, mainly undertaken and paid for by individuals and families. At the societal level, however, it is also a clear example of potential maladaptation (actions that could result in increased vulnerability or risk from climate change, now or in the future). Without a change of incentives, climatic and socioeconomic factors would usually work in favour of AC rather than other more sustainable and safer solutions, such as thermal insulation (De Cian et al., 2019).

The prospect that AC may de facto become the main means of protection from heat is highly worrying from the perspective of adaptation to climate change. Its various drawbacks, combined with the fact that it is more often than not unavailable to the very groups that it should protect, make it a clear case of potential maladaptation (Farbotko & Waitt, 2011). In general, there are solid arguments for steering away from AC as a main pillar of HHAPs beyond ensuring protection for vulnerable groups.

5.4.4 A nuanced policy approach towards AC

Despite the clarity and importance of the drawbacks set out above, public health authorities have a responsibility to acknowledge that current heatrelated mortality can be prevented, and that AC can contribute significantly to that prevention. This discussion must be intrinsically related to the existing inequalities in access to cooling, with wasteful and inefficient AC being the norm rather than the exception. Ito, Lane & Olson (2018) propose various interventions to increase access to AC for those who need it most, including

- facilitating access to, financing of and knowledge about AC for vulnerable populations;
- addressing energy insecurity, including during summer;
- identifying particularly vulnerable individuals for whom AC amounts to life-saving medical equipment;
- addressing inequities in cooling use, discouraging demonstrably excessive AC use in public spaces and work settings, with thermostats and other regulating devices.

If, as it seems, AC growth is likely to continue unabated, a nuanced policy approach may be useful. AC does not necessarily need to be carbonintensive: AC alternatives with lower greenhouse gas emissions include district cooling and solar-powered AC. If the share of electricity produced through renewable means increases, the carbon intensity of AC will decrease. And increasingly stringent energy efficiency standards will also contribute, as will the progressive substitution of hydrofluorocarbons by other chemicals, as promoted by the global Kigali Amendment to the Montreal Protocol. In such a context, the goal would be to ensure the protective benefits for vulnerable groups of increasingly sustainable AC systems, while promoting increasingly sustainable AC technologies. Moreover, stated plans by several countries to improve building codes in the context of their Nationally Determined Contributions under the Paris Agreement would have multiple benefits in addition to heat risk reduction, including reducing CO₂ and local pollution emissions, decreasing energy poverty and improving energy security (Davide, De Cian & Bernigaud, 2018).

5.5 Conclusions

HHAPs throughout the WHO European Region would benefit from a stronger evidence-based consideration of the factors affecting indoor overheating and possible interventions to address them. Better understanding of the thermal comfort needs of those vulnerable to heat, as well as of the actual correlation between outdoor and indoor temperatures and modulators thereof, is therefore needed. HHAPs include some early examples of modelling and consideration of indoor temperatures, and their transferability should be studied. A wide range of effective passive cooling interventions can afford health protection from heat and should be prioritized on account of their additional benefits for minimizing energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

In addition, ensuring adequate access to indoor cooling is crucial to protect those most vulnerable to heat; yet deep inequalities remain. Addressing those inequalities requires consideration of cooling as a health-protective service and of summertime energy poverty. Given the current increasing trend of residential AC, it must be ensured that those most vulnerable to heat can access the preventive benefits of AC, while minimizing the societal and environmental drawbacks of the technology throughout its life-cycle.

References³

Alawadhi EM (2012). Using phase change materials in window shutter to reduce the solar heat gain. Energ Buildings. 47:421–9. doi:10.1016/J. ENBUILD.2011.12.009.

- Añel JA (2016). Atmospheric ozone: historical background and state-of-the-art. Contemp Phys. 57(3):417–20. doi :10.1080/00107514.2016.1156748.
- Añel JA, Fernández-González M, Labandeira X, López-Otero X, de la Torre L (2017). Impact of cold waves and heat waves on the energy production sector. Atmosphere. 8(11):1–13. doi:10.3390/atmos8110209.

ANSI/ASHRAE (2016). Standard 62.1-2016: ventilation for acceptable indoor air quality. Atlanta, GA: American Society of Heating, Refrigeration and Air-Conditioning Engineers (https://www.ashrae.org/technicalresources/bookstore/standards-62-1-62-2).

ANSI/ASHRAE (2017). Standard 55-2017: thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy. Atlanta, GA: American Society of Heating, Refrigeration and Air-Conditioning Engineers (https://www.ashrae. org/technical-resources/bookstore/standard-55thermal-environmental-conditions-for-humanoccupancy).

- Ashley CD, Ferron J, Bernard TE (2015). Loss of heat acclimation and time to re-establish acclimation. J Occup Environ Hyg. 12(5):302–8. doi:10.1080/154596 24.2014.987387.
- Baccini M, Biggeri A, Accetta G, Kosatsky T, Katsouyanni K, Analitis A et al. (2008). Heat effects on mortality in 15 European cities. Epidemiology. 19(5):711–19. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e318176bfcd.
- Baquero Larriva MT, Higueras García E (2019). Confort térmico de adultos mayores: una revisión sistemática de la literatura científica [Thermal comfort for the elderly: a systematic review of the scientific literature]. Rev Esp Geriatr Gerontol. 54(5):280–95. doi:10.1016/j. regg.2019.01.006.
- Bell ML, Ebisu K, Peng RD, Dominici F (2009). Adverse health effects of particulate air pollution: modification by air-conditioning. Epidemiology. 20(5):682–6. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181aba749.
- Bohnenstengel SI, Hamilton I, Davies M, Belcher SE (2014). Impact of anthropogenic heat emissions on London's temperatures. Q J R Meteorol Soc. 140(679):687–98. doi:10.1002/qj.2144.
- Bolitho A, Miller F (2017). Heat as emergency, heat as chronic stress: policy and institutional responses

³ All URLs accessed 21–23 September 2020.

to vulnerability to extreme heat. Local Environ. 22(6):682–98. doi:10.1080/13549839.2016.1254169.

Bouchama A, Dehbi M, Mohamed G, Matthies F, Shoukri M, Menne B (2007). Prognostic factors in heat wave-related deaths: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med. 167(20):2170–6. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.20. ira70009.

Brager G, Zhang H, Arens E (2015). Evolving opportunities for providing thermal comfort. Build Res Inf. 43(3):274–87. doi:10.1080/09613218.2015.993536.

BRE (2013). Report 7: Thermal comfort and overheating. In: Energy Follow-up Survey (EFUS): 2011 [website]. London: Department of Energy and Climate Change (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/energyfollow-up-survey-efus-2011).

Buchin O, Hoelscher MT, Meier F, Nehls T, Ziegler F (2016). Evaluation of the health-risk reduction potential of countermeasures to urban heat islands. Energ Buildings. 114:27–37. doi:10.1016/J. ENBUILD.2015.06.038.

Bundle N, O'Connell E, O'Connor N, Bone A (2018). A public health needs assessment for domestic indoor overheating. Public Health. 161:147–53. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2017.12.016.

Carmichael L, Prestwood E, Marsh R, Ige J, Williams B, Pilkington P et al. (2020). Healthy buildings for a healthy city: is the public health evidence base informing current building policies? Sci Total Environ. 719:137146. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137146.

Caro R, Sendra JJ (2020). Evaluation of indoor environment and energy performance of dwellings in heritage buildings: the case of hot summers in historic cities in Mediterranean Europe. Sustain Cities Soc. 52:101798. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2019.101798.

Casanueva A, Burgstall A, Kotlarski S, Messeri A, Morabito M, Flouris AD et al. (2019). Overview of existing heat-health warning systems in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(15):2657. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152657.

CEN (2019). EN 16798-1:2019 Energy performance of buildings: ventilation for buildings. Indoor environmental input parameters for design and assessment of energy performance of buildings addressing indoor air quality, thermal environment, lighting and acoustics. Brussels: European Committee for Standardization (https://standards.cen.eu/dyn/ www/f?p=204:110:0::::FSP_PROJECT,FSP_ORG_ ID:41425,6138&cs=11EDD0CE838 BCEF1A1EFA39A24B6C9890). Chetan V, Nagaraj K, Kulkarni PS, Modi SK, Kempaiah UN (2020). Review of passive cooling methods for buildings. J Phys: Conf Ser. 1473:012054. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1473/1/012054.

CIBSE (2015). Guide A: environmental design, eighth edition. London: Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers (https://www. cibse.org/knowledge/knowledge-items/ detail?id=a0q2000008I79JAAS).

Cinderby S, Bagwell S (2018). Exploring the co-benefits of urban green infrastructure improvements for businesses and workers' well-being. Area. 50(1):126– 35. doi:10.1111/area.12361.

Coutts AM, Daly E, Beringer J, Tapper NJ (2013). Assessing practical measures to reduce urban heat: green and cool roofs. Build Environ. 70:266–76. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.08.021.

da Cunha SRL, de Aguiar JLB (2020). Phase change materials and energy efficiency of buildings: a review of knowledge. J Energy Storage. 27:101083. doi:10.1016/J.EST.2019.101083.

Davide M, De Cian E, Bernigaud A (2018). Energy for adaptation: connecting the Paris Agreement with the Sustainable Development Goals. University Ca' Foscari of Venice, Dept. of Economics Research Paper Series No. 25. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3290449.

De Cian E, Pavanello F, Randazzo T, Mistry MN, Davide M (2019). Households' adaptation in a warming climate: air conditioning and thermal insulation choices. Environ Sci Policy. 100:136–57. doi:10.1016/j. envsci.2019.06.015.

de Munck C, Pigeon G, Masson V, Meunier F, Bousquet P, Tréméac B et al. (2013). How much can air conditioning increase air temperatures for a city like Paris, France? Int J Climatol. 33(1):210–27. doi:10.1002/joc.3415.

Dengel A, Swainson M (2012). Overheating in new homes: a review of the evidence. London: NHBC Foundation.

Department of Health (2007). Heating and ventilation of health sector buildings. London: London: Department of Health and Social Care (HTM 03-01; https://www. gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-onspecialised-ventilation-for-healthcare-premises-partsa-and-b).

Eisenman DP, Wilhalme H, Tseng C., ChesterM., English P, Pincetl S et al. (2016). Heat death associations with the built environment, social vulnerability and their interactions with rising temperature. Health Place. 41:89–99. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.08.007.

- Elsland R, Peksen I, Wietschel M (2014). Are internal heat gains underestimated in thermal performance evaluation of buildings? Energy Procedia. 62:32–41. doi:10.1016/j.egypro.2014.12.364
- Environmental Audit Committee (2018). Heatwaves: adapting to climate change. London: House of Commons (https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ cm201719/cmselect/cmenvaud/826/82602.htm).
- EPA (2016). A brief guide to mold, moisture, and your home. Washington DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA 402-K-02-003; https://www. epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-10/documents/ moldguide12.pdf).
- Eskeland GS, Mideksa TK (2010). Electricity demand in a changing climate. Mitig Adapt Strateg Glob Chang. 15(8):877–97. doi:10.1007/s11027-010-9246-x.
- Eurostat (2012). European Union Survey on Income and Living Conditions: ad hoc modules [database]. Luxembourg: Eurostat (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ web/income-and-living-conditions/data/ad-hocmodules).
- Eurostat (2020a). Harmonised European Time Use Surveys (HETUS) [database]. Luxembourg: Eurostat (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/time-use-surveys/ data/database).
- Eurostat (2020b). Electricity price statistics. In: Eurostat [website]. Luxembourg: Eurostat (https://ec.europa. eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Electricity_ price_statistics#Electricity_prices_for_household_ consumers).
- Farbotko C, Waitt G (2011). Residential air conditioning and climate change: voices of the vulnerable. Health Promot J Austr. 22(4):13–15. doi:10.1071/HE11413.
- Fernandes J, Mateus R, Bragança L, Correia Da Silva JJ (2015). Portuguese vernacular architecture: the contribution of vernacular materials and design approaches for sustainable construction. Archit Sci Rev. 58(4):324–36. doi:10.1080/00038628.2014.974 019.
- Flouris AD (2011). Functional architecture of behavioural thermoregulation. Eur J Appl Physiol. 111(1):1–8. doi:10.1007/s00421-010-1602-8.
- Flouris AD, McGinn R, Poirier M, Louie JC, Ioannou LG, Tsoutsoubi, L et al. (2017). Screening criteria for increased susceptibility to heat stress during work or

leisure in hot environments in healthy individuals aged 31–70 years. Temperature (Austin). 5(1):86–99. doi:10.1080/23328940.2017.1381800.

- Flouris AD, Schlader ZJ (2015). Human behavioral thermoregulation during exercise in the heat. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 25(suppl 1):52–64. doi:10.1111/ sms.12349.
- Fosas D, Coley DA, Natarajan S, Herrera M, Fosas de Pando M, Ramallo-González A (2018). Mitigation versus adaptation: does insulating dwellings increase overheating risk? Build Environ. 143:740–59. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.07.033.
- Franck U, Krüger M, Schwarz N, Grossmann K, Röder S, Schlink U (2013). Heat stress in urban areas: indoor and outdoor temperatures in different urban structure types and subjectively reported well-being during a heat wave in the city of Leipzig. Meteorologische Zeitschrift. 22(2):167–77. doi:10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0384.
- Gomorosov M (1968). The physiological basis for health standards for dwellings. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/39749).
- Guedes MC (2013). Sustainable architecture in Africa. In: Sayigh A, Sustainability, energy and architecture: case studies in realizing green buildings. Oxford: Elsevier: 421–503. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-397269-9.00016-5.
- Gupta S, Carmichael C, Simpson C, Clarke MJ, Allen C, Gao Y et al. (2012). Electric fans for reducing adverse health impacts in heatwaves. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012(7): CD009888. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD009888.pub2.
- Hamdy M, Carlucci S, Hoes PJ, Hensen JLM (2017). The impact of climate change on the overheating risk in dwellings: a Dutch case study. Build Environ. 122:307– 23. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2017.06.031.
- Hatvani-Kovacs G, Belusko M, Pockett J, Boland J (2018). Heat stress-resistant building design in the Australian context. Energ Buildings. 158:290–9. doi:10.1016/j. enbuild.2017.10.025.
- Iamarino M, Beevers S, Grimmond CSB (2012). Highresolution (space, time) anthropogenic heat emissions: London 1970–2025. Int J Climatol. 32(11):1754–67. doi:10.1002/joc.2390.
- IEA (2018). The future of cooling: opportunities for energy efficient air conditioning. Vienna: International Energy Agency (https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-cooling).

- ISO (2005). ISO 7730:2005 Ergonomics of the thermal environment: analytical determination and interpretation of thermal comfort using calculation of the PMV and PPD indices and local thermal comfort criteria. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization (https://www.iso.org/standard/39155. html).
- Ito K, Lane K, Olson C (2018). Equitable access to air conditioning. Epidemiology. 29(6):749–52. doi:10.1097/EDE.000000000000912.
- Jay O, Cramer MN, Ravanelli NM, Hodder SG (2015). Should electric fans be used during a heat wave? Appl Ergon. 46 Pt A:137–43. doi:10.1016/j. apergo.2014.07.013.
- Jenkins DP (2009). The importance of office internal heat gains in reducing cooling loads in a changing climate. Int J Low-Carbon Tec. 4(3):134–40. doi:10.1093/ijlct/ ctp019.
- Ji Y, Fitton R, Swan W, Webster P (2014). Assessing overheating of the UK existing dwellings – a case study of replica Victorian end terrace house. Build Environ. 7:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.03.012.
- Joe L, Hoshiko S, Dobraca D, Jackson R, Smorodinsky S, Smith D et al. (2016). Mortality during a large-scale heat wave by place, demographic group, internal and external causes of death, and building climate zone. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(3):299. doi:10.3390/ijerph13030299.
- Kenny GP, Flouris AD, Dervis S, Friesen BJ, Sigal RJ (2015). Older adults experience greater levels of thermal and cardiovascular strain during extreme heat exposures. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 46(5):S396.
- Kenny GP, Flouris AD, Yagouti A, Notley SR (2019). Towards establishing evidence-based guidelines on maximum indoor temperatures during hot weather in temperate continental climates. Temperature (Austin). 6(1):11–36. doi:10.1080/23328940.2018.1456257.
- Kenny GP, Groeller H, McGinn R, Flouris AD (2016). Age, human performance, and physical employment standards. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 41:S92–107. doi:10.1139/apnm-2015-0483.
- Klenk J, Becker C, Rapp K (2010). Heat-related mortality in residents of nursing homes. Age Ageing. 39(2):245–52. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp248.
- Kolokotsa D, Santamouris M (2015). Review of the indoor environmental quality and energy consumption studies for low income households in Europe.

Sci Total Environ. 536:316–30. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2015.07.073.

- Kolokotsa D, Santamouris M, Zerefos SC (2013). Green and cool roofs' urban heat island mitigation potential in European climates for office buildings under free floating conditions. Solar Energy. 95:118–30. doi:10.1016/j.solener.2013.06.001.
- Lan L, Qian XL, Lian ZW, Lin YB (2018). Local body cooling to improve sleep quality and thermal comfort in a hot environment. Indoor Air. 28(1):135–45. doi:10.1111/ ina.12428.
- Lane K, Wheeler K, Charles-Guzman K, Ahmed M Blum, M, Gregory K et al. (2014). Extreme heat awareness and protective behaviors in New York City. J Urban Health. 91(3):403–14. doi:10.1007/s11524-013-9850-7.
- Larose J, Boulay P, Sigal RJ, Wright HE, Kenny GP (2013). Age-related decrements in heat dissipation during physical activity occur as early as the age of 40. PLoS One. 8(12):e83148. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083148.
- Lee KE, Williams KJ H, Sargent LD, Williams NSG, Johnson KA (2015). 40-second green roof views sustain attention: the role of micro-breaks in attention restoration. J Environ Psychol. 42:182–9. doi:10.1016/J.JENVP.2015.04.003.
- Lindberg F, Grimmond CSB, Yogeswaran N, Kotthaus S, Allen L (2013). Impact of city changes and weather on anthropogenic heat flux in Europe 1995–2015. Urban Climate. 4:1–15. doi:10.1016/J.UCLIM.2013.03.002.
- López-Bueno JA, Díaz J, Linares C (2019). Differences in the impact of heat waves according to urban and periurban factors in Madrid. Int J Biometeorol. 63(3):371– 80. doi:10.1007/s00484-019-01670-9.
- Loughnan M, Carroll M, Tapper NJ (2015). The relationship between housing and heat wave resilience in older people. Int J Biometeorol. 59(9):1291–8. doi:10.1007/ s00484-014-0939-9.
- Lundgren-Kownacki KL, Gao C, Kuklane K, Wierzbicka A (2019). Heat stress in indoor environments of Scandinavian urban areas: a literature review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(4):1–18. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16040560.
- Lundgren-Kownacki K, Hornyanszky ED, Chu TA, Olsson JA, Becker P (2018). Challenges of using air conditioning in an increasingly hot climate. Int J Biometeorol. 62(3):401–12. doi:10.1007/s00484-017-1493-z.

Macintyre HL, Heaviside C (2019). Potential benefits of cool roofs in reducing heat-related mortality during heatwaves in a European city. Environ Int. 127:430– 41. doi:10.1016/J.ENVINT.2019.02.065.

Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).

Matzarakis A (2017). The heat health warning system of DWD: concept and lessons learned. In: Karacostas T, Bais A, Nastos PT, editors. Perspectives on atmospheric sciences. Basel: Springer: 191–6. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-35095-0_27.

Mavrogianni A, Davies M, Wilkinson P, Pathan A (2010). London housing and climate change: impact on comfort and health – preliminary results of a summer overheating study. Open House Int. 35(2):49–59.

McGill G, Sharpe T, Robertson R, Gupta R, Mawditt I (2017). Meta-analysis of indoor temperatures in newbuild housing. Build Res Inf. 45(1–2):19–39. doi:10.10 80/09613218.2016.1226610.

Morgan C, Foster JA, Poston A, Sharpe TR (2017). Overheating in Scotland: contributing factors in occupied homes. Build Res Inf. 45(1–2):143–56. doi:1 0.1080/09613218.2017.1241472.

Nayak SG, Shrestha S, Sheridan SC, Hsu WH, Muscatiello NA, Pantea CI et al. (2019). Accessibility of cooling centers to heat-vulnerable populations in New York State. J Transport Health. 14:100563. doi:10.1016/j. jth.2019.05.002.

Nurmi V, Votsis A, Perrels A, Lehvävirta S (2016). Green roof cost–benefit analysis: special emphasis on scenic benefits. J Benefit-Cost Analysis. 7(3):488–522. doi:10.1017/bca.2016.18.

O'Flaherty C (2018). Planning for pedestrians, cyclists and disabled people. In: Transport planning and traffic engineering. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press:170–80.

Omrani S, García-Hansen V, Capra BR, Drogemuller R (2017). Effect of natural ventilation mode on thermal comfort and ventilation performance: fullscale measurement. Energ Buildings. 156:1–16. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2017.09.061.

Park CY, Yoon EJ, Lee DK, Thorne JH (2020). Integrating four radiant heat load mitigation strategies is an efficient intervention to improve human health in urban environments. Sci Total Environ. 698:134259. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134259. Passive House Institute (2012). The passive house planning package [website]. Darmstadt: Passive House Institute (https://passivehouse.com/04_ phpp/04_phpp.htm).

Porritt SM, Cropper PC, Shao L, Goodier CI (2012). Ranking of interventions to reduce dwelling overheating during heat waves. Energ Buildings. 55:16–27. doi:10.1016/j. enbuild.2012.01.043.

Purohit P, Höglund-Isaksson L (2017). Global emissions of fluorinated greenhouse gases 2005–2050 with abatement potentials and costs. Atmos Chem Phys. 17(4):2795–816. doi:10.5194/acp-17-2795-2017.

Pyrgou A, Castaldo VL, Pisello AL Cotana, F, Santamouris M (2017). On the effect of summer heatwaves and urban overheating on building thermal-energy performance in central Italy. Sustain Cities Soc. 28:187–200. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2016.09.012

Roberts D, Lay K (2013). Variability in measured space temperatures in 60 homes. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL/TP-5500-58059; https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/58059.pdf).

Roetzel A, Tsangrassoulis A, Dietrich U, Busching S (2010). A review of occupant control on natural ventilation. Renew Sust Energ Rev. 14(3):1001–13. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2009.11.005.

Rosenfelder M, Koppe C, Pfafferott J, Matzarakis A (2016). Effects of ventilation behaviour on indoor heat load based on test reference years. Int J Biometeorol. 60(2):277–87. doi:10.1007/s00484-015-1024-8.

Rowe DB (2011). Green roofs as a means of pollution abatement. Environ Pollut. 159(8–9):2100–10. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2010.10.029.

Sakka A, Santamouris M, Livada I, Nicol F, Wilson M (2012). On the thermal performance of low income housing during heat waves. Energ Buildings. 49:69– 77.

Salamanca F, Georgescu M, Mahalov A, Moustaoui M, Wang M (2014). Anthropogenic heating of the urban environment due to air conditioning. J Geophys Res Atmos. 119(10):5949–65. doi:10.1002/2013JD021225.

Sampson NR, Gronlund CJ, Buxton MA, Catalano L, White-Newsome JL, Conlon KC et al. (2013). Staying cool in a changing climate: reaching vulnerable populations during heat events. Glob Environ Change. 23(2):475– 84. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.011. Santamouris M, editor (2012). Advances in passive cooling. London: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781849773966.

- Sarigiannis D (2013). Combined or multiple exposure to health stressors in indoor built environments. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/air-quality/publications/2014/combined-ormultiple-exposure-to-health-stressors-in-indoor-builtenvironments).
- Schulze T, Eicker U (2013). Controlled natural ventilation for energy efficient buildings. Energ Buildings. 56:221– 32. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2012.07.044.
- Silva T, Vicente R, Rodrigues F, Samagaio A, Cardoso C (2015). Development of a window shutter with phase change materials: full scale outdoor experimental approach. Energ Buildings. 88:110–21. doi:10.1016/j. enbuild.2014.11.053.
- Smargiassi A, Fournier M, Griot C, Baudouin Y, Kosatsky T (2008). Prediction of the indoor temperatures of an urban area with an in-time regression mapping approach. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol. 18(3):282–8. doi:10.1038/sj.jes.7500588.
- Taylor J, Davies M, Mavrogianni A, Shrubsole C, Hamilton I, Das P et al. (2016). Mapping indoor overheating and air pollution risk modification across Great Britain: a modelling study. Build Environ. 99:1–12. doi:10.1016/j. buildenv.2016.01.010.
- Taylor J, Wilkinson P, Picetti R, Symonds P, Heaviside C, Macintyre H L et al. (2018). Comparison of built environment adaptations to heat exposure and mortality during hot weather, West Midlands region, UK. Environ Int. 111:287294. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2017.11.005.
- Thomson H, Simcock N, Bouzarovski S, Petrova S (2019). Energy poverty and indoor cooling: an overlooked issue in Europe. Energ Buildings. 196:21–9. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2019.05.014.
- Tillson AA, Oreszczyn T, Palmer J (2013). Assessing impacts of summertime overheating: some adaptation strategies. Build Res Inf. 41(6):652–61. doi:10.1080/0 9613218.2013.808864.
- Uejio CK Tamerius J D, Vredenburg J, Asaeda G, Isaacs DA, Braun J et al. (2016). Summer indoor heat exposure and respiratory and cardiovascular distress calls in New York City, NY, U.S. Indoor Air. 26(4):594– 604. doi:10.1111/ina.12227.

- Uejio CK, Wilhelmi OV, Golden JS, Mills DM, Gulino, SP, Samenow JP (2011). Intra-urban societal vulnerability to extreme heat: the role of heat exposure and the built environment, socioeconomics, and neighborhood stability. Health Place. 17(2):498–507. doi:10.1016/j. healthplace.2010.12.005.
- Van Loenhout AF, le Grand A, Duijm F, Greven F, Vink NM, Hoek G et al. (2016). The effect of high indoor temperatures on self-perceived health of elderly persons. Environ Res. 146:27–34. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2015.12.012.
- Van Renterghem T, Botteldooren D (2009). Reducing the acoustical façade load from road traffic with green roofs. Build Environ. 44(5):1081–7. doi:10.1016/j. buildenv.2008.07.013.
- Vant-Hull B, Ramamurthy P, Havlik B, Jusino C, Corbin-Mark C, Schuerman M et al. (2018). The Harlem Heat Project: a unique media-community collaboration to study indoor heat waves. Bull Amer Meteor Soc. 99(12):2491–506. doi:10.1175/bams-d-16-0280.1.
- Velders GJM, Fahey DW, Daniel JS, Andersen SO, McFarland M. (2015). Future atmospheric abundances and climate forcings from scenarios of global and regional hydrofluorocarbon (HFC) emissions. Atmos Environ. 123:200–9. doi:10.1016/j. atmosenv.2015.10.071.
- Vellei M, Ramallo-González AP, Coley D, Lee J, Gabe-Thomas E, Lovett, T et al. (2017). Overheating in vulnerable and non-vulnerable households. Build Res Inf. 45(1–2):102–118. doi:10.1080/09613218.2016.1 222190
- Ville de Paris (2019). Communication au Conseil de Paris: face à l'urgence climatique et aux pics de chaleur Paris déploie sa stratégie de "rafraîchissement urbain" [Communication to Paris Council: faced with the climate emergency and heat peaks, Paris is deploying an "urban cooling" strategy]. Paris: Ville de Paris (https://cdn.paris.fr/paris/2019/07/24/ b73bf8906326eac58175729370d79a02.pdf).
- Waite M, Cohen E, Torbey H, Piccirilli M, Tian Y, Modi V (2017). Global trends in urban electricity demands for cooling and heating. Energy. 127:786–802. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2017.03.095.
- Walikewitz N, Jänicke B, Langner M, Endlicher W (2018). Assessment of indoor heat stress variability in summer and during heat warnings: a case study using the UTCI in Berlin, Germany. Int J Biometeorol. 62(1):29–42. doi:10.1007/s00484-015-1066-y.

- Wang H, Abajobir AA, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abd-Allah F et al. (2017). Global, regional, and national under-5 mortality, adult mortality, agespecific mortality, and life expectancy, 1970–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 390(10100):1084–150. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31833-0.
- Watts N, Amann M, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Bouley T, Boykoff M et al. (2018). The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: from 25 years of inaction to a global transformation for public health. Lancet. 391(10120):581–630. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32464-9.
- Watts N, Amann M, Arnel N, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Boykoff M et al. (2019). The 2019 report of The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: ensuring that the health of a child born today is not defined by a changing climate. Lancet. 394:1836–78. doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32596-6.
- White-Newsome JL Sánchez BN, Jolliet O, Zhang Z, Parker EA, Dvonch JT et al. (2012). Climate change and health: indoor heat exposure in vulnerable populations. Environ Res. 112:20–7. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2011.10.008.
- White-Newsome JL, McCormick S, Sampson N, Buxton,MA, O'Neill MS, Gronlund CJ et al. (2014).

Strategies to reduce the harmful effects of extreme heat events: a four-city study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(2):1960–88. doi:10.3390/ijerph110201960.

- WHO (1990). Indoor environment: health aspects of air quality, thermal environment, light and noise. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/62723).
- WHO (2018). WHO housing and health guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/who-housing-and-healthguidelines).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (1984). The effects of the indoor housing climate on the health of the elderly: report on a WHO Working Group. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (1987). Health impact of low indoor temperatures: report on a WHO Meeting.Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Wright AJ, Young A, Natarajan S (2005). Dwelling temperatures and comfort during the August 2003 heat wave. Build Serv Eng Res Technol. 26(4):285– 300. doi:10.1191/0143624405bt136oa.
- ZCH (2015). Overheating in homes: the big picture full report. London: Zero Carbon Hub.


Chapter 6. Care for vulnerable population groups: updated evidence on risk factors and vulnerability

Summary

In the last decade, the quantity of literature on factors affecting vulnerability to heat has greatly increased. It is well established that elderly people are most at risk to extreme heat; other vulnerable groups at greater risk include people with chronic conditions (such as cardiorespiratory diseases, endocrine system disorders, mental health disorders, metabolic disorders and kidney disorders), pregnant women, small children, workers, people living in urban settings in socially and economically deprived environments, migrants and travellers.

HHAPs should identify subgroups at risk, provide tailored advice, implement specific prevention measures and actively monitor those most at risk during heat-waves. To date, most national HHAPs mention vulnerable groups but do not contain actions addressed to them. More effort should be put into raising awareness and promoting active response measures and training of health and social care professionals. Monitoring and evaluation of these measures is also important to assess their effectiveness.

Key messages

- Evidence on who is most at risk during heatwaves has become more consistent.
- Vulnerable subgroups and their needs change over time and need ongoing monitoring and study.
- Public health prevention and response measures tailored to vulnerable groups need to be promoted – especially active response measures and proactive outreach for vulnerable

individuals and their care givers by health and social services when warnings are issued during extreme events.

- Advice for vulnerable individuals should be improved, and health and social care training enhanced to improve awareness of risks and response.
- Actions targeted at vulnerable subgroups should be monitored and evaluated.

6.1 Introduction

The main objective of an HHAP in all its operational components is to reduce the health impacts of extreme heat. It is therefore of particular importance to focus on those population subgroups that are most vulnerable to heat as a result of pre-existing health, sociodemographic and environmental conditions. The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning acknowledged the importance of identifying and localizing vulnerable population subgroups (Matthies et al., 2008), defining this as a core element of HHAPs. Specific information and advice should be issued to these groups to improve awareness of the health risks and help protect them during heat-waves. Health and social services should focus efforts and resources on them, with specific response measures aimed at reducing health impacts.

Initially, the focus was mainly on elderly people, as the literature showing a greater risk of dying during heat-waves among this group was more robust, followed by subjects with chronic conditions (Kovats & Hajat, 2008; Basu, 2009). WHO's 2011 public health advice revised and updated individual (demographic, socioeconomic and health conditions) and environmental risk factors to identify better those most at risk and improve response measures addressed to them (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011). In the last decade the scientific literature addressing heat vulnerability factors and estimating the health risks among specific population subgroups has increased exponentially, confirming previous findings and shedding light on new subgroups at risk and potential response measures to protect them (Linares et al., 2020).

Both WHO publications stressed the need for an enhanced and more proactive approach in terms of both awareness-raising and response measures with reference to vulnerable groups. Active surveillance by health and social care services is still lacking and should be promoted at all levels. The 2008 WHO guidance provided examples of vulnerable group selection and identification through registry data and notifications by GPs and health services and gave general recommendations for GPs and retirement and care home medical staff (Matthies et al., 2008). The updated advice set out more exhaustive information on the health risks associated with heat for the different vulnerable groups (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011). Examples of specific health measures and practices or actions were not provided, however. To date, formal assessments of actions carried out, along with the coverage and an evaluation of these measures, are limited. This process would be useful not only to provide evidence of what is being done but also to identify best practices and ensure that resources are allocated in an efficient manner.

6.2 Heat vulnerability, vulnerable groups and risk factors

Specific vulnerability factors are able to confer a greater risk of dying due to exposure to extreme heat. These may be related to individual (age, gender, health status) or context characteristics, such as social and economic conditions and the environment (including climate, living environment

of urban versus rural setting, level of air pollution, green areas, presence of AC and building structure). Vulnerability to heat varies geographically, based on these characteristics, but some common factors confer a greater vulnerability on individuals (Table 8).

Subgroup	Relevant studies and factors	
Elderly people	Biological mechanisms: Kenny et al. (2010); Stapleton et al. (2014); Flouris et al. (2017) Epidemiological studies/reviews: Kovats & Hajat (2008); Basu (2009); Bunker et al. (2016); Mayrhube et al. (2018) Parkinson's disease and dementia: Linares et al. (2016); Wei et al. (2019)	
People with cardiovascular disease	 Biological mechanisms: Liu, Yavar & Sun (2015) Epidemiological studies/reviews of: effects of heat on cardiovascular health: Bhaskaran, Hajat & Smeeth (2011); Gasparrini et al. (2012); Yu et al. (2012); Sun et al. (2016); Cheng et al. (2019) ischaemic stroke and heat metanalysis: Lian et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2016) acute myocardial infarction and heat: Bhaskaran et al. (2009); Bhaskaran, Hajat & Smeeth (2011); Goggins, Woo et al. (2012); Breitner et al. (2014); Kwon et al. (2015) 	
People with respiratory disease	 Biological mechanisms: Kenny et al. (2010); McCormack et al. (2016) Epidemiological studies/reviews of: respiratory mortality: Benmarhnia et al. (2015); Cheng et al. (2019) respiratory morbidity: Turner et al. (2012); Anderson et al. (2013); Zhao et al. (2019) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma: McCormack et al. (2016); Zhao et al. (2019) 	
People with mental health disorders	 Biological mechanisms: Stöllberger, Lutz & Finsterer (2009); Thompson et al. (2018) Epidemiological studies/reviews: Hansen et al. (2008); Page et al. (2012); Thompson et al. (2018) Increases in ER visits: Wang et al. (2014); Thompson et al. (2018); Basu et al. (2018); Min et al. (2019) Medication during heat: Martin-Latry et al. (2007); Stöllberger, Lutz & Finsterer (2009); Min et al. (2019) 	
People with diabetes	 Biological mechanisms: Yardley et al. (2013); McGinn et al. (2015); Carrillo et al. (2016); Kenny, Sigal & McGinn (2016); Notley et al. (2019) Epidemiological studies/reviews: Yardley et al. (2013); Zanobetti et al. (2014) 	
Children	 Epidemiological studies/reviews: Sheffield & Landrigan (2011); Williams et al. (2012); Xu, Etzel et al. (2012); Xu, Sheffield et al. (2012); Xu et al. (2014); Iñiguez et al. (2016); Lam et al. (2016); Stanberry, Thomson & James (2018) Asthma: Z Xu et al. (2013); Li et al. (2014); Xu et al. (2014) Bacteria-related gastroenteritis: Xu, Sheffield et al. (2012); Xu et al. (2014); Carlton et al. (2016); Iñiguez et al. (2016); 	
Pregnant women	Biological mechanisms: Strand, Barnett & Tong (2011); Carolan-Olah & Frankowska (2014); Zhang, Yu & Wang (2017) Epidemiological studies/reviews: Dadvand et al. (2011); Kloog et al. (2012); Strand, Barnett & Tong (2012); Schifano, Cappai et al., (2013); Vicedo-Cabrera et al. (2014); Vicedo-Cabrera, Olsson & Forsberg (2015); Schifano et al. (2016); Cox et al. (2016); Basu et al. (2017); Ha et al. (2017); He et al. (2017); Khan et al. (2017); Zhang, Yu & Wang (2017); Guo et al. (2018); Asta et al. (2019); Son et al. (2019); Song et al. (2019); Sun et al. (2019); Gronlund et al. (2020); Ilango et al. (2020)	
Workers	 Biological mechanisms: Jay & Brotherhood (2016); Meade et al. (2016); Ioannou et al. (2017); Quiller et al. (2017); Kenny (2019); Notley, Flouris & Kenny (2019) Epidemiological studies/reviews: Ioannou et al. (2017); Quiller et al. (2017); Flouris et al. (2018); Marinaccio et al. (2019); Messeri et al. (2019); Schifano et al. (2019) 	

Table 8. Summary of evidence on vulnerable subgroups

Further, the COVID-19 pandemic may augment the health risks from heat among these vulnerable groups (Box 7), as several of the risk factors for severe COVID-19 overlap with key heat risk factors (Wang et al., 2020; CDC, 2020; Singh et al., 2020; Bukhari & Jameel, 2020).

Box 7. Heat and COVID-19: vulnerable groups

People vulnerable to both COVID-19 and heat include:

- elderly people especially those who are very old and those with multiple chronic conditions (Armitage et al., 2020; Bunker et al., 2016; Shahid et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020) or living in nursing homes or residential care facilities without cooling or adequate ventilation (Klenk, Becker & Rapp, 2010; Nanda, Vura & Gravenstein, 2020);
- people with underlying medical conditions, including:
 - cardiovascular disease (heart failure, coronary artery disease or cardiomyopathies);
 - cerebrovascular disease;
 - hypertension;
 - chronic pulmonary disease such as COPD;
 - kidney disease;
 - diabetes;
 - obesity;
 - neurologic conditions such as Alzheimer's disease and dementia;
 - mental health issues (psychiatric disorders, depression) (Benmarhnia et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2019; Lippi & Henry, 2020; Mantovani et al., 2020; Pranata et al., 2020; Shang et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2020; J Yang et al., 2020);
- people on medication, as some medication for the diseases listed above impairs thermoregulation and perception to risks related to heat exposure (Daanen et al., 2020);
- pregnant women (Zhang, Yu & Wang, 2017; Juan et al., 2020; Z Yang et al., 2020);
- essential (indoor/outdoor) workers exposed to heat (Flouris et al., 2018; Spector et al., 2019; Morabito et al., 2020);
- health workers and staff wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) that may increase thermal stress (Ehrlich, McKenney & Elkbuli, 2020; Morabito et al., 2020; Sud, 2020);
- people who are socially isolated (homeless people, migrants, old people living alone) and those with low income or inadequate housing, who have limited resources and access to care (Armitage et al., 2020; GHHIN, 2020; Martinez et al., 2020);
- people who have or are recovering from COVID-19, who may be more vulnerable to heat-related illness.

Heat-related health effects are largely preventable through good public health practice, while following relevant advice. Operational responses and implications for HHAPs related to COVID-19 are reported in Box 11 in Chapter 7. Moreover, it is particularly important that vulnerable subgroups continue to receive the necessary health and social care during the pandemic, and that awareness of risks and responses is enhanced (GHHIN, 2020; Martinez et al., 2020; Wood, 2020).

The WHO Regional Office for Europe has issued health advice for hot weather during the COVID-19 outbreak as described in Box 5 in Chapter 4, as well as guidance for health care of elderly people and management of long-term care facilities during the COVID-19 pandemic (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020a; 2020b; 2020c). Some countries have also updated HHAPs to account for the COVID-19 pandemic and to raise awareness of risks among vulnerable subgroups (HCSP, 2020; INSPQ, 2020; KLUG, 2020; PHE, 2020; RIVM, 2020).

6.2.1 Elderly people

Ageing affects thermoregulatory capacity and can reduce thermal perception, leading to compromised behavioural responses of elderly citizens to heat stress, and increasing the onset of heat-related illnesses and deaths (Kenny et al., 2010; Stapleton et al., 2014; 2015; Benmarhnia et al., 2015). A systematic review and meta-analysis including 61 studies on vulnerability to heat found the strongest evidence for old age, with an increasing trend in risk as age progresses from 65 years onwards (Benmarhnia et al., 2015). Controlled laboratory studies suggest that the detrimental impact of age on people's capacity to thermoregulate in a hot environment can be detected as early as 40 years, and that these differences become evident in most people by their mid-50s (Flouris et al., 2017).

Elderly people are at particular risk due to dysfunctional thermoregulatory mechanisms (limited sweating and skin blood flow), chronic dehydration, multiple chronic diseases (especially cardiopulmonary disease, diabetes and dementia), use of medications, disability and non-selfsufficiency and possible social isolation (Kovats & Hajat, 2008; Basu, 2009; Hajat, O'Connor & Kosatsky, 2010; Bunker et al., 2016; Mayrhuber et al., 2018). Neurodegenerative diseases like dementia and Parkinson's disease, which are associated with old age, have also been identified as risk factors, with evidence of an increase in hospitalization during heat-waves among patients with these conditions (Linares et al., 2016; Wei et al., 2019). Eurostat (2019) estimates that by 2050 an average 40% of the European population will be aged over 55 years (ranging between 47% in Italy and Portugal and 35% in Sweden). Ageing of the European population and rises in noncommunicable disease prevalence suggest that the number of subjects at risk in this group will continue to increase in the coming years.

6.2.2 Children

In summer and during heat-waves infants and children are particularly vulnerable to dehydration and heat stress, due to their greater body surfaceto-volume ratio. Furthermore, children have less effective heat adaptation capacity than do adults (Committee on Sports Medicine Fitness, 2000).

Heat has also been associated with an increase in ER visits or hospital admissions for paediatric diseases, respiratory diseases, gastroenteritis, renal diseases and diseases of the central nervous system among children (Sheffield & Landrigan, 2011; Williams et al., 2012; Xu, Etzel et al., 2012; Xu, Sheffield et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2014; Iñiguez et al., 2016; Lam et al., 2016; Stanberry, Thomson & James, 2018). Asthma symptoms – especially wheezing and chest tightness - have been shown to worsen with increasing temperatures (Z Xu et al., 2013; Li et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014). Bacteria-related gastrointestinal diseases among children are also more likely to increase with high temperatures (Xu, Sheffield et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2014; Iñiguez et al., 2016).

6.2.3 Pregnant women

Heat has been identified as a risk factor for adverse birth outcomes such as low birth weight and preterm birth (Strand, Barnett & Tong, 2011; Carolan-Olah & Frankowska, 2014; Zhang, Yu & Wang, 2017). During pregnancy, women may be more susceptible to heat stress due to body weight gain, which increases heat production and reduces capacity to lose heat by sweating. The fetus also adds its body composition and metabolic rate, which further alters the mother's heat stress. Difficulty in thermoregulation and dehydration among pregnant women may cause a decrease in uterine blood flow, which may trigger labour. Furthermore, heat stress may trigger a release of hormones such as cortisol or increase secretion of oxytocin and prostaglandin, which may in turn induce labour and increased uterine contractions (Strand, Barnett & Tong, 2011; Carolan-Olah &

Frankowska, 2014). To date, however, the causes or biological mechanisms associated with preterm births and low birth weight in response to heat are still unclear.

Several studies have shown a significant positive short-term association between exposure to heat and preterm delivery in Europe (Dadvand et al., 2011; Schifano, Cappai et al., 2013; Vicedo-Cabrera et al., 2014; Vicedo-Cabrera, Olsson & Forsberg, 2015; Cox et al., 2016; Schifano et al., 2016; Asta et al., 2019) and in Australia, China, the Republic of Korea and the United States (Kloog et al., 2012; Strand, Barnett & Tong, 2012; He et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2018; Son et al., 2019; Song et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019; Ilango et al., 2020). A study conducted in the over 400 counties of the United States showed that the fraction of preterm births attributable to extreme heat was 154 (empirical 95% CI: 127, 173) preterm births per million (Sun et al., 2019). Studies conducted specifically on extreme events rather than temperatures increases also found a greater risk of preterm births during heat-wave episodes than non-heat-wave days (Schifano, Lallo et al., 2013; Ilango et al., 2020). Ilango et al. (2020) found that exposure to heat-waves of longer duration had greater effects in California compared to short-lived events; similar findings were observed in Italy when consecutive days of heat were considered (Schifano, Lallo et al., 2013). This aspect is important to bear in mind in HHAP preparedness, warning system advice and action modulation targeted to this specific vulnerable subgroup.

Effect estimates in the various studies diverge due to differences in study design, definition of critical windows of exposure and gestational age assessment, local climate and population adaptation, population characteristics, access to health care and pregnancy health care assistance (Ha et al., 2017; Zhang, Yu & Wang, 2017; Gronlund et al., 2020). Confounders and possible effect modifiers such as air pollution, humidity, maternal age, marital status, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, smoking or drinking status, previous pregnancies, antenatal visits and gestational complications and pre-existing health conditions (such as body mass index, hypertension and diabetes) should also be considered when studying determinants of birth outcomes (Strand, Barnett & Tong, 2011; Basu et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2017; Son et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019). In a study conducted in the United States, extreme heat was strongly associated with preterm birth in regions with colder and drier climates, and among younger women (Sun et al., 2019). Preexisting health conditions also influenced the risk of preterm delivery: Basu et al. (2017) found that women with pre-existing or gestational hypertension or diabetes were at greater risk. Similarly, Schifano et al. found that women with chronic disease (especially cardiac conditions) and young mothers (less than 20 years of age) were at higher risk of preterm delivery (Schifano, Cappai et al., 2013; Schifano et al., 2016).

Socioeconomic differences may further contribute to the differential risk of preterm birth when exposed to heat (Dadvand et al., 2011; Strand, Barnett & Tong, 2011; Basu et al., 2017; Zhang, Yu & Wang, 2017; Asta et al., 2019). Son et al. (2019) found a higher risk of preterm delivery among women residing in areas of low socioeconomic status and with low education levels. In urban areas, proximity to green space has been linked to beneficial health effects such as reduced stress, increased social contact and cohesion, increased physical activity and reduced temperature extremes - especially heat and lower air pollution levels (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016). Moreover, several studies have looked at the association between green space and preterm births, but results are contrasting: most studies have not found an association with preterm births (Asta et al., 2019; Kloog, 2019), while a beneficial effect on fetus growth has also been shown (Dadvand et al., 2012). These factors are important for heat prevention in order to identify those most at risk that need to be monitored actively with particular attention during heat-waves, as well as to provide accurate advice to improve awareness and preparedness.

6.2.4 Workers

In the occupational setting, workers can be exposed to heat for prolonged periods of the day particularly those whose roles involve manual tasks (physical work) with elevated endogenous (metabolic) heat production. Workers thus experience negative effects of environmental heat stress at lower temperature levels than those eliciting public alerts. Furthermore, protective clothing and PPE required for work safety may hamper natural heat loss. For outdoor workplaces exposure to solar radiation may add to the environmental heat, while for indoor workplaces cooling of large production bays is often not possible, and industrial heat generated by machinery can increase indoor heating. At present, evidence-based recommendations for indoor workplaces or residential buildings are sparse (Kenny et al., 2019). If appropriate preventive action is not taken, however, workplace temperature can increase to dangerous levels. It is therefore advisable that indoor work areas include some form of climate control (AC, electric fans or the opportunity of cooling during breaks if solutions are not applicable at the workstation or are constrained by PPE).

Occupational heat strain (the physiological consequences of occupational (environmental) heat stress) undermines the health and productivity of workers in major industries including agriculture, construction, manufacturing, tourism and transportation (Ioannou et al., 2017; Quiller et al., 2017; Marinaccio et al., 2019; Messeri et al., 2019; Schifano et al., 2019). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 111 studies, including more than 447 million workers from over 40 different occupations, estimated that 35% of individuals who frequently work in heat stress conditions experience negative effects of occupational heat strain (Flouris et al., 2018). Workers who are particularly vulnerable to the impacts of heat are those who work under heat stress conditions for prolonged periods, those exposed to high heat in a hypohydrated state, those who are older and those with

underlying pathophysiological conditions. Field and lab studies have investigated human responses to elevated thermal stress during work using various physiological measures, and it is quite clear that occupational heat stress and strain can negatively affect workers' health, impair their performance capacity and compromise work safety (Jay & Brotherhood, 2016; Meade et al., 2016; Ioannou et al., 2017; Quiller et al., 2017; Notley, Flouris & Kenny, 2019). Kenny et al. (2019) suggest that occupational heat strain has important impacts on health and should be promoted accordingly in the light of climate change and the resulting rise in heat stress in coming years.

6.2.5 People with pre-existing conditions

Subjects with cardiovascular diseases are at greater risk during extreme heat (Bhaskaran, Hajat & Smeeth, 2011; Gasparrini et al., 2012; Turner et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2016; Cheng et al., 2019) due to their limited cardiovascular adjustment, which is needed during exposure to heat stress. The mechanisms underlying initiation of cardiovascular disease in response to temperature challenges involve multiple physiopathology regulations (Liu, Yavar & Sun, 2015). Under controlled conditions, heat exposure has been shown to lead to increases in red blood cell counts, platelet counts and blood viscosity, as well as increases in heart rate (Bhaskaran et al., 2009). Temperature-induced damage is thought to be related to heat-mediated dehydration and heatstroke-induced systemic inflammatory response (Liu, Yavar & Sun, 2015).

Heat has also been identified as risk factor for ischaemic stroke, with differences by age and gender in a recent meta-analysis (Lian et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016). Several studies have shown the effect of heat on acute myocardial infarction hospital admissions and mortality (Bhaskaran et al., 2009; Bhaskaran, Hajat & Smeeth, 2011; Goggins, Woo et al., 2012; Breitner et al., 2014). Kwon et al. (2015) recently focused on the risk factors of this relationship, and found that females, those aged 75 years and over and those with low socioeconomic status were at greater risk. The authors suggested that the lifestyles of subjects with a low socioeconomic status seemed to be more vulnerable to weather, which could affect increased acute myocardial infarction hospital admissions. Furthermore, elderly patients with diabetes were also found to be at greater risk when temperatures increased (Lam et al., 2018).

Several studies have identified individuals with underlying respiratory diseases, including COPD, as being at increased risk from the adverse health effects of heat (Kenny et al., 2010; Turner et al., 2012; Anderson et al., 2013; Benmarhnia et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019). The underlying mechanisms through which high temperatures may increase this risk are not entirely clear. Studies have found that heat is associated with airways and systemic inflammation, and vascular changes may trigger a respiratory distress syndrome through episodes of activation of the complement system (Michelozzi et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2019). A recent systematic review found a significant effect of heat-waves on total respiratory mortality and COPD mortality but not on morbidity, with contrasting effects in different regions of the world and by morbidity indicator (Cheng et al., 2019). A study on a cohort of COPD patients found that increases in indoor and outdoor temperatures were associated with increases in daily indicators of COPD morbidity, including respiratory symptoms and rescue inhaler medication use (McCormack et al., 2016). Among COPD patients symptoms can worsen in response to the hyperventilation required to disperse heat and the bronchoconstrictive effects of heat (McCormack et al., 2016). Among subjects with asthma it has been suggested that breathing hot humid air may result in bronchoconstriction and increased airways resistance that is mediated via cholinergic pathways (McCormack et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2019). Furthermore, asthma medication may interfere with the thermoregulatory response, thereby increasing heat stress conditions.

Mental health and behavioural disorders such as depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, mental disability and developmental disorders have been associated with a risk of worsening of health conditions during heat-waves or exposure to heat (Hansen et al., 2008; Page et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014; Basu et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2018; Min et al., 2019; Mullins & White, 2019). Exposure to high temperatures can cause particular discomfort and heat stress among people with mental disorders they may become agitated, more aggressive and violent, with an increase in the risk of suicide and conflicts (Wang et al., 2014; Basu et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2019; Min et al., 2019). A recent review reported that 15 of 17 studies found a positive and significant association between heat and suicide frequency (Thompson et al., 2018). Several studies have shown an increase in hospital admissions and mortality among subjects with diagnosed mental health illnesses (Hansen et al., 2008; Thompson et al., 2018; Min et al., 2019).

The biological mechanisms include heat altering the metabolites of certain neurotransmitters, such as 5-hydroxytryptamine and dopamine, which are associated with the onset of depression and bipolar disorders (Stöllberger, Lutz & Finsterer, 2009; Thompson et al., 2018). Another important aspect is the use of medication in this group and the role of heat in altering the effect of the drugs; for example, psychotic drugs have side-effects associated with heat (Martin-Latry et al., 2007; Stöllberger, Lutz & Finsterer, 2009; Min et al., 2019). Medication used in psychiatry increases vulnerability to heat-related morbidity by altering the body's thermoregulatory capacity. Furthermore, among this subgroup cognitive awareness of environmental conditions in this case heat-waves - and the ability to undertake adaptive behaviours such as increased fluid intake or wearing appropriate clothing, especially in those with disabling mental illnesses such as Alzheimer's disease, dementia, senility, psychosis and developmental disorders, may increase the risk of adverse health effects during heat-waves (Hansen et al., 2008; Basu et al., 2018).

Mental health issues are not solely related to elderly people but also apply to younger individuals, increasing the pool of susceptible individuals (Basu et al., 2018; Mullins & White, 2019). In particular, the low perception of risk among this group calls for a more active role from caregivers and health and social services. Prevention measures need to address each subgroup accordingly, in both management and care. Although an association between mental health disorders and heat has been shown, more information on the causes of this are needed. Further research should focus on potential effect modifiers and confounders such as medication history, comorbidities and various social indicators (income, living conditions, AC usage), as well as more precise exposure mapping to better characterize this vulnerable group (Hansen et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2014; Basu et al., 2018).

Exposure to heat has been shown to increase the risk of hospitalization and death among individuals with diabetes during heat-waves (Stafoggia et al., 2006; Zanobetti et al., 2014). Patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus and the pharmacological treatments they require may cause dehydration, lower skin blood flow and reduced sweating, which could consequently impair thermoregulation during heat-waves (McGinn et al., 2015; Carrillo et al., 2016; Kenny, Sigal & McGinn, 2016; Notley et al., 2019). A recent review addressed how comorbidities such as obesity, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, cardiovascular disease, diabetic neuropathy and skin disorders, as well as medication, may contribute to the level of vulnerability among diabetic patients (Yardley et al., 2013). Ageing can further undermine the ability of diabetes patients to thermoregulate (Carrillo et al., 2016). Performing physical work in the heat is another important challenge for patients with diabetes, as physical activity is recommended for diabetes management. In this regard, the evidence to date shows that exercise heat stress may pose a health concern in diabetes patients (Carrillo et al., 2016; Notley et al., 2019). A recent study in middle-aged well controlled type 2 diabetes patients showed, however, that heat acclimation can offset

diabetes-related thermoregulatory impairments and health complications during heat exposure (Notley et al., 2019). Further research examining skin blood flow responses concurrently with changes in core temperature and the role of thermoregulatory responses during physical activity among people with diabetes is warranted to improve the knowledge base and introduce adequate response measures during heat-waves (Yardley et al., 2013; Kenny, Sigal & McGinn, 2016).

6.2.6 People affected by food- and waterborne diseases caused by a hot environment

Several studies have shown an association between heat and food- and waterborne diseases from the proliferation of different bacteria in hot environments: the most common health effects are gastroenteritis and diarrhoea (Tam et al., 2006; Zhang, Bi & Hiller, 2010; Carlton et al., 2016). A recent systematic review of the association between temperature and diarrhoea in studies in low-, middleand high-income countries found a significant positive pooled estimate between temperature for both all-cause and bacterial diarrhoea (Carlton et al., 2016). Future climate change - especially associated with an increase in temperatures and changes in frequency and intensity of extreme events - may alter the distribution, survival and virulence of pathogens and changes in host exposure patterns, thus increasing the impact on health and the consequent additional burden to the health system. Advice and prevention on these aspects is limited and needs to be enhanced.

6.2.7 Travellers, tourists and migrants

People coming from cool or temperate climates who are not in good physical condition and not acclimatized to the heat may be at greater risk during heat-waves. They may be unaware of health risks and behavioural changes necessary to cope with heat (Hansen et al., 2013; Messeri et al., 2019; Pradhan et al., 2019). Migrant workers, refugees and internally displaced people may have pre-existing and post-displacement vulnerabilities such as malnutrition and untreated chronic medical conditions from limited access to health care and lack of shelter providing adequate protection, predisposing them to a greater risk to heat (Levy & Patz, 2015).

6.2.8 People affected by socioeconomic factors

Having low socioeconomic status and/or low income, living alone and being socially isolated were found to be associated with increased adverse health effects during extreme heat (Basu, 2009; Zanobetti et al., 2013; Benmarhnia et al., 2015). A systematic review and meta-analysis reported greater risk among people with low socioeconomic status and poor living conditions and built environment (Benmarhnia et al., 2015). Debate is ongoing around the role of socioeconomic factors in contributing to heat vulnerability, and whether it is solely individual or neighbourhood socioeconomic conditions that have an impact. Individual conditions (education, income and so on) influence health, while attitudes and behaviours diffused between people at the community or neighbourhood level may also influence health education.

The differential vulnerability of populations living in urban areas is also a matter of concern, considering the continual urbanization and urban growth in the WHO European Region. In metropolitan areas the effects of heat on health may be exacerbated by greater socioeconomic disparities, inadequate housing conditions and concurrent exposure to air pollution (O'Neill, Zanobetti & Schwartz, 2003; Reid et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2015; Taylor et al., 2016; Urban et al., 2016; Willers et al., 2016). A recent study found a strong effect modification by social deprivation; this was greatest among population groups that were simultaneously exposed to high levels of air pollution or other environmental exposures, thus representing socalled environmental injustice (Benmarhnia et al., 2014).

Furthermore, in urban environments, temperatures are higher and the daily thermal pattern is different (less variable) from the surrounding rural areas due to the urban structure and materials that retain heat and alter the microclimate. This phenomenon is known as the urban heat island (UHI) effect. Few studies have accounted for the differential effect of heat within urban areas, mostly due to the limited availability of high spatial resolution temperature data and geocoded health data or data stratified by small spatial units. As expected, warmer inner city central areas of low socioeconomic status have shown greater heat-related effects (Smargiassi et al., 2009; Huang, Zhou & Cadenasso, 2011; Goggins, Chan et al., 2012; Wong, Paddon & Jimenez, 2013; Y Xu et al., 2013). Considering future climate change and the UHI effect in the United Kingdom, two studies estimated that, by 2080, a heat-wave could be responsible for an increase in mortality of around three times the rate observed in 2003, with 278 deaths compared to 90 (Heaviside, Vardoulakis & Cai, 2016; Heaviside, Macintyre & Vardoulakis, 2017). This aspect is important for the promotion of measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and to mitigate the UHI effect within cities. Further details on the built environment can be found in Chapter 8.

6.3 Identification, surveillance and mapping of vulnerable subgroups

As noted in the 2008 WHO guidance (Matthies et al., 2008), an important preparatory measure of an HHAP is identification and localization of vulnerable subgroups. Once formally identified, specific actions and response measures need to be put in place to protect those most at risk. Raising awareness and providing advice is insufficient for these subgroups: they need to be monitored actively and response measures addressed to them should be enhanced during heat-wave days.

Active surveillance entails the identification of susceptible subgroups through health system registries, population registries and health and social service notifications. Most people suffering from chronic diseases receive specialist care, are partly monitored or traced by health services or are included in health registries.

Ad hoc surveillance systems to monitor the health status of vulnerable subgroups have been implemented throughout the summer to ensure a timely response during extreme events. Integrated syndromic surveillance systems were implemented by Public Health England in the United Kingdom (Elliot et al., 2014). GP active surveillance (home visits and questionnaire) and out-of-hours calls are used in France, Italy and the United Kingdom to monitor vulnerable groups and collect information on their health status during the summer (Michelozzi et al., 2010; Pascal et al., 2012; Elliot et al., 2014). The Italian HHAP, for example, formally requires the drawing up of lists of susceptible subgroups; these are sent to health authorities to implement active surveillance by GPs and social services (Michelozzi et al., 2010; Schifano, Lallo et al., 2013; Liotta, Inzerilli et al., 2018). A susceptibility score is defined at the local level based on individual risk factors associated with heat, using population and health registries (age, sex, health status, use of medication, access to health care services such as hospitalizations, ER visits, specialist care and so on) or through notifications from GPs and social services. Occupational health surveillance systems for sectors most at risk are also implemented to monitor prevalence of occupational heat strain and work injuries related to heat, to improve prevention and response (Casanueva et al., 2019; Morabito et al., 2019).

6.3.1 Current status of HHAP responses to vulnerable subgroups

Among the 16 countries that responded to WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning and reported the existence of a national HHAP, 11 (69%) stated that their HHAP fully addresses vulnerable subgroups; the remaining five (11%) had only partial implementation of this component. The survey specifically enquired about how advice is issued to vulnerable subgroups and who is considered vulnerable in the HHAP. Specific vulnerable groups to whom advice is targeted include elderly people in 14 countries (88%), chronically ill people in 12 (75%), outdoor workers in 10 (63%) and people exercising outdoors in eight (50%) (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10. Vulnerable subgroups targeted in national HHAPs

Information is issued by all HHAPs to the general public, which is a way of raising awareness both in the general population and among vulnerable groups directly and indirectly through relatives, care givers and friends. Targeted advice is delivered to health care practitioners in 13 countries (81%), nursing homes in 12 (75%), health care administrators in 11 (69%), social workers in seven (44%) and schools in three (19%) (Fig. 11). Results from the survey show that although targeted information to the main vulnerable groups is defined, dissemination of risks and prevention measures is still very much limited to health care workers.

A multitude of means are used in HHAPs to communicate health advice during heat-waves to vulnerable subgroups, as described in Chapter 4. It is worth noting, however, that direct and proactive methods such as face-to-face interactions, direct messages or telephone calls are less used (less than 30%) than more indirect means such as websites and media (over 80%).

6.3.2 Vulnerability mapping in urban areas

Mapping is an increasing popular environmental health surveillance tool. It can identify important health and exposure disparities and help target interventions. Heat vulnerability mapping considers extreme heat risk factors and provides an aggregate measure of risk. Studies published in peer-reviewed journals have identified a series of risk factors that modify the heat-health association. These comprise factors that vary across space and are interlinked, including:

- environmental factors (UHI intensity, green space, air pollution, land use and land cover, building type, access to AC);
- sociodemographic factors (proportion of elderly population, low socioeconomic status, level of education, ethnic minority groups, public housing);
- and health factors (prevalence of chronic disease).

Several studies have developed vulnerability indicators that combine these risk factors and facilitate geographical representation through mapping to identify hotspots and areas most at risk. Satellite data for land coverage or UHI intensity have also been used with vulnerability characteristics from census data in North America and European cities (Reid et al., 2009; Kestens et al., 2011; Steeneveld et al., 2011; Tomlinson et al., 2011; Buscail, Upegui & Viel, 2012; Johnson et al., 2012; Heaton et al., 2014; Wolf, McGregor & Analitis, 2014; Taylor et al., 2015; Lim et al., 2016). Nayak et



Fig. 11. Stakeholders to whom specific advice on vulnerable subgroups is provided

al. (2018) defined a heat vulnerability index for New York State at the census tract level made up of four core risk factors: socioeconomic conditions; old age and social isolation; ethnicity, language and social barriers; and environmental exposure and urban design (land cover/land use, building age and so on). A similar model was developed to map at-risk areas in Rennes, France, to help target interventions for the most vulnerable populations (Buscail, Upegui & Viel, 2012). Bradford et al. (2015) defined a similar heat vulnerability indicator to identify the best spots to locate cooling centres according to high risk in Pittsburgh, United States. Taylor et al. (2015) looked at the spatial distribution of heat vulnerability across London, United Kingdom, considering UHI and housing characteristics to account for indoor heat and the importance of this factor when planning urban heat adaptation and mitigation measures (Box 8).

Vulnerability mapping, coupled with identification of vulnerable subjects, can help to guide prevention actions and target interventions at the local and community level, optimizing resources. Furthermore, heat-health warning systems could be spatially graded within urban areas to take heat vulnerability and other risk factors into account.

Box 8. Vulnerability mapping of excess heat-related mortality in London, United Kingdom

The derivation and combination of different variables for heat risk – age, UHI and dwellings – were integrated and presented over spatial distribution of heat vulnerability across the city of London. Population age and sex data were obtained at the ward level, and sex-specific age-standardized mortality rates in London were modified using seasonal data for England and Wales to reflect summertime mortality rates; the baseline mortality rate for each ward was calculated from these data. Internal temperatures were estimated using an extensively validated dynamic thermal modelling tool. During the study's period a range of 5.8 °C across dwelling types was estimated. The hottest buildings were bungalows built between 1900 and 1918; the coolest dwellings were ground-floor flats in high-rise buildings built after 1990.

The outdoor temperatures used in the models exceeded the temperature—mortality threshold, with a range of 7.4 °C between the hottest and coolest dwellings. The results indicated that top-floor flats and bungalows have a greater overheating health risk. Spatial variation of heat-related mortality was found to reflect background mortality rates due to population age, while dwelling characteristics were found to cause larger variation in temperature exposure (and therefore risk) than the UHI effect. The highest levels of excess mortality were found in areas with larger elderly populations, towards the outskirts of London. The results provide a platform for further work to investigate the effects of climate change, building retrofitting, population ageing and changes to the UHI effect on population mortality due to heat (Taylor et al., 2015).

6.4 Prevention measures and guidance

Recommendations accounting for new evidence on vulnerable subgroups should be integrated in HHAPs and included in education and outreach programmes. Health and social care staff should be trained on health risks associated with heat exposure among emerging vulnerable groups in order to respond in an efficient and timely manner.

An Australian survey showed that elderly people are generally resilient, but that interventions addressing multimorbidity, medication interactions and social isolation should be developed. Targeted education for elderly people on adaptation measures and the development of specific policy measures could ensure that the health impacts among this subgroup are reduced (Nitschke et al., 2013). Details of preparedness and response measures from health systems are outlined in Chapter 7. Furthermore, integration with European initiatives like the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing seems a possible way forward to better address needs for heat prevention among the elderly population in the coming years (Liotta, Ussai et al., 2018).

Since most individuals with mentally illnesses are unaware of the risks from extreme temperature exposure, adequate patient counselling regarding exposure reduction, use of heat shelters in urban areas and preventive measures should be incorporated into outpatient care programmes and outreach groups (Hansen et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2014; Price et al., 2018). Patients with substance use disorders are often hard to reach using public health interventions, and not always in contact with professional health services. Alternative outreach measures need to be introduced to protect these subjects during heat-waves (Page et al., 2012).

With reference to pregnant women, midwives and gynaecologists need to be aware of the risks associated with heat during pregnancy and can advise pregnant women to adopt specific measures such as increasing fluid intake, residing in cool environments and reducing activity levels (Kovats & Hajat, 2008; Carolan-Olah & Frankowska, 2014).

6.5 Specific advice for at-risk subgroups

Awareness among vulnerable subgroups of the health risks related to heat is still low and needs to be addressed in HHAPs. The pool of vulnerable subjects changes over time due to ageing, deterioration of pre-existing health conditions or having another comorbidity and worsening of socioeconomic status. This should be addressed in information campaigns and response measures updating current informative material and adjusting prevention measures and actions to account for new evidence on vulnerable groups and local population susceptibility characteristics.

Vulnerable subgroups should be contacted at the beginning of summer, informed about health risks,

given guidance on how to cope with heat and advised about the health and social care services available. In several European countries with an operational HHAP, brochures, leaflets and other information material are distributed in health care centres and GP practices. Information is also given to patients during check-up visits, sent via email or post or transmitted via telephone (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Bittner et al., 2014; Casanueva et al., 2019). Active communication is limited, to date: only a few countries actively contact vulnerable individuals via email, phone calls or text message, as reported in WHO's 2019 survey of heat—health action planning, in Chapter 4 and publications (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011). Further details on communication campaigns and informative material can be found in Chapter 4.

With HHAPs, occupational health prevention needs a specific intersectoral and multidisciplinary approach and targeted actions at several levels (individual, enterprise, local and national government) to include workforce categories, employers, unions and health and safety legislation.

Establishing active early warning systems to address occupational heat stress and strain is vital, alongside awareness-raising activities targeting the working population, regular communication about risks and continued monitoring and evaluation of activities (Morabito et al., 2019). Examples of integration of occupation health and worker heat prevention include adopting thresholds for work restrictions and guidance based on meteorological data; engineering solutions, such as cooling, AC and provision of sustainable energy sources; increased use of mechanization to reduce physical workloads; appropriate use of equipment and ventilation systems; and adoption of improved and heatfriendly PPE (Box 9).

Box 9. Occupational health in North Macedonia: heat-waves and workers' health

A national study carried out by the National Institute of Occupational Health in North Macedonia aimed to assess the attitudes, knowledge and practices of 350 outdoor workers regarding the harmful effects of heat-waves and protection from them. The interview results showed that more than 30% of the participants were not informed about procedures for dealing with the impact of heat-waves on human health. Lack of support by management (36%) and fear of losing their job (34%) were listed as the most significant impeding factors for use of health and safety procedures at work during heat-waves.

This was a trigger to the National Institute of Occupational Health to provide specific recommendations for employers, workers and specialists in occupational health, to ensure proper implementation of the measures proposed in the HHAP for prevention, alongside raising awareness among the working population, regular communication of risks and continual monitoring and evaluation of the activities conducted (EEA, 2014). Occupational health specialists and GPs play an important role in implementation of North Macedonia's HHAP of (Karadzinska-Bislimovska, 2015; Kendrovski & Spasenovska, 2011).

6.6 Conclusions

Information campaigns and informative material for vulnerable subgroups should be defined and updated regularly on the basis of new evidence and emerging risk factors. The diversity within vulnerable groups should be acknowledged in both advice tools and information campaigns and in the response measures implemented. Key aspects to promote are formal identification of vulnerable groups, active information and response measures and consistent evaluation of measures put in place targeted at these subgroups. Monitoring of vulnerable groups and health risks associated with heat should be undertaken to account for potential changes over time.

References¹

- Anderson GB, Dominici F, Wang Y, McCormack MC, Bell ML, Peng RD (2013). Heat-related emergency hospitalizations for respiratory diseases in the medicare population. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 187(10):1098–103. doi:10.1164/rccm.201211-19690C.
- Armitage R, Nellums LB (2020). COVID-19 and the consequences of isolating the elderly. Lancet Public Health. 5(5):e256. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30061-X.
- Asta F, Michelozzi P, Cesaroni G, De Sario M, Badaloni C, Davoli M et al. (2019). The modifying role of socioeconomic position and greenness on the shortterm effect of heat and air pollution on preterm births in Rome, 2001–2013. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(14):2497. doi:10.3390/ijerph16142497.
- Basu R (2009). High ambient temperature and mortality: a review of epidemiologic studies from 2001 to 2008. Environ Health. 8(1):40. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-8-40.
- Basu R, Chen H, Li DK, Avalos LA (2017). The impact of maternal factors on the association between temperature and preterm delivery. Environ Res. 154:109–14. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2016.12.017.
- Basu R, Gavin L, Pearson D, Ebisu K, Malig B (2018). Examining the association between apparent temperature and mental health-related emergency room visits in California. Am J Epidemiol. 187(4):726– 35. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx295.
- Benmarhnia T, Deguen S, Kaufman JS, Smargiassi A (2015). Vulnerability to heat-related mortality a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression analysis. Epidemiology. 26(6):781–93. doi:10.1097/ EDE.000000000000375.
- Benmarhnia T, Oulhote Y, Petit C, Lapostolle A, Chauvin P, Zmirou-Navier D et al. (2014). Chronic air pollution and social deprivation as modifiers of the association between high temperature and daily mortality. Environ Health. 13(1):53. doi:10.1186/1476-069x-13-53.
- Bhaskaran K, Hajat S, Haines A, Herrett E, Wilkinson P, Smeeth L (2009). Effects of ambient temperature on the incidence of myocardial infarction. Heart. 95(21):1760–9. doi:10.1136/hrt.2009.175000.

- Bhaskaran K, Hajat S, Smeeth L (2011). What is the role of weather in cardiovascular disease? Aging Health. 7(1):1–3. doi:10.2217/ahe.10.83.
- Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.
- Bradford K, Abrahams L, Hegglin M, Klima K (2015). A heat vulnerability index and adaptation solutions for Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Environ Sci Technol. 49(19):11303–11. doi:10.1021/acs.est.5b03127.
- Breitner S, Wolf K, Peters A, Schneider A (2014). Shortterm effects of air temperature on cause-specific cardiovascular mortality in Bavaria, Germany. Heart. 100(16):1272–80. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305578.
- Bukhari Q, Jameel Y (2020). Will coronavirus pandemic diminish by summer? SSRN Electronic J. doi:10.2139/ ssrn.3556998.
- Bunker A, Wildenhain J, Vandenbergh A, Henschke N, Rocklöv J, Hajat S et al. (2016). Effects of air temperature on climate-sensitive mortality and morbidity outcomes in the elderly; a systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological evidence. EBioMedicine. 6: 258–68. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2016.02.034.
- Buscail C, Upegui E, Viel JF (2012). Mapping heatwave health risk at the community level for public health action. Int J Health Geogr. 11:38. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-11-38.
- Carlton EJ, Woster AP, DeWitt P, Goldstein RS, Levy K (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of ambient temperature and diarrhoeal diseases. Int J Epidemiol. 45(1):117–30. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv296.
- Carolan-Olah M, Frankowska D (2014). High environmental temperature and preterm birth: a review of the evidence. Midwifery. 30(1):50–9. doi:10.1016/j. midw.2013.01.011.
- Carrillo AE, Flouris AD, Herry CL, Poirier MP, Boulay P, Dervis S et al. (2016). Heart rate variability during high heat stress: a comparison between young and older adults with and without type 2 diabetes. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 311(4):R669–75. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00176.2016.

All URLs accessed 30 September-2 October 2020.

- Casanueva A, Burgstall A, Kotlarski S, Messeri A, Morabito M, Flouris AD et al. (2019). Overview of existing heat-health warning systems in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(15):2657. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152657.
- CDC (2020). People at increased risk. In: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [website]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extraprecautions/index.html).
- Cheng J, Xu Z, Bambrick H, Prescott V, Wang N, Zhang Y et al. (2019). Cardiorespiratory effects of heatwaves: a systematic review and meta-analysis of global epidemiological evidence. Environ Res. 177:108610. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2019.108610.
- Committee on Sports Medicine Fitness (2000). Climatic heat stress and the exercising child and adolescent: American Academy of Pediatrics policy statement. Pediatrics. 106(1 Pt 1):158–9.
- Cox B, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Gasparrini A, Roels HA, Martens E, Vangronsveld J et al. (2016). Ambient temperature as a trigger of preterm delivery in a temperate climate. J Epidemiol Community Health. 70(12):1191–9. doi:10.1136/jech-2015-206384.
- Daanen H, Bose-O'Reilly S, Brearley M, Andreas Flouris D, Gerrett NM, Huynen M et al. (2020). COVID-19 and thermoregulation-related problems: practical recommendations. Temperature.1–11. doi:10.1080/23 328940.2020.1790971.
- Dadvand P, Basagaña X, Sartini C, Figueras F, Vrijheid M, de Nazelle A et al. (2011). Climate extremes and the length of gestation. Environ Health Perspect. 119(10):1449–53. doi:10.1289/ehp.1003241.
- Dadvand P, de Nazelle A, Triguero-Mas M, Schembari A, Cirach M, Amoly E et al. (2012). Surrounding greenness and pregnancy outcomes in four Spanish birth cohorts. Environ Health Perspect. 120(10):1481– 7. doi:10.1289/ehp.1205244.
- EEA (2014). Implementation of the Heat–Health Action Plan of North Macedonia. Copenhagen: European Environmnet Agency (https://climate-adapt.eea. europa.eu/metadata/case-studies/implementationof-the-heat-health-action-plan-of-the-former-yugoslavrepublic-of-macedonia/fyrom_heat_plan.pdf).
- Ehrlich H, McKenney M, Elkbuli A (2020). Protecting our healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Emerg Med. 38(7):1527–8. doi:10.1016/j. ajem.2020.04.024.

Elliot AJ, Bone A, Morbey R, Hughes HE, Harcourt S, Smith S et al. (2014). Using real-time syndromic surveillance to assess the health impact of the 2013 heatwave in England. Environ Res. 135:31–6. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2014.08.031.

- Eurostat (2019). Ageing Europe: looking at the lives of older people in the EU. Luxembourg: Eurostat (https:// ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index. php?title=Ageing_Europe_-_looking_at_the_lives_of_ older_people_in_the_EU).
- Flouris AD, Dinas PC, Ioannou LG, Nybo L, Havenith G, Kenny GP et al. (2018). Workers' health and productivity under occupational heat strain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Planet Health. 2(12):e521–e531. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(18)30237-7.
- Flouris AD, McGinn R, Poirier MP, Louie JC, Ioannou LG, Tsoutsoubi L et al. (2017). Screening criteria for increased susceptibility to heat stress during work or leisure in hot environments in healthy individuals aged 31–70 years. Temperature (Austin). 5(1):86–99. doi:10 .1080/23328940.2017.1381800.
- Gasparrini A, Armstrong BG, Kovats S, Wilkinson P (2012). The effect of high temperatures on cause-specific mortality in England and Wales. Occup Environ Med. 69(1):56–61. doi:10.1136/oem.2010.059782.
- GHHIN (2020). Technical brief: protecting health from hot weather during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Global Heat Health Information Network (http://www. ghhin.org/heat-and-covid-19).
- Goggins WB, Chan EY, Ng E, Ren C, Chen L (2012). Effect modification of the association between shortterm meteorological factors and mortality by urban heat islands in Hong Kong. PLoS One. 7(6):e38551. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038551.
- Goggins WB, Woo J, Ho S, Chan EY, Chau PH (2012). Weather, season, and daily stroke admissions in Hong Kong. Int J Biometeorol. 56(5):865–72. doi:10.1007/ s00484-011-0491-9.
- Gronlund CJ, Yang AJ, Conlon KC, Bergmans RS, Le HQ, Batterman SA et al. (2020). Time series analysis of total and direct associations between high temperatures and preterm births in Detroit, Michigan. BMJ Open. 10(2):1–8. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-032476.
- Guo T, Wang Y, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Zhao J, Wang Y et al. (2018). The association between ambient temperature and the risk of preterm birth in China.

Sci Total Environ. 613–14(12):439–46. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.09.104.

Ha S, Liu D, Zhu Y, Kim SS, Sherman S, Mendola P (2017). Ambient temperature and early delivery of singleton pregnancies. Environ Health Perspect. 125(3):453–9. doi:10.1289/ehp97.

Hajat S, O'Connor M, Kosatsky T (2010). Health effects of hot weather: from awareness of risk factors to effective health protection. Lancet. 375(9717):856–63. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61711-6.

Hansen A, Bi P, Nitschke M, Ryan P, Pisaniello D, Tucker G (2008). The effect of heat waves on mental health in a temperate Australian City. Environ Health Perspect. 116(10):1369–75. doi:10.1289/ehp.11339.

Hansen A, Bi L, Saniotis A, Nitschke M (2013). Vulnerability to extreme heat and climate change: is ethnicity a factor? Glob Health Action. 6(1):21364. doi:10.3402/ gha.v6i0.21364.

HCSP (2020). Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 : gestion de l'épidémie en cas de survenue de vagues de chaleur [Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2: epidemic management in the event of heat-waves]. Paris: Haut Conseil de la santé publique (https://www.hcsp.fr/explore.cgi/ avisrapportsdomaine?clefr=817).

He S, Kosatsky T, Smargiassi A, Bilodeau-Bertrand M, Auger N (2017). Heat and pregnancy-related emergencies: risk of placental abruption during hot weather. Environ Int. 111:295–300. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2017.11.004.

Heaton MJ, Sain SR, Greasby TA, Uejio CK, Hayden MH, Monaghan AJ et al. (2014). Characterizing urban vulnerability to heat stress using a spatially varying coefficient model. Spat Spatiotemporal Epidemiol. 8:23–33. doi:10.1016/j.sste.2014.01.002.

Heaviside C, Macintyre H, Vardoulakis S (2017). The urban heat island: implications for health in a changing environment. Curr Environ Health Rep. 4(3):296–305. doi:10.1007/s40572-017-0150-3.

Heaviside C, Vardoulakis S, Cai XM (2016). Attribution of mortality to the urban heat island during heatwaves in the West Midlands, UK. Environ Health. 15(Suppl 1):27. doi:10.1186/s12940-016-0102-7.

Huang G, Zhou W, Cadenasso ML (2011). Is everyone hot in the city? Spatial pattern of land surface temperatures, land cover and neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics in Baltimore, MD. J Environ Manage. 92(7):1753–9. doi:10.1016/j. jenvman.2011.02.006. Ilango SD, Weaver M, Sheridan P, Schwarz L, Clemesha RES, Bruckner T et al. (2020). Extreme heat episodes and risk of preterm birth in California, 2005–2013. Environ Int. 137:105541. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2020.105541.

INSPQ (2020). COVID-19: adaptation of public health recommendations for extreme heat in accordance with physical distancing recommendations. Quebec: Institut national de santé publique du Québec (https://www.inspq.qc.ca/en/publications/3024extreme-heat-physical-distancing-adaptation-of-PHrecommendations-covid19).

Iñiguez C, Schifano P, Asta F, Michelozzi P, Vicedo-Cabrera A, Ballester F (2016). Temperature in summer and children's hospitalizations in two Mediterranean cities. Environ Res. 150:236–44. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2016.06.007.

Ioannou LG, Tsoutsoubi L, Samoutis G, Bogataj LK, Kenny GP, Nybo L et al. (2017). Time-motion analysis as a novel approach for evaluating the impact of environmental heat exposure on labor loss in agriculture workers. Temperature (Austin). 4(3):330– 40. doi:10.1080/23328940.2017.1338210.

Jay O, Brotherhood JR (2016). Occupational heat stress in Australian workplaces. Temperature (Austin). 3(3):394–411. doi:10.1080/23328940.2016.1216256.

Johnson DP, Stanforth A, Lulla V, Luber G (2012). Developing an applied extreme heat vulnerability index utilizing socioeconomic and environmental data. Appl Geogr. 35(1–2):23–31. doi:10.1016/j. apgeog.2012.04.006.

Juan J, Gil MM, Rong Z, Zhang Y, Yang H, Poon LC (2020). Effect of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID 19) on maternal, perinatal and neonatal outcome: systematic review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 56(1):15–27. doi:10.1002/uog.22088.

Karadzinska-Bislimovska J (2015). Climate change, extreme weather events and effects on workers' health in Macedonia. Eurodialogue. 20:143–50.

Kendrovski V, Spasenovska M (2011). Heat-health action plan to prevent the heat wave consequences on the health of the population in the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/ countries/north-macedonia/publications/heat-healthaction-plan-to-prevent-the-heat-wave-consequenceson-the-health-of-the-population-in-the-formeryugoslav-republic-of-macedonia). Kenny GP, Flouris AD, Yagouti A, Notley SR (2019).
Towards establishing evidence-based guidelines on maximum indoor temperatures during hot weather in temperate continental climates. Temperature (Austin).
6(1):11-36. doi:10.1080/23328940.2018.1456257.

Kenny GP, Sigal RJ, McGinn R (2016). Body temperature regulation in diabetes. Temperature (Austin). 3(1):119–45. doi:10.1080/23328940.2015.1131506.

- Kenny GP, Yardley J, Brown C, Sigal RJ, Jay O (2010). Heat stress in older individuals and patients with common chronic diseases. CMAJ. 182(10):1053–60. doi:10.1503/cmaj.081050.
- Kestens Y, Brand A, Fournier M, Goudreau S, Kosatsky T, Maloley M et al. (2011). Modelling the variation of land surface temperature as determinant of risk of heat-related health events. Int J Health Geogr. 10(1):7. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-10-7.
- Khan R, Anwar R, Akanda S, McDonald MD, Huq A, Jutla A et al. (2017). Assessment of risk of cholera in Haiti following Hurricane Matthew. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 97(3):896–903. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.17-0048.

Klenk J, Becker C, Rapp K (2010). Heat-related mortality in residents of nursing homes. Age Ageing. 39(2):245– 52. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp248.

KLUG (2020). Informationen zu Hitze und COVID-19 [Information on heat and COVID-19] [website]. Berlin: Deutsche Allianz Klimawandel und Gesundheit (https://www.klimawandel-gesundheit.de/hitzeinformationen/).

Kim Y, Kim H, Gasparrini A, Armstrong B, Honda Y, Chung Y et al. (2019). Suicide and ambient temperature: a multi-country multi-city study. Environ Health Perspect. 127(11):117007. doi:10.1289/EHP4898.

Kloog I (2019). Air pollution, ambient temperature, green space and preterm birth. Curr Opin Pediatr. 31(2):237– 43. doi:10.1097/MOP.000000000000736.

Kloog I, Melly SJ, Ridgway WL, Coull BA, Schwartz J (2012). Using new satellite based exposure methods to study the association between pregnancy PM_{2.5} exposure, premature birth and birth weight in Massachusetts. Environ Health. 11(1):40. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-40.

Kovats RS, Hajat S (2008). Heat stress and public health: a critical review. Annu Rev Public Health. 29(1):41–55. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090843.

Kwon BY, Lee E, Lee S, Heo S, Jo K, Kim J, Park MS (2015). Vulnerabilities to temperature effects on acute myocardial infarction hospital admissions in South Korea. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(11):14571– 88. doi:10.3390/ijerph121114571.

Lam HCY, Li AM, Chan EY, Goggins WB (2016). The shortterm association between asthma hospitalisations, ambient temperature, other meteorological factors and air pollutants in Hong Kong: a time-series study. Thorax. 71(12):1097–109. doi:10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2015-208054.

Lam HCY, Chan JCN, Luk AOY, Chan EYY, Goggins WB (2018). Short-term association between ambient temperature and acute myocardial infarction hospitalizations for diabetes mellitus patients: a time series study. PLoS Med. 15(7):1–18. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002612.

Levy BS, Patz JA (2015). climate change, human rights, and social justice. Ann Glob Health. 81(3):310. doi:10.1016/j.aogh.2015.08.008.

Li S, Baker PJ, Jalaludin BB, Guo Y, Marks GB, Denison LS et al. (2014). Are children's asthmatic symptoms related to ambient temperature? A panel study in Australia. Environ Res. 133:239–45. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2014.05.032.

Lian H, Ruan Y, Liang R, Liu X, Fan Z (2015). Short-term effect of ambient temperature and the risk of stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(8):9068–88. doi:10.3390/ ijerph120809068.

Lim YH, Reid CE, Honda Y, Kim H (2016). Temperature deviation index and elderly mortality in Japan. Int J Biometeorol. 60(7):991–8. doi:10.1007/s00484-015-1091-x.

Linares C, Martinez-Martin P, Rodríguez-Blázquez C, Forjaz MJ, Carmona R, Díaz J (2016). Effect of heat waves on morbidity and mortality due to Parkinson's disease in Madrid: a time-series analysis. Environ Int. 89–90:1–6. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2016.01.017.

Linares C, Martinez GS, Kendrovski V, Díaz J (2020). A new integrative perspective on early warning systems for health in the context of climate change. Environ Res. 187:109623. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109623.

Lippi G, Henry BM (2020). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Respir Med. 167:105941. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2020.105941.

Liotta G, Inzerilli MC, Palombi L, Madaro O, Orlando S, Scarcella P et al. (2018). Social interventions to prevent heat-related mortality in the older adult in Rome, Italy: a quasi-experimental study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(4):715. doi:10.3390/ ijerph15040715.

- Liotta G, Ussai S, Illario M, O'Caoimh R, Cano A, Holland C et al. (2018). Frailty as the future core business of public health: report of the activities of the A3 action group of the european innovation partnership on active and healthy ageing (EIP on AHA). Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(12):2843. doi:10.3390/ ijerph15122843.
- Liu C, Yavar Z, Sun Q (2015). Cardiovascular response to thermoregulatory challenges. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 309(11):H1793–812. doi:10.1152/ ajpheart.00199.2015.
- Lowe D, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce human health consequences of heatwaves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4623–48. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124623.
- Mantovani A, Byrne CD, Zheng MH, Targher G (2020). Diabetes as a risk factor for greater COVID-19 severity and in-hospital death: A meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 30(8):1236–48. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2020.05.014.
- Marinaccio A, Scortichini M, Gariazzo C, Leva A, Bonafede M, de'Donato FK et al. (2019). Nationwide epidemiological study for estimating the effect of extreme outdoor temperature on occupational injuries in Italy. Environ Int. 133(Pt A):105176. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2019.105176.
- Martin-Latry K, Goumy MP, Latry P, Gabinski C, Bégaud B, Faure I et al. (2007). Psychotropic drugs use and risk of heat-related hospitalisation. Eur Psychiatry. 22(6):335–8. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2007.03.007.
- Martinez GS, Linares C, de'Donato F, Díaz J (2020). Protect the vulnerable from extreme heat during the COVID-19 pandemic. Environ Res. 187:109684. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2020.109684.
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat-health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- Mayrhuber EAS, Dückers MLA, Wallner P, Arnberger A, Allex B, Wiesböck L et al. (2018). Vulnerability to heatwaves and implications for public health interventions – a scoping review. Environ Res. 166:42–54. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.021.

- McCormack MC, Belli AJ, Waugh D, Matsui EC, Peng RD, Williams DL et al. (2016). Respiratory effects of indoor heat and the interaction with air pollution in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 13(12):2125–31. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201605-3290C.
- McGinn R, Carter MR, Barrera-Ramirez J, Sigal RJ, Flouris AD, Kenny GP (2015). Does type 1 diabetes alter postexercise thermoregulatory and cardiovascular function in young adults? Scand J Med Sci Sports. 25(5):e504– 14. doi:10.1111/sms.12344.
- Meade RD, Poirier MP, Flouris AD, Hardcastle SG, Kenny GP (2016). Do the threshold limit values for work in hot conditions adequately protect workers? Med Sci Sports Exerc. 48(6):1187–96. doi:10.1249/ MSS.00000000000886.
- Messeri A, Morabito M, Bonafede M, Bugani M, Levi M, Baldasseroni A et al. (2019). Heat stress perception among native and migrant workers in Italian industries – case studies from the construction and agricultural sectors. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(7):1090. doi:10.3390/ijerph16071090.
- Michelozzi P, Accetta G, De Sario M, D'Ippoliti D, Marino C, Baccini M et al. (2009). High temperature and hospitalizations for cardiovascular and respiratory causes in 12 European cities. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 179(5):383–9. doi:10.1164/rccm.200802-2170C.
- Michelozzi P, de'Donato FK, Bargagli AM, D'Ippoliti D, De Sario M, Marino C et al. (2010). Surveillance of summer mortality and preparedness to reduce the health impact of heat waves in Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(5):2256–73. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7052256.
- Min M, Shi T, Ye P, Wang Y, Yao Z, Tian S et al. (2019). Effect of apparent temperature on daily emergency admissions for mental and behavioral disorders in Yancheng, China: a time-series study. Environ Health. 18(1):1–12. doi:10.1186/s12940-019-0543-x.
- Morabito M, Messeri A, Crisci A, Pratali L, Bonafede M, Marinaccio A et al. (2020). Heat warning and public and workers' health at the time of COVID-19 pandemic. Sci Total Environ. 738:140347. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.140347.
- Morabito M, Messeri A, Noti P, Casanueva A, Crisci A, Kotlarski S et al. (2019). An occupational heat-health warning system for Europe: The HEAT-SHIELD platform. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(16):2890. doi:10.3390/ijerph16162890.

Mullins JT, White C (2019). Temperature and mental health: Evidence from the spectrum of mental health outcomes. J Health Econ. 68:102240. doi:10.1016/j. jhealeco.2019.102240.

Nanda A, Vura NVRK, Gravenstein S (2020). COVID-19 in older adults. Aging Clin Exp Res. 32(7):1199–202. doi:10.1007/s40520-020-01581-5.

- Nayak SG, Shrestha S, Kinney PL, Ross Z, Sheridan SC, Pantea CI et al. (2018). Development of a heat vulnerability index for New York State. Public Health. 161:127–37. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2017.09.006.
- Nitschke M, Hansen A, Bi P, Pisaniello D, Newbury J, Kitson A et al. (2013). Risk factors, health effects and behaviour in older people during extreme heat: a survey in South Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 10(12):6721–33. doi:10.3390/ijerph10126721.
- Notley SR, Poirier MP, Sigal RJ, D'Souza A, Flouris AD, Fujii N et al. (2019). Exercise heat stress in patients with and without type 2 diabetes. JAMA. 322(14):1409–11. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.10943.
- Notley SR, Flouris AD, Kenny GP (2019). Occupational heat stress management: does one size fit all? Am J Ind Med. 62(12):1017–23. doi:10.1002/ajim.22961.
- O'Neill MS, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J (2003). Modifiers of the temperature and mortality association in seven US cities. Am J Epidemiol. 157(12):1074–82. doi:10.1093/ aje/kwg096.
- Page LA, Hajat S, Kovats RS, Howard LM (2012). Temperature-related deaths in people with psychosis, dementia and substance misuse. Br J Psychiatry. 200(6):485–90. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.111.100404.
- Pascal M, Laaidi K, Wagner V, Ung AB, Smaili S, Fouillet A et al. (2012). How to use near real-time health indicators to support decision-making during a heat wave: the example of the French heat wave warning system. PLoS Curr. 4:e4f83ebf72317d. doi:10.1371/4f83ebf72317d.
- PHE (2020). Heat-health risks and COVID-19: actions to prevent harm [slide set]. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/heatwave-plan-for-england/heat-healthrisks-and-covid-19-actions-to-prevent-harm).
- Pradhan B, Kjellström T, Atar D, Sharma P, Kayastha B, Bhandari G et al. (2019). Heat stress impacts on cardiac mortality in Nepali migrant workers in Qatar. Cardiology. 143(1):37–48. doi:10.1159/000500853.

- Pranata R, Huang I, Lim MA, Wahjoepramono EJ, July J (2020). Impact of cerebrovascular and cardiovascular diseases on mortality and severity of COVID-19– systematic review, meta-analysis, and metaregression. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 29(8):104949. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2020.104949.
- Price K, Benmarhnia T, Gaudet J, Kaiser D, Sadoine ML, Perron S et al. (2018). The Montreal heat response plan: evaluation of its implementation towards healthcare professionals and vulnerable populations. Can J Public Health. 109(1):108–16. doi:10.17269/ s41997-018-0020-2.
- Quiller G, Krenz J, Ebi K, Hess JJ, Fenske RA, Sampson PD et al. (2017). Heat exposure and productivity in orchards: Implications for climate change research. Arch Environ Occup Health. 2(6):313–16. doi:10.1080/ 19338244.2017.1288077.
- Reid CE, O'Neill MS, Gronlund CJ, Brines SJ, Brown DG, Diez-Roux AV et al. (2009). Mapping community determinants of heat vulnerability. Environ Health Perspect. 117(11):1730–6. doi:10.1289/ehp.0900683.
- RIVM (2020). Vragen en antwoorden hitte en COVID-19 [Questions and answers on heat and Covid-19] [website]. Bilthoven: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (https://www.rivm.nl/ hitte/vragen-en-antwoorden-hitte-covid-19).
- Schifano P, Asta F, Dadvand P, Davoli M, Basagaña X, Michelozzi P (2016). Heat and air pollution exposure as triggers of delivery: a survival analysis of population-based pregnancy cohorts in Rome and Barcelona. Environ Int. 88:153–9. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2015.12.013.
- Schifano P, Asta F, Marinaccio A, Bonafede M, Davoli M, Michelozzi P (2019). Do exposure to outdoor temperatures, NO₂ and PM₁₀ affect the work-related injuries risk? A case-crossover study in three Italian cities, 2001–2010. BMC Open. 9(8):e023119. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023119.
- Schifano P, Cappai G, De Sario M, Bargagli AM, Michelozzi P (2013). Who should heat prevention plans target? A heat susceptibility indicator in the elderly developed based on administrative data from a cohort study. Healthy Aging Res. 2(2):1–10. doi:10.12715/ har.2013.2.2.
- Schifano P, Lallo A, Asta F, De Sario M, Davoli M, Michelozzi P (2013). Effect of ambient temperature and air pollutants on the risk of preterm birth, Rome 2001–2010. Environ Int. 61:77–87. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2013.09.005.

Shahid Z, Kalayanamitra R, McClafferty B, Kepko D, Ramgobin D, Patel R et al. (2020). COVID 19 and older adults: what we know. J Am Geriatr Soc. 68(5):926–9. doi:10.1111/jgs.16472.

Shang L, Shao M, Guo Q, Shi J, Zhao Y, Xiaokereti J et al. (2020). Diabetes mellitus is associated with severe infection and mortality in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Med Res. S0188-4409(20)30681-0. doi:10.1016/j. arcmed.2020.07.005.

Sheffield PE, Landrigan PJ (2011). Global climate change and children's health: threats and strategies for prevention. Environ Health Perspect. 119(3):291–8. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002233.

Singh AK, Gillies CL, Singh R, Singh A, Chudasama Y, Coles B et al. (2020). Prevalence of co morbidities and their association with mortality in patients with COVID 19: a systematic review and meta analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab. 10.111/dom.14124. doi:10.1111/dom.14124.

Smargiassi A, Goldberg MS, Plante C, Fournier M, Baudouin Y, Kosatsky T (2009). Variation of daily warm season mortality as a function of micro-urban heat islands. J Epidemiol Community Health. 63(8):659–64. doi:10.1136/jech.2008.078147.

Son JY, Lee JT, Lane KJ, Bell ML (2019). Impacts of high temperature on adverse birth outcomes in Seoul, Korea: disparities by individual- and communitylevel characteristics. Environ Res. 168(3):460–6. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.10.032.

Song J, Lu J, Wang E, Lu M, An Z, Liu Y et al. (2019). Shortterm effects of ambient temperature on the risk of premature rupture of membranes in Xinxiang, China: a time-series analysis. Sci Total Environ. 689:1329–35. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.457.

Spector JT, Masuda YJ, Wolff NH, Calkins M, Seixas N (2019). Heat exposure and occupational injuries: review of the literature and implications. Curr Environ Health Rep. 6(4):286–96. doi:10.1007/s40572-019-00250-8.

Stafoggia M, Forastiere F, Agostini D, Biggeri A, Bisanti L, Cadum E et al. (2006). Vulnerability to heat-related mortality: a multicity, population-based, casecrossover analysis. Epidemiology. 17(3):315–23. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000208477.36665.34.

Stanberry LR, Thomson MC, James W (2018). Prioritizing the needs of children in a changing climate. PLoS Med. 15(7):11–14. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002627. Stapleton JM, Larose J, Simpson C, Flouris AD, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP (2014). Do older adults experience greater thermal strain during heat waves? Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 39(3):292–298. doi:10.1139/apnm-2013-0317.

Stapleton JM, Poirier MP, Flouris AD, Boulay P, Sigal RJ, Malcolm J et al. (2015). Aging impairs heat loss, but when does it matter? J Appl Physiol (1985). 118(3):299–309. doi:10.1152/ japplphysiol.00722.2014.

Steeneveld GJ, Koopmans S, Heusinkveld BG, van Hove LWA, Holtslag AAM (2011). Quantifying urban heat island effects and human comfort for cities of variable size and urban morphology in the Netherlands. J Geophys Res. 116(D20):D20129. doi:10.1029/2011JD015988.

Stöllberger C, Lutz W, Finsterer J (2009). Heat-related side-effects of neurological and non-neurological medication may increase heatwave fatalities. Eur J Neurol. 16(7):879–82. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02581.x.

Strand LB, Barnett AG, Tong S (2011). The influence of season and ambient temperature on birth outcomes: a review of the epidemiological literature. Environ Res. 111(3):451–62. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.01.023.

Strand LB, Barnett AG, Tong S (2012). Maternal exposure to ambient temperature and the risks of preterm birth and stillbirth in Brisbane, Australia. Am J Epidemiol. 175(2):99–107. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr404.

Sud SR (2020). COVID-19 and keeping clean: a narrative review to ascertain the efficacy of personal protective equipment to safeguard health care workers against SARS-CoV-2. Hosp Pediatr. 10(7):570–6. doi:10.1542/ hpeds.2020-0135.

Sun S, Tian L, Qiu H, Chan KP, Tsang H, Tang R et al. (2016). The influence of pre-existing health conditions on short-term mortality risks of temperature: evidence from a prospective Chinese elderly cohort in Hong Kong. Environ Res. 148:7–14. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2016.03.012.

Sun S, Weinberger KR, Spangler KR, Eliot MN, Braun JM, Wellenius GA (2019). Ambient temperature and preterm birth: A retrospective study of 32 million US singleton births. Environ Int. 126(1):7–13. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.023.

Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, O'Brien SJ, Hajat S (2006). Temperature dependence of reported Campylobacter infection in England, 1989–1999. Epidemiol Infect. 134(1):119–25. doi:10.1017/S0950268805004899.

- Taylor J, Davies M, Mavrogianni A, Shrubsole C, Hamilton I, Das P et al. (2016). Mapping indoor overheating and air pollution risk modification across Great Britain: a modelling study. Build Environ. 99:1–12. doi:10.1016/j. buildenv.2016.01.010.
- Taylor J, Wilkinson P, Davies M, Armstrong B, Chalabib Z, Mavrogianni A et al. (2015). Mapping the effects of urban heat island, housing, and age on excess heatrelated mortality in London. Urban Climate. 14(4):517– 28. doi:10.1016/j.uclim.2015.08.001.
- Thompson R, Hornigold R, Page L, Waite T (2018). Associations between high ambient temperatures and heat waves with mental health outcomes: a systematic review. Public Health. 161:171–91. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2018.06.008.
- Tomlinson CJ, Chapman L, Thornes JE, Baker CJ (2011). Including the urban heat island in spatial heat health risk assessment strategies: a case study for Birmingham, UK. Int J Health Geogr. 10:42. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-10-42.
- Turner LR, Barnett AG, Connell D, Tong S (2012). Ambient temperature and cardiorespiratory morbidity. Epidemiology. 23(4):594–606. doi:10.1097/ EDE.0b013e3182572795.
- Urban A, Burkart K, Kyselý J, Schuster C, Plavcová E, Hanzlíková H et al. (2016). Spatial patterns of heat-related cardiovascular mortality in the Czech Republic. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(3):284. doi:10.3390/ijerph13030284.
- Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Iñiguez C, Barona C, Ballester F (2014). Exposure to elevated temperatures and risk of preterm birth in Valencia, Spain. Environ Res. 134:210–17. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2014.07.021.
- Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Olsson D, Forsberg B (2015). Exposure to seasonal temperatures during the last month of gestation and the risk of preterm birth in Stockholm. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(4):3962–78. doi:10.3390/ijerph120403962.
- Wang B, Li R, Lu Z, Huang Y (2020). Does comorbidity increase the risk of patients with COVID-19: evidence from meta-analysis. Aging (Albany NY). 12(7):6049– 57. doi:10.18632/aging.103000.
- Wang X, Cao Y, Hong D, Zheng D, Richtering S, Sandset EC et al. (2016). Ambient temperature and stroke occurrence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health.13(7). doi:10.3390/ ijerph13070698.

Wang X, Lavigne E, Ouellette-kuntz H, Chen BE (2014). Acute impacts of extreme temperature exposure on emergency room admissions related to mental and behavior disorders in Toronto, Canada. J Affect Disord. 155(1):154–61. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.10.042.

- Wei Y, Wang Y, Lin CK, Yin K, Yang J, Shi L et al. (2019). Associations between seasonal temperature and dementia-associated hospitalizations in New England. Environ Int. 126:228–33. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2018.12.054.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences.
 Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2016). Urban green spaces and health: a review of the evidence. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/urban-health/publications/2016/urban-greenspaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-2016).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020a). Health advice for hot weather during the COVID-19 outbreak. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/ technical-guidance/2020/health-advice-for-hotweather-during-the-covid-19-outbreak-produced-bythe-who-european-region).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020b). Health care considerations for older people during COVID-19 pandemic. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/technicalguidance/health-care-considerations-for-older-peopleduring-covid-19-pandemic).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2020c). Strengthening the health systems response to COVID-19. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/ technical-guidance/health-systems/strengtheningthe-health-systems-response-to-covid-19-technicalguidance-6,-21-may-2020-produced-by-the-whoeuropean-region).
- Willers SM, Jonker MF, Klok L, Keuken MP, Odink J, van den Elshout S et al. (2016). High resolution exposure modelling of heat and air pollution and the impact on

mortality. Environ Int. 89–90:102–9. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2016.01.013.

- Williams S, Nitschke M, Sullivan T, Tucker GR, Weinstein P, Pisaniello DL et al. (2012). Heat and health in Adelaide, South Australia: assessment of heat thresholds and temperature relationships. Sci Total Environ. 414:126– 33. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.11.038.
- Wolf T, McGregor G, Analitis A (2014). Performance assessment of a heat wave vulnerability index for Greater London, United Kingdom. Wea Climate Soc. 6(1):32–46. doi:10.1175/WCAS-D-13-00014.1.
- Wong KV, Paddon A, Jimenez A (2013). Review of world urban heat islands: many linked to increased mortality. J Energy Resour Technol. 135(2):022101. doi:10.1115/1.4023176.
- Wood C (2020). COVID-19: protecting the medically vulnerable. Br J Nurs. 29(12):660. doi:10.12968/ bjon.2020.29.12.660.
- Xu Y, Dadvand P, Barrera-Gómez J, Sartini C, Marí-Dell'Olmo M, Borrell C et al. (2013). Differences on the effect of heat waves on mortality by sociodemographic and urban landscape characteristics. J Epidemiol Community Health. 67(6):519–25. doi:10.1136/jech-2012-201899.
- Xu Z, Etzel RA, Su H, Huang C, Guo Y, Tong S (2012). Impact of ambient temperature on children's health: a systematic review. Environ Res. 117:120–31. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2012.07.002.
- Xu Z, Sheffield PE, Hu W, Su H, Yu W, Qi X et al. (2012). Climate change and children's health—a call for research on what works to protect children. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 9(9):3298–316. doi:10.3390/ijerph9093298.
- Xu Z, Huang C, Hu W, Turner LR, Su H, Tong S (2013). Extreme temperatures and emergency department admissions for childhood asthma in Brisbane, Australia. Occup Environ Med. 70(10):730–5. doi:10.1136/oemed-2013-101538.
- Xu Z, Sheffield PE, Su H, Wang X, Bi Y, Tong S (2014). The impact of heat waves on children's health: a systematic review. Int J Biometeorol. 58(2):239–47. doi:10.1007/s00484-013-0655-x.

- Yardley JE, Stapleton JM, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP (2013). Do heat events pose a greater health risk for individuals with type 2 diabetes? Diabetes Technol Ther. 15(6):520–9. doi:10.1089/dia.2012.0324.
- Yang J, Zheng Y, Gou X, Pu K, Chen Z, Guo Q et al. (2020). Prevalence of comorbidities and its effects in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis. 94:91–5. doi:10.1016/j. ijid.2020.03.017.
- Yang Z, Wang M, Zhu Z, Liu Y (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and pregnancy: a systematic review. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 1–4. doi:10.1080/14767 058.2020.1759541.
- Yu W, Mengersen K, Wang X, Ye X, Guo Y, Pan X, Tong S (2012). Daily average temperature and mortality among the elderly: a meta-analysis and systematic review of epidemiological evidence. Int J Biometeorol. 56(4):569–81. doi:10.1007/s00484-011-0497-3.
- Zanobetti A, Dominici F, Wang Y, Schwartz JD (2014). A national case-crossover analysis of the short-term effect of PM_{2.5} on hospitalizations and mortality in subjects with diabetes and neurological disorders. Environ Health. 13(1):1–11. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-13-38.
- Zanobetti A, O'Neill MS, Gronlund CJ, Schwartz JD (2013). Susceptibility to mortality in weather extremes: effect modification by personal and smallarea characteristics. Epidemiology. 24(6):809–19. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000434432.06765.91.
- Zhang Y, Bi P, Hiller JE (2010). Climate variations and Salmonella infection in Australian subtropical and tropical regions. Sci Total Environ. 408(3):524–30. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.10.068.
- Zhang Y, Yu C, Wang L (2017). Temperature exposure during pregnancy and birth outcomes: An updated systematic review of epidemiological evidence. Environ Pollut. 225:700–12. doi:10.1016/j. envpol.2017.02.066.
- Zhao Y, Huang Z, Wang S, Hu J, Xiao J, Li X et al. (2019). Morbidity burden of respiratory diseases attributable to ambient temperature: a case study in a subtropical city in China. Environ Health. 18(1):1–8. doi:10.1186/ s12940-019-0529-8.

Chapter 7. Preparedness: planning for heat–health risks in health and social care settings

Summary

Progress on prevention and response measures to heat within the health sector has been limited in national and local planning. Most national HHAPs do not include much detailed information or sufficient guidance on the management of heat—health risks in health and social care settings. Some improvement in information for and responses of health and social care staff was observed, as well as preparedness and response in residential care settings due to increased awareness of the vulnerability of elderly people in these settings. Remaining challenges relate to lack of evidence on whether emergency and response measures are followed and effectively implemented; risk perception of patients, who do not feel that heat-waves are a risk for them; and the lack of evidence on response protocols by staff.

Few health authorities have systems in place to monitor overheating in health care buildings or to assess the impacts on staff, patients, visitors and equipment. Research is needed to implement protective measures and effective heat management in the health sector. Solutions to address both short-term risks related to heat-waves and long-term climate change risks, as well as mitigation measures that promote healthy well-being and environmental sustainability, need to be developed.

Key messages

- With some exceptions, little progress has been made in planning for heat risks to health systems and facilities, such as emergency protocols in response to heat-waves, climateresilient health care facility design and mapping of health care facilities in regions that experience heat-waves.
- Awareness of the high vulnerability to heat of many people in residential care is increasing.
- Greater effort needs to be put into sharing best practice planning and response measures in the health sector.
- More research is needed on the risks of overheating and adaptive solutions in hospitals, residential care homes and other settings.
- Health sector goals for carbon mitigation are a priority for action, and may affect the identification and implementation of measures to manage heat risks.

7.1 Introduction

Heat affects the health of individuals and populations in several ways, not only through direct impacts related to environmental exposure among the population but also by disrupting the ability of health providers and social care systems to perform their core functions. The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008) identified the preparedness of health care and social services as a core element of an HHAP. It highlighted the need for hospitals, clinics and retirement and nursing homes to define a plan with specific procedures to be adopted against high temperatures, and for health authorities to provide guidance and standards on how to do so. Within that framework, individual elements addressed included:

- preparedness of health care providers and facilities for the hot season, including for adequate treatment and care of heat-related illnesses;
- building modifications and interventions to reduce indoor overheating in health care facilities (such as air-conditioned rooms and wards);
- thermal environment standards for hospitals;
- reductions of the carbon footprint of health care facilities and promotion of environmentally sustainable interventions.

To a large extent, the explorations of interventions to prevent indoor overheating and building envelope modifications in Chapters 5 and 8 are applicable to health and social care systems. Chapter 5 also covers elements of thermal comfort standards, which partly cover the issues of thermal environments in hospitals.

This chapter therefore updates the evidence in two main areas. The first – preparedness for and management of heat events in health systems and social care institutions – is complex and multifaceted, spanning a multitude of elements from clinical guidelines to the complexities of health systems governance in countries. Moreover, this topic has only a weak presence in the formal peerreviewed scientific literature; a deep exploration would require an extent of primary data collection that is beyond the scope of this publication. Thus, what is presented here is a selection of the peerreviewed and government literature, illustrating the key aspects where updates have been significant.

The second area – the reduction of the carbon footprint of health care facilities – is conversely a growing field of interest in scientific and technical publications. In this case, the topic has been expanded in scope in accordance with the current mainstream scientific and policy discussion. Specifically, reducing the carbon footprint is integrated within broader efforts of environmental sustainability; the scope is expanded beyond health care facilities to overall health systems; and the climate resilience of health systems is included as a complementary and inseparable part of their overall sustainability, as promoted in the recent WHO guidance for climate-resilient and environmentally sustainable health care facilities (WHO, 2020a).

7.2 Preparedness and management of heat events in health and social care systems

Health systems are defined by WHO as "(i) all the activities whose primary purpose is to promote, restore and/or maintain health; (ii) the people, institutions and resources, arranged together in

accordance with established policies, to improve the health of the population they serve, while responding to people's legitimate expectations and protecting them against the cost of ill-health through a variety of activities whose primary intent is to improve health" (WHO, 2011). Understood in such comprehensive scope, preparedness of health systems for impacts of heat and extreme high temperatures includes not only health care facilities and personnel but also the networks of utilities, logistics, transport, companies, institutions and social groups that support health system functions. Social care systems similarly encompass a broad range of elements and actors, including nursing and care homes, protection systems for socially disadvantaged groups and homeless people, and community-based organizations operating in the sector, among others. Heat impacts and preparedness are similarly relevant to these broader social care networks.

7.2.1 Health systems and heat: preparedness and management

WHO's 2008 and subsequent guidance on heathealth action planning, such as the public health advice factsheets (Matthies et al., 2008; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011), elaborate on various types of relevant heat preparedness activities and information for health systems, essentially of three types:

- guidance to health professionals on heat illness risk factors, diagnosis and management;
- guidance to health authorities and residence/ care managers on protecting patients, residents and workers from heat;
- guidance to health authorities and residence/ care managers on interventions in the built environment to protect health from heat.

Several HHAPs include information on one or more of these areas, as well as specific recommendations or requirements for health systems, hospitals and health care providers for heat preparedness (Casanueva et al., 2019; Mücke & Litvinovitch, 2020). WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning confirms this notion: among the 16 countries that reported the existence of a national HHAP, respondents listed stakeholders to whom targeted advice is delivered, including health care practitioners (81%), nursing homes (75%), health care administrators (69%), social workers (44%) and schools (19%).

The level of implementation of such recommendations may be uneven. Only 44% of respondents considered the core HHAP element of preparedness of health and social systems to be fully implemented. This may, however, not take into account preparedness activities managed and monitored at various subnational levels (several regions and cities in the WHO European Region have their own HHAPs, which include provisions for health and social care preparedness). Moreover, 50% of respondents involved NGO health systems stakeholders such as the Red Cross/Red Crescent in their preparedness and response. The Red Cross, for example, has developed guidance on managing heat-waves (Singh et al., 2019).

Limited progress has been made on resilience in the health sector in response to both significant heat-wave events and the increasing policy need to address climate change adaptation (Paterson et al., 2014; Balbus et al., 2016). This evidence primarily relates to assessments of impacts and response following individual heat-wave events and surveying plans and preparedness measures put in place by health services, hospitals and care homes. Less information is available on the effectiveness of individual interventions or evaluations of specific plans or qualitative research with front-line stuff during and after heat-wave events. A review of HHAP plans in the United States concluded that planning and programming are likely to be most effective if performed in a bottom-up and community-specific manner, and as a collaborative effort among multiple levels of government and local stakeholders (White-Newsome et al., 2014).

7.2.2 Heat-waves and hospital care

Extreme high temperatures increase ER and other types of hospital admission for certain disease categories, potentially posing a surge in care needs at a time when health workforce availability may be diminished due to the summer holidays (Gronlund et al., 2014; Hopp, Dominici & Bobb, 2018; Martínez-Solanas et al., 2019). Research in the last decade determined with higher specificity which disease categories are affected by high temperatures and heat-waves. While the increase in respiratory disease admissions is well established, the association between heat and cardiovascular outcomes is weak or non-significant in most studies and only observed among the very old at ages 85 years and over (Hopp, Dominici & Bobb, 2018; Cheng et al. 2019).

A recent study of urgent ER admissions in the Netherlands found that heat increased the relative risk for potential heat-related diseases and respiratory diseases (Van Loenhout et al., 2018). Hopp, Dominici & Bobb (2018) conducted a detailed analysis of the medical diagnoses in hospital admissions that were most influenced by heat, and from 50 outcomes from broad disease groups previously associated with heat-waverelated hospitalizations, they identified 11 diagnoses with a higher admission risk on heat-wave days, including three heat-related illnesses, four fluid and electrolyte disorders, two diagnoses of septicaemia, one of acute kidney failure and one of urinary tract infection. Other recent studies have reported an increase in admissions for mental health outcomes (Thompson et al., 2018). The evolving knowledge about specific heat-related acute effects requiring hospital care may facilitate better planning and preparedness of hospitals for heat.

In addition to the potential increases in hospitalizations, heat-waves cause problems with the functionality of hospitals and the thermal comfort of patients and staff (Matthies et al., 2008; Carmichael et al., 2012). Further studies and documentation on these aspects are needed to ensure that efficient measures are implemented. Reported impacts of heat-waves include:

discomfort or distress of patients and their visitors;

- discomfort of staff (including occupational health issues – see Chapter 6);
- equipment failure, such as failure of essential refrigeration systems including morgue facilities;
- disruption of information technology services;
- disruption of laboratory services;
- degradation or loss of medicines.

Hospital design and construction influence thermal comfort and ventilation during heat-waves. Hospitals in urban settings may also be affected by UHIs and the presence of green space or blue space nearby (see Chapter 8). In-depth studies of building and ward types have shown that some building characteristics increase the risk of overheating. For example, few hospital wards in northern Europe are air-conditioned; instead, the internal temperature is maintained by natural or mechanical ventilation. Older designs can be more efficient than more modern structures for space cooling (Short et al., 2012; Iddon et al., 2015; Short, Renganathan & Lomas, 2015). Zoning and control of the heating systems, solar gain and lack of effective natural ventilation were identified as the most significant and common - contributors to overheating in five hospitals assessed in Scotland (BRE, 2018). The Environmental Audit Committee of the United Kingdom Government recently concluded that the risk of overheating in health care buildings was not being sufficiently managed (EAC, 2018). Little information has been published on the prevalence of overheating in relation to hospital design in European countries. There has been considerable progress in research on measures to address overheating buildings (DCLG, 2012; Porritt et al., 2012; Bundle et al., 2018) - widely discussed in Chapter 5 – but not much that is specific to hospital buildings.

There are also occupational heat risks to health care staff during heat-waves. Working under heat stress conditions for prolonged periods is a health concern for health workers (Flouris et al., 2018) (see Chapter 6). Wearing PPE also exacerbates individual heat exposure. This has been a particular issue for health care workers in 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic (Roberge, Kim & Coca, 2012; Foster et al., 2020; Morabito et al., 2020; Park, 2020). Box 10 sets out an example of how to build resilience of health facilities to cope with heat-waves at the local level.

Several studies have shown that fragmentation of health services is a barrier to effective heat response measures. Although individual service providers may be familiar with severe weather plans and protocols, problems of communication between personnel in different parts of the health and social care system can result in difficulty in implementing such plans efficiently (Dominelli, 2013; Boyson, Taylor & Page, 2014). Systems of service commissioning can ensure that the various agencies delivering health care exercise responsibility for risks associated with severe weather. There may also be gaps in service provision that need to be addressed by individuals (Dominelli, 2013). As heat-waves become more severe, these problems are likely to increase in the future. Few qualitative studies have been undertaken to assess problems during heat-waves among health staff.

7.2.3 Social care systems and heat: preparedness and management

It is well established that older people are more at risk from the health effects of heat-waves (see Chapter 6). Epidemiological studies have confirmed that residents in care homes are relatively more vulnerable to heat-related mortality risks (Hajat, Kovats & Lachowycz, 2007; Kovats and Hajat, 2008; Klenk, Becker & Rapp, 2010). A review of heat-wave plans found that relatively few incorporated specific actions for elderly care settings (Okwuofu-Thomas, Beggs & MacKenzie, 2017). A survey in urban areas in Belgium and the Netherlands also found that elderly care organizations were unfamiliar with national heat-wave plans and gave lower priority to heat than to other factors requiring increased response than other public organizations (Van Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016).

HHAPs may include specific actions for residential care homes. For example, in England (United Kingdom), Italy and Sweden heat plans provide guidance for health and social care workers and information sheets have been developed specifically targeted at residential home managers and workers (PHE, 2020; Ministry of Health, 2015; PHA Sweden,

Box 10. Building resilience to cope with heat-waves: testing the HHAP in North Macedonia

In order to strengthen preparedness for crisis situations and heat-wave-related emergencies, a simulation exercise took place in the Strumica region of North Macedonia. The key stakeholders included representatives from the Ministry of Health, the Strumica General Hospital (regional hospital centre), emergency medical services, the Crisis Management Centre, the Red Cross, fire and rescue units, the Ministry of the Interior, the Ministry of Defence and the WHO Country Office.

Prior to the simulation exercise, preparatory meetings were held to establish the parameters, such as expected casualties, trigger indicators for activating the emergency response plan, triage and patient traffic flows and the responsibilities of hospital and emergency medical services staff. The simulation allowed the authorities to test general preparedness and implementation of the national HHAP. The exercise revealed many opportunities related to better management of heat—health risks in the current hospital crisis preparedness plan, including command leadership, preparedness of staff and effective management of incoming patients.

2017). A survey of planning in long-term care homes in the Netherlands found that most institutions had a heat protocol (Kunst & Britstra, 2013).

Further research has been done on indoor temperatures in residential homes. A study in England, United Kingdom (Gupta et al., 2016), found that there was a risk of overheating, especially during short-term heat-waves (2-4 days), with indoor temperatures rising to nearly 30 °C in communal areas in residential homes and residents' rooms. A survey of actions undertaken in care homes in the Netherlands (Kunst & Britstra, 2013) found that outdoor sunshades were used most often to protect residents, but the prevalence of cooling facilities such as AC and rooftop cooling was relatively low (41%). Care managers confirmed the importance of most of the cooling measures recommended by the national heat plan and did not foresee problems with implementation of the recommended measures. Shortages of staff and inadequate expertise, however, together with limited independence of residents, were considered barriers to implementation and to the effectiveness of heat management in residential settings (Kunst & Britstra, 2013).

Important qualitative research has been undertaken in care home settings to determine behavioural and organizational issues that could increase heat risks. A study in three care homes in England, United Kingdom, found several factors that increased heat risks, including fixed daily routines of care home residents making it difficult to accommodate periods of intense heat; management structures and systems that do not always allow front-line staff to alter indoor temperatures; and a culture that focuses on cold as the main climate risk, so that high indoor temperatures are not always considered undesirable by residents or staff (Gupta et al., 2016; Gupta and Gregg, 2017). A study in Germany found that there was a good understanding of risks and responses within nursing homes, but that management of heat risks could be limited by staff shortages (Becker et al., 2019).

The Lazio region's health system in Italy sets out specific guidance to reduce the impact of heat on health among elderly people through the definition of lists of vulnerable subgroups, based on comorbidities and sociodemographic conditions, GP active surveillance and geriatric hospital ward-specific response (Schifano et al., 2009; Michelozzi et al., 2010; de Martino et al., 2019). GP surveillance during heat-waves includes compiling a questionnaire on health status during home visits, requesting additional health and social care, changing medication and referrals to nursing homes where necessary. Geriatric wards have additional beds for vulnerable patients during summer and hospital admittance triage to detect heat-related health effects in elderly people through a multidimensional guestionnaire and triage scoring system, which considers health, socioeconomic status and assistance (Michelozzi et al., 2010; de Martino et al., 2019). Throughout the summer, mortality rates and ER admission rates are evaluated among the vulnerable elderly population and also used to evaluate the Lazio regional active surveillance programme at the end of the season.

In another example of subnational action, Sweden's Skåne region's heat-wave plan for elderly care has been used by other regions and municipalities as a foundation for their own health and social care heat preparedness. The health and social preparedness part of the plan consists mainly of a series of checklists aimed at those with responsibilities in the welfare and care systems – specifically nurses, doctors, home care managers and health care professionals. The involvement of social care and nursing staff from the inception ensured the practicality and feasibility of the plan (Belusic et al., 2019).

The fragmented nature of health and social care in many countries can be an effective barrier to effective heat action planning (Kovats & Osborn, 2017). Provision of care services for elderly people in particular is very complex, involving a range of partners and both formal and informal networks of carers (Curtis et al., 2018). Collaboration among government departments and professional institutions is necessary to harmonize and standardize health-related and building thermal comfort-related overheating thresholds, with particular consideration for care settings (Gupta et al., 2016; Kovats & Osborn, 2017).

More research is needed on the risks in hospitals, care homes and community-based care from heat-waves, in terms of risk management, clinical practices and how these relate to building design. Important evidence gaps remain regarding the effectiveness of interventions – especially individual interventions (Mayrhuber et al., 2018). In particular, more evidence is needed regarding behavioural responses to heat-waves, and how people interact with buildings when temperatures increase. Further work is also needed to identify key high-risk areas, such as secure units, where interventions or response measures may be not practical.

7.3 Climate resilience and sustainability of health systems

7.3.1 Heat preparedness in the context of all-hazards and extreme weather events preparedness

Some of the potential disruptions and preparedness needs for heat-waves are common to other extreme weather events, as recognized by the WHO global strategy on health, environment and climate change. This identifies the goal that "all health care facilities ... are resilient to extreme weather events; and capable of protecting the health, safety and security of the health workforce" (WHO, 2020b). In the last decade, the overall thinking and policy and research approaches have transitioned from risk-specific preparedness to comprehensive, all-hazards plans and interventions. The allhazards approach acknowledges that, while hazards vary in source, they often challenge health systems in similar ways. Thus, risk reduction, emergency preparedness, response actions and community recovery activities are usually implemented along the same model, regardless of the cause. Standard emergency management approaches, such as all-hazards programmes, can be modified

7.3.2 Climate-resilient health systems

The preparedness of health systems for increasingly intense and long heat events can be improved

to incorporate consideration of extreme events to increase preparedness (Ebi, 2011). Within the overall framework of all-hazards preparedness, the international literature argues specifically for more integrated planning and preparedness for extreme weather (Curtis et al., 2017), on account of the clear interdependencies involved in preparedness and response to various types of extreme weather event.

Countries have aimed to improve emergency planning in health care settings through international initiatives such as the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR, 2015). EU countries committed to the principles of the Sendai Framework through the Rome declaration (UNDRR, 2018). In the Ostrava Declaration (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2017a), Member States in the WHO European Region committed to establishing national portfolios of action on climate change aimed at strengthening adaptive capacity and resilience to climate change-related health risks. The operational implications of the impacts of COVID-19 and related heat-health responses are presented in Box 11.

within a larger effort to increase the climate resilience of health systems. The WHO operational framework for building climate-resilient health systems identifies the "building blocks" broadly

Box 11. Operational implications of the impacts of COVID-19 and related heathealth responses

No conclusive evidence is currently available that either weather or climate has a strong influence on SARS-CoV-2 virus transmission (Bukhari & Jameel, 2020; Chen et al., 2020; Gunthe et al., 2020; Gupta, Raghuwanshi & Chanda, 2020; Jüni et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Luo et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2020; Şahin, 2020; Shi et al., 2020; Tobías & Molina, 2020; Tosepu et al., 2020; J Wang et al., 2020; M Wang et al., 2020; Yao et al., 2020; WHO, 2020c). The COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions put in place to contain it may, however, have contributed to aggravating the health impacts of heat-waves.

Although the evidence is still in the process of being collected and analysed, the pandemic and responses to it may aggravate heat-related health impacts in two main ways. First, as explored in Box 7 in Chapter 6, the groups most vulnerable to heat and those most at risk of severe COVID-19 overlap (Phillips et al., 2020). Second, the physical distancing measures and common space-use restrictions put in place by most countries in the WHO European Region in response to the COVID-19 pandemic may hamper implementation of core heat–health prevention activities and aggravate the population's vulnerability to extreme temperatures (Martinez et al., 2020).

- The effectiveness and outreach of heat warnings and health-protective advice could be diminished in a context of widespread health warnings and information related to COVID-19, as explored in Box 5 in Chapter 4.
- Fear of contracting COVID-19 has reduced or prevented access to necessary health care (Lazzerini et al., 2020). This may also apply to patients experiencing heat-related symptoms for example, related to pre-existing conditions or interactions with medication.
- The use of public cooling centres may contradict distancing regulations, thus requiring careful planning and management of cooling facilities and/or additional at-home cooling options (Hospers et al., 2020).
- The ability to reach out to and care for vulnerable people (such as those living alone, chronically ill and elderly people) may be impaired if health and social care systems are overwhelmed (Armitage & Nellums, 2020).
- Surveillance systems, a core component of heat plans, may have limited available resources on account of the demands of the pandemic (Ibrahim, 2020; Setel et al., 2020).
- Several climate-influenced exposures (such as air pollution, allergenic pollen and heat) tend to occur concurrently (Linares et al., 2020), and the pandemic situation may further hinder the effectiveness and reach of integrated prevention efforts.
- The use of PPE may require additional assurance of workers' protection against heat risks (Daanen et al., 2020; Morabito et al., 2020).
- Well maintained, regularly inspected and cleaned ventilation and AC systems can reduce the spread of COVID-19 in indoor spaces by increasing the rate of air change, reducing recirculation of air and increasing the use of outdoor air. Systems that recirculate the air (recirculation mode) should not be used (WHO, 2020d).

In the light of the connections identified between the COVID-19 pandemic and its responses and the health impacts of heat and their prevention, it appears prudent to amend HHAPs and their implementation to ensure heat—health protection while the COVID-19 pandemic, or any other pandemic, persists (GHHIN, 2020; Martinez et al., 2020; Morabito et al., 2020).

common to all health systems (leadership and governance, health workforce, health information systems, essential medical products and technologies, service delivery) (WHO, 2015). The recent WHO guidance for climate-resilient and environmentally sustainable health care facilities (WHO, 2020a) builds on this operational framework and provides guidance for action and a set of suggested interventions in four core areas of health care: health workforce; water, sanitation and hygiene and health care waste management; energy and infrastructure; and technologies and products.

As they function, health care systems will suffer increasing shocks and stresses related to climate

change – for example, resulting from extreme weather events such as heat-waves and wildfires – which threaten patients, staff and facilities. Thus, the focus of health adaptation to climate change to better manage its impacts is strengthening health systems. Health care facilities need to identify and implement interventions that provide protection from external climate-related shocks and stresses (i.e. to build climate resilience) (Ebi et al., 2018).

A review by Paterson et al. (2014) showed a range of indicators of health care facility resilience to climate change that are relevant to heat-wave planning (Table 9). Other indicators have also been developed for the purposes of measuring adaptation

Indicator type	Activities	Indicators
General resilience	 Assessing the cost–effectiveness of health care facility adaptation to extreme weather events and climate hazards, by quantifying the benefits and costs of implementing new or improved measures to address risks Ensuring adequate leadership and clear allocation of staff roles and responsibilities 	 Governance Financing Resources (human resources) Service delivery
Emergency management	 Assessing health risks to staff, patients and visitors from climate-related hazards, including assessments of the effectiveness of existing control measures Establishing plans specifying how the facility will manage staff-related issues during an emergency (such as when staff are affected while at work or when staff are unable to come to work) Securing alternative or back-up access to critical infrastructure – such as energy and water supplies Ensuring sufficient ER surge capacity to manage climate-related emergencies and disasters (including extreme heat events) effectively As part of the emergency plan, adopting an incident management system, performing rapid needs assessments and implementing incident response plans Ensuring that coordination and communication mechanisms are in place with external agencies and stakeholders 	 Development and implementation of emergency plans Development of indicators to monitor health impacts and response (injuries, increases in ER visits and hospital admissions)
Extreme weather events	 Establishing mutual aid/assistance agreements (mutual aid, transfer of patients, sharing of resources and supplies) with other institutions during response and recovery from an extreme weather event or natural disaster Ensuring that emergency plans for extreme weather events are consistent with national and local HHAPs Developing systems with national weather services for extreme weather advisories and warnings Undertaking ongoing evaluations of heat impact and response protocols Providing training and exercises on preparing for, responding to and recovering from weather-related emergencies 	 Monitoring of extreme weather advisories and warnings Surveillance of health impacts (non-fatal and fatal outcomes) Identifying at-risk population subgroups and high-risk areas and settings to better target response measures

Table 9. Indicators of climate resilience in the health sector relevant to heat-wave planning

Source: adapted from Paterson et al. (2014).

in the health sector to climate change (Committee on Climate Change, 2019). The Pan American Health Organization developed the Smart hospitals online toolkit, which includes guidance documents, training materials, case studies and lessons learned (PAHO, 2017). It was designed for health care facility administrators and technical personnel involved in management, operations and maintenance of health care facilities in the Caribbean. The toolkit includes adaptation measures to improve safety and disaster resilience and green mitigation measures that will improve the environmental performance and sustainability of health care facilities. The United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention have developed the Building resilience against climate effects framework to support health officials in developing strategies and programmes to help communities prepare for the health effects of climate change (Marinucci et al., 2014). The Canadian Coalition for Green Health Care (2020) has developed the Health care facility climate change resiliency toolkit, which aims to increase awareness

of climate change impacts on health care facilities, assess facility resiliency and identify adaptation measures. It includes a facilitator presentation, an online questionnaire on resilience and adaptation tools (Balbus et al., 2016).

While health systems protect people from the health impacts of heat-waves, they also form a large and carbon-intensive part of the economy. As a consequence, they release large amounts of greenhouse gases (Fig. 12) and contribute to both climate change and more frequent and intense heat-waves. Thus, health administrators and authorities are increasingly focusing on addressing climate change through mitigation, and WHO is consequently reviewing the evidence (WHO, 2016), proposing strategic directions (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2017b) and issuing guidance (WHO, 2020a).

Some examples of carbon emission reduction are presented in Box 12.





Source: based on data from Pichler et al. (2019).

Box 12. Low carbon health care against climate change

Reducing the carbon footprint of health systems provides benefits and opportunities for health protection and promotion, financial savings and improved efficiency, as well as reduced environmental risks (Naylor and Appleby, 2013; McGain and Naylor, 2014). In the light of the emerging evidence and clear opportunities in this area, WHO published a review of the scientific literature and strategic guidance for creating environmentally sustainable health systems (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016; 2017b), including carbon-cutting interventions.

Hospital care represents a large proportion of health systems' carbon emissions, which can be reduced through improved building insulation and heating, ventilation and AC energy efficiency. Examples include replacing fluorescent lamps with light-emitting diodes, and using solar water-heating systems and lower-carbon fossil fuels such as compressed natural gas for boilers and laundry. Several examples from the WHO European Region are available via the Global Green and Healthy Hospitals network (GGHH, 2020).

In addition, a large share of greenhouse gas emissions in health systems also comes from procured equipment and pharmaceuticals (Eckelman & Sherman, 2016; Eckelman, Sherman & MacNeill, 2018; Malik et al., 2018; Sustainable Development Unit, 2019). The enormous purchasing power of health systems can be leveraged towards lower-carbon alternatives when deemed appropriate and safe. The role of low carbon procurement in health systems is being explored in EU-funded research (EcoQUIP+, 2020) and promoted in the EU through legislation as well as innovation actions such as funding pre-commercial procurement consortia for low carbon health care.

Ultimately, however, a true reduction of health systems' carbon footprint would require moving beyond "green" initiatives towards a deep and long-term redesign of current service models to create sustainable care pathways (Tomson, 2015; Charlesworth & Jamieson, 2019). A clear large-scale example of carbon footprint reductions in a national health system in the WHO European Region is the sustainability portfolio of the United Kingdom NHS, which has cut its carbon footprint by about a third and has pledged to become carbon neutral in 2040 (NHS England, 2020).

7.4 Conclusions

Limited progress has been made in national and local HHAPs, particularly in relation to emergency planning in the health sector and long-term measures in health care facilities to improve heatrelated responses. A key challenge is the lack of evidence on whether emergency and response measures are followed and effectively implemented, following the challenges related to the patients who do not feel that heat-waves are a risk for them, and, the lack of evidence on response protocols by staff. Relatively little information is still available on the impacts of heat in health care and social settings, the responses and barriers to effective implementation. In addition, few countries have systems in place to monitor impacts such as overheating or loss of staff time.

Heat is not often seen as a priority within health care planning, especially considering the often limited economic resources, but this may change as the frequency of heat events increases. Increased awareness of the vulnerability of people in residential care has led to some degree of improvements in care in these settings. More research is needed, however, to understand how buildings are at risk of overheating, and to find the solutions to address overheating in hospitals and care homes. Heat risks also need to be managed in the context of increasing demand for carbon mitigation in the health sector via promotion of environmentally sustainable interventions.

References¹

- Armitage R, Nellums LB (2020). COVID-19 and the consequences of isolating the elderly. Lancet Public Health. 5(5):e256. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30061-X.
- Balbus J, Berry P, Brettle M, Jagnarine-Azan S, Soares A, Ugarte C et al. (2016). Enhancing the sustainability and climate resiliency of health care facilities: a comparison of initiatives and toolkits. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 40(3):174–80.
- Becker C, Herrmann A, Haefeli WE, Rapp K, Lindemann U (2019). [New approaches in preventing health risks and excess mortality of older persons during extreme heat]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. 62(5):565–70. doi:10.1007/ s00103-019-02927-9.
- Belusic D, Berg P, Bozhinova D, Bärring, L, Döscher R, Eronn A et al. (2019). Climate extremes for Sweden. Stockholm: Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (http://smhi.diva-portal.org/smash/get/ diva2:1368107/FULLTEXT01.pdf).
- Boyson C, Taylor S, Page L (2014). The national heatwave plan – a brief evaluation of issues for frontline health staff. PLoS Curr. 6. doi:10.1371/currents.dis.aa63b5ff4 cdaf47f1dc6bf44921afe93.
- BRE (2018). Assessment of overheating risk in buildings housing vulnerable people in Scotland. East Kilbride: Building Research Establishment Scotland (https:// www.climatexchange.org.uk/research/projects/therisk-of-overheating-in-healthcare-buildings/).
- Bukhari Q, Jameel Y (2020). Will coronavirus pandemic diminish by summer? SSRN Electronic J. doi:10.2139/ ssrn.3556998.
- Bundle N, O'Connell E, O'Connor N, Bone A (2018). A public health needs assessment for domestic indoor overheating. Public Health. 161:147–53. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2017.12.016.

- Carmichael C, Bickler G, Kovats S, Pencheon D, Murray V, West C et al. (2012). Overheating and hospitals: what do we know? J Hosp Adm. 2(1):1. doi:10.5430/jha. v2n1p1.
- Casanueva A, Burgstall A, Kotlarski S, Messeri A, Morabito M, Flouris AD et al. (2019). Overview of existing heat-health warning systems in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(15):2657. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16152657.
- Charlesworth KE, Jamieson M (2019). Healthcare in a carbon-constrained world. Aust Health Rev. 43(3):241–5 (doi:10.1071/AH17184).
- Chen B, Liang H, Yuan X, Hu Y, Xu M, Zhao Y et al. (2020). Roles of meteorological conditions in COVID-19 transmission on a worldwide scale. medRxiv. 20037168. doi:10.1101/2020.03.16.20037168.
- Cheng J, Xu Z, Bambrick H, Prescott V, Wang N, Zhang Y et al. (2019). Cardiorespiratory effects of heatwaves: a systematic review and meta-analysis of global epidemiological evidence. Environ Res. 177:108610. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2019.108610
- Committee on Climate Change (2019). Progress in preparing for climate change. London: Committee on Climate Change (https://www.theccc.org.uk/ publication/progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/).
- Curtis S, Fair A, Wistow J, Val DV, Oven K (2017). Impact of extreme weather events and climate change for health and social care systems. Environ Health. 16(Suppl 1):128. doi:10.1186/s12940-017-0324-3.

Canadian Coalition for Green Health Care (2020). The Health care facility climate change resiliency toolkit. Halifax: Canadian Coalition for Green Health Care (https://greenhealthcare.ca/climate-change-resiliencytoolkit/).

All URLs accessed 6–7 November 2020.
- Curtis S, Oven K, Wistow J, Dunn C, Dominelli L (2018). Adaptation to extreme weather events in complex health and social care systems: the example of older people's services in England. Environ Plan C: Politics Space. 36(1):67–91. doi:10.1177/2399654417695101.
- Daanen H, Bose-O'Reilly S, Brearley M, Andreas Flouris D, Gerrett NM, Huynen M et al. (2020). COVID-19 and thermoregulation-related problems: practical recommendations. Temperature.1–11. doi:10.1080/23 328940.2020.1790971.
- DCLG (2012). Investigation into overheating in homes: literature review. London: Department for Communities and Local Government (https://www. gov.uk/government/publications/investigation-intooverheating-in-homes-literature-review).
- de Martino A, De Sario M, de'Donato F, Ancona C, Renzi M, Michelozzi P (2019). Linee di indirizzo per la prevenzione ondate di calore e inquinamento atmosferico [Guidelines for the prevention of heatwaves and air pollution] [in Italian]. Rome: Ministry of Health (http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/news/ p3_2_1_1_1.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu= notizie&p=dalministero&id=1083).
- Dominelli L (2013). Empowering disaster-affected communities for long-term reconstruction: intervening in Sri Lanka after the tsunami. J Soc Work Disabil Rehabil. 12(1–2):48–66. doi:10.1080/153671 0X.2013.784175.
- EAC (2018). Heatwaves: adapting to climate change. London: Environmental Audit Committee (https:// publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/ cmenvaud/1671/167102.htm).
- Ebi KL (2011). Resilience to the health risks of extreme weather events in a changing climate in the United States. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4582– 95. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124582.
- Ebi KL, Berry P, Hayes K, Boyer C, Sellers S, Enright PM et al. (2018). Stress testing the capacity of health systems to manage climate change-related shocks and stresses. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 15(11):2370. doi:10.3390/ijerph15112370.
- Eckelman MJ, Sherman J (2016). Environmental impacts of the US health care system and effects on public health. PLoS One. 11(6):e0157014. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0157014.
- Eckelman MJ, Sherman J, MacNeill AJ (2018). Life cycle environmental emissions and health damages from the Canadian healthcare system: an economic-

environmental-epidemiological analysis. PLoS Med. 15(7):e1002623. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002623.

- EcoQUIP+ (2020). Procurement projects. In: EcoQUIP+ [website]. Glasgow: Optimat (https://www.ecoquip.eu/ procurement-projects.html).
- Flouris AD, Dinas PC, Ioannou LG, Nybo L, Havenith G, Kenny GP et al. (2018). Workers' health and productivity under occupational heat strain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Planet Health. 2(12):e521–e531. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(18)30237-7.
- Foster J, Hodder SG, Goodwin J, Havenith G (2020). Occupational heat stress and practical cooling solutions for healthcare and industry workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ann Work Expo Health. doi:10.1093/annweh/wxaa082.
- GGHH (2020). Case studies from GGHH members. In: Global Green and Healthy Hospitals [website]. Reston, VA: Health Care Without Harm (https://www. greenhospitals.net/case-studies-climate).
- GHHIN (2020). Technical brief: protecting health from hot weather during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Global Heat Health Information Network (https:// ghhin.org/resources/technical-brief-protecting-healthfrom-hot-weather-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-2/).
- Gronlund CJ, Zanobetti A, Schwartz JD, Wellenius GA, O'Neill MS (2014). Heat, heat waves, and hospital admissions among the elderly in the United States, 1992–2006. Environ Health Perspect.122(11):1187–92. doi:10.1289/ehp.1206132.
- Gunthe SS, Swain B, Patra SS, Amte A (2020). On the global trends and spread of the COVID-19 outbreak: preliminary assessment of the potential relation between location-specific temperature and UV index. Z Gesundh Wiss. 1–10 doi:10.1007/s10389-020-01279-y.
- Gupta R, Walker G, Lewis A, Barnfield L, Gregg M, Neven L (2016). Care provision fit for a future climate. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation (https://www.jrf.org.uk/ report/care-provision-fit-future-climate).
- Gupta R, Gregg M (2017). Care provision fit for a warming climate. Archit Sci Rev. 60(4):275–85. doi: 10.1080/00038628.2017.1336984.
- Gupta S, Raghuwanshi GS, Chanda A. (2020). Effect of weather on COVID-19 spread in the US: a prediction model for India in 2020. Sci Total Environ. 728:138860. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138860.

Hajat S, Kovats RS, Lachowycz K (2007). Heat-related and cold-related deaths in England and Wales: who is at risk? Occup Environ Med. 64(2):93–100. doi:10.1136/ oem.2006.029017.

Hopp S, Dominici F, Bobb JF (2018). Medical diagnoses of heat wave-related hospital admissions in older adults. Prev Med. 110:81–5. doi:10.1016/j. ypmed.2018.02.001.

Hospers L, Smallcombe JW, Morris NB, Capon A, Jay O (2020). Electric fans: A potential stay-at-home cooling strategy during the COVID-19 pandemic this summer? Sci Total Environ. 747:141180. doi:10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2020.141180.

Ibrahim NK (2020). Epidemiologic surveillance for controlling Covid-19 pandemic: types, challenges and implications. J Infect Public Health. 13(11):1630–8. doi:10.1016/J.JIPH.2020.07.019.

Iddon CR, Mills TC, Giridharan R, Lomas KJ (2015). The influence of hospital ward design on resilience to heat waves: An exploration using distributed lag models. Energy Build. 86:573–88. doi:10.1016/j. enbuild.2014.09.053.

Jüni P, Rothenbühler M, Bobos P, Thorpe KE, da Costa BR, Fisman DN et al. (2020). Impact of climate and public health interventions on the COVID-19 pandemic: a prospective cohort study. CMAJ. doi:10.1503/ CMAJ.200920.

Klenk J, Becker C, Rapp K (2010). Heat-related mortality in residents of nursing homes. Age Ageing. 39(2):245– 52. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp248.

Kovats RS, Hajat S (2008). Heat stress and public health: a critical review. Annu Rev Public Health. 29(1):41–55. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090843.

Kovats S, Osborn D (2017). People and the built environment. In: UK climate change risk assessment 2017: evidence report. London: Climate Change Committee (https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/ eprint/1564649/).

Kunst AE, Britstra R (2013). Implementation evaluation of the Dutch national heat plan among long-term care institutions in Amsterdam: a cross-sectional study.
BMC Health Serv Res. 13:135. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-135.

Lazzerini M, Barbi E, Apicella A, Marchetti F, Cardinale F, Trobia G (2020). Delayed access or provision of care in Italy resulting from fear of COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 4(5):e10–11. doi:10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30108-5. Linares C, Martinez GS, Kendrovski V, Díaz J (2020). A new integrative perspective on early warning systems for health in the context of climate change. Environ Res. 187:109623. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109623.

Liu J, Zhou J, Yao J, Zhang X, Li L, Xu X et al. (2020). Impact of meteorological factors on the COVID-19 transmission: a multi-city study in China. Sci Total Environ. 726:138513. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.138513.

Luo W, Majumder MS, Liu D, Poirier C, Mandl KD, Lipsitch M et al. (2020). The role of absolute humidity on transmission rates of the COVID-19 outbreak. medRxiv. 2020.02.12.20022467. doi:10.1101/2020.02 .12.20022467.

Ma Y, Zhao Y, Liu J, He X, Wang B, Fu S et al. (2020). Effects of temperature variation and humidity on the mortality of COVID-19 in Wuhan. medRxiv. 2020.03.15.20036426. doi:10.1101/2020.03.15.2003 6426.

Malik A, Lenzen M, McAlister S, McGain F (2018). The carbon footprint of Australian health care. Lancet Planet Health. 2(1):e27–e35. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30180-8.

Marinucci GD, Luber G, Uejio CK, Saha S, Hess JJ. (2014). Building resilience against climate effects – a novel framework to facilitate climate readiness in public health agencies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(6):6433–58. doi:10.3390/ijerph110606433.

Martinez GS, Linares C, de'Donato F, Díaz J (2020). Protect the vulnerable from extreme heat during the COVID-19 pandemic. Environ Res. 187:109684. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2020.109684.

Martínez-Solanas È, Basagaña X (2019). Temporal changes in temperature-related mortality in Spain and effect of the implementation of a heat health prevention plan. Environ Res. 169:102–13. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.006

Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).

Mayrhuber EAS, Dückers MLA, Wallner P, Arnberger A, Allex B, Wiesböck L et al. (2018). Vulnerability to heatwaves and implications for public health interventions – a scoping review. Environ Res. 166:42–54. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.021.

McGain F, Naylor C (2014). Environmental sustainability in hospitals: a systematic review and research

agenda. J Health Serv Res Policy. 19(4):245–52. doi:10.1177/1355819614534836.

- Michelozzi P, de'Donato FK, Bargagli AM, D'Ippoliti D, De Sario M, Marino C et al. (2010). Surveillance of summer mortality and preparedness to reduce the health impact of heat waves in Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(5):2256–73. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7052256.
- Ministry of Health (2015). Raccomandazioni per i responsabili e il personale delle strutture che ospitano anziani non autosufficienti per la prevenzione dei problemi di salute legati alle ondate di calore [Recommendations for managers and staff of residences for non self-sufficient elderly people for the prevention of health problems related to heat waves] [in Italian]. Rome: Ministry of Health (http://www. salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_opuscoliPoster_58_allegato. pdf).
- Morabito M, Messeri A, Crisci A, Pratali L, Bonafede M, Marinaccio A et al. (2020). Heat warning and public and workers' health at the time of COVID-19 pandemic. Sci Total Environ. 738:140347. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.140347.
- Mücke HG, Litvinovitch JM (2020). Heat extremes, public health impacts, and adaptation policy in Germany. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(21):7862. doi:10.3390/ ijerph17217862.
- Naylor C, Appleby J (2013). Environmentally sustainable health and social care: scoping review and implications for the English NHS. J Health Serv Res Policy. 18(2):114–21. doi:10.1177/1355819613485672.
- NHS England (2020). Delivering a "net zero" National Health Service. London: NHS England (https://www. england.nhs.uk/greenernhs/publication/delivering-anet-zero-national-health-service/).
- Okwuofu-Thomas B, Beggs PJ, MacKenzie RJ (2017). A comparison of heat wave response plans from an aged care facility perspective. J Environ Health. 79(8):28–37.
- PAHO (2017). Smart hospitals toolkit. Washington DC: Pan American Health Organization (https://www. paho.org/disasters/index.php?option=com_co ntent&view=article&id=1742:smart-hospitalstoolkit&Itemid=1248&Iang=en).
- Park SH (2020). Personal protective equipment for healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Infect Chemother. 52(2):165–82. doi:10.3947/ ic.2020.52.2.165.

- Paterson J, Berry P, Ebi K, Varangu L (2014). Health care facilities resilient to climate change impacts. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(12):13097–116. doi:10.3390/ijerph111213097.
- PHA Sweden (2017). Råd vid värmeböljor särskilda råd till läkare, sjuksköterskor och annan legitimerad personal [Advice for heat waves: special advice for doctors, nurses and other licensed staff] [in Swedish]. Stockholm: Public Health Agency of Sweden (https:// www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material/ publikationsarkiv/r/rad-vid-varmeboljor-sarskildarad-till-lakare-sjukskoterskor-och-annan-legitimeradpersonal/).
- PHE (2020). Heatwave plan for England: protecting health and reducing harm from severe heat and heatwaves. London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).
- Phillips CA, Caldas A, Cleetus R, Dahl KA, Declet-Barreto J, Licker R et al. (2020). Compound climate risks in the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature Clim Change. 10(7):586– 8. doi:10.1038/s41558-020-0804-2.
- Porritt SM, Cropper PC, Shao L, Goodier CI (2012). Ranking of interventions to reduce dwelling overheating during heat waves. Energ Buildings. 55:16–27. doi:10.1016/j. enbuild.2012.01.043.
- Pichler PP, Jaccard IS, Weisz U, Weisz H (2019). International comparison of health care carbon footprints. Environ Res Lett. 14(6):064004. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ab19e1.
- Roberge RJ, Kim JH, Coca A (2012). Protective facemask impact on human thermoregulation: an overview. Ann Occup Hyg. 56(1):102–12. doi:10.1093/annhyg/ mer069.
- Şahin M (2020). Impact of weather on COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey. Sci Total Environ. 728:138810. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138810.
- Schifano P, Cappai G, De Sario M, Michelozzi P, Marino C, Bargagli AM et al. (2009). Susceptibility to heat wave-related mortality: a follow-up study of a cohort of elderly in Rome. Environ Health. 8:50. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-8-50.
- Setel P, AbouZahr C, Atuheire EB, Bratschi M, Cercone E, Chinganya O et al. (2020). Mortality surveillance during the COVID-19 pandemic. Bull World Health Organ. 98(6):374. doi:10.2471/BLT.20.263194.
- Shi P, Dong Y, Yan H, Li X, Zhao C, Liu W et al. (2020). The impact of temperature and absolute humidity on the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak –

evidence from China. medRxiv. 2020.03.22.20038919. doi:10.1101/2020.03.22.20038919.

Short CA, Lomas KJ, Giridharan R, Fair AJ (2012). Building resilience to overheating into 1960's UK hospital buildings within the constraint of the national carbon reduction target: adaptive strategies. Build Environ. 55:73–95. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2012.02.031.

Short CA, Renganathan G, Lomas KJ (2015). A medium-rise 1970s maternity hospital in the east of England: Resilience and adaptation to climate change. Build Serv Eng Res Technol. 36(2):247–4. doi:10.1177/0143624414567544.

Singh R, Arrighi J, Jjemba E, Strachan K, Spires M, Kadihasanoglu A (2019). Heatwave guide for cities. Geneva: Red Cross/Red Crescent Climate Centre (https://media.ifrc.org/ifrc/press-release/ media-advisory-europe-heatwave-red-cross-expertsavailable/)

Sustainable Development Unit (2019). Reducing the use of natural resources in health and social care. Cambridge: Sustainable Development Unit (https:// www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/ natural-resource-footprint-2018.aspx).

Thompson R, Hornigold R, Page L, Waite T (2018). Associations between high ambient temperatures and heat waves with mental health outcomes: a systematic review. Public Health. 161:171–91. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2018.06.008

Tobías A, Molina T (2020). Is temperature reducing the transmission of COVID-19 ? Environ Res. 109553. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109553.

Tosepu R, Gunawan J, Effendy DS, Ahmad OAI, Lestari H, Bahar H et al. (2020). Correlation between weather and Covid-19 pandemic in Jakarta, Indonesia. Sci Total Environ. 725:138436. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.138436.

Tomson C (2015). Reducing the carbon footprint of hospital-based care. Future Hosp J. 2(1):57–62. doi:10.7861/futurehosp.2-1-57.

UNDRR (2015). Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030. Geneva: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (https://www.undrr. org/publication/sendai-framework-disaster-riskreduction-2015-2030).

UNDRR (2018). Rome declaration of stakeholders: securing Europe's prosperity – reducing risk of disasters. Geneva: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (https://www.undrr.org/news/rome-declaraton-drr-adopted).

Van Loenhout JAF, Delbiso TD, Kiriliouk A, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Segers J, Guha-Sapir D (2018). Heat and emergency room admissions in the Netherlands. BMC Public Health. 18(1):108. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-5021-1.

Van Loenhout JAF, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Guha-Sapir D (2016). Stakeholders' perception on national heatwave plans and their local implementation in Belgium and the Netherlands. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(11):1120. doi:10.3390/ijerph13111120.

Wang J, Tang K, Feng K, Lin X, Lv W, Chen K et al. (2020). High temperature and high humidity reduce the transmission of COVID-19. SSRN Electronic J. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3551767.

Wang M, Jiang A, Gong L, Lu L, Guo W, Li C et al. (2020). Temperature significant change COVID-19 transmission in 429 cities. medRxiv. 2020.02.22.20025791. doi:10.1101/2020.02.22.2002 5791.

White-Newsome JL, Ekwurzel B, Baer-Schultz M, Ebi KL, O'Neill MS, Anderson GB (2014). Survey of county-level heat preparedness and response to the 2011 summer heat in 30 US States. Environ Health Perspect. 122(6):573–9. doi:10.1289/ehp.1306693.

 WHO (2011). Health systems strengthening glossary.
 In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva:
 World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/ healthsystems/hss_glossary/en/index5.html).

WHO (2015). Operational framework for building climate resilient health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/globalchange/ publications/building-climate-resilient-health-systems/ en/).

WHO (2020a). WHO guidance for climate-resilient and environmentally sustainable health care facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/climate-resilient-andenvironmentally-sustainable-health-care-facilities).

WHO (2020b). WHO global strategy on health, environment and climate change. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/phe/ publications/global-strategy/en/).

WHO (2020c). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): ventilation and air conditioning. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https:// www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-ventilationand-air-conditioning-and-covid-19).

- WHO (2020d). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): climate change. In: World Health Organization [website].
 Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who. int/westernpacific/news/q-a-detail/q-a-on-climatechange-and-covid-19).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences.
 Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2013). Ready to take the heat in the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia. In: WHO/Europe [website]. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/environment-and-health/Climate-change/ news/news/2013/06/ready-to-take-the-heat-in-theformer-yugoslav-republic-of-macedonia).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2016). Towards environmentally sustainable health systems in Europe: a review of the evidence. Copenhagen: WHO

Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/health-topics/environment-and-health/Climatechange/publications/2016/towards-environmentallysustainable-health-systems-in-europe.-a-review-of-theevidence-2016).

- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2017a). Declaration of the Sixth Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/en/media-centre/events/ events/2017/06/sixth-ministerial-conference-onenvironment-and-health/documentation/declarationof-the-sixth-ministerial-conference-on-environmentand-health).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2017b). Promoting and managing change towards environmentally sustainable health systems. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/ en/health-topics/environment-and-health/Climatechange/publications/2017/promoting-and-managingchange-towards-environmentally-sustainable-healthsystems-2017).
- Yao Y, Pan J, Liu Z, Meng X, Wang W, Kan H et al. (2020). No association of COVID-19 transmission with temperature or UV radiation in Chinese cities. Eur Resp J. 2000517. doi:10.1183/13993003.00517-2020.



Chapter 8. Long-term urban planning: reducing heat risks

Summary

Urban management and planning are key areas for the long-term mitigation of health risks from heat. The urban structure can aggravate heat risks due to the characteristics of the built environment and the UHI effect. Increasingly solid evidence shows that urban green space protects from heat, as do other interventions related to the form, composition and functionality of buildings and urban canyons. Increasing the overall albedo (reflection) of city surfaces, the availability and accessibility of water bodies, and climate change adaptation activities in periurban areas constitute promising alternatives to reduce the effective exposure of city residents to hazardous heat.

Despite their health protection potential, however, urban planning interventions related to HHAPs continue to be infrequent, and they remain the least implemented HHAP core element. A lack of tools for intersectoral action frequently prevents health systems from integrating health protection considerations successfully into mainstream urban planning and management.

Key messages

- The urban structure, its materials and landscapes can aggravate heat risks.
- Several urban planning and management interventions can contribute to reducing heat risks in cities.
- Urban management interventions such as green spaces, reflective urban materials and modifications to urban form and structure have been proved to reduce thermal stress and should be advocated from a public health perspective.
- Urban greening may also be associated with exposure to health risks, but the evidence on this link is weaker and less consistent than the evidence of its health benefits.
- Heat reduction urban management solutions need to be assessed for local conditions.
- Tools for intersectoral action are lacking to allow public health agencies to influence urban management decisions in order to protect health from heat.

8.1 Introduction: urban planning in the WHO guidance on HHAPs

Urban planning and management were recognized jointly as a core element of an HHAP in the WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat– health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008). The areas of action proposed within this element were described generically, and included both buildingspecific and city-level interventions. The latter included:

- increasing albedo of buildings (including cool roofs) and of other urban elements such as pavements;
- urban greening, including green roofs;
- creating water bodies in the city (also known as "blue infrastructure").

Highlighting the urban management component of prevention of the health impacts of heat was fully justified in the guidance, and a further decade of evidence has strengthened the case for city-level interventions against heat exposure – particularly to mitigate the UHI effect. This affects cities worldwide, but is especially prevalent in the dense and heavily populated urban settings that are common in Europe.

A large amount of current evidence is available on what works to reduce heat gains and overheating of the built environment, at least from the physical, engineering and architectural perspectives. The institutions typically in charge of HHAPs, however, are seldom able to promote such changes in cities effectively. Health authorities rarely hold formal competences over housing or buildings other than health facilities. Interventions in the built environment are labour-intensive and costly, often offering scarce incentives or profits for private actors. Formalized health impact assessments of proposed building interventions are still rare within the WHO European Region, yet such systemic interventions would generate significant benefits that would last for decades; they should therefore be implemented whenever urban planning and renewal projects allow.

Unsurprisingly, urban planning is one of the core HHAP elements that has trailed behind others. in terms of implementation. Bittner et al. (2014) found greater implementation of the more basic elements (agreeing on a lead body, setting up alert systems and creating health information plans) than of those requiring more resources and longer time periods for implementation (thus requiring broad and long-term political support) or going beyond the competencies of health systems (such as urban management). In addition, urban layouts planned and established decades ago and old building infrastructures may be difficult to adapt and improve in terms of thermal features, which practically restricts urban planning interventions to new developments and urban renewal projects. This situation has not changed significantly: 38% of respondents to WHO's 2019 survey of heathealth action planning said that interventions of long-term urban planning measures to combat heat had been implemented. The survey also revealed that involvement of local authorities (which typically manage urban planning interventions) in HHAPs is still relatively low, particularly concerning specification of local government roles and responsibilities.

This chapter presents a succinct compilation of updated evidence on UHI effects, followed by a description of the main interventions to reduce urban overheating.

8.2 Urban determinants of heat exposure and risk

The urban structure can aggravate heat risks, especially during the night due to the absorption and slow release of heat from buildings and other heat-retaining surfaces, the residual heat from energy use and the lack of humidity on the land's surface (Bohnenstengel et al., 2011; Wilby et al., 2011; Heaviside, Macintyre & Vardoulakis, 2017). This phenomenon is known as the UHI effect, and can result in effective night-time air temperature differentials of 3–12 °C in large cities compared with surrounding rural areas (Memon, Leung & Chunho, 2008), making citizens in the urban areas more vulnerable to the effects of heat (Tan et al., 2010; Burkart et al., 2011).

The intensity of the UHI effect depends on many factors, among which are the local weather conditions, land cover/land use, anthropogenic heat emissions and other microclimatic conditions. As a result, during a heat-wave event, the extremely hot temperatures manifested are not evenly distributed over an urban area. In addition, cities consist of environments that are intensely modified by humans, which may lead to hotspots where the temperature is even higher. Thus, UHIs exhibit strong temporal variations and intra-urban variability (Wilhelmi & Hayden, 2010; Harlan et al., 2013), with higher temperatures determined by urban characteristics such as the use of dark-coloured paving or asphalt, heat generated by vehicles, air conditioners and industrial facilities, and a lack of vegetation.

The effect on local air temperatures of land cover, buildings and impervious and green surfaces has been well documented (Chun & Guldmann, 2014). Expansions of the built-up area to natural surfaces such as vegetation, ground or water trigger changes in the surface energy balance, which may lead to higher surface and air temperatures. Conversely, an increase in vegetated areas and green corridors may lower the heating of urban areas (Bowler et al., 2010; Ng et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2014). The effect of urban geometry (height and mass of buildings) on radiation and airflow also plays a key role in the formation of local climates (Lobaccaro et al., 2019), together with other urban landscape parameters such as surface albedo, mean building height and the sky view factor.

The UHI effect is a result of urbanization and is associated with a range of issues such as increased energy demand and environmental degradation, as well as impacts on human health such as thermal discomfort and increased mortality during heat-waves (Tan et al., 2010; Uejio et al., 2011). Factors like high concentrations of air pollution, wet climates and high humidity can also aggravate the human health impacts of extreme heat in cities (EEA, 2017). The effects of UHIs are significantly increased in parts of cities with high population density, as these tend to lack green spaces (Zhao et al., 2014). As a consequence, not all citizens in an urban agglomeration are exposed to the same heat stress. Their exposure depends on the locations and features of their residence and work address, and their time-activity patterns. Furthermore, some population subgroups (such as elderly people and those with chronic health conditions) are more sensitive to the effects of heat (see further details in Chapter 6).

Another issue associated with urban form, as well as with the use of space, is anthropogenic heat. A lot of common activities and sectors within urban settings can contribute to the UHI effect through waste heat emissions. Beside the waste heat from cooling mentioned in Chapter 5, two other major sources of anthropogenic heat in cities are motor vehicle exhaust fumes and various types of industrial and commercial activities. The effect of this input is much smaller than that of solar heat inputs on the whole, however, and how it translates into increased temperatures in cities depends on multiple factors (Santamouris, 2015). The study of UHI effects and interventions to minimize them is hampered by a lack of current appropriate urban temperature data. Assessment of the urban thermal environment requires temperature datasets that can capture the diurnal evolution of a city's hotspots. To achieve this, the data must combine high spatial and temporal resolution (Keramitsoglou et al., 2016). Relatively little long-term observational information on the spatial variability of local climates within cities is currently available. The climatological description of a city is often based on one or a few meteorological stations and therefore not representative of the whole. Another issue is that information about the spatial variability in local climate usually applies to a limited period of time. Remotely sensed satellite-derived thermal data of high spatiotemporal resolution have, however, been proposed as a prominent solution to facilitate the study of UHI effects (Pichierri, Bonafoni & Biondi, 2012; Keramitsoglou et al., 2017). Such temperature information could enable assessment of UHIs in real time, and would contribute to the timely generation of relevant higher-value products and services for energy demand and human health studies.

8.3 Interventions to reduce urban overheating

8.3.1 Urban greening and urban blue infrastructure

Substituting greenery for typical urban surfaces and materials contributes to decreasing the UHI effect. This is indisputable, and the scientific, technical and public health discussion is about how to translate that reduction in heat into a protective factor. In general, evidence is increasing that availability and accessibility of green spaces can reduce the risk of heat-related cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in the vicinity of such spaces (Gronlund et al., 2015; Murage et al., 2020; Gascon et al., 2016). In addition, a multitude of psychological and well-being benefits have also been observed. A full exploration of all the health and well-being benefits of greenness in cities is beyond the scope of this publication, but a comprehensive review was conducted by the WHO Regional Office for Europe (2016).

A multitude of modelling studies link increases in urban green spaces with reductions in effective temperature, and link those with reductions in projected heat-related mortality and morbidity. Studies have predicted health benefits from heat reduction via greening in a multitude of urban settings throughout the WHO European Region (Salata et al., 2017; Pascal, Laaidi & Beaudeau, 2019; Venter, Krog & Barton, 2020). Aside from model predictions, reductions in heat-related health impacts are also observed at the population level. A recent study covering cities across 22 OECD countries (among them 100 cities in eight countries in the WHO European Region) found that those surrounded by a predominantly rural region and those with larger green surfaces showed lower heatrelated mortality (Sera et al., 2019).

Much of the evidence on health benefits from urban interventions to reduce the UHI effect is based on modelling rather than epidemiological evidence, however. There is a risk that models fail to capture the complexity of urban interactions, thus limiting their usefulness in practice for public policy design. Studying the actual causal links and evidence-based empirical effects of urban greening interventions on heat-related health impacts is challenging. While landscape and infrastructure modifications such as green and blue spaces, green roofs and others are commonly expected to reduce heat-related health risks, the actual effect of the interventions is difficult to prove (Hondula, Davis & Georgescu, 2018). For example, proximity to urban green and blue spaces was associated (adjusting for confounding factors) with decreased mortality for elderly populations in Lisbon, Portugal (Burkart et al., 2016), and the health benefit was still seen several kilometres away. Similar results were observed in

Spain (de Keijzer et al., 2017); but in both cases, the authors acknowledged that the complexity of the relationships involved made determining a causal relationship difficult.

Green spaces include a wide variety of alternatives, from grass or isolated trees to full urban forests, and consequently provide different degrees of cooling. Vegetation structure, composition and management matter greatly, so great care is required in the planning of urban greening if cooling is one of the main objectives (Vieira et al., 2018). Moreover, different patterns in greening interventions also influence the cooling in adjacent areas (Aram et al., 2019). For example, a study in Leipzig, Germany, found that cooling effects were greater in urban forests than in parks; that cooling increased with increasing size but differently in forests and parks, whereas the influence of shape was the same for forests and parks; and that the characteristics of the green spaces were more important than the characteristics of the residential surroundings in terms of cooling effects (Jaganmohan et al., 2016). More research is needed to determine how those patterns and factors influence the distribution of heat-related health risks.

Urban greening may also be associated with exposure to health risks, including increased exposure to pesticides, allergenic pollen, disease vectors, faecal pathogens in soils and injuries (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016). The evidence of health risks from urban green spaces is weaker and less consistent than the evidence of health benefits, however. For instance, some studies found that green spaces are linked to an increased risk of allergies, while others found protective effects (Fuertes et al., 2016; Ruokolainen, 2017). Moreover, with adequate design, management and maintenance, the potential for health risks from green spaces can be adequately minimized.

The current evidence base does not yet allow specific recommendations to be made on how best to incorporate greening into an urban area in a way that maximizes health protection from heat. However, the WHO Regional Office for Europe review (2016) provides directions and examines important factors that can be used in decision-making. While green spaces are by far the best studied type of urban planning intervention against heat, important questions remain, including the following.

- What arrangements and types of urban green space (for example, trees versus grass) are more effective to prevent heat-related mortality and morbidity?
- What is the maximum protective effect that could be expected from large deployments of green spaces?
- What are the potential benefits and costs of alternative interventions, including access to AC and actions targeting the workplace?

In addition to the health-protecting effect of green spaces, an increasing number of studies are focusing on the ecosystem services of blue infrastructure. As with green spaces, a multitude of modelling studies have looked into the benefits of reduced heat load through urban water bodies. The results vary; for instance, small but significant cooling effects of water bodies were calculated for Vienna, Austria (Žuvela-Aloise et al., 2016) but in the Netherlands models suggested that local thermal effects of small water bodies can be considered negligible in design practice (Jacobs et al., 2020). A recent meta-analysis (Gunawardena, Wells & Kershaw, 2017) found that inadequately designed blue spaces may actually exacerbate heat stress during oppressive conditions. Moreover, as in the case of urban greening, some health risks may increase through the use of water bodies. These could include drownings and injuries, recreational water infectious illnesses, excessive ultraviolet light exposure and vector breeding (WHO, 2020). Adequate maintenance, management and safety measures can help reduce most of these risks, however. Box 13 sets out a case study of the influence of existing urban green spaces on heat risks.

Box 13. The influence of existing urban green spaces on heat risks compared to socioeconomic and demographic factors

López-Bueno et al. (2020) analysed the roles of income level, proportion of the population over 65 years of age, existence of AC units and hectares of green zones simultaneously in the impact of heat on daily mortality in districts in Madrid, Spain, between 2010 and 2013. In the raw primary model analysing the relationship between the pattern of risk and the hectares of green zones found in each district, they observed that an increase in green zones decreased the probability of detecting heat impacts. The effect disappeared in the adjusted model, however, suggesting a complex interaction between urban planning and sociodemographic factors in relation to heat risks to health.

In this study, household income was the strongest predictor of risk. In turn, household income was directly related to availability of AC. Although green zones mitigated the impact of heat-waves, their role was not more determinant than that of income level or AC in homes. Recent evidence shows that as homes install AC systems, the association between green zones and heat mortality becomes weaker, while the association between green zones and energy savings during heat-waves becomes stronger (McDonald et al., 2020). Therefore, the protective effect of green zones is reflected indirectly in terms of the greater need for energy to reach a comfortable temperature in the home. In addition, the presence of green zones reduces the levels of air pollution in cities (Rafael et al., 2020) and contributes to improved physical condition and mental health (Andreucci et al., 2019; Marcheggiani et al., 2019).

8.3.2 Pavement and outdoor urban landscape materials

Several of the interventions mentioned at the building scale can also be applied to other surfaces in the urban landscape beyond buildings themselves. This is especially the case for pavements and public surfaces, and in particular for interventions to reduce their ability to absorb and retain heat and to increase their albedo by, for example, using reflective materials or lighter colours. Indeed, large-scale deployments of interventions to increase albedo in pavements could result in important effects to reduce the UHI effect (Akbari, Damon Matthews & Seto, 2012). Some studies suggest that increased rooftop albedo may have a measurable heat-related mortality reduction: increasing rooftop albedo from 0.32 to 0.90 could result in around 45 avoided heat-related deaths per year in New York City (Susca, 2012). Increasing albedo may be an effective city-wide strategy in

some types of urban settings for reducing heatrelated health risks (Silva, Phelan & Golden, 2010), particularly in areas where substantially increasing green spaces may not be possible. An increase in reflective surfaces at the city level to reduce UHI intensity may have unintended consequences, however, in terms of increasing concentrations of some air pollutants like ozone, a secondary pollutant whose formation is aided by sunlight – both direct and reflected on surfaces (Fallmann, Forkel & Emeis, 2016).

As with other urban level interventions against overheating, material and landscape decisions must be tailored to local circumstances and conditions. All advantages and disadvantages, benefits and costs should be taken into account before undertaking such interventions. The German HHAP (see Box 14) constitutes an example of general recommendations to be tailored to local conditions.

Box 14. Recommendations for action on long-term urban planning and building in the German HHAP

The German HHAP recommends the following measures related to buildings:

- developing heat protection requirements for buildings (such as thermoglass, integrated lamella blinds in windows, roof overhangs to provide shade and shade on roofs through solar energy installations);
- undertaking technical construction measures for example, ventilation technology, heating and cooling coils, fans and possibly AC systems, especially in sensitive areas;
- ensuring heat-appropriate planning of new buildings (including consideration of architecture, width/ height ratio, street development, orientation and site) in urban and rural areas;
- using construction materials that reduce heat and avoiding materials that store heat;
- installing drinking-water dispensers in buildings and public spaces;
- establishing and using cooling centres for example, public cool spaces in government offices, shopping malls, church buildings, bookshops and train stations.

It also recommends a number of urban and building planning measures:

- conserving and creating shaded green spaces and parks, preferably with cooling evaporation areas such as bodies of water or water features;
- setting up generous shaded areas (with structural measures such as pavilions, roofing, awnings, sunshades or sails and with landscape planning such as replanting or conserving trees with thick foliage);
- installing humidifiers in outdoor facilities and on terraces;
- reducing heat by creating or keeping clear air channels and areas where cold air is produced;
- reducing the degree of soil sealing in open and public squares to avoid build-up of heat and ultraviolet radiation from reflection;
- encouraging planting of trees and shrubbery, as well as setting up roof gardens (taking care to select plants low in allergens that can tolerate heat and dry conditions);
- installing canopies and roof structures that provide shade, preferably using materials that reduce exposure to ultraviolet radiation;
- installing fixed drinking-water dispensers in public spaces.

Further information can be found on the website of the Centre of Excellence For Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation (KomPass, 2020).

Source: BMU (2017).

8.3.3 Urban form and structure

The natural and artificial morphology of urban settings influence parameters relevant to their inhabitants' thermal comfort, such as air temperature, relative humidity, wind velocity and others (Lobaccaro et al., 2019). In other words, the political and design decisions that determine changes in the physical form of cities can improve urban microclimates. For example, studies show that the ratio of average height of buildings to the width of the streets between them strongly affects the temperatures experienced by pedestrians, with wider streets generally being warmer in daytime and cooling down more quickly at night than narrower ones, and with upper walls receiving more radiation in daytime but cooling down more quickly than lower walls (Chen et al., 2020; Wai et al., 2020).

Also important are the orientation of the buildings and the streets. A study in Bilbao, Spain (Lobaccaro et al., 2019), found that for the best orientation (that least prone to dangerous overheating: northwest/south-east), the duration of the peak heat period lasted for only one hour, while for the worst orientation (the most heat-prone: north-east/southwest), the thermal discomfort persisted for over 10 hours in all urban canyons. The same study found that within a given type of urban morphology (for example, compact or open-set, low-rise, mid-rise or high-rise), the location and distribution of green spaces can make a significant difference in terms of cooling potential. Solutions connected to increasing wind velocity may be more applicable in warm countries, as creating increasing wind conditions in cities in cold countries might not be optimal in the winter season. Generally, all potential urban management solutions to reduce heat need to be assessed for the local conditions.

A noteworthy avenue for consideration of urban level infrastructure planning is the "superblock" model – an innovative urban and transport planning strategy that aims to reclaim public space for people; reduce motorized transport; promote sustainable mobility and active lifestyles; provide urban greening; and mitigate effects of climate change (Rueda, 2019). In essence, the superblocks would prioritize internal non-motorized transportation, pedestrian areas and green spaces against a looser conventional traffic network. A study in Barcelona assessed that applying this model could avoid 667 premature deaths (95% CI: 235–1098), of which at least 117 (95% CI: 101–37) would be heat-related (Mueller et al., 2020).

8.3.4 Reducing UHIs at the regional scale

Interventions beyond the city limits can also contribute to reducing the UHI effect. This, in

turn, has two aspects of relevance: interventions beyond the urban landscape itself, regardless of administrative boundaries; and interventions beyond administrative boundaries into (still urban, but less structured) areas of informal growth.

On interventions beyond the city landscape, it is worth highlighting the possibilities of periurban greening, which - alongside its effect of reducing UHIs - can contribute to reducing risks related to other meteorological extremes, such as floods and droughts, and climate change (EEA, 2012). Another example of interventions at the scale beyond city limits is the creation of wind corridors from surrounding green areas into the city, though these may not be suitable in colder countries. Several European cities have included wind corridor considerations into their planning, including Germany and the Netherlands (Filho et al., 2017). This has clear implications for intracity land use, which can have significant impacts on the local intensity of UHIs and related microclimates. Some evidence also exists that, in several cities, the residents who are most susceptible to the health impacts of heat actually reside in the periphery (Depietri, Welle & Renaud, 2013).

While less prevalent and massive than in other regions of the world, informal settlements beyond city limits are not uncommon throughout the WHO European Region. Their lack of planning, poorquality dwellings and underserved status could make residents more vulnerable in some instances. Evidence on the health impacts of heat in these communities, as well as the potential effectiveness of adaptation – such as the promotion of periurban adaptation – is scarce, however.

8.3.5 Reducing heat risks through intersectoral action in urban planning

From the standpoint of public health interventions, the potential to influence urban form decisionmaking to minimize the health impacts of heat is limited. Those decisions are squarely outside the sphere of influence of the health sector; further, intersectoral coordination mechanisms for public health practitioners to feed health evidence into the decision cycle are rarely in evidence (Rantala, Bortz & Armada, 2014). If urban planning and management includes health considerations via intersectoral action, however, it can make longlasting differences to health and well-being. At the general urban planning and management level, the inclusion of health in strategic environmental assessments is a good opportunity to influence the urban planning and policy cycle. WHO recommends various entry points for health throughout the strategic environmental assessment process (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2019):

- at the screening phase through the active involvement of health impact assessment experts, inclusion of health criteria in screening tools and similar;
- during scoping by adequately covering health in the terms of reference, including the role and competencies of experts who will conduct the health-related assessment activities;
- during assessment and reporting ensuring the quality and comprehensiveness of

8.4 Conclusions

Modifying the built environment can help to reduce hazardous risks to health from heat significantly. A wide range of interventions is available; the best possible results are typically obtained through optimal combinations of various interventions, tailored to local conditions.

Urban greening is well supported by evidence as an effective strategy to reduce heat-related mortality, although the specific causality of this is poorly understood. Increasing the albedo of pavements and other city surfaces may be an effective complementary strategy. The morphology of urban areas has a clear influence on heat exposure, and although the possibility of successfully advocating health-related assessments, including stakeholder engagement activities, disclosure of information, methodologies used, credibility of baseline and appropriateness of recommendations;

- in the process of consultation and participation

 ensuring that health sector actors and advocates are actively engaged in the policy, planning and programme processes;
- during decision-making actively engaging health sector actors in decision-making activities;
- as part of monitoring and evaluation including health indicators in the monitoring and evaluation process.

At the project level, the health impact assessment of urban management interventions probably represents the best opportunity to feed heat and health considerations into the urban management and policy cycle. While still infrequent, Europe has some examples of the health impact assessment of urban interventions being a mandatory document for developers to present to the approving authority.

modification of such factors is limited, it is important that health authorities and practitioners are aware of possible hotspots based on the relevant variables.

Beyond the city scale, various interventions can be implemented with effects on heat exposure reduction, such as periurban greening, establishment of wind corridors and adequate management of land use. From the standpoint of prevention, adequate intersectoral mechanisms for health authorities to promote these interventions, which lie squarely beyond their competencies, are lacking. Entry points can be found to include heat and health considerations, however, and to make a lasting difference.

References¹

Akbari H, Damon Matthews H, Seto D (2012). The longterm effect of increasing the albedo of urban areas. Environ Res Lett. 7(2):024004. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/7/2/024004.

Andreucci MB, Russo A, Olszewska-Guizzo A (2019). Designing urban green blue infrastructure for mental health and elderly wellbeing. Sustainability. 11(22):6425. doi:10.3390/su11226425,

Aram F, Higueras García E, Solgi E, Mansournia S (2019). Urban green space cooling effect in cities. Heliyon. 5(4):e01339. doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01339.

Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.

BMU (2017). Recommendations for action: heat action plans to protect human health. Berlin: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (https://www.bmu.de/en/topics/ climate-energy/climate/adaptation-to-climate-change/ recommendations-for-heat-action-plans/).

Bohnenstengel SI, Evans S, Clark PA, Belcher SE (2011). Simulations of the London urban heat island. Q J R Meteorol Soc. 137(659):1625–40. doi:10.1002/qj.855.

Bowler DE, Buyung-Ali L, Knight TM, Pullin AS (2010). Urban greening to cool towns and cities: A systematic review of the empirical evidence. Landsc Urban Plan. 97(3):147–55. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2010.05.006.

Burkart K, Khan M H, Krämer A, Breitner S, Schneider A, Endlicher WR (2011). Seasonal variations of allcause and cause-specific mortality by age, gender, and socioeconomic condition in urban and rural areas of Bangladesh. Int J Equity Health. 10:32. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-10-32.

- Burkart K, Meier F, Schneider A, Breitner S, Canário P, Alcoforado MJ et al. (2016). Modification of heatrelated mortality in an elderly urban population by vegetation (urban green) and proximity to water (urban blue): evidence from Lisbon, Portugal. Environ Health Perspect. 124(7):927–34. doi:10.1289/ehp.1409529
- Chen G, Wang D, Wang Q, Li Y, Wang X, Hang J et al. (2020). Scaled outdoor experimental studies of urban thermal environment in street canyon models

with various aspect ratios and thermal storage. Sci Total Environ. 726:138147. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.138147.

- Chun B, Guldmann JM (2014). Spatial statistical analysis and simulation of the urban heat island in highdensity central cities. Landsc Urban Plan. 125:76–88. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.01.016.
- de Keijzer C, Agis D, Ambrós A, Arévalo G, Baldasano JM, Bande S et al. (2017). The association of air pollution and greenness with mortality and life expectancy in Spain: a small-area study. Environ Int. 99:170–6. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2016.11.009.
- Depietri Y, Welle T, Renaud FG (2013). Social vulnerability assessment of the Cologne urban area (Germany) to heat waves: links to ecosystem services. Int J Disaster Risk Reduct. 6:98–117. doi:10.1016/j. ijdrr.2013.10.001.
- EEA (2012). Urban adaptation to climate change in Europe: challenges and opportunities for cities together with supportive national and European policies. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/urbanadaptation-to-climate-change).
- EEA (2017). Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2016: an indicator-based report. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (https://www.eea. europa.eu/publications/climate-change-impacts-andvulnerability-2016).
- Fallmann J, Forkel R, Emeis S (2016). Secondary effects of urban heat island mitigation measures on air quality. Atmos Environ. 125:199–211. doi:10.1016/j. atmosenv.2015.10.094.
- Filho WL, Icaza LE, Emanche VO, Al-Amin AQ (2017). An evidence-based review of impacts, strategies and tools to mitigate urban heat islands. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(12):1–29. doi:10.3390/ijerph14121600.

Fuertes E, Markevych I, Bowatte G, Gruzieva O, Gehring U, Becker A et al. (2016). Residential greenness is differentially associated with childhood allergic rhinitis and aeroallergen sensitization in seven birth cohorts. Allergy. 71(10):1461–71. doi:10.1111/all.12915.

Gascon M, Triguero-Mas M, Martínez D, Dadvand P, Rojas-Rueda D, Plasència A et al. (2016). Residential green

All URLs accessed 24–28 September 2020.

spaces and mortality: a systematic review. Environ Int. 86:60–7. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.013.

- Gronlund CJ, Berrocal VJ, White-Newsome JL, Conlon KC, O'Neill MS (2015). Vulnerability to extreme heat by socio-demographic characteristics and area green space among the elderly in Michigan, 1990–2007. Environ Res. 136:449–61. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2014.08.042.
- Gunawardena KR, Wells MJ, Kershaw T (2017). Utilising green and bluespace to mitigate urban heat island intensity. Sci Total Environ. 584–85:1040–55. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.158.
- Harlan SL, Declet-Barreto JH, Stefanov WL, Petitti DB (2013). Neighborhood effects on heat deaths: social and environmental predictors of vulnerability in Maricopa County, Arizona. Environ Health Perspect. 121(2):197–204. doi:10.1289/ehp.1104625.
- Heaviside C, Macintyre H, Vardoulakis S (2017). The urban heat island: implications for health in a changing environment. Curr Environ Health Rep. 4(3):296–305. doi:10.1007/s40572-017-0150-3.
- Hondula DM, Davis RE, Georgescu M (2018). Clarifying the connections between green space, urban climate, and heat-related mortality. Am J Public Health. 108(S2):S62–S63. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.304295.
- Jacobs C, Klok L, Bruse M, Cortesão J, Lenzholzer S, Kluck J (2020). Are urban water bodies really cooling? Urban Climate. 32:100607. doi:10.1016/j.uclim.2020.100607.
- Jaganmohan M, Knapp S, Buchmann CM, Schwarz N (2016). The bigger, the better? The influence of urban green space design on cooling effects for residential areas. J Environ Qual. 45(1):134–45. doi:10.2134/ jeq2015.01.0062.
- Keramitsoglou I, Kiranoudis C, Sismanidis P, Zakšek K (2016). An online system for nowcasting satellite derived temperatures for urban areas. Remote Sensing. 8(4):306. doi:10.3390/rs8040306.
- Keramitsoglou I, Sismanidis P, Analitis A, Butler T, Founda D, Giannakopoulos C et al. (2017). Urban thermal risk reduction: developing and implementing spatially explicit services for resilient cities. Sustain Cities Soc. 34:56–68. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2017.06.006.
- KomPass (2020). Competence Center KomPass. In: Umwelt Bundesamt [website]. Dessau-Roßlau: Environment Agency (https://www.umweltbundesamt. de/en/topics/climate-energy/climate-impactsadaptation/competence-center-kompass).

- Lobaccaro G, Acero JA, Martinez GS, Padro A, Laburu T, Fernandez G (2019). Effects of orientations, aspect ratios, pavement materials and vegetation elements on thermal stress inside typical urban canyons. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(19):3574. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16193574.
- López-Bueno JA, Díaz J, Sánchez-Guevara C, Sánchez-Martínez G, Franco M, Gullón P et al. (2020). The impact of heat waves on daily mortality in districts in Madrid: the effect of sociodemographic factors. Environ Res. 190:109993. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2020.109993.
- Marcheggiani S, Tinti D, Puccinelli C, Mancini L (2019). Urban green space and healthy living: an exploratory study among Appia Antica Parks users (Rome – Italy). Fresenius Environ Bull. 28:4984–9.
- Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).
- McDonald RI, Kroeger T, Zhang P, Hamel P (2020). The value of US urban tree cover for reducing heatrelated health impacts and electricity consumption. Ecosystems. 23(1):137–50. doi:10.1007/s10021-019-00395-5.
- Memon RA, Leung DYC, Chunho L (2008). A review on the generation, determination and mitigation of urban heat island. J Environ Sci (China). 20(1):120–8. doi:10.1016/s1001-0742(08)60019-4.
- Mueller N Rojas-Rueda, D, Khreis H, Cirach M, Andrés D, Ballester J et al. (2020). Changing the urban design of cities for health: the superblock model. Environ Int. 134:105132. doi:10.1016/J.envint.2019.105132.
- Murage P, Kovats S, Sarran C, Taylor J, McInnes R, Hajat S (2020). What individual and neighbourhoodlevel factors increase the risk of heat-related mortality? A case-crossover study of over 185,000 deaths in London using high-resolution climate datasets. Environ Int. 134:105292. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2019.105292.
- Ng E, Chen L, Wang Y, Yuan C (2012). A study on the cooling effects of greening in a high-density city: an experience from Hong Kong. Build Environ. 47:256–71. doi:10.1016/J.BUILDENV.2011.07.014.
- Pascal M, Laaidi K, Beaudeau P (2019). Intérêt des espaces verts et ombragés dans la prévention des impacts sanitaires de la chaleur et de la pollution de l'air en zones urbaines [Relevance of green, shaded environments in the prevention of adverse effects

on health from heat and air pollution in urban areas]. Santé Publique. S1(HS):197–205. doi:10.3917/ spub.190.0197.

Pichierri M, Bonafoni S, Biondi R (2012). Satellite air temperature estimation for monitoring the canopy layer heat island of Milan. Remote Sens Environ. 127:130–8. doi:10.1016/j.rse.2012.08.025.

Rafael S, Augusto B, Ascenso A, Borrego C, Miranda Al (2020). Re-naturing cities: evaluating the effects on future air quality in the city of Porto. Atmos Environ. 222:117123. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2019.117123.

Rantala R, Bortz M, Armada F (2014). Intersectoral action: local governments promoting health. Health Promot Int. 29(suppl 1):i92–i102. doi:10.1093/heapro/dau047.

Rueda S (2019). Superblocks for the design of new cities and renovation of existing ones: Barcelona's case. In: Nieuwenhuijsen M, Khreis H, editors. Integrating human health into urban and transport planning. Cham: Springer: 135–53. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-74983-9_8

Ruokolainen L (2017). Green living environment protects against allergy, or does it? Eur Respir J. 49:1700481. doi:10.1183/13993003.00481-2017.

Salata F Golasi,I. Petitti, D, de Lieto Vollaro E, Coppi M, de Lieto Vollaro A. (2017). Relating microclimate, human thermal comfort and health during heat waves: an analysis of heat island mitigation strategies through a case study in an urban outdoor environment. Sustain Cities Soc. 30:79–96. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2017.01.006.

Santamouris M (2015). Analyzing the heat island magnitude and characteristics in one hundred Asian and Australian cities and regions. Sci Total Environ. 512–13:582–98. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.060.

Sera F, Armstrong B, Tobías A, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Åström C, Bell ML et al. (2019). How urban characteristics affect vulnerability to heat and cold: a multi-country analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 48(4):1101–12. doi:10.1093/ ije/dyz008.

Silva HR, Phelan PE, Golden JS (2010). Modeling effects of urban heat island mitigation strategies on heatrelated morbidity: a case study for Phoenix, Arizona, USA. Int J Biometeorol. 54(1):13–22. doi:10.1007/ s00484-009-0247-y.

Susca T (2012). Multiscale approach to life cycle assessment. J Ind Ecol. 16(6): 951–62. doi:10.1111/ j.1530-9290.2012.00560.x. Tan J, Zheng Y, Tang X Guo, C, Li L, Song G et al. (2010). The urban heat island and its impact on heat waves and human health in Shanghai. Int J Biometeorol. 54(1):75–84. doi:10.1007/s00484-009-0256-x.

Uejio CK, Wilhelmi OV, Golden JS, Mills DM, Gulino, SP, Samenow JP (2011). Intra-urban societal vulnerability to extreme heat: the role of heat exposure and the built environment, socioeconomics, and neighborhood stability. Health Place. 17(2):498–507. doi:10.1016/j. healthplace.2010.12.005.

Venter ZS, Krog NH, Barton DN (2020). Linking green infrastructure to urban heat and human health risk mitigation in Oslo, Norway. Sci Total Environ. 709:136193. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136193.

Vieira J, Matos P, Mexia T, Silva P, Lopes N, Freitas C et al. (2018). Green spaces are not all the same for the provision of air purification and climate regulation services: the case of urban parks. Environ Res. 160:306–13. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2017.10.006.

Wai KM, Yuan C, Lai A, Yu PKN (2020). Relationship between pedestrian-level outdoor thermal comfort and building morphology in a high-density city. Sci Total Environ. 708:134516. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.134516.

 WHO (2020). Water sanitation hygiene: diseases and risks. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/ water_sanitation_health/diseases-risks/en/).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2016). Urban green spaces and health: a review of the evidence.
Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/urban-health/publications/2016/urban-greenspaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-2016).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2019). The versatility of health impact assessment: experiences in Andalusia and other European settings. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/329896).

Wilby RL, Jones PD, Lister DH (2011). Decadal variations in the nocturnal heat island of London. Weather. 66(3):59–64. doi:10.1002/wea.679.

Wilhelmi OV, Hayden MH (2010). Connecting people and place: a new framework for reducing urban vulnerability to extreme heat. Environ Res Lett. 5(1):014021. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/5/1/014021.

Yan H, Fan S, Guo C, Hu J, Dong L (2014). Quantifying the impact of land cover composition on intra-urban

air temperature variations at a mid-latitude city. PLoS One. 9(7):e102124. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102124.

- Zhao L, Lee X, Smith RB, Oleson K (2014). Strong contributions of local background climate to urban heat islands. Nature. 511(7508): 216–19. doi:10.1038/ nature13462.
- Žuvela-Aloise M, Koch R, Buchholz S, Früh B (2016). Modelling the potential of green and blue infrastructure to reduce urban heat load in the city of Vienna. Clim Change. 135(3–4):425–38. doi:10.1007/ s10584-016-1596-2.



Chapter 9. Real-time information: surveillance, monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs

Summary

Monitoring and evaluation are crucial components of an HHAP and, to date, are operational and fully integrated in only a limited number of Member States in the WHO European Region. This limitation is critical, as it hinders formal evaluation of the processes, components and overall potential role and effectiveness of HHAPs in reducing the health impact of heat-waves. The dual use of these surveillance tools – both informing health care systems and stakeholders of current impacts in order to modulate action during extreme events and evaluating the health impacts of action after heat-wave events – is vital for the effectiveness and progressive improvement of current HHAPs and the response measures introduced.

Evaluation entails multidisciplinary and collaborative action between various stakeholders to address the different aspects and components of the HHAP, user needs and caveats. Formal monitoring and evaluation need to be promoted. Health surveillance systems already in place can be adopted to evaluate extreme heat events and to evaluate HHAPs. Best practice evidence and sharing of experiences are vital – both locally and at the European level – to improve HHAP implementation and effectiveness, especially given future warming and increased frequency and intensity of heat-wave events.

Key messages

- Real-time surveillance is still limited in European HHAPs. It is important to set up near-real-time surveillance systems so that prevention and response can be adjusted, based on health impact response.
- Health surveillance systems currently in place can be adapted for HHAP evaluation.
- Formal, systematic HHAP process and outcome evaluation is still an exception in European countries.
- Monitoring and evaluation should be strengthened to improve understanding of what works and what needs to be improved in HHAPs.
- Further research is needed to identify the potential causal pathways linking preventive actions and actual reductions in heat-related health impacts.

9.1 Introduction

Availability of timely health data during heat-waves and emergency situations is essential for an effective public health response. The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning identified near-real-time surveillance of health outcome data and evaluation of HHAPs as core elements (Matthies et al., 2008; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011). The use of consolidated health information systems or ad hoc surveillance systems is important not only to monitor health impacts during and after an event but also to guide decision-makers to adapt and reinforce prevention and emergency measures. Surveillance data may be used to evaluate how the health system and interventions (phone lines, GP visits and calls, ambulance calls, ER visits, bed occupancy and so on) are responding during extreme events and to help redirect interventions. Further, surveillance and

health outcome data have been used to evaluate effectiveness of HHAPs in reducing heat-related deaths and improving adaptation and awareness.

How to evaluate an HHAP as a whole and its individual components is far from simple. As stated in the 2008 WHO guidance, it should focus on evaluation of processes and outcomes; it should also be written up and published, and subsequently used to guide HHAP improvements (Matthies et al., 2008).

This chapter gives a brief overview of surveillance systems in place in Member States in the WHO European Region and their current use in evaluating HHAPs. It further focuses on recent evidence on monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs and considers future perspectives and research gaps.

9.2 Current status of HHAP surveillance

Results from WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning show that real-time surveillance of national HHAPs is still limited: only 25% of countries had fully implemented surveillance and 31% had implemented it in part. Low rates of implementation of monitoring and surveillance were also observed in previous evaluations (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Bittner et al., 2014). When asked with what frequency surveillance data on heat-related health outcomes were received and analysed, a significant proportion of countries (31%) stated that they had a delay of 24 hours on surveillance data on heatrelated mortality or morbidity; 25% had a delay of between 48 hours and a week; and 6% had a delay of more than a week. Further, only 13% of respondents carried out a seasonal evaluation at the end of summer, and almost 20% did not have any surveillance systems in place (Fig. 13).

Unfortunately, the survey did not distinguish what types of outcome data were collected or the different temporal updates of data, which may also differ significantly.

When asked which aspects or elements of the HHAP were least effective or missing, two of the most common responses were lack of surveillance of heat-related health outcomes and lack of formal evaluation of the plans and evidence of their effectiveness.

The limited implementation of surveillance could be related to inadequate resources – both human and financial – available for setting up and running surveillance systems, and technical difficulties, such as data availability, data processing and the statistical analysis required. Chapter 9. Real-time information: surveillance, monitoring and evaluation of HHAPs

Fig. 13. Frequency of surveillance data retrieval and analysis within national HHAPs



9.3 Health data sources for surveillance and innovations

Following the 2003 heat-wave, when quantifying the impact of the heat-wave became a priority among European countries, health data from information systems and registries were used to monitor and evaluate the impact. The peer-reviewed literature has consistently shown an immediate effect of heat, with an increase in daily deaths on the same day or the subsequent 2–3 days (Basu, 2002; Gasparrini, 2016). Moreover, most of the countries with a surveillance system in place consider mortality data to monitor heat-related health effects.

Morbidity outcome results, suggesting that the impact is immediate, that health conditions worsen very quickly and that vulnerable subjects do not have time to reach health care settings. Increases in cause-specific ER visits were also reported consistently, as were increases in calls to GPs and heat—health helplines during heat-waves, reporting mild to severe heat-related symptoms (Josseran et al., 2009; Michelozzi et al., 2010; Pascal et al., 2012; Elliot et al., 2014).

Several European countries have implemented total mortality surveillance systems, which provide

death counts in a timely manner to monitor summer heat-wave health impacts. Countries with rapid mortality surveillance systems to monitor the impact of heat are also included in the European EuroMOMO network for rapid mortality surveillance (Statens Serum Institut, 2020), including France, Hungary, Italy, Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom (England and Wales). The EuroMOMO network was set up to monitor the impacts of influenza and other possible public health threats, and has since also been used to monitor environmental exposures such as cold spells across Europe (Mazick et al., 2012; Vestergaard et al., 2017). It could potentially be extended to monitor the impacts of heat-waves. In addition, some of these countries use mortality surveillance data to evaluate HHAPs (Pascal et al., 2012; Schifano et al., 2012; Tobías et al., 2012; Linares et al., 2015; Green et al., 2016; Ragettli et al., 2017; de'Donato et al., 2018).

England (United Kingdom) and France, for example, have adopted a more inclusive approach, combining both mortality and morbidity outcomes in their heat syndromic surveillance. Public Health England runs the national syndromic surveillance service, which comprises data from four health surveillance systems: telephone health helpline calls (NHS Direct non-emergency medical helpline); GP in- and out-of-hours consultations; ER visits; and more recently also ambulance call data (Elliot et al., 2014; 2015). Daily data are monitored and assessed using epidemiological and statistical processes to detect unusual activity. They are particularly valuable for detecting the impact of seasonal infections and environmental incidents, including extreme heat and cold (Elliot et al., 2014; 2015; Hughes et al., 2014; Morbey et al., 2015). The combined approach facilitates monitoring of a series of health outcomes with different symptom severity: GP calls and NHS Direct helpline calls refer to heat stress, heat- and sunstroke or the impact of heat in general, while cause-specific ER visits account for more severe outcomes.

Similarly, in France the national syndromic surveillance system is used to assess heat-wave impacts and to support HHAP implementation and evaluation. The integrated system includes mortality data, ER visit data and emergency calls to GPs (Josseran et al., 2009, 2010; Pascal et al., 2012). Josseran et al. (2009) developed a set of indicators using ER visit and hospitalization data to monitor and analyse the impact of heatwaves, taking into account old age and causespecific admissions, and found that dehydration, hyperthermia, malaise, hyponatraemia, renal colic and renal failure increased significantly during heatwaves.

The Italian surveillance system includes near-real time mortality surveillance and sentinel ER visit surveillance. It provides weekly bulletins to monitor the impacts of mortality and extreme weather events (Michelozzi et al., 2010). Mortality related to heat-waves is monitored throughout the summer, with weekly bulletins published on the Ministry of Health website, and an evaluation is carried out at the end of the season to quantify the impact of heat-waves. The Ministry also activates a national health helpline during summer, and calls and access to care are evaluated within active surveillance monitoring plans by GPs and social services (de'Donato et al., 2018).

In Germany a web-based emergency service database, which includes ER visits and emergency calls, was used for real-time surveillance of heatrelated morbidity in Frankfurt am Main. Results from recent summers (2014–2018) show a consistent increase in emergency calls for heatrelated disease during heat-wave periods (Steul, Jung & Heudorf, 2019).

Data from near-real-time surveillance systems (24–48 hours update) can also be used to guide decision-makers to adapt and reinforce prevention and emergency measures where and when necessary. For example, an increase in GP and heat helpline calls can be of use to indicate an increase in heat-related symptoms and subsequent increases in emergency service and hospital admissions, allowing health services to prepare for the potential added workload and service demands.

In recent years, owing to limited resources and technical expertise, web data and social media messages have been used to define innovative heat surveillance systems. Jung et al. (2019) studied the association between heat-related web searches and social media messages (using Twitter and Google searches) and ER visits and hospital admissions for dehydration, heat-related illness, and cardiorespiratory and renal disease. The authors found a positive association between heat-related illness and dehydration case web data, suggesting that web and social media could be used as alternative syndromic surveillance tools. Furthermore, as social media and web-based tools also provide advice on how to prevent and reduce heat-related symptoms, these tools and search strategies could be used to improve outreach and adaptation.

Another alternative surveillance tool was developed to consider heatstroke internet searches in Shanghai, China (Li et al., 2016). The study analysed the association between heatstroke web searches and heatstroke health outcomes during heat-wave events, and found that the web searches had better predictive power for health risks than temperature during heat-waves. These alternative syndromic surveillance measures are less labour- and resourceintensive than traditional surveillance systems, and may facilitate more timely assessments. Moreover, they provide evidence of social media channels through which advice and adaptation measures are sought by the public, suggesting that public health services should actively engage in these to convey prevention and advice on heat-related risks, especially for vulnerable subgroups.

9.4 Use of surveillance data and monitoring in HHAPs

Since the implementation of surveillance systems to monitor heat impacts, the evidence from studies quantifying heat-related impacts has grown substantially in recent years, and has been reported in a timely fashion. Leonardi et al. (2006) analysed NHS Direct calls to evaluate the health impact of the 2003 heat-wave in England and Wales, United Kingdom. The total number of calls and selected cause-specific calls (for fever, vomiting, difficulty breathing, heat- and sunstroke) were studied, and an association with heat was observed, especially among elderly people and children with symptoms of heat- and sunstroke and fever. More recently, syndromic surveillance data were used to evaluate the 2013 heat-wave in England and Wales, reporting an increase in GP and NHS Direct calls, mostly for heat- and sunstroke, during Level 2 and Level 3 warnings (Elliot et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2016). GP in-hours calls doubled in 2013 compared to non-heat-wave summers (Smith et al., 2016). An increase in ER visits was also observed during the 2013 heat-wave, but not for cardiac diagnoses (Elliot et al., 2014).

Josseran et al. (2010) used syndromic data from the surveillance system reporting ER visits in France to evaluate the impact of the 2006 heat-wave. Higher than expected numbers of ER visits for heatrelated causes were observed on more than 90% of days on which a heat alert was issued, suggesting the validity of the surveillance in capturing health impacts in a timely manner. The authors also estimated the operational costs of the surveillance system, showing the limited costs compared to other similar systems and suggesting that a formal evaluation was needed to show the overall effectiveness of surveillance systems.

Claessens et al. (2006) defined an indicator based on ER visit surveillance data as an alert system for potential increases in mortality due to heat-waves. The indicator included age (over 70 years), having a fever above 39 °C and being admitted to the ER. Another study looked at whether surveillance data may be useful for policy-makers to support the decision-making process during heat-waves, especially for modifying response measures and emergency protocols or issuing warnings (Pascal et al., 2012). Similarly, the Canadian SUPREME system developed an open-source web application for surveillance and prevention of the health impacts of heat (Toutant et al., 2011). The web tool includes environmental data and heat warning and surveillance data (mortality, hospital admissions, ambulance calls, ER visits and so on) with a cartographic application that allows mapping of vulnerability factors and monitoring of health impacts and exposures. The tool would be of great use for decision-makers in both the preparedness and emergency phases.

It is worth noting, however, that constant and consistent monitoring of heat-wave health impacts across Europe each summer is limited, to date, often focusing only on extreme events and restricted to some countries. Country or regional reports – often in the grey literature, in local languages only or with restricted access – are hard to find, hindering geographical coverage and data availability.

9.4.1 Evaluation of HHAPs

Formal and independent evaluation of HHAP effectiveness is important to:

- assess whether policies are valid in reducing health outcomes (mortality and morbidity);
- evaluate whether measures introduced are ethical and reduce inequalities;
- help define elements that need improvement (cost-effectiveness of interventions, reducing practical barriers);
- monitor health impacts and changes over time.

Evaluation of the effectiveness and validity of HHAPs and public health measures put in place helps provide policy-makers with the necessary information to implement state-of-the art action and the necessary resources to reduce heatrelated impacts. Evaluation should be provided for in all stages of HHAPs (planning, development, implementation and revision) to ensure that they are not only efficient but also effective in identifying subgroups most at risk, improving awareness and response and reducing heatrelated impacts. As noted in the WHO guidance, HHAPs should implement a holistic evaluation framework approach that accounts for both health and social aspects in addressing heat adaptation and response, thereby reducing health inequalities (Matthies et al., 2008; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011).

The proposed approach should address both evaluation and monitoring of processes and outcomes, while bearing in mind practical aspects, current operational policies and resource availability. Process evaluation focuses on examining the individual processes of an intervention, while outcome evaluation is the assessment of the effectiveness of the HHAP or specific core element in terms of avoiding or reducing health impacts through the use of health outcome indicators (Matthies et al., 2008; WMO & WHO, 2015). The WHO guidance provided standards for evaluation and key aspects to consider, and stressed the need for constant and systematic monitoring over time to detect changes in health response and ensure improvement of prevention mechanisms (Table 10).

It is important that the evaluation process is formally defined, and that results are written up and disseminated to the stakeholders involved in the HHAP (Morgan, 2006). What data to collect (baseline and during the operational phase) and how to carry out evaluation of the HHAP should be defined before the system is operational; performance standards should be set up and then evaluated in terms of outcome and economic impacts, if possible. Evaluations will help build confidence in the system and improve the knowledge base among the stakeholders (Matthies et al., 2008; Bittner et al., 2014; Boeckmann & Rohn, 2014; WMO & WHO, 2015; Martinez et al., 2019).

9.4.2 Process evaluation

When assessing HHAP processes, the focus should be on standards of implementation and examining the process of interventions and actions undertaken by various stakeholders at different stages. Process evaluation determines whether all parties and stakeholders involved have an understanding of their roles and responsibilities, and are able to undertake them during a heat-wave. Information and communication play a central role here in terms of awareness-raising and perceptions of both stakeholders and users. Perception has been widely addressed in Chapter 4, examining both general public and vulnerable subgroup perceptions of risk, their awareness, behavioural changes and response mechanisms. A recent review showed that among the several surveys carried out among the general public and vulnerable groups, although the majority of those interviewed were aware of the risks and heat warnings, this did not translate into action or behavioural change (Bassil & Cole, 2010). Another crucial aspect that emerged was the fact that vulnerable subjects often do not perceive themselves as being most at risk, and hence do not respond accordingly (Abrahamson et al., 2009; Bassil & Cole, 2010; Wolf et al., 2010; Toloo et al., 2013b).

Components of process evaluation	Components of outcome evaluation	
Key messages provided to the population	 Measurement of: mortality – daily temperatures and deaths before, during and after heatwave periods; mortality in different settings such as care homes morbidity health care utilization non-health-related outcomes such as productivity and workforce absence an assessment of the temperature–mortality function health behaviour changes related to heat 	
Awareness among the population of the HHAP and its messages	Epidemiological studies to estimate heat—health-related effects and potential changes over time	
Comprehensive warnings issued in a timely manner	Assessment of behavioural changes in response to the plan (intermediate outcomes)	
Stakeholders following the plan and acting according to guidance	Consideration of non-health-related outcomes (economic cost–benefit analysis)	
Stakeholders considering the overall plan	Health care utilization	

Table 10. Components of an HHAP evaluation

For both outcomes: a defined evaluation protocol, regular evaluations, objective methods, written evaluation reports

Sources: Matthies et al. (2008); WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011).

A Cochrane review was carried out to evaluate whether heat-related public health interventions reduce adverse health effects of heat-waves and high temperatures in the population (Michelozzi et al., 2014). It found only four studies: one experimental study suggesting that social and health care intervention at home was able to reduce hospital admissions among frail elderly people; two studies (one experimental and one non-experimental) suggesting that an information campaign seemed able to increase protective behaviour towards heat among elderly people living at home and to reduce heat-related mortality in the general population; and one study showing a reduction in mortality risk among patients hospitalized during heat-waves in wards with AC.

Public health decision-makers and health and social workers involved in HHAPs are key players and need to be adequately informed and aware of what to do. Process evaluation should include an assessment of how these stakeholders perceive their roles in HHAPs and how this influences practice. It should also consider whether the advice and interventions provided within the HHAP are feasible and realistic. Several countries carry out questionnaires, surveys, workshops or working groups at the end of the summer to evaluate HHAPs (Sheridan, 2007; Wolf et al., 2010; Van Loenhout, Rodriguez-Llanes & Guha-Sapir, 2016; de'Donato et al., 2018; Price et al., 2018). Information on the distribution of informative material and communication strategies is reviewed from various stakeholders at different levels - from core actors to the community level as well as sharing of best practice experience and critical aspects. Evaluation of heat-health warning systems and stakeholder understanding and action is addressed in more detail in Chapter 3. It is important that these activities are carried out regularly and that user responses are taken into account to improve HHAPs the following summer. Price et al. (2018) described the framework for evaluating the HHAP in place in Montreal, Canada, covering implementation, practice and awareness among health care professionals and vulnerable subgroups.

Moreover, to date very few HHAPs report or quantify coverage of information campaigns or training; this needs to be included in future assessments. Evaluations have often found a need to define roles and responsibilities more clearly and to address perceptions of stakeholders when updating HHAPs, as well as to improve interagency cooperation and communication throughout (Lowe, Ebi & Forsberg, 2011; Toloo et al., 2013a; Boeckmann & Rohn, 2014). Public Health England carried out an independent evaluation of the national HHAP (Williams et al., 2018). The results suggest that it has motivated local authorities to implement and operate a response system for hot temperatures but that heat-wave planning is still largely perceived as an exercise in emergency preparedness, focused on "warning and informing" through the alert system, rather than a strategic objective of long-term public health and environmental planning (Box 15). These formal evaluation processes can help improve understanding and formal uptake of the evaluation framework within HHAPs (Martinez et al., 2019).

Although some efforts have been made in recent years to evaluate HHAPs, formal comprehensive assessments including evaluation of both processes and health outcomes are lacking, and publications relating to these even more so. In WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning, nine of the 16 countries with national HHAPs (56%) reported that their own monitoring and evaluation of the plan showed that it had reduced heat-related health impacts, although only seven of those provided a supporting reference (Fig. 14). Similarly, while half of the respondents reported the existence of epidemiological studies showing effectiveness, only one provided the study itself. Somewhat surprisingly, only 50% reported anecdotal or not systematic evidence of the HHAP's effectiveness. The expert consensus is that anecdotal evidence abounds, but systematic evaluations are scarce. In future, these assessments should become a formal part of an HHAP to improve effectiveness and response at the local and national levels.

9.4.3 Outcome evaluation

Outcome evaluation entails assessment of measurable impacts in terms of health outcomes (mortality, hospital admissions, ambulance calls, GP visits and so on) and how these change over time in response to the introduction of an HHAP and different prevention and response measures. In recent years, some studies have been carried out using surveillance data to evaluate the effectiveness of HHAPs; other independent epidemiological studies have looked at temporal variations in the temperature–mortality relationship in response to climate change (temperature increases) or potential adaptation (reduction in effect estimates).



Fig. 14. Evidence that the HHAP has contributed to reducing heat-related health impacts

Box 15. Methods for evaluation of the Heatwave plan for England

The United Kingdom's Department of Health and Social Care developed the *Heatwave plan for England* in 2004 and it has subsequently been updated several times in response to additional evidence (PHE, 2020). The Department also commissioned an independent evaluation of implementation and potential effects of the plan (Williams et al. 2020), to:

- detect any effect in terms of reducing morbidity and mortality (outcome evaluation);
- determine whether the plan informed local decisions on management of heat-related health risk and response (process evaluation);
- describe awareness of heat risks among the general population and health service staff and what actions were taken in response to alerts (process evaluation) (Fig. 15).

The methods used in the evaluation were both qualitative and quantitative to capture the full range of impacts and to look at barriers to implementation. Specific methods included:

- a time series analysis of daily mortality data linked to temperature for regions within England to analyse the temperature–mortality relationship and whether it has changed over time specifically since the introduction of the *Heatwave plan for England*.
- an online survey of knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of the general population during heat-waves;
- a national survey of nursing staff in hospital, community and care home settings on their awareness of the plan and actions taken during heat—health alerts.

The evaluation was completed in 2019 and was published in 2020 (Williams et al., 2020).



Fig. 15. Structure of the evaluation of the Heatwave plan for England

Source: PHE (2020).

NHS: National Health Service; TV: television; PH: Public Health; LRF: Local Resilience Forum; LHRP: Local Health Resilience Partnership; CCG: Clinical Commissioning Group; LA: Local Authority

As described in Chapter 1, the temporal variation in heat-related effects, especially in terms of mortality, has been analysed in 18 countries in the WHO European Region (Austria, Czechia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Kazakhstan, Latvia, the Netherlands, North Macedonia, the Republic of Moldova, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom) (see Table 1 in Chapter 1). Most studies estimated the impact of the 2003 heat-wave and compared it to previous periods or more recently extreme summers and heat-wave events.

Several countries have evaluated their HHAPs in terms of changes in heat-related impacts before and after the introduction the plan, mostly through time series studies, applying different methodological approaches to estimate the temperature-outcome curve and health impacts. Most studies have made an indirect assessment of HHAP effectiveness, under the assumption that if the underlying population remains unchanged, when considering the same temperature range or heat-wave definition, the only condition that has changed is population adaptation and response measures put in place by health and social services. Some studies have compared individual years with heat-wave episodes before and after the introduction of the HHAP (Fouillet et al., 2006; Green et al., 2016; Steul, Schade & Heudorf, 2018) but these only give insight into the health effects in the specific years studied. Several studies have compared periods before and after the introduction of HHAPs, thus comparing heat-related deaths in the two periods, giving more consistent estimates of the change in heat effects (Morabito et al., 2012; Schifano et al., 2012; Linares et al., 2015; de'Donato et al., 2018; Weinberger et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018; Martínez-Solanas & Basagaña, 2019). Other studies have considered annual variations and time trends in heat-related mortality instead of period analyses (Culqui et al., 2013; Scortichini et al., 2018).

Nothing can be said about the causal effects of HHAPs and prevention measures on mortality, however. In non-randomized settings such as public health responses to heat and HHAPs, to evaluate

public health policy effectiveness several quasiexperimental methods have been put forward that allow researchers to control for confounders and provide unbiased estimates in the context of HHAP evaluation (Basu, Meghani & Siddigi, 2017). More recently, quasi-experimental approaches such as the difference-in-difference method have been used to address the causal effect of HHAPs in reducing health impacts (Benmarhnia et al., 2016; Heo et al., 2019). This method enables a policy effect to be distinguished from time trends in health outcomes. Specifically, in a study conducted in Montreal, Canada, the difference-in-difference approach was used to show that the HHAP contributed to reducing mortality on hot days, especially among vulnerable subgroups targeted by the plan (elderly people and low-education subgroups) (Benmarhnia et al., 2016). A similar approach, with a difference-in-difference model combined with propensity score weighting, was used to evaluate the heat plan of the Republic of Korea, showing a reduction in cardiorespiratory mortality among specific subgroups (Heo et al., 2019).

More studies that explicitly looked at temporal variations in heat-related health effects after the introduction of HHAPs, using surveillance or official standardized health data, have been produced in Europe in recent years (Table 11). Most use mortality data as health outcomes and compare temperature-mortality effect estimates before and after the HHAP was introduced. Temporal changes are heterogeneous across European countries and geographical areas. Several studies found a greater reduction in relation to extreme conditions or on heatwave days according to national warning systems, suggesting that response and adaptation efforts are concentrated on days when warnings are issued and emergency planning processes are put in place (Schifano et al., 2012; Linares et al., 2015; de'Donato et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018; Martínez-Solanas & Basagaña, 2019). This aspect is important when updating warning systems and prevention plans specifically communication and response measures activated when Level 1 or pre-warning conditions are forecast (Green et al., 2016; de'Donato et al., 2018).

Author	Geographical setting	Period	Study findings
Heudorf & Schade (2014)	Frankfurt am Main, Germany	2003 versus 2004– 2013	The intensity of heat-waves was not comparable to 2013; excess mortality was lower after the introduction of the HHAP.
Steul, Jung & Heudorf (2019)	Frankfurt am Main, Germany	2003 versus 2004– 2015	Excess mortality was highest in 2003; heat- wave mortality was lower in 2006, 2010 and 2015.
Martínez-Solanas & Basagaña (2019)	Spain	1993-2013	Provinces with more actions implemented in their HHAP showed stronger reductions in heat-attributable deaths; the greatest reductions were among elderly people and those with cardiovascular disease.
Linares et al. (2015)	Spain	1991–2003 versus 2004–2008	Reductions in heat-attributable deaths were seen in some Spanish provinces.
Fouillet et al. (2008)	France	2003 versus 2006	Excess mortality was lower in 2006 than 2003.
Morabito et al. (2012)	Florence, Italy	1999–2002 versus 2004–2007	Reductions were seen only in elderly mortality.
Schifano et al. (2012)	Italy	1998–2002 versus 2006–2010	Mortality risk was lower after the HHAP was introduced.
de'Donato et al. (2018)	Italy	1999–2002 versus 2005–2008, 2009– 2012, 2013–2016	Reductions in heat-attributable deaths (1900 fewer deaths) occurred in 2013–2016 compared to the years before the HHAP was introduced.
Ragettli et al. (2017)	Switzerland	1995–2002 versus 2004–2013	Following 2003, a reduction in the effect of high temperatures on mortality was found, although it is not statistically significant.
Green et al. (2016)	England, United Kingdom	2003, 2006, 2010– 2013	Minor impacts on mortality occurred in 2013 compared to 2003 and 2006.

Table 11. European studies estimating changes in health outcomes in response to HH	APs
--	-----

Multicity studies conducted with common methodologies can provide important insights into changes in heat-related mortality, as well as enabling comparisons across European countries (Gasparrini et al., 2015). A study conducted in nine European cities analysing the years before and after 2003 showed a reduction in mortality due to heat in recent years in Mediterranean cities but not in cities in northern Europe (de'Donato et al., 2015). The authors suggest that the introduction of HHAPs may have played a role in improving adaptation and awareness among the local population. Intermediate benefits such as behavioural changes at the individual or community levels are also important and provide useful insights into the effectiveness of measures in changing population perceptions of risk, knowledge and adaptation measures adopted. Community questionnaires have been undertaken on the perception of heatwaves, warning systems and prevention measures (Sheridan, 2007; White-Newsome et al., 2011; Nitschke et al., 2013; 2017; Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019). Studies suggest that although subgroups are aware of the risks, they do not perceive themselves as susceptible to heat-related illness; knowledge of what to do during heat-waves was also not common (Vu, Rutherford & Phung, 2019).

In the light of future climate change and the added burden on health (Gasparrini et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2018; Vicedo-Cabrera et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2019), efficient HHAPs become a priority to protect against the impact of more frequent and intense heat-waves years to come. A robust assessment of the risks and timely identification of concurrent or cascading risks from an intersectoral perspective are necessary in the context of climate change. Surveillance and evaluation become decisive factors in monitoring response and identifying potential changes in population vulnerability, allowing HHAPs to be adjusted and improved to protect local communities.

9.5 Conclusions

Formal evaluation of HHAPs is a key aspect that needs more attention in the coming years, especially in the light of climate change, changes in vulnerable subgroups (an ageing European population and increases in chronic conditions) and potential additional risks. HHAPs should include an evaluation framework and invest in defining surveillance indicators capable of monitoring heat-related symptoms, both during and after extreme events.

The dual use of these surveillance tools – both informing health care systems and stakeholders of current impacts in order to modulate action during extreme events and evaluating the health impacts of action after heat-wave events – is vital for the effectiveness and progressive improvement of current HHAPs and the response measures introduced. To date, formal monitoring of impacts and evaluation has been limited, but needs to be promoted to identify barriers and opportunities to inform future development of HHAPs. Health surveillance systems already in place can be adapted to evaluating extreme heat events and HHAPs. Best practice evidence and sharing of experience is vital, both locally and at the European level, to improve HHAP implementation and effectiveness. Evaluation entails a multidisciplinary task force and collaborative action between various stakeholders to address the different aspects and components of the HHAP, user needs and caveats.

Suggestions of a reduction in heat-related impacts have been reported in recent years in several countries. Considering future changes in climate and in demographics anticipated across most of the WHO European Region, it is even more important to encourage continuous monitoring of health outcome indicators and formal evaluation of HHAPs to document health impacts and their potential changes over time.

References

- Abrahamson V, Wolf J, Lorenzoni I, Fenn B, Kovats S, Wilkinson P et al. (2009). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: interview-based study of older people in London and Norwich, UK. J Public Health (Oxf). 31(1):119–26. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdn102.
- Bassil KL, Cole DC (2010). Effectiveness of public health interventions in reducing morbidity and mortality during heat episodes: a structured review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(3):991–1001. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7030991.
- Basu R (2002). Relation between elevated ambient temperature and mortality: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. Epidemiol Rev. 24(2):190– 202. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxf007.
- Basu S, Meghani A, Siddiqi A (2017). Evaluating the health impact of large-scale public policy changes: classical and novel approaches. Annu Rev Public Health. 38(1):351–70. doi:10.1146/annurevpublhealth-031816-044208.

Benmarhnia T, Bailey Z, Kaiser D, Auger N, King N, Kaufman JS (2016). A difference-in-differences approach to assess the effect of a heat action plan on heat-related mortality, and differences in effectiveness according to sex, age, and socioeconomic status (Montreal, Quebec). Environ Health Perspect. 124(11):1694–9. doi:10.1289/EHP203.

Bittner MI, Matthies EF, Dalbokova D, Menne B (2014). Are European countries prepared for the next big heatwave? Eur J Public Health. 24(4):615–9. doi:10.1093/ eurpub/ckt121.

Boeckmann M, Rohn I (2014). Is planned adaptation to heat reducing heat-related mortality and illness? A systematic review. BMC Public Health. 14(1):1112. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1112.

Claessens YE, Taupin P, Kierzek G, Pourriat JL, Baud M, Ginsburg C et al. (2006). How emergency departments might alert for prehospital heat-related excess mortality? Crit Care. 10(6):1–9. doi:10.1186/cc5092.

Culqui DR, Díaz J, Simón F, Linares C (2013). [Impact of the effects of heat waves on mortality in the City of Madrid, Spain during the period 1990–2009]. Rev Esp Salud Publica. 87(3):277–282. doi:10.4321/S1135-57272013000300007.

de'Donato F, Leone M, Scortichini M, De Sario M, Katsouyanni K, Lanki T et al. (2015). Changes in the effect of heat on mortality in the last 20 years in nine European cities. Results from the PHASE project. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 12(12):15567–83. doi:10.3390/ijerph121215006.

de'Donato F, Scortichini M, De Sario M, de Martino A, Michelozzi P (2018). Temporal variation in the effect of heat and the role of the Italian heat prevention plan. Public Health. 161:154–62. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2018.03.030.

Elliot AJ, Bone A, Morbey R, Hughes HE, Harcourt S, Smith S et al. (2014). Using real-time syndromic surveillance to assess the health impact of the 2013 heatwave in England. Environ Res. 135:31–6. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2014.08.031.

Elliot A, Hughes H, Morbey R, Loveridge P, Harcourt S, Smith S et al. (2015). A syndromic surveillance service supporting environmental public health incidents. Online J Public Health Inform. 7(1):e126. doi:10.5210/ ojphi.v7i1.5792.

Fouillet A, Rey G, Laurent F, Pavillon G, Bellec S, Guihenneuc-Jouyaux C et al. (2006). Excess mortality related to the August 2003 heat wave in France. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 80(1):16–24. doi:10.1007/ s00420-006-0089-4.

Gasparrini A (2016). Modelling lagged associations in environmental time series data: a simulation study. Epidemiology. 27(6):835–42. doi:10.1097/ EDE.000000000000533.

Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Hashizume M, Kinney PL, Petkova EP, Lavigne E et al. (2015). Temporal variation in heat– mortality associations: a multicountry study. Environ Health Perspect. 123(11):1200–7. doi:10.1289/ ehp.1409070.

Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM Huber, V, Tong S et al. (2017). Projections of temperaturerelated excess mortality under climate change scenarios. Lancet Planet Health. 1(9):e360–7. doi:10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30156-0.

Green HK, Andrews N, Armstrong B, Bickler G, Pebody R (2016). Mortality during the 2013 heatwave in England – how did it compare to previous heatwaves? A retrospective observational study. Environ Res. 147:343–9. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2016.02.028.

Guo Y, Gasparrini A, Li S, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, de Sousa Zanotti Stagliorio Coelho M et al. (2018). Quantifying excess deaths related to heatwaves under climate change scenarios: a multicountry time series modelling study. PLoS Med. 15(7):1–17. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002629.

Heo S, Nori-Sarma A, Lee K, Benmarhnia T, Dominici F, Bell ML (2019). The use of a quasi-experimental study on the mortality effect of a heat wave warning system in Korea. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(12):2245. doi:10.3390/ijerph16122245.

Heudorf U, Schade M (2014). Heat waves and mortality in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 2003–2013: what effect do heat–health action plans and the heat warning system have? Z Gerontol Geriatr. 47(6):475–82. doi:10.1007/s00391-014-0673-2.

Hughes HE, Morbey R, Hughes TC, Locker TE, Shannon T, Carmichael C et al. (2014). Using an emergency department syndromic surveillance system to investigate the impact of extreme cold weather events. Public Health. 128(7):628–35. doi:10.1016/j. puhe.2014.05.007.

Josseran L, Caillère N, Brun-Ney D, Rottner J, Filleul L, Brucker G et al. (2009). Syndromic surveillance and heat wave morbidity: a pilot study based on emergency departments in France. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 9:14. doi:10.1186/1472-6947-9-14. Josseran L, Fouillet A, Caillère N, Brun-Ney D, Ilef D, Brucker Get al. (2010). Assessment of a syndromic surveillance system based on morbidity data: results from the Oscour® network during a heat wave. PLoS One. 5(8) :e11984. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011984.

Jung J, Uejio CK, Duclos C, Jordan M (2019). Using web data to improve surveillance for heat sensitive health outcomes. Environ Health. 18(1):59. doi:10.1186/ s12940-019-0499-x.

Lee JY, Kim H, Gasparrini A, Armstrong B, Bell ML, Sera F et al. (2019). Predicted temperature-increaseinduced global health burden and its regional variability. Environ Int. 131:105027. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2019.105027.

Leonardi GS, Hajat S, Kovats RS, Smith GE, Cooper D, Gerard E (2006). Syndromic surveillance use to detect the early effects of heat-waves: an analysis of NHS Direct data in England. Soz Praventivmed. 51(4):194– 201. doi:10.1007/s00038-006-5039-0.

Li T, Ding F, Sun Q, Zhang Y, Kinney PL (2016). Heat stroke internet searches can be a new heatwave health warning surveillance indicator. Sci Rep. 6:37294. doi:10.1038/srep37294.

Linares C, Sánchez R, Mirón IJ, Díaz J (2015). Has there been a decrease in mortality due to heat waves in Spain? Findings from a multicity case study. J Integr Environ Sci. 12(2):153–63. doi:10.1080/194381 5X.2015.1062032.

Lowe D, Ebi KL, Forsberg B (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce human health consequences of heatwaves. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 8(12):4623–48. doi:10.3390/ijerph8124623.

Martinez GS, Linares C, Ayuso A, Kendrovski V, Boeckmann M, Díaz J (2019). Heat-health action plans in Europe: challenges ahead and how to tackle them. Environ Res. 176:108548. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2019.108548.

Martínez-Solanas È, Basagaña X (2019). Temporal changes in temperature-related mortality in Spain and effect of the implementation of a heat health prevention plan. Environ Res. 169:102–13. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.006.

Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans). Mazick A, Gergonne B , Nielsen J , Wuillaume F, Virtanen MJ, Fouillet A et al. (2012). Excess mortality among the elderly in 12 European countries, February and March 2012. Euro Surveill. 17(14):9–13. doi:10.2807/ ese.17.14.20138-en.

Michelozzi P, de'Donato FK, Bargagli AM, D'Ippoliti D, De Sario M, Marino C et al. (2010). Surveillance of summer mortality and preparedness to reduce the health impact of heat waves in Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 7(5):2256–73. doi:10.3390/ ijerph7052256

Michelozzi P, Bargagli AM, Vecchi S, De Sario M, Schifano P, Davoli M (2014). Interventions for reducing adverse health effects of high temperature and heatwaves. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 4:CD011072. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011072.

Morabito M, Profili F, Crisci A, Francesconi P, Gensini GF, Orlandini S (2012). Heat-related mortality in the Florentine area (Italy) before and after the exceptional 2003 heat wave in Europe: an improved public health response? Int J Biometeorol. 56(5):801–10. doi:10.1007/s00484-011-0481-y.

Morbey RA, Elliot AJ, Charlett A, Andrews N, Verlander NQ, Ibbotson S et al. (2015). Development and refinement of new statistical methods for enhanced syndromic surveillance during the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games. Health Informatics J. 21(2):159–69. doi:10.1177/1460458213517577.

Morgan A (2006). Evaluation of health promotion. In: Davies M, Macdowall W, editors. Health promotion theory. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Nitschke M, Krackowizer A, Hansen AL, Bi P, Tucker GR (2017). Heat health messages: a randomized controlled trial of a preventative messages tool in the older population of south Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 14(9):992. doi:10.3390/ijerph14090992.

Nitschke M, Hansen A, Bi P, Pisaniello D, Newbury J, Kitson A et al. (2013). Risk factors, health effects and behaviour in older people during extreme heat: a survey in South Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 10(12):6721–33. doi:10.3390/ijerph10126721.

Pascal M, Laaidi K, Wagner V, Ung AB, Smaili S, Fouillet A et al. (2012). How to use near real-time health indicators to support decision-making during a heat wave: the example of the French heat wave warning system. PLoS Curr. 4:e4f83ebf72317d. doi:10.1371/4f83ebf72317d.

PHE (2020). Heatwave plan for England: protecting health and reducing harm from severe heat and heatwaves.

London: Public Health England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/heatwave-plan-for-england).

- Price K, Benmarhnia T, Gaudet J, Kaiser D, Sadoine ML, Perron S et al. (2018). The Montreal heat response plan: evaluation of its implementation towards healthcare professionals and vulnerable populations. Can J Public Health. 109(1):108–16. doi:10.17269/ s41997-018-0020-2.
- Ragettli MS, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Schindler C, Röösli M (2017). Exploring the association between heat and mortality in Switzerland between 1995 and 2013. Environ Res. 158:703–9. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2017.07.021.
- Schifano P, Leone M, De Sario M, de'Donato F, Bargagli AM, D'Ippoliti D et al. (2012). Changes in the effects of heat on mortality among the elderly from 1998– 2010: results from a multicenter time series study in Italy. Environ Health. 11(1):58. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-58.
- Scortichini M, de'Donato F, De Sario M, Leone M, Åström C, Ballester F et al. (2018). The inter-annual variability of heat-related mortality in nine European cities (1990–2010). Environ Health. 17(1):66. doi:10.1186/ S12940-018-0411-0.
- Sheridan SC (2007). A survey of public perception and response to heat warnings across four North American cities: an evaluation of municipal effectiveness, Int J Biometeorol. 52(1):3–15. doi:10.1007/s00484-006-0052-9.
- Smith S, Elliot AJ, Hajat S, Bone A, Smith GE, Kovats S (2016). Estimating the burden of heat illness in England during the 2013 summer heatwave using syndromic surveillance. J Epidemiol Community Health. 70(5):459–65. doi:10.1136/jech-2015-206079.
- Statens Serum Institut (2020). EuroMOMO [website]. Copenhagen: Statens Serum Institut (https://www. euromomo.eu/).
- Steul K, Jung HG, Heudorf U (2019). [Heat-related morbidity: real-time surveillance via rescue service operations data from the interdisciplinary care capacity proof system (IVENA)].
 Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. 62(5):589–98. doi:10.1007/s00103-019-02938-6.
- Steul K, Schade M, Heudorf U (2018). Mortality during heatwaves 2003–2015 in Frankfurt-Main – the 2003 heatwave and its implications. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 221(1):81–6. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.10.005.

Tobías A, Armstrong B, Zuza I, Gasparrini A, Linares C, Diaz J (2012). Mortality on extreme heat days using official thresholds in Spain: a multi-city time series analysis. BMC Public Health. 12:133. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-133.

- Toloo G, FitzGerald G, Aitken P, Verrall K, Tong S (2013a). Evaluating the effectiveness of heat warning systems: systematic review of epidemiological evidence. Int J Public Health. 58(5):667–81. doi:10.1007/s00038-013-0465-2.
- Toloo GS, Fitzgerald G, Aitken P, Verrall K, Tong S (2013b). Are heat warning systems effective? Environ Health. 12:27. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-12-27.
- Toutant S, Gosselin P, Bélanger D, Bustinza R, Rivest S (2011). An open source web application for the surveillance and prevention of the impacts on public health of extreme meteorological events: the SUPREME system. Int J Health Geogr. 10(1):39. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-10-39.
- Van Loenhout JAF, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Guha-Sapir D (2016). Stakeholders' perception on national heatwave plans and their local implementation in Belgium and the Netherlands. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 13(11):1120. doi:10.3390/ijerph13111120.
- Vestergaard LS, Nielsen J, Krause TG, Espenhain L, Tersago K, Bustos Sierra N et al. (2017). Excess all-cause and influenza-attributable mortality in Europe, December 2016 to February 2017. Euro Surveill. 22(14):30506. doi:10.2807/1560-7917. ES.2017.22.14.30506.
- Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Guo Y, Sera F, Huber V, Schleussner CF, Mitchell D et al. (2018). Temperature-related mortality impacts under and beyond Paris Agreement climate change scenarios. Clim Change. 150(3– 4):391–402. doi:10.1007/s10584-018-2274-3.
- Vu A, Rutherford S, Phung D (2019). Heat health prevention measures and adaptation in older populations – a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(22):4370. doi:10.3390/ ijerph16224370.
- Weinberger KR, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Wellenius GA (2018). Effectiveness of national weather service heat alerts in preventing mortality in 20 US cities. Environ Int. 116:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.028.
- White-Newsome JL, Sánchez BN, Parker EA, Dvonch JT, Zhang Z, O'Neill MS (2011). Assessing heatadaptive behaviors among older, urban-dwelling adults. Maturitas. 70(1):85–91. doi:10.1016/j. maturitas.2011.06.015.

- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2011). Public health advice on preventing health effects of heat: new and updated information for different audiences. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-andhealth/Climate-change/publications/2011/publichealth-advice-on-preventing-health-effects-of-heat.new-and-updated-information-for-different-audiences).
- Williams L, Erens B, Ettelt S, Hajat S, Manacorda T, Mays N (2019). Evaluation of the Heatwave plan for England. London: Policy Innovation and Evaluation Research

Unit (https://piru.ac.uk/projects/current-projects/ heatwave-plan-evaluation.html).

- WMO, WHO (2015). Heatwaves and health: guidance on warning-system development. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (https://www.who. int/globalchange/publications/heatwaves-healthguidance/en/).
- Wolf J, Adger WN, Lorenzoni I, Abrahamson V, Raine R (2010). Social capital, individual responses to heat waves and climate change adaptation: an empirical study of two UK cities. Global Environ Chang. 20(1):44–52. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.09.004.

Chapter 10. Conclusions

Overall conclusion: the need to expand the number, coverage and reach of HHAPs

The evidence has become increasingly clear that trends in frequency and in relative and absolute intensity of heat-waves are accelerating throughout the WHO European Region. Projections for the Region under a changing climate indicate that heat-related exposures and impacts could increase substantially through the combined effects of climate change, urbanization and ageing, among other factors. Against this background, progress in the expansion of HHAP implementation and coverage has been slow, and many countries either do not have a functioning plan or their plan does not cover a significant proportion of the core elements of a HHAP.

Countries are at different stages of preparing, developing and implementing HHAPs, and no organized public health response to heat is available in several countries where heat has significant impacts on health. While the last decade saw a small increase in the number of national and subnational HHAPs, this growth occurred mainly in EU countries. These policies are urgently needed in other countries in the Region that are facing an increasing risk of high temperatures and heatwaves. Further, despite the nominal increase in plans among countries, information about their actual coverage and reach remains limited. Many plans lack organized monitoring and evaluation provisions, without which fundamental questions remain about their effectiveness.

With the 2017 Ostrava Declaration (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2017), Member States committed to establishing national portfolios of action on environment and health. Such portfolios should comprise actions on climate change and health, including policies and measures relevant to managing heat-health, such as:

- strengthening natural risk reduction policies and early warning surveillance and preparedness systems for extreme weather events and climate-sensitive disease outbreaks; and
- developing information, tools and methodologies to support authorities and the public to increase their resilience against extreme weather and climate health risks.

Individual conclusions for the elements in the report

Complementing this overarching conclusion, some specific conclusions for the areas covered in the report can also be derived.

Good heat-health governance

Preparing for and responding to heat extremes, with consideration of climate change and fit-forpurpose governance arrangements, are areas of urgent priority for health policy and practice. Most current HHAPs are designed and operationalized in a static fashion, and do not integrate available information on climate change and on demographic and other variables and trends. Moreover, even though good heat—health governance elements and principles are outlined in international and national guidance, their translation into practice is highly context-dependent, with no generally agreed-upon best practice. The integration of HHAPs with other climate-sensitive early warnings, health adaptation and strengthening climate-resilient health systems, as well as other areas of governance, could result in synergies and efficiency gains.

WHO's 2019 survey of heat-health action planning revealed important insights regarding HHAP implementation and governance at the national/ federal level.

- The number of countries with a functioning, comprehensive national HHAP has not increased since previous assessments in the published scientific literature.
- The WHO Regional Office for Europe's guidance on heat-health action planning (Matthies et al., 2008) has played a significant role in the design and revision of several HHAPs in the Region.
- The level of implementation of different core elements of HHAPs varies widely: warning systems are nearly universally fully implemented, while heat-protective long-term urban planning interventions are relatively uncommon.
- A clear shift towards web-based communication of warnings, heat-health risks and recommendations has been seen in the last decade.
- Many HHAPs lack adequate economic and human resources for implementation.
- While most HHAPs specify roles and responsibilities at the national level, these specifications are far less common at the subnational and local levels, including for non-state actors.
- HHAPs are relatively well integrated with national climate change policies, but less so

with national health, disaster/emergency or environmental policies.

Systematic monitoring and evaluation

Suggestions of a reduction in heat-related impacts have been reported in recent years in a number of countries, as well as clear indications of the role of HHAPs in such reductions. Formalized, generalized and systematic efforts of HHAP process and outcome monitoring and evaluation are crucial. They help to address user needs and to improve effectiveness by determining which elements are truly protective, and which may not be working and should be boosted or changed. Considering the future changes in climate and in demographics (an ageing European population and increases in chronic conditions) anticipated across most of the WHO European Region, as well as potential converging risks (such as the recent COVID-19 pandemic), it is especially important to encourage continuous and timely monitoring of health outcome indicators and systematic evaluation of HHAPs. This is crucial to document health impacts and their potential changes over time, as well as the definition of best practice measures. It is important that the evaluation process is formally defined, and that results are written up and disseminated to stakeholders involved in the HHAP. Evaluation entails multidisciplinary activity and collaborative action between different stakeholders to address the different components and processes of the HHAP, user needs and caveats.

Outcome evaluation can be more solidly based on health indicators, providing additional information on the causal pathways of the effectiveness of HHAPs. Evaluation frameworks should therefore invest in defining surveillance indicators capable of monitoring heat-related symptoms, both during and after extreme events. They should also endeavour to define and enhance integrated health surveillance systems, considering both mortality and morbidity outcomes associated with heat and ad hoc indicators (such as helpline or GP calls and social services notifications). The dual use of health surveillance indicators to inform health care systems and stakeholders of current impacts will assist with better targeted action. Evaluation of health impacts after a heat event is vital for ongoing improvement of current HHAPs and the response measures introduced.

Communicating heat risk to specific audiences

Evidence from the last decade shows generally good awareness but low risk perception of heat by the general public, vulnerable groups and possibly health care providers. Psychological mechanisms and the familiarity and low-dread factor of heat may hinder the effectiveness of heat risk communications. A well developed heat-related information plan remains a central component of any effective HHAP, but can be more finely tailored to specific audiences.

It is crucial to gain better research-based understanding of the knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of high-risk groups and their carers when designing information and communication campaigns. Heat-health warnings and recommended actions should be understood across the system by different stakeholders and end users. Such improved understanding, adapted and customized to local settings and audiences, should both inform and drive heat-related health information plans.

Including heat and health considerations in urban planning

At the city level, published evidence keeps confirming the protective effect of urban greening, to which a much wider range of interventions can be added to reduce hazardous heat exposure through modification of the urban landscape. Adequate intersectoral mechanisms for health authorities to promote these interventions are lacking, however. Entry points to include heat and health considerations in urban planning and management can make a lasting difference.

Integrating data on factors affecting indoor and urban overheating

Prevention can be improved if it integrates data on factors affecting indoor and urban overheating and possible interventions to address them. Current preventive strategies do not make full use of the availability of fine grid information that can help predict hot spots of indoor overheating risks, in both residential and care settings.

The role of AC

In terms of heat-protective technologies, AC remains the most prevalent, but concerns remain about its adverse environmental and economic impacts and about equitable access to it by vulnerable groups, with energy poverty a problem to be highlighted and acted upon. It is vital that those most vulnerable to heat can access the preventive benefits of AC, either as a product or as a service, while minimizing the societal and environmental drawbacks of the technology throughout its life-cycle. A wide range of effective passive cooling interventions can afford health protection from heat while minimizing energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

Greater focus on vulnerable population groups

The diversity within vulnerable groups should be acknowledged, and information campaigns and recommendations for vulnerable subgroups should be defined and updated regularly on the basis of new evidence and emerging risk factors.

The scope and definition of vulnerable groups is evolving, and public health response measures need to adapt accordingly. Subgroups most at risk change over time and evidence on vulnerable groups is more consistent both in terms of health impacts and potential biological mechanisms.

Key aspects to be promoted within HHAPs are the formal identification of vulnerable groups, the definition of specific public health response measures and active health and social care surveillance schemes; these should be enhanced during extreme events. Monitoring of the health status and impacts of heat among vulnerable groups should be undertaken to account for potential changes over time and ensure that prevention and response measures are tailored to their needs, thereby minimizing the health burden.

Better planning and response measures in health and social care settings

With some exceptions, little progress has been made in planning for heat risks in health systems and care facilities, and it is often underreported. Greater effort needs to be made with sharing best practice planning and response measures in the health sector. Preparedness and planning within the health care system need to be promoted in HHAPs.

Structural measures addressing overheating and adaptive solutions undertaken in hospitals, residential care homes and other settings should be enhanced. Heat preparedness and response need to be managed in the context of increasing demands for sustainability and decarbonization in the health sector.

Evidence and research gaps

Several gaps in knowledge continue to hinder prevention efforts throughout the Region. The following subsections address several across the topics presented in this report.

Evidence lacking on good governance

Limited evidence is available on what constitutes good governance of the public health prevention of heat, although national data point at directions for improvement. The indication that some HHAPs may not have enough human and financial resources to be able to deliver on their mandate merits further investigation.

The opportunities for better reach and efficiency gains attainable through further engagement of subnational authorities and non-state actors (possibly including the private sector) are also topics for additional research. In addition, the possible benefits and synergies of integration of HHAPs into national health, environmental, disaster risk reduction and climate change policies are questions to be explored in greater detail.

Heat-health prevention hindered by significant gaps in knowledge

A critical concern relates to the coverage of data and epidemiological studies on the health impacts of heat and their prevention. Although studies on heat and health have a wider geographical coverage now than they did a decade ago, several countries in the WHO European Region are still unrepresented, with no evidence of heat-health impacts. Furthermore, findings are still very much focused on urban areas, with sparse evidence related to suburban and rural areas.

The gradient in coverage has a clear geographical, economic and institutional capacity component, with western European, EU and high-income countries much better represented in heat—health research output than eastern European, Balkan, central Asian, Caucasian and low- or middle-income ones. Without basic epidemiological estimations on the relationship between temperature and health, the drive to implement HHAPs is limited. It is also possible that such studies are available nationally but have not been processed for publishing in indexed scientific journals, either national or international. In that case, targeted support and capacity-building could help release and distribute that knowledge.

Data needed on the results of the transition to web-based and mobile platforms

The benefits and drawbacks of the fast and clear transition to web-based and mobile platforms for heat—health communications in the last decade need to be assessed. While this transition has seemingly obvious benefits in terms of timing and reach, it also entails risks of exclusion of vulnerable groups less familiar with newer information technologies.

Additional research could clarify the extent of the risk that potential exclusion adds to an increasingly clear systematic underestimation of the health risks of heat by the general public, and most importantly by vulnerable individuals and possibly health practitioners.

More evidence needed to interpret observed trends accurately

Suggestions of a reduction in heat-related impacts have been reported in recent years in several countries. This is an important signal to implement and encourage the surveillance of health impacts and evaluation of HHAPs. Moreover, vulnerability factors may change over time and these need to be quantified and monitored in order to adapt health recommendations, response measures and actions.

Research needed on protection in health and nursing care facilities

In recent years increased awareness of the vulnerability of people in residential care has led to improvements in care in these settings. More research is needed, however, to understand how hospitals, care-related buildings and facilities are at risk of overheating and the solutions to address overheating. Likewise, further research is needed on the varied impacts of heat-waves in health care settings among workers, patients and residents, as well as effective responses and barriers to implementation.

More effort is also required to understand how the health care system can improve preparedness and planning for heat. Since these heat risks are increasingly expected to be managed in the context of demands for greenhouse gas emission reductions in the health sector, operational research is needed on how to attain health system decarbonization while ensuring health system function performance across the board. Greater effort needs to be put into sharing best practice planning and emergency response measures in the health sector. Evaluation of measures and actions carried out in health care settings is a highly relevant element of any HHAP evaluation schemes.

Epidemiological evidence required on the benefits of urban heat interventions

A significant proportion of the evidence on exposure reduction and health benefits from urban heat interventions is based on modelling rather than epidemiological evidence. With the relative exception of urban greening, the reported effects of several built environment interventions are not based on individual-level measurements. While there is no reason to doubt the overall protective nature of the interventions, models may fail to capture the complexity of urban interactions, thereby limiting their usefulness in practice for public policy design. In addition, it is not yet clear how far realistic urban management interventions can reduce temperatures in the places where dangerous heat exposures tend to occur.

Further, urban planning interventions remain largely disconnected from HHAPs, pointing to a lack of tools and incentives for intersectoral action to integrate health protection considerations into mainstream urban planning and management. Additional questions extend to aspects of the cost-effectiveness of various types of interventions versus their public perception and political desirability. In practice, the health benefits of proposed urban interventions are rarely considered and/or evaluated. Better understanding is needed of which interventions provide better "health value for money"; this can come only from more and better operational research.

Remaining questions on links between the built environment, heat exposure and health

Much knowledge has been gained in the last decade about heat in indoor environments and on heat health interventions at the building scale and below, but much of it has been obtained in controlled environments or through models. Real-life, empirical evidence on the role these interventions may play in thermal comfort, heat stress reduction and health protection for vulnerable groups is scarce. This lack of evidence extends to what "thermal comfort" means for vulnerable groups, with reviews reporting widely varying estimates, even in relatively comparable groups.

These knowledge gaps highlight a broader problem of research on heat and health - namely, the difficulty and costs involved in studies below the population level, and particularly those involving vulnerable subjects. While various technological options are becoming available in terms of personal cooling, AC has become the main technology for protection from overheating. Given its drawbacks, there is a clear case for research on both personal cooling devices and strategies to ensure the protective benefits of AC for vulnerable groups, for whom access to effective cooling is tantamount to a potentially life-saving medical device. More applied research is also needed into the regulatory, financial, procedural, knowledge and other types of barrier that may inhibit effective action on preventing indoor overheating as a public health risk.

References

Matthies F, Bickler G, Cardeñosa N, Hales S, editors (2008). Heat–health action plans. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/heathealth-action-plans).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2017). Declaration of the Sixth Ministerial Conference on Environment and

Health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/en/media-centre/events/ events/2017/06/sixth-ministerial-conference-onenvironment-and-health/documentation/declarationof-the-sixth-ministerial-conference-on-environmentand-health).

Afterword: updating the 2008 WHO guidance on HHAPs

The accumulation of evidence related to the health impacts of heat and their prevention - as well as the physical, social and environmental modifiers of those relationships in the last decade - is significant enough to warrant a fresh look at how HHAPs should be designed and implemented. This evidence comes from a diversity of sources, including peer-reviewed scientific studies, monitoring and evaluation of existing HHAPs, national and international technical documents, and reports from regional task forces and working groups. Moreover, given the accelerated production of directly relevant knowledge, subsequent revisions or updates of the WHO guidance should probably happen within shorter time frames. As climate change, urbanization, ageing and technological progress modify the links between heat and health, so health authorities and organizations should address public health prevention proactively, rather than reactively.

Any revisions to proposed HHAPs design, development, implementation and core elements should actively integrate the notion of a changing climate and dynamic societies. Such integration would affect, for example, the structure of stakeholders in HHAP governance (which should actively include actors involved in overall adaptation). The thresholds within heat–health warning systems should become dynamic in nature. Climate change and heat response communications should become further intertwined. Interventions to reduce heat exposure should be considered with a long-term perspective, as should the planning of care for vulnerable groups. The preparedness of social and care systems for heat should be fully integrated into overall health systems resilience, and the long-term modifications of the built environment should become a priority for intersectoral action for health. Overall, HHAPs should no longer be standalone systems, but should rather be integrated with broader policies such as sustainable and green development plans, "One health" initiatives and COVID-19 recovery strategies.

The list of proposed core elements and their sub-elements could also be revisited in the light of the updated evidence and the accumulated experience of functioning HHAPs. The scope of the core elements themselves could in some cases be significantly broadened. For example, from the basic prerequisite of designation of a lead agency, a broader governance structure could now be proposed, based on experience of existing HHAPs, involving local and subnational authorities and nonstate actors. Heat-health warning systems could now rely not only on national mechanisms but also on established supranational networks. Heat-health information systems, now almost universally reliant on web-based technologies, could be informed by empirical behavioural insights and Big Data, providing greater reach and effectiveness. The greatly increased availability of information, along with the advent of Big Data, provides unprecedented possibilities, both for targeting of life-saving public health prevention information and to complement traditional epidemiological surveillance, while protecting privacy and personal data.

The structure of the core elements themselves may be susceptible to revision. For example, given the body of scientific evidence generated on heatreducing modifications of the built environment during the last decade, this may merit its own core element status within revised WHO guidance on HHAPs. Moreover, the reduction of indoor heat exposure based on building-scale physical modifications could be merged with broader-scale urban planning and advocated jointly, while the behavioural elements could be integrated into expanded guidance for heat-health information plans.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania Andorra Austria Azerbaijan Belarus Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Cyprus Denmark Estonia Finland Georgia Germany Hungary Iceland Kyrgyzstan Latvia Malta Montenegro Portugal **Republic of Moldova Russian Federation** United Kingdom Uzbekistan



The climate is warming quickly and dangerously in the WHO European Region, which is experiencing accelerated rates of temperature increase and an unprecedented frequency and intensity of heat-waves. Projections indicate that without adequate efforts for heat-health adaptation to climate change, heat-related exposures and the associated health impacts could increase substantially. Such projections, combined with long-term trends of ageing and urbanization, strongly warrant adoption of a longterm perspective to manage the health effects of temperature in the context of a changing climate.

This report collates and summarizes the most relevant evidence published since 2008, when the WHO Regional Office for Europe published guidance on heat-health action planning. It focuses on Member States in the WHO European Region and brings together the results of an in-depth review based on recent research and lessons learned from implementation in practice. The publication is primarily intended for practitioners, to support their own processes of establishing or revising national heat-health action plan elements or procedures.

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.euro.who.int